







Tabe 1x (1+1) examine 0 02 03 09 look at milier of coeff if char = 2 & does generate Coner

Digitized by the Internet Archive in 2007 with funding from Microsoft Corporation

http://www.archive.org/details/introductiontomo00cajoiala

# AN INTRODUCTION TO THE MODERN THEORY OF EQUATIONS

7 3 9 0

87

# BOOKS BY FLORIAN CAJORI

HISTORY OF MATHEMATICS Revised and Enlarged Edition

HISTORY OF ELEMENTARY MATHEMATICS Revised and Enlarged Edition

HISTORY OF PHYSICS

INTRODUCTION TO THE MODERN THEORY OF EQUATIONS

# AN INTRODUCTION TO

# THE MODERN

# THEORY OF EQUATIONS

BY

FLORIAN CAJORI, PH.D. PROFESSOR OF MATHEMATICS AT COLORADO COLLEGE

New York

THE MACMILLAN COMPANY LONDON: MACMILLAN & CO., LTD.

# 1921

All rights reserved 37914

# COPYRIGHT, 1904, BY THE MACMILLAN COMPANY.

Set up and electrotyped. Published October, 1904.

6<sup>3</sup>2<sup>7</sup>32 6<sup>3</sup>2<sup>6</sup> 6<sup>3</sup>10<sup>7</sup>

5 6 2

· . .

Normood Press J. S. Cushing Co. - Berwick & Smith Co. Norwood, Mass., U.S.A.

C SI L

Engineering & Mathematical Sciences Library

# PREFACE

CIE

THE main difference between this text and others on the same subject, published in the English language, consists in the selection of the material. In proceeding from the elementary to the more advanced properties of equations, the subject of invariants and covariants is here omitted, to make room for a discussion of the elements of substitutions and substitution-groups, of domains of rationality, and of their application to equations. Thereby the reader acquires some familiarity with the fundamental results on the theory of equations, reached by Gauss, Abel, Galois, and Kronecker.

The Galois theory of equations is usually found by the beginner to be quite difficult of comprehension. In the present text the effort is made to render the subject more concrete by the insertion of numerous exercises. If, in the work of the class room, this text be found to possess any superiority, it will be due largely to these exercises. Most of them are my own; some are taken from the treatises named below.

In the mode of presentation I can claim no originality. The following texts have been used in the preparation of this book:

BACHMANN, P. Kreistheilung. Leipzig, 1872. BURNSIDE, W. Theory of Groups. Cambridge, 1897.

BURNSIDE, W. S., and PANTON, A. W. Theory of Equations, Vol. I, 1899; Vol. II, 1901.

DICKSON, L. E. Theory of Algebraic Equations. New York, 1903.

EASTON, B. S. The Constructive Development of Group-Theory. Philadelphia, 1902.

Encyklopädie der Mathematischen Wissenschaften.

- GALOIS, D'ÉVARISTE. *Œuvres mathématiques*, avec une introduction par M. ÉMILE PICARD. Paris, 1897.
- KLEIN, F. Vorlesungen über das Ikosaeder. Leipzig, 1884.
- MATTHESSEN, L. Grundzüge der Antiken u. Modernen Algebra. Leipzig, 1878.
- NETTO, E. Theory of Substitutions, translated by F. N. Cole, Ann Arbor, 1892.
- NETTO, E. Vorlesungen über Algebra. Leipzig, Vol. I, 1896; Vol. II, 1900.
- PETERSEN, J. Theorie der Algebraischen Gleichungen. Kopenhagen, 1878.
- PIERPONT, J. Galois' Theory on Algebraic Equations. Salem, 1900.

SALMON, G. Modern Higher Algebra. Dublin, 1876.

- SERRET, J. A. Handbuch der Höheren Algebra. Deutsche Uebers. v. G. WERTHEIM. Leipzig, 1878.
- TODHUNTER, I. Theory of Equations. London, 1880.
- Vogr, H. Résolution Algébrique des Équations. Paris, 1895.
- WEBER, H. Lehrbuch der Algebra. Braunschweig, Vol. I, 1898; Vol. II, 1896.
- WEBER, H. Encyklopädie der Elementaren Algebra und Analysis. Leipzig, 1903.

Of these books, some have been used more than others. In the elementary parts I have been influenced by the excellent treatment found in the first volume of Burnside and Panton. In the presentation of the Galois theory I have followed the first volume of Weber's admirable *Lehrbuch der Algebra*. Next to these, special mention of indebtedness is due to Bachmann, Netto, Serret, and Pierpont.

I desire also to express my thanks to Miss Edith P. Hubbard, of the Cutler Academy, Miss Adelaide Denis, of the Colorado Springs High School, and Mr. R. E. Powers, of Denver, for valuable suggestions and assistance in the reading of the proofs, and to Mr. W. N. Birchby, who has furnished solutions to a large number of problems.

## FLORIAN CAJORI.

COLORADO COLLEGE, January, 1904.

# TABLE OF CONTENTS

#### CHAPTER I

Some Elementary Properties of Equations, §§ 1-26 . . 1

PAGE

92

#### CHAPTER II

ELEMENTARY TRANSFORMATIONS OF EQUATIONS, §§ 27-36 . . 31 🐖

#### CHAPTER III

LOCATION OF THE ROOTS OF AN EQUATION, §§ 37-51 . . . 43

#### CHAPTER IV

Approximation to the Roots of Numerical Equations, §§ 52-58 60 C

#### CHAPTER V

THE ALGEBRAIC SOLUTION OF THE CUBIC AND QUARTIC, §§ 59-62 68

#### CHAPTER VI

#### CHAPTER VII

SYMMETRIC FUNCTIONS OF THE ROOTS, §§ 68-71 . . . . 84

#### CHAPTER VIH

ELIMINATION, §§ 72-77

vii

#### TABLE OF CONTENTS

## CHAPTER IX

PAGE

THE HOMOGRAPHIC AND THE TSCHIRNHAUSEN TRANSFORMATIONS	
§§ 78–80	, 99
CHAPTER X	
On Substitutions, §§ 81-93	104
CHAPTER XI	
SUBSTITUTION-GROUPS, §§ 94–113	<b>1</b> 12
CHAPTER XII	
Resolvents of Lagrange, §§ 114-119	129
CHAPTER XIII	
THE GALOIS THEORY OF ALGEBRAIC NUMBERS. REDUCIBILITY	,
§§ 120–139	134
CHAPTER XIV	
NORMAL DOMAINS, §§ 140-159	150

#### CHAPTER XV

REDUCTION OF THE GALOIS RESOLVENT BY ADJUNCTION, §§ 160-166 174

#### CHAPTER XVI

THE SOLUTION OF EQUATIONS VIEWED FROM THE STANDPOINT OF THE GALOIS THEORY, §§ 167-169 . . . . . . 184

#### CHAPTER XVII

187 CYCLIC EQUATIONS, §§ 170-183 . . . . . . .

viii

## TABLE OF CONTENTS ix

8

PAGE

## CHAPTER XVIII

ABELIAN	EQUATIONS,	§§	184 - 189	•				•			210
---------	------------	----	-----------	---	--	--	--	---	--	--	-----

## CHAPTER XIX

THE A	LGEBRAIC	SOLUTION	OF	EQUATIONS,	\$\$	190 - 201			ə	219
-------	----------	----------	----	------------	------	-----------	--	--	---	-----



# THEORY OF EQUATIONS

# CHAPTER I

### SOME ELEMENTARY PROPERTIES OF EQUATIONS

1. Functions. In the study of the theory of equations we shall employ a class of functions called *algebraic*. An *algebraic function* is one which involves only the operations of addition, subtraction, multiplication, division, involution, and evolution in expressions with constant exponents. Thus,  $x^2 + ax + b$ ,  $\sqrt{2x^2+1}$ ,  $\frac{x}{x+5}$  are examples of algebraic functions; while  $\sin y$ ,  $e^x$ ,  $\log (1 + x)$ ,  $\tan^{-1}z$  are examples of functions which are not algebraic, but *transcendental*.

A rational function of a quantity is one which involves only the operations of addition, subtraction, multiplication, and division upon that quantity. If root-extraction with respect to any operand containing that quantity is involved, then the function is irrational. An *integral* function of a quantity is one in which the quantity never appears in the denominator of a fraction. Thus,  $ay^2 + by + c$  is a rational,  $y^{\frac{1}{2}} + y^{\frac{1}{2}} + 1$  is an irrational function of y;  $\frac{3}{4}x^2 + \frac{1}{2}x$  is an integral function of x, while  $\frac{1}{x}$  is not an integral function. The expression f(x), defined thus,

$$f(x) \equiv a_0 x^n + a_1 x^{n-1} + a_2 x^{n-2} + \dots + a_{n-1} x + a_n,$$

T

is a rational integral algebraic function of x of the nth degree, n being assumed to be a positive integer. The coefficients  $a_{0}$ ,  $a_{1}$ ,

в

#### THEORY OF EQUATIONS

 $a_2, \dots, a_n$  are numbers independent of x. A variety of further assumptions relating to these coefficients may be made.

Thus, we may assume that they are variables, varying independently of each other. It will be seen that, in this case, the roots of the equation f(x) = 0 are quantities independent of each other. We may also assume that the variable coefficients are rational functions of one or more other variables. Thus, in  $tx^2 + t^2x + (t^2 + t)$ , the coefficients are functions of the variable t.

Or, we may assume the coefficients to be constants — either particular algebraic numbers or letters which stand for such numbers.

The nature of the assumptions relating to the coefficients will be stated definitely as we proceed. In some theorems the coefficients are confined to real, rational, integral numbers; in others, the coefficients may be fractions or complex numbers; in the development of the Galois Theory of Equations, radical expressions will be admitted. But in no case are the coefficients supposed to be transcendental numbers, such as  $\pi$  or e = 2.718 ....

Whenever, in the next ten chapters, the coefficients are represented by letters, they may be regarded either as independent variables or as constants. Not until we enter upon the Galois theory is it essential to discriminate between the two.

2. The equation obtained by putting the polynomial I in § 1 equal to zero is called an *algebraic equation of the nth degree*. We designate it briefly by f(x) = 0. A value of x which reduces this equation to an identity is called a *root*.

When all the coefficients are independent variables, the equation is the so-called general equation of the nth degree. Viewed from the standpoint of the Galois theory, it will be seen, § 111, that the so-called general equation is not the true general case, but really only a very special one.

**3.** Theorem. If  $\alpha$  is a root of the equation f(x) = 0, then the quantic f(x) is divisible by  $x - \alpha$ , without a remainder.

Divide the polynomial f(x) by  $x - \alpha$  until a remainder is obtained which does not involve x. Designate the quotient by Q, the remainder by R. Then

$$f(x) = (x - \alpha)Q + R.$$

By hypothesis,  $\alpha$  is a root; hence, substituting  $\alpha$  for x, we have

$$f(\alpha) = (\alpha - \alpha)Q + R = 0.$$

Consequently, R = 0, and the theorem is proved. The following theorem is the converse of this.

**4.** Theorem. If the quantic f(x) is divisible by x - a without a remainder, then a is a root of f(x) = 0.

By hypothesis,  $f(x) = (x - \alpha)Q$ .

The equation f(x) = 0 may, therefore, be written (x - a)Q = 0, and the latter is seen to be satisfied when a is substituted for x. Hence a is a root of f(x) = 0.

# 5. The preceding theorem is a special case of the following

**Theorem.** The value of the quantic f(x), when h is substituted for x, is equal to the remainder which does not involve x, obtained in the operation of dividing f(x) by x - h.

Let R be the remainder which does not involve x; then

$$f(x) = (x - h)Q + R.$$

Substitute h for x and we obtain f(h) = R.

6. Divisions of polynomials by binomials, with numerical coefficients, may be performed expeditiously by the process called synthetic division. Suppose  $x^3 + 5x^2 + 4x - 23$  is to be divided by x-3. We exhibit the ordinary process, and also that of synthetic division.

## THEORY OF EQUATIONS

We notice that in synthetic division the coefficients are detached, the first term of each partial product is omitted, the second term of the divisor has its sign changed so that the second term of each partial product may be *added* to the corresponding term of the dividend. Moreover, the process is compressed so that the coefficients of the quotient and the remainder appear all in the same line.

The process is as follows:

Multiply 1 by 3 and add the product to 5, giving 8. Multiply 8 by 3 and add the product to 4, giving 28.

Multiply 28 by 3 and add the product to -23, giving 61.

The quotient is  $x^2 + 8x + 28$ ; the remainder is 61.

If in the dividend any powers of x are missing, their places are to be supplied by zero coefficients.

Divide  $x^5 - 2x^3 + x - 5$  by x + 5.

$$\frac{1+0-2+0+1-5|-5}{-5+25-115+575-2880|}$$

Hence the quotient is  $x^4 - 5x^3 + 23x^2 - 115x + 576$ ; the remainder is -2885.

**Ex. 1.** Show that  $x^4 - 5x^3 - 3x + 15$  has 5 as a root.

$$\begin{array}{r} 1 - 5 + 0 - 3 + 15 \\ \underline{5 + 5 + 0 + 0 - 15} \\ \hline 1 + 0 + 0 - 3 + 0 \end{array}$$

The remainder is 0; hence, by § 4, 5 is a root.

**Ex.** 2. Show that  $x^5 - x^4 + 10 x^3 - 9 x^2 + 8x + 699 = 0$  is satisfied by x = -3.



**Ex. 3.** Divide  $x^7 - 101 x^5 + x^4 - 60 x^2 + x$  by x + 4.

**Ex.** 4. If  $f(x) = x^5 - 6x^4 + 7x^3 + x^2 + x + 2$ , find the value of f(10).

**Ex. 5.** Determine the value of the quantic  $x^7 - 3x^5 + 4x^4 + 5x^3 + 11$ , when x = -6.

**Ex. 6.** If -4 is a root of  $2x^3 + 6x^2 + 7x + 60 = 0$ , find the other roots.

**Ex. 7.** Show that, if f(x) is divided by x - h, each successive remainder is equal to f(h), when h is substituted, throughout, for x.

7. Theorem. Every equation f(x) = 0 of the nth degree has n roots, and no more.

We assume here that every such equation has at least one root. Let  $\alpha_1$  be a root of f(x) = 0. Then f(x) is divisible by  $x - \alpha_1$  without remainder, § 3; so that

$$f(x) = (x - \alpha_1)\phi_1(x),$$

where the quotient  $\phi_1(x)$  is a rational integral algebraic function of x of the (n-1)th degree.

Again  $\phi_1(x) = 0$  has a root. Denote it by  $\alpha_{2}$ , then  $\phi_1(x)$  is divisible by  $x - \alpha_2$  without remainder, so that

$$\phi_1(x) = (x - \alpha_2)\phi_2(x),$$
  

$$f(x) = (x - \alpha_1)(x - \alpha_2)\phi_2(x).$$

Now  $\phi_2(x)$  is a rational integral algebraic function of x of the (n-2)th degree; hence  $\phi_2(x) = 0$  has a root. By continuing in this way we shall obtain n factors of f(x), viz.,  $x - a_1$ ,  $x - a_2$ ,  $\cdots x - a_n$ , and the only other factor is  $a_0$ , which is the coefficient of  $x^n$  in the quantic f(x). Thus,

$$f(x) = a_0(x - \alpha_1)(x - \alpha_2) \cdots (x - \alpha_n)$$

As the quantic f(x) vanishes when we put for x any one of the n numbers  $\alpha_1, \alpha_2, \dots, \alpha_n$ , it follows that f(x) = 0 has n roots. If x is assigned a value different from any one of these n roots, then no factor of f(x) can vanish and the equation is not satisfied. Hence f(x) = 0 cannot have more than n roots.

and

8. Theorem. If the coefficients of f(x) = 0 are all real, then complex roots enter the equation in pairs.

Let a + ib be a root of an equation f(x) = 0 with real coefficients, where  $i = \sqrt{-1}$  and where a, but not b, may be zero. We shall prove that the conjugate number, a - ib, is also a root.

Substitute the root a + ib for x in the given equation. Then expand the powers of a + ib by the binomial theorem, and simplify. All the terms which do not contain *i* or which contain even powers of *i* will be real; all terms which contain odd powers of *i* will be imaginary. Denote the algebraic sum of all real terms by P, and the algebraic sum of all imaginary terms by iQ. Then we have,

$$P + iQ = 0.$$

But this equation can be true only when P=0 and Q=0; for the real and imaginary parts can never destroy each other.

L

Now substitute a - ib for x in the equation f(x) = 0. As before, expand and simplify. All the real terms will be unchanged; all the imaginary terms will have their signs changed, but otherwise will be the same as before. Hence the quantic • f(x) now assumes the value P - iQ. But we have shown that P = 0 and Q = 0, hence,

P - iQ = 0,

that is, the equation f(x) = 0 is satisfied by x = a - ib. Hence a - ib is a root.

9. From the preceding theorem it is evident that every equation of odd degree and with real coefficients must have at least one real root. Thus, a cubic equation must have either three real roots or one real root and two complex roots.

The equation  $x^3 - 1 = 0$  has evidently the real root 1. Dividing  $x^3 - 1$  by x - 1, we are led to the quadratic  $x^2 + x + 1 = 0$ , both roots of which are complex. They are  $\frac{1}{2} \{ -1 \pm \sqrt{-3} \}$ . The three roots are called the *cube roots of unity*. Observe that

### SOME ELEMENTARY PROPERTIES OF EQUATIONS

poul

7

the square of either complex root is equal to the other complex root. Also, the sum of the three roots of unity is zero.

21

ř

20

ج

0

1

700

raidino

 $f^{n}$  10. An equation f(x) = 0 is called *complete* when all the powers of x from  $x^{n}$  to  $x^{0}$  are present. An incomplete equation can be made complete in form by writing the missing terms with zero coefficients.

When two successive terms in a polynomial or in an equation have the same sign, there exists a *permanence* of sign; when two successive terms have opposite signs, there exists a *variation* of sign. In the equation  $x^5 + x^3 - x^2 + 5 = 0$  the signs occur in the order + + - + and there are two variations, and one permanence.

11. Descartes' Rule of Signs. An equation f(x) = 0, the coefficients of which are real, has as many positive roots as it has variations of sign, or fewer by an even number.

We shall show that if a polynomial f(x) is multiplied by a factor  $x - \alpha$ , thereby introducing a new positive root, the variations of sign in the product will exceed those in the polynomial by an odd number.

In the function f(x), which is arranged according to the descending powers of x and may be either complete or incomplete, we assume that the signs of the terms vary in the following manner:  $+ \cdots - \cdots + \cdots - \cdots + \cdots$ 

where the dots which follow a + stand for any given number of consecutive terms which are positive and where the dots which follow a - designate consecutive terms which are negative.

Let  $\alpha$  be a positive root. Multiplying f(x) by  $x - \alpha$ , and writing like powers of x underneath each other, we obtain a product whose signs may be written as follows:



The  $\pm$  denotes an *ambiguity*; that is, the sign of a term so We see that the dots which affected is here undetermined. follow  $\pm$  are ambiguities; that is, each permanence of sign in f(x) is here replaced in  $(x - a) \cdot f(x)$  by an ambiguity. We see also that to every variation of sign in f(x) there corresponds a variation in  $(x - \alpha) \cdot f(x)$ . In the product there is, in addition, a variation introduced at the end. Hence the product contains at least one more variation than does f(x). It may contain more; for, successive permanences like + + + or ---, occurring in f(x) and replaced in  $(x - \alpha) \cdot f(x)$  by ambiguities, may in reality be replaced by the signs +-+ or -+-. But such changes in sign always increase the variations by an even number. Hence in  $(x - \alpha) \cdot f(x)$  the total number of variations exceeds that  $\inf f(x)$  by the odd number 1 or 1 + 2h.

The same conclusion is reached when the last term in f(x) is negative.

Descartes' Rule follows now easily. Suppose the product of all the factors, corresponding to negative and complex roots of f(x) = 0, to be already formed. Designate this product by F(x). Since F(x) = 0 has no positive roots, the first and last terms in F(x) have like signs. Hence the number of variations in F(x) is an even number, 2 k, where k is zero or a positive integer. Now, if F(x) is multiplied by the factor  $x - a_1$ , where  $a_1$  is a positive root, we get in the product  $2k_1 + 1$  variations, where  $k_1 \equiv k$ . In the same way a second factor  $x - a_2$ gives rise to  $2k_2 + 2$  variations, and so on. Thus, the introduction of v positive roots results in  $2k_v + v$  variations, where  $k_v$  is zero or a positive integer. Hence, the theorem is established.

12. Negative Roots. To apply Descartes' Rule to negative roots of f(x) = 0 we write down an equation whose roots are those of f(x) = 0 with their signs changed. The new equation can be derived by substituting in f(x) = 0, -x for x. The

process merely alters the signs of all the terms involving odd powers of x. It is readily seen that if  $\alpha$  satisfies the equation f(x) = 0, then  $-\alpha$  satisfies the equation f(-x) = 0. Hence, each negative root of f(x) = 0, with its sign changed, is a positive root of f(-x) = 0. Descartes' Rule may now be applied to f(-x) = 0.

**Ex. 1.** Determine the nature of the roots of  $x^3 + 3x + 7 = 0$ .

Ton

There is no variation; therefore, no positive root. Transform the equation by changing the signs of the terms containing odd powers of x. We get  $x^3 + 3x - 7 = 0$ . The new equation has one variation; hence, cannot have more than one positive root. Consequently, the original equation cannot have more than one negative root. The real root of the given cubic is thus seen to be negative; the other two roots must be complex.

**Ex. 2.** Apply Descartes' Rule to  $f(x) = x^4 - x^3 + 7x + 6 = 0$ . Here f(x) has two variations, and f(-x) has two variations. Hence f(x) = 0 cannot have more than two positive roots nor more than two negative roots.

**Ex. 3.** Apply Descartes' Rule to  $x^{2n} - 1 = 0$ . Since  $x^{2n} - 1$  has one variation and  $(-x)^{2n} - 1$  has one variation, the given equation cannot have more than one positive root nor more than one negative root. We readily see that +1 and -1 are roots. Hence there are 2n - 2 complex roots.

**Ex. 4.** Prove that if the roots of a complete equation are all real, the number of positive roots is equal to the number of variations, and the number of negative roots is equal to the number of permanences.

**Ex. 5.** An equation with only positive terms cannot have a positive root. If the number of variations is odd, the equation has at least one positive root, but it cannot have an even number of positive roots.

**Ex. 6.** A complete equation with alternating signs cannot have a negative root.

**Ex.** 7. If all the terms of an equation are positive and the equation involves no odd powers of x, then all its roots are complex.

**Ex. 8.** If all the terms of an equation are positive and all involve odd powers of x, then 0 is the only real root of the equation.

Ex. 9. Apply Descartes' Rule to

$$\begin{array}{rl} x^3 - 21 \ x + 20 = 0, & x^6 + x^5 + 1 = 0, \\ x^3 - x^2 + 10 \ x - 15 = 0, & x^6 - 1 = 0, \\ x^4 + 5x^3 - 4 \ x^2 - 3 \ x + 5 = 0, & x^8 - x^4 + x^2 + 1 = 0, \\ x^4 + 1 = 0, & x^n + 1 = 0, \\ x^5 + 1 = 0, & x^n - 1 = 0, \\ x^5 - 1 = 0, & \end{array}$$

**Ex. 10.** The equation  $x^4 - 4x^3 - 7x^2 + 22x + 24 = 0$  has no complex roots. How many are positive? How many are negative?

Ex. 11. Show that  $x^5 - x^4 + x^3 - x^2 - x - 1 = 0$  cannot have just two positive roots nor just one negative root, In fact at can have any and positive root a draw negative root.

#### 13. Relations between Roots and Coefficients.

If

$$f(x) \equiv x^{n} + a_{1}x^{n-1} + \dots + a_{n-1}x + a_{n} = 0$$

has the roots  $\alpha_1, \alpha_2, \dots, \alpha_n$ , then, by § 7, we have

$$f(x) \equiv (x - \alpha_1)(x - \alpha_2) \cdots (x - \alpha_n) = 0.$$

If n be taken successively equal to 2, 3, or 4, we obtain by ordinary multiplication,

$$\begin{aligned} f(x) &\equiv (x - a_1)(x - a_2) = x^2 - (a_1 + a_2)x + a_1a_2 = \mathbf{0}, \\ f(x) &\equiv (x - a_1)(x - a_2)(x - a_3) = x^3 - (a_1 + a_2 + a_3)x^2 \\ &+ (a_1a_2 + a_1a_3 + a_2a_3)x - a_1a_2a_3 = \mathbf{0}, \\ f(x) &\equiv (x - a_1)(x - a_2)(x - a_3)(x - a_4) = x^4 - (a_1 + a_2 + a_3 + a_4)x^3 \\ &+ (a_1a_2 + a_1a_3 + a_1a_4 + a_2a_3 + a_2a_4 + a_3a_4)x^2 - (a_1a_2a_3 + a_1a_2a_4 + a_1a_3a_4 + a_2a_3a_4)x + a_1a_2a_3a_4 = \mathbf{0}. \end{aligned}$$

These relations are seen to obey the following laws:

In the equation f(x) = 0, in which the coefficient of  $x^n$  is unity, the coefficient  $a_1$  of the second term, with its sign changed, is equal to the sum of the roots.

10

The coefficient  $a_2$  of the third term is equal to the sum of the products of the roots taken two by two.

The coefficient  $a_3$  of the fourth term, with its sign changed, is equal to the sum of the products of the roots taken three by three; and so on, the signs of the coefficients being taken alternately negative and positive, and the number of roots taken in each product increasing by unity every time we advance to a new coefficient, until finally the last term in the equation is reached, which is numerically equal to the product of all the roots and which is positive or negative according as n, the degree of the equation, is even or odd. In symbols, these laws may be expressed as follows:

$$\begin{array}{c} a_{1} = -(\alpha_{1} + \alpha_{2} + \alpha_{3} + \dots + \alpha_{n}), \\ a_{2} = (\alpha_{1}\alpha_{2} + \alpha_{1}\alpha_{3} + \alpha_{2}\alpha_{3} + \dots + \alpha_{n-1}\alpha_{n}), \\ a_{3} = -(\alpha_{1}\alpha_{2}\alpha_{3} + \alpha_{1}\alpha_{2}\alpha_{4} + \dots + \alpha_{n-2}\alpha_{n-1}\alpha_{n}), \\ \dots \\ a_{n} = (-1)^{n}\alpha_{1}\alpha_{2}\alpha_{3} \dots \alpha_{n}. \end{array} \right]$$

When in the equation f(x) = 0 the coefficient  $a_0$  of the term  $x^n$  is not unity, we must divide each term of the equation by  $a_0$ . The sum of the roots is then equal to  $-\frac{a_1}{a_0}$ , the sum of their products, two by two, is  $\frac{a_2}{a}$ , and so on.

The laws expressing the relations between the coefficients of an equation and the roots were obtained above by observing the relations existing in the three products obtained by actual multiplication. To remove any doubt which may be entertained as to the generality of these laws we proceed as follows. Suppose these laws to hold when n factors are multiplied together; that is, suppose that

$$(x - a_1)(x - a_2) \cdots (x - a_n) = x^n + a_1 x^{n-1} + \cdots + a_n,$$
  
nere  $a_1, a_2, \cdots, a_n$ 

have the values shown in I.

- wł

Multiply both sides of this identity by another factor  $x - a_{n+1}$ , and we get

$$\begin{aligned} (x - \alpha_1)(x - \alpha_2) \cdots (x - \alpha_n)(x - \alpha_{n+1}) &= x^{n+1} + (\alpha_1 - \alpha_{n+1})x^n \\ &+ (\alpha_2 - \alpha_1 \alpha_{n+1})x^{n-1} + \cdots - \alpha_n \alpha_{n+1}. \end{aligned}$$
  
But  $\alpha_1 - \alpha_{n+1} &= -(\alpha_1 + \alpha_2 + \cdots + \alpha_n) - \alpha_{n+1}, \\ \alpha_2 - \alpha_1 \alpha_{n+1} &= (\alpha_1 \alpha_2 + \alpha_1 \alpha_3 + \cdots + \alpha_{n-1} \alpha_n) + (\alpha_1 + \alpha_2 + \cdots + \alpha_n)\alpha_{n+1}, \\ \alpha_3 - \alpha_2 \alpha_{n+1} &= -(\alpha_1 \alpha_2 \alpha_3 + \cdots) - (\alpha_1 \alpha_2 + \alpha_1 \alpha_3 + \cdots)\alpha_{n+1}, \\ \cdots &\cdots &\cdots &\cdots &\cdots \\ - \alpha_n \alpha_{n+1} &= (-1)^{n+1} \alpha_1 \alpha_2 \alpha_3 \cdots \alpha_{n+1}. \end{aligned}$ 

Hence, if the laws hold for n factors, they hold for n+1 factors. But from actual multiplication we know that the laws hold when n = 4, therefore they must hold when n = 5. Holding for n = 5, they must hold when n = 6, and so on for any positive integral value of n.

14. It might appear that the *n* distinct relations existing between the coefficients and roots of an equation of the *n*th degree should offer some advantage in the general solution of the equation, that one of the *n* roots could be obtained by the elimination of the (n-1) roots from the *n* equations. But this process offers no *advantage*, for on performing this elimination we merely reproduce the proposed equation. Take, for example, the cubic  $x^3 + a_1x^2 + a_2x + a_3 = 0$ .

We have

$$a_{1} = -\alpha_{1} - \alpha_{2} - \alpha_{3},$$
  

$$a_{2} = \alpha_{1}\alpha_{2} + \alpha_{1}\alpha_{3} + \alpha_{2}\alpha_{3},$$
  

$$\alpha_{3} = -\alpha_{1}\alpha_{2}\alpha_{3}.$$

To eliminate  $\alpha_2$  and  $\alpha_3$ , multiply both sides of the first equation by  $\alpha_1^2$ , both sides of the second by  $\alpha_1$ , and add the results to the third equation.

We obtain

$$\alpha_1^3 + \alpha_1 \alpha_1^2 + \alpha_2 \alpha_1 + \alpha_3 = 0,$$

 $\mathbf{12}$ 

which is simply the old equation with  $\alpha_1$  in place of x to represent the unknown quantity.

While the equations expressing the relations between roots and coefficients offer no advantage in the general solution of equations, they are of service in the solution of numerical equations when some special relation is known to exist among the roots. Moreover, in any algebraic equation they enable us to determine the relations between the coefficients which correspond to some given relations between the roots.

**Ex. 1.** The cubic  $x^3 + 3x^2 - 16x - 48 = 0$  has two roots whose sum is zero. Solve the equation.

We have

$$\alpha_1+\alpha_2=0,$$

$$\alpha_1+\alpha_2+\alpha_3=-3.$$

Hence  $\alpha_3 = -3$ . Dividing the cubic by x + 3, we have

 $x^2 - 16 = 0, x = \pm 4.$ 

**Ex. 2.** The roots of the cubic  $x^3 - 9x^2 + 26x - 24 = 0$  are in arithmetical progression. Find them.

Let a - d, a, a + d be the three roots.

Then 3 a = 9,  $3 a^2 - d^2 = 26$ ; therefore a = 3, d = 1, a - d = 2, a + d = 4. The roots are 2, 3, 4.

**Ex. 3.** Two roots of the cubic  $3x^3 + x^2 - 15x - 5 = 0$  have the sum zero. Find all three roots.

**Ex.** 4. The equation  $2x^3 + 7x^2 + 4x - 3 = 0$  has two roots whose sum is -2. Solve the equation.

Ex. 5. The equation  $2x^3 + 23x^2 + 80x + 75 = 0$  has two equal roots. Solve.

**Ex. 6.** The biquadratic equation  $9x^4 + 42x^3 + 13x^2 - 84x + 36 = 0$  has two pairs of equal roots. Find them.

**Ex. 7.** If the equation  $x^4 + a_1x^3 + a_2x^2 + a_3x + a_4 = 0$  has all its roots equal, what relation exists between its coefficients ?

Ex. 8. Show that the sum of the nth roots of unity is zero.

15. Symmetric Functions. If a function of two or more quantities is not altered when any two of the quantities are

## THEORY OF EQUATIONS

interchanged, it is called a symmetric function. For example, the trinomial  $a^2 + b^2 + c^2$  is a symmetric function of a, b, c, because, if any two quantities, say a and b, are interchanged, the expression is unaltered in value. We are concerned mainly with symmetric functions of the roots of an equation. The simplest examples of such functions are those given in § 13, viz.,

$$a_1 + a_2 + a_3 + \dots + a_n,$$
  

$$\alpha_1 a_2 + a_1 a_3 + a_2 a_3 + \dots + a_{n-1} a_n,$$
  

$$a_1 a_2 a_3 + a_1 a_2 a_4 + \dots + a_{n-2} a_{n-1} a_n, \text{ etc.}$$

These are the simplest, because in no term does any one of the roots occur to a higher power than the first. Other examples of symmetric functions of the roots are

$$\alpha_1^2 \alpha_2^2 + \alpha_1^2 \alpha_3^2 + \alpha_2^2 \alpha_3^2,$$
  
$$(\alpha_1 - \alpha_2)^2 (\alpha_1 - \alpha_3)^2 (\alpha_1 - \alpha_4)^2 (\alpha_2 - \alpha_3)^2 (\alpha_2 - \alpha_4)^2 (\alpha_3 - \alpha_4)^2.$$

We shall represent a symmetric function by the letter  $\Sigma$ , followed by one of the terms of the function. Given the roots and one of the terms of the symmetric function of these roots, it is usually not difficult to write down all the terms of the function. Thus, given the roots  $\alpha$ ,  $\beta$ ,  $\gamma$  of a cubic equation, then

$$\begin{split} \Sigma \alpha &\equiv \alpha + \beta + \gamma, \\ \Sigma \alpha \beta &\equiv \alpha \beta + \alpha \gamma + \beta \gamma, \\ \Sigma \alpha^2 \dot{\beta} &\equiv \alpha^2 \beta + \alpha^2 \gamma + \beta^2 \alpha + \beta^2 \gamma + \gamma^2 \alpha + \gamma^2 \beta. \end{split}$$

\* Ex. 1. If  $x^3 + ax^2 + bx + c = 0$  has the roots  $\alpha$ ,  $\beta$ ,  $\gamma$ , express the value of  $\sum \alpha^2 \beta$  in terms of the coefficients.

Multiply $\alpha + \beta + \gamma = -a$ by $\alpha\beta + \alpha\gamma + \beta\gamma = b$ ,and we obtain $\Sigma\alpha^2\beta + 3 \alpha\beta\gamma = -ab$ and $\Sigma\alpha^2\beta = 3 c - ab$ .

**Ex.** 2. Find  $\Sigma \alpha^2$  for the same cubic.

\*The results in an example marked with a \* will be used in later examples.

14

\* Ex. 3. Find  $\Sigma \alpha^3$  for the same cubic.

Multiply the functions  $\Sigma \alpha$  and  $\Sigma \alpha^2$  together, and the product is  $\Sigma \alpha^3 + \Sigma \alpha^2 \beta$ . Hence  $\Sigma \alpha^3 = \Sigma \alpha \cdot \Sigma \alpha^2 - \Sigma \alpha^2 \beta = -\alpha^3 + \alpha b - 3c$ .

**Ex.** 4. For the same cubic, find  $\Sigma \alpha^2 \beta^2$ . Squaring both sides of  $\alpha\beta + \alpha\gamma + \beta\gamma = b$ , we obtain

$$\alpha^2\beta^2 + \alpha^2\gamma^2 + \beta^2\gamma^2 + 2\alpha\beta\gamma(\alpha + \beta + \gamma) = b^2.$$

**Ex. 5.** For the same cubic, find  $\Sigma \alpha^3 \beta$ . Show that  $\Sigma \alpha^2 \beta \cdot \Sigma \alpha = \Sigma \alpha^3 \beta + 2 \Sigma \alpha^2 \beta^2 + 2 \alpha \beta \gamma (\alpha + \beta + \gamma)$ .

**Ex. 6.** For the same cubic, find the value of  $(\alpha + \beta)(\beta + \gamma)(\gamma + \alpha)$ .

**Ex. 7.** If  $x^4 + ax^3 + bx^2 + cx + d = 0$  has the roots  $\alpha$ ,  $\beta$ ,  $\gamma$ ,  $\delta$ , find the value of  $\Sigma \alpha^2$ .

**Ex. 8.** For the same quartic, find the value of  $\Sigma \alpha^2 \beta$ .

**Ex. 9.** For the same quartic, find the value of  $\Sigma \alpha^2 \beta^2$ .

**Ex. 10.** Find the value, expressed in terms of the coefficients, of the sum of the squares of the roots  $\alpha_1, \alpha_2, \dots, \alpha_n$ , of

$$x^n + a_1 x^{n-1} + a_2 x^{n-2} + \dots + a_{n-1} x + a_n = 0.$$

Squaring  $\Sigma \alpha_1 = -\alpha_1$ , we get  $\Sigma \alpha_1^2 + 2 \Sigma \alpha_1 \alpha_2 = \alpha_1^2$ , hence

$$\Sigma \alpha_1^2 = a_1^2 - 2 a_2.$$

Ex. 11. In the same equation, find  $\sum_{\alpha} \frac{1}{\alpha_1}$ . By § 13 we have

$$(-1)^{n-1}\dot{\alpha}_{n-1} = \alpha_2\alpha_3\cdots\alpha_n + \alpha_1\alpha_3\cdots\alpha_n + \cdots + \alpha_1\alpha_2\cdots\alpha_{n-1},$$
  
$$(-1)^n\alpha_n = \alpha_1\alpha_2\cdots\alpha_n.$$

Dividing the former by the latter we obtain

$$\frac{1}{\alpha_1} + \frac{1}{\alpha_2} + \frac{1}{\alpha_3} + \dots + \frac{1}{\alpha_n} = -\frac{\alpha_{n-1}}{\alpha_n} = \sum \frac{1}{\alpha_1}$$

**Ex. 12.** Find the sum of the reciprocals of the roots of the equation  $x^5 + x^2 + 10x + 105 = 0$ . Find also  $\sum_{i=1}^{n} \frac{1}{(x_i)(x_i)}$ 

16. Graphic Representation of the Polynomial f(x). The changes in value of the polynomial  $f(x) = a_0 x^n + a_1 x^{n-1} + \dots + a_n$ , as the variable x increases or decreases, can be seen most easily by the aid of graphic representations.

#### THEORY OF EQUATIONS

Let XX' and YY' be two perpendicular lines, called *axes of* reference. Their intersection O is called the *origin*. Let values



of x be measured off from the origin O along the axis XX' and values of y be measured off from O along the axis YY'. Positive values of x are measured from O toward the right; negative values, toward the left. Positive values of y are measured from O upward; negative values of y, downward.

The distances of a point P from the axes of reference are called the *coördinates* of the point. Thus, Pm and Pn are the coördinates of the point P, both coördinates being positive;  $Q_{\rm E}$  and Qr are the coördinates of the point Q, both being negative.

Let y represent the value of the polynomial f(x); that is, let

y = f(x). Suppose now that y = Pn when x = Pm, then the position of the point P represents to the eye simultaneously the value of x and the corresponding value of f(x). If different values of x be laid off on the axis XX' and the corresponding values of f(x) on the axis YY', the points thus located will all lie on a line or . curve, called the graph of the polynomial f(x).

In the construction of the graphs of polynomials it is convenient to use "plotting" or "coördinate" paper, ruled in small squares.

**Ex. 1.** Construct the graph of  $f(x) = x^2 + x - 2$ . Putting  $y = x^2 + x - 2$ , we readily compute the following sets of values :

If

x=0,	y = -2.		
$x = \pm \frac{1}{2},$	$y=-1\tfrac{1}{4}$	$\mathbf{or}$	$-2\frac{1}{4}$ .
$x = \pm 1$ ,	y = 0	$\mathbf{or}$	2.
$x = \pm 2$ ,	y = 4	$\mathbf{or}$	0.
$x = \pm 3$ ,	y = 10	or	4.

Plotting these points we get the adjoined curve. Here unity is taken equal to  $\frac{2}{3}$  of a side of a square.

From the shape of this curve we can see that when x is negative and increases, then f(x) decreases and reaches a minimum value when  $x = -\frac{1}{2}$ . From there on, as x increases, the f(x) increases. The curve is a parabola. It cuts the axis XX' in two places; that is, there are two values of x, for which the value of f(x) is zero. These two values of x are 1 and -2. Hence 1 and -2 are roots of the equation f(x) = 0.



**Ex. 2.** Construct the graph of  $f(x) = \frac{1}{3}x^2 + x + 3$ .

If

 $x = 0, \quad y = 3.$   $x = \pm 1, \quad y = 4\frac{1}{3} \quad \text{or } 2\frac{1}{3}.$   $x = \pm 2, \quad y = 6\frac{1}{3} \quad \text{or } 2\frac{1}{3}.$   $x = \pm 3, \quad y = 9 \quad \text{or } 3.$  $x = \pm 4, \quad y = 12\frac{1}{3} \quad \text{or } 4\frac{1}{3}.$ 



The curve does not cut the axis XX'; hence no real value of x makes f(x) zero, and the roots are both imaginary.

С

**Ex. 3.** Construct the graph  $f(x) = x^3 - x^2 + 2x - 3$ .

f



$$x = 0, \quad y = -3.$$
  

$$x = \pm .5, \quad y = -2.12 \text{ or } -4.37.$$
  

$$x = \pm 1, \quad y = -1 \quad \text{or } -7.$$
  

$$x = \pm 2, \quad y = 5 \quad \text{or } -19.$$
  

$$x = \pm 3, \quad y = 21 \quad \text{or } -45.$$

The curve crosses the axis XX' only once; hence there is only one real root. The value of this root is seen from the figure to be about 1.3.

**Ex. 4.** Find the graph of  $x^3 + x^2 + 2x - 4$ .

**Ex. 5.** Find the graph of  $x^4 - 2x + 1$ .

17. In constructing the graph of a polynomial f(x) we located a number of points and then drew a curve through them. The curve thus obtained was assumed to represent the continuous variation of the value of f(x), corresponding to the continuous increase of x. But this assumption that the polynomial f(x) never jumps

from one value to another, when x is made to vary continuously from one value to another, requires proof. The proof will be given in § 25. It is facilitated by the use of derived functions and Taylor's Theorem.

## 18. Derived Functions and Taylor's Theorem. In

 $f(x) = a_0 x^n + a_1 x^{n-1} + a_2 x^{n-2} + \dots + a_{n-1} x + a_n,$ 

let x receive an increment h and write x + h in place of x. We have

 $f(x+h) = a_0(x+h)^n + a_1(x+h)^{n-1} + \dots + a_{n-1}(x+h) + a_n.$ 

Let each term be expanded by the binomial formula. Then collect the coefficients of like powers of h, and we get

$$\begin{aligned} f(x+h) &= a_0 x^n + a_1 x^{n-1} + a_2 x^{n-2} + \dots + a_{n-1} x + a_n \\ &+ h \{ n a_0 x^{n-1} + (n-1) a_1 x^{n-2} + (n-2) a_2 x^{n-3} + \dots + a_{n-1} \} \\ &+ \frac{h^2}{1 \cdot 2} \{ n(n-1) a_0 x^{n-2} + (n-1) (n-2) a_1 x^{n-3} + \dots + 2 a_{n-2} \} \\ &+ \frac{h^3}{1 \cdot 2 \cdot 3} \{ n(n-1) (n-2) a_0 x^{n-3} + (n-1) (n-2) (n-3) a_1 x^{n-4} \\ &+ \dots + 3 \cdot 2 a_{n-3} \} \\ &+ \dots + 3 \cdot 2 a_{n-3} \} \\ &+ \dots + \frac{h^n}{1 \cdot 2 \cdot 3 \dots n} \{ n(n-1) (n-2) \dots 2 \cdot 1 \} a_0. \end{aligned}$$

The first line in this expansion is obviously f(x). We shall call the coefficient of h the first derived function and denote it by f'(x). Similarly we shall call the coefficient of  $\frac{h^2}{1\cdot 2}$  the second derived function and denote it by f''(x); and so on. The *r*th derived function is designated by f''(x). In the Differential Calculus these derived functions are called differential coefficients. Using this new notation, the above result may be written as follows:

$$f(x+h) = f(x) + hf'(x) + \frac{h^2}{\underline{12}}f''(x) + \frac{h^3}{\underline{13}}f'''(x) + \dots + \frac{h^n}{\underline{1n}}f^n(x), \quad \mathbf{I}$$

In the Differential Calculus this series goes by the name of *Taylor's Theorem*. We have here established the truth of this theorem for rational integral functions of x, but the theorem has actually a much wider application.

The results of this paragraph are true of complex numbers, as well as of real numbers.

19. To arrive at a convenient rule for finding *derived functions*, compare the following expressions :

$$f(x) = a_0 x^n + a_1 x^{n-1} + a_2 x^{n-2} + \dots + a_{n-1} x + a_n,$$
  

$$f'(x) = n a_0 x^{n-1} + (n-1) a_1 x^{n-2} + (n-2) a_2 x^{n-3} + \dots + a_{n-1},$$
  

$$f''(x) = n (n-1) a_0 x^{n-2} + (n-1) (n-2) a_1 x^{n-3} + \dots + 2 a_{n-2},$$

We observe that f'(x) can be obtained from f(x) in this manner: Multiply each term in f(x) by the exponent of x in that term, and diminish the exponent of x in the term by unity. By this rule  $a_0x^n$  becomes  $na_0x^{n-1}$ , etc.;  $a_n$ , i.e.  $a_nx^0$ , becomes  $0 \cdot a_nx^{-1}$ , or 0. Notice that f''(x) can be derived from f'(x) in the same way as f'(x) was derived from f(x).

Ex. 1. If  $f(x) = x^5 + 3x^4 + 5x^3 + 6x^2 + 7x + 10$ , then  $f'(x) = 5x^4 + 12x^3 + 15x^2 + 12x + 7$ ,  $f''(x) = 20x^3 + 36x^2 + 30x + 12$ ,  $f'''(x) = 60x^2 + 72x + 30$ ,  $f^{vv}(x) = 120x + 72$ ,  $f^{v}(x) = 120$ .

Ex. 2. Find all the derived functions of

 $x^6 + 2 x^5 + 7 x^3 + 8 x^2 + 15.$ 

20. Another Form of f'(x). By § 7,

$$f(x) = a_0(x - \alpha_1) (x - \alpha_2) (x - \alpha_3) \cdots (x - \alpha_n).$$

Letting x increase to x + h, we have

 $f(x+h) = a_0(x+h-\alpha_1)(x+h-\alpha_2)\cdots(x+h-\alpha_n).$  I But, by Taylor's Theorem, § 18,

$$f(x+h) = f(x) + hf'(x) + \frac{h^2}{1 \cdot 2} f''(x) + \cdots$$

Hence the coefficient of h is f'(x), and f'(x) must, therefore, be equal to the coefficient of h in the right member of I.

That is, 
$$f'(x) = a_0(x-a_2)(x-a_3)\cdots(x-a_n) + a_0(x-a_1)(x-a_3)$$

$$\cdots (x-\alpha_n) + \cdots = \frac{f(x)}{x-\alpha_1} + \frac{f(x)}{x-\alpha_2} + \cdots + \frac{f(x)}{x-\alpha_n}.$$
 II

Formula II is still true if some of the roots are equal. Suppose  $\alpha_1$  occurs as a root s times and  $\alpha_2$  occurs t times, then

$$f(x) = \alpha_0 (x - \alpha_1)^{\epsilon} (x - \alpha_2)^{\epsilon} \cdots,$$

and formula II becomes

$$f'(x) = \frac{sf(x)}{x - \alpha_1} + \frac{tf(x)}{x - \alpha_2} + \cdots$$
Ex. 1. If 
$$f(x) = (x - 1)(x - 2)(x - 3)$$
, show that  
 $f'(x) = (x - 2)(x - 3) + (x - 1)(x - 3) + (x - 1)(x - 2)$ .  
Ex. 2. If  $f(x) = (x - 1)^3(x - 2)^2$ , show that  
 $f''(x) = 3(x - 1)^2(x - 2)^2 + 2(x - 1)^8(x - 2)$ .  
Ex. 3. If  $f(x) = (x - a)^s(x - b)^t(x - c)^s$ , show that

$$f'(x) = s(x-a)^{s-1}(x-b)^{t}(x-c)^{u+t}(x-a)^{s}(x-b)^{t-1}(x-c)^{u-1}$$
$$+ u(x-a)^{s}(x-b)^{t}(x-c)^{u-1}.$$

**Ex. 4.** If 
$$f(x) = (x - a_1)(x - a_2)(x - a_3) = 0$$
, show that  
 $f'(a_1) = \frac{f(a_1)}{a_1 - a_1} = (a_1 - a_2)(a_1 - a_3).$ 

21. Multiple Roots. If we consider the general equation in the factored form

$$(x-\alpha_1)(x-\alpha_2)(x-\alpha_3)\cdots(x-\alpha_n)=0,$$

it is evident that, in special cases, two or more factors may be equal to each other, yielding *equal* or *multiple* roots.

Suppose that m roots are equal to each other; then there are m equal factors, and f(x) may be written

Then

$$f(x) = (x - a_1)^m \phi(x).$$
  
$$f'(x) = m(x - a_1)^{m-1} \phi(x) + (x - a_1)^m \phi'(x),$$

and f(x) and f'(x) have the factor  $(x - a_1)^{m-1}$  in common. This fact suggests the following process for the discovery of multiple roots: Find the highest common factor between f(x) and f'(x). Suppose this factor is  $(x - a_1)^r$ , then f(x) has the factor  $(\overline{x - a_1})^{r+1}$ , and there are r + 1 equal roots. That is,  $a_1$  occurs as a root r + 1 times. Suppose the highest common factor to be  $(x - a_1)^r (x - a_2)^*$ , then  $a_1$  occurs as a root r + 1 times and  $a_2$ occurs as a root s + 1 times.

**Ex. 1.** Examine  $8x^3 - 20x^2 + 6x + 9 = 0$  for equal roots.

 $f'(x) = 24x^2 - 40x + 6$ , and the H. C. F. of f(x) and f'(x), found by the process of successive divisions, is 2x - 3. Hence  $(2x - 3)^2$  is a factor of f(x), and  $\frac{3}{2}$  is a double root. The adjoining figure is the graph of

f(x). At  $x = \frac{3}{4}$  the curve is touched by the axis XX'. In other words, the axis is tangent to the curve and meets it in two coincident points.



These reveal graphically the presence of a double root. The third root is seen from the figure to be  $x = -\frac{1}{2}$ .

If the entire curve were moved downward, both axes remaining fixed, then the axis OXwould become a secant line; instead of the two coincident points we would have two distinct points of intersection, and the two roots would be unequal. If the curve were shifted bodily upward, then the part of it to the right of the axis YY' would have no point in common with the axis XX', and, instead of two equal roots, we would have two complex roots. Thus equal roots are seen to be a connecting link between distinct real roots and complex roots.

Shifting the curve upward corresponds, to increasing the value of the absolute term in f(x); shifting it downward corresponds to diminishing the value of the absolute term.

**Ex. 2.** Tell from the graph in **Ex. 1**, § 16, by about how much the absolute term in f(x) must be increased to yield equal roots; to yield complex roots.

**Ex.** 3. Find the multiple roots of  $8x^4 + 20x^3 + 18x^2 + 7x + 1 = 0$ . The H. C. F. of f(x) and f'(x) is  $4x^2 + 4x + 1 = (2x + 1)^2$ ; hence  $-\frac{1}{2}$  is a triple root. Construct the graph for f(x).

Ex. 4., Find the multiple roots of

$$4 x^5 - 8 x^4 - 23 x^3 + 19 x^2 + 55 x + 25 = 0.$$

Ex. 5. Find the roots and construct the graph of

 $x^5 - 3x^4 + 3x^3 - x^2 = 0.$ 

Ex. 6. Find the equal roots and construct the graph of

 $x^4 - 6 x^3 + 13 x^2 - 12 x + 4 = 0.$ 

**Ex.** 7. Prove that, if  $\alpha$  occurs as a root of f(x) = 0 m times, then  $\alpha$  satisfies each of the equations f(x) = 0, f'(x) = 0,  $\cdots f^{m-1}(x) = 0$ .

### SOME ELEMENTARY PROPERTIES OF EQUATIONS 23

22. Graphic Representation of Complex Numbers. In the construction of graphs of polynomials y = f(x) we assumed a horizontal and a vertical axis, and from this point of intersection measured off values of x parallel to the horizontal axis

and values of y parallel to the vertical axis. A similar plan is commonly adopted for the representation of complex numbers or imaginaries. If z = x + iy, where x and y are real numbers, either + or -, rational or irrational, then x and-y are laid off parallel to the horizontal and vertical axis, respectively. If x = OQ, y = QP, then z is repre-



sented in magnitude and direction by *OP*. The *length* of *OP* is called the *modulus* of z, and is equal to  $\sqrt{x^2 + y^2}$ .\* The *direction* of z is indicated by the angle  $\theta$ , which is called the *amplitude* or *argument* of z.

Since 
$$x = \rho \cos \theta$$
,  $y = \rho \sin \theta$ , we have

$$z = x + iy = \rho(\cos \theta + i \sin \theta).$$

This graphic representation of complex numbers is due to Caspar Wessel (1797).

23. Addition and Subtraction of Complex Numbers. Let OP = a + ib and OP' = a' + ib', then, OP + OP' = (a+a') + i(b+b'). Draw P'S parallel and equal to OP, then OT = a+a', TS = b+b', and OS = OP + OP'.

\* This graphic representation is of great help to the mathematician. But attention should be called to the fact that the statement, that to every irrational number there corresponds a line of definite length, is no longer considered self-evident nor demonstrable; it involves the geometric postulate: "If all points of the line fall into two classes in such a manner that each point of the first class lies to the left of each point of the second class, then there exists one point, and only one, which brings about this separation." See the *Encyklopädie d. Math. Wiss.*, I A 3, No. 4. Using the notation  $\rho = \text{mod. } OP$ , we readily see that, in this case, mod. OS < mod. OP' + mod. P'S.

This means simply that two sides of a triangle are, together, greater than the third side. If OP and OP' had the same



amplitude (that is, the same direction), then the modulus of their sum would be equal to the sum of their moduli. Extending these considerations to three or more imaginaries, we readily arrive at the following theorem: -X The modulus of the sum of two or more complex numbers

is less than, or at most equal to, the sum of their moduli. In other words, a straight line joining two points is shorter than the sum of the parts of a broken line connecting the same two points.

24. Multiplication of Complex Numbers. The product of

$$z = a + ib = \rho(\cos \theta + i \sin \theta)$$
$$z' = a' + ib' = \rho'(\cos \theta' + i \sin \theta')$$

and

may be defined as follows:

 $z \cdot z' = \rho \rho' \{ \cos(\theta + \theta') + i \sin(\theta + \theta') \},\$ 

that is, the modulus of the product of z and z' is equal to the product of their moduli; the amplitude of their product is equal to the sum of their amplitudes.

**Ex. 1.** To what power n must  $z = \rho(\cos 45^\circ + i \sin 45^\circ)$  be raised, in order that  $z^n$  may have the same direction as z? What are the conditions that  $z^n = z$ ?

**Ex. 2.** Prove De Moivre's Theorem:  $(\cos \theta + i \sin \theta)^m = \cos m\theta + i \sin m\theta$ , for the case when m is a positive integer.

25. Continuity of f(z). We wish to prove that f(z) varies continuously with z, that as the complex number z changes gradually from a + ib to a' + ib', f(z) changes gradually from f(a + ib) to f(a' + ib').

Let z vary from  $z_0 = a + ib$  to  $z_0 + h$ , where h is likewise a complex number. The corresponding increment of f(z) is

$$f(z_0+h)-f(z_0),$$

and this, by Taylor's Theorem, § 18, is equal to

$$hf'(z_0) + \frac{h^2}{1 \cdot 2} f''(z_0) + \frac{h^3}{1 \cdot 2 \cdot 3} f'''(z_0) + \dots + \frac{h^n}{\lfloor n \rfloor} f^n(z_0), \qquad I$$

where  $f'(z_0)$ ,  $f''(z_0)$ , ...,  $f^n(z_0)$  are each finite complex numbers. Now, expression I is

$$=h\{f'(z_0) + \frac{h}{1\cdot 2}f''(z_0) + \dots + \frac{h^{n-1}}{|n|}f^n(z_0)\}.$$
 II

Since each term within the parenthesis of II is a finite complex number, and the number of terms is also finite, it follows that the entire expression within the parenthesis has a finite value. For, by § 23, the modulus of the sum of two or more complex numbers cannot exceed the sum of their moduli, and no complex number with a finite modulus can be infinite, no matter what its amplitude (direction) may be. Hence, by § 24, as the modulus of h is allowed to approach the limit zero, the modulus of the entire expression II approaches the limit zero. But when the modulus approaches the limit zero, the complex variable itself approaches zero, no matter what its amplitude may be. Hence the expression II approaches the limit zero when h does.

Since expression II represents the difference between  $f(z_0+h)$ and  $f(z_0)$ , it follows that an infinitely small variation of the complex variable z corresponds to an infinitely small variation of the polynomial f(z), and the continuity of f(z) is established. The above reasoning remains valid if we write the real variable x in place of the complex variable z. For, real numbers are only special cases of complex numbers.

An examination of the graphs in § 16 shows that when x increases, f(x) does not necessarily increase; it may increase or decrease. What we have proved is that, whether increasing or diminishing, f(x) passes from one value to another continuously, never per saltum.

26. Fundamental Theorem. We shall now demonstrate the important theorem which was assumed without proof in § 7, a theorem which has been called the fundamental proposition of algebra.\*

Every rational integral equation with real or complex coefficients has at least one root.

If we can show that the theorem is true for the special case in which the coefficients of the given equation are all real, then the general case, in which some or all of the coefficients are complex, easily follows. For, if  $f_1(z)$  is a function of z, whose coefficients are, respectively, the conjugate imaginaries of the coefficients of a second function  $f_2(z)$ , then we may write  $f_1(z) \equiv A + iB$  and  $f_2(z) \equiv A - iB$ , and  $f_1(z) \cdot f_2(z) \equiv A^2 + B^2 = f(z)$ , where f(z) has only real coefficients. Now, if f(z) = 0 can be shown to have a root  $\alpha_1$ , then we must have either  $f_1(\alpha_1) = 0$ or  $f_2(\alpha_1) = 0$ . Suppose  $f_1(\alpha_1) = 0$ , then it follows that  $f_2(\alpha_2) = 0$ , where  $\alpha_2$  is the conjugate of  $\alpha_1$ , § 8. Hence  $f_1(z) = 0$  and  $f_2(z) = 0$  have each at least one root.

Without loss of generality we may now assume that the

\* For historical and critical remarks on the numerous proofs which have been given of this theorem, see the Encyklopädie d. Math. Wiss., I B 1 a, No. 7; see also Moritz in Am. Math. Monthly, Vol. 10, p. 159. Gauss gave four proofs of this theorem, the fourth (1849) being a simplification of the first (1799). The one given here is in substance Gauss's proof of 1849. It is geometrical in character, and is open to the objection raised in the foot-note of § 22. polynomial f(z) of the *n*th degree has real coefficients only. We wish to prove that there exists always at least one value of *z*, either real or complex, which causes the polynomial f(z)to vanish.

Let z = x + iy, then, by § 22, the variable represents points in a plane, and the function f(z) has a definite value at each point in the plane. As in § 8, we may write f(z) = P + iQ, where P and Q are functions of x and y with real coefficients. To find expressions for P and Q, let  $x = r \cos \phi$ ,  $y = r \sin \phi$ . By De Moivre's Theorem,

$$z^{m} = r^{m}(\cos\phi + i\sin\phi)^{m} = r^{m}(\cos m\phi + i\sin m\phi).$$

Substituting for z in f(z), we get,

$$P = r^{n} \cos n\phi + a_{1}r^{n-1} \cos (n-1)\phi + a_{2}r^{n-2} \cos (n-2)\phi + \dots + a_{n},$$
  

$$Q = r^{n} \sin n\phi + a_{1}r^{n-1} \sin (n-1)\phi + a_{2}r^{n-2} \sin (n-2)\phi + \dots + a_{n-1}r \sin \phi.$$

A second expression for P and Q is obtained by letting  $t = \tan \frac{1}{2} \phi$ . We obtain,

$$\cos\phi = \frac{1 - t^2}{1 + t^2}, \quad \sin\phi = \frac{2t}{1 + t^2}, \quad z = r \frac{(1 + it)^2}{1 + t^2}.$$

This gives,

$$(1+t^2)^n (P+iQ) = r^n (1+it)^{2n} + a_1 r^{n-1} (1+it)^{2n-2} (1+t^2) + \dots + a_n (1+t^2)^n.$$

If we expand the binomials by the binomial formula, and arrange the result according to the powers of t, we get,

$$P = \frac{g(t)}{(1+t^2)^n}, \quad Q = \frac{h(t)}{(1+t^2)^n},$$

where g(t) and h(t) are rational integral functions of t, the degrees of which do not exceed 2n.

All points in the plane having the same value for r lie upon a circle of radius r, the centre of which is at the origin of coördinates. To determine the points on this circle for which P and Q vanish, we must solve the equations g(t) = 0 and h(t) = 0, for the given value of r. But we know by § 7 that if h(t) = 0 and g(t) = 0 have roots at all, they cannot have more than 2n. From this it follows that neither P nor Q can be equal to zero at all points of an area in the plane, for in that event we could select r such that the circle would pass through that area, and P and Q would vanish at an infinite number of points on this circle.

The value of Q may be written,

$$Q = r^n \left( \sin n\phi + \frac{a_1}{r} \sin (n-1)\phi + \frac{a_2}{r^2} \sin (n-2)\phi + \cdots \right)$$

From this expression it is readily seen that r may be taken so large that Q has the same sign as  $\sin n\phi$  on all points of the circle where  $\sin n\phi$  is numerically larger than some value  $\epsilon$ , which may be as small as we please, but not zero. Mark on the circle the points

$$0, \ \frac{\pi}{n}, \ \frac{2\pi}{n}, \ \cdots, \ \frac{(2n-1)\pi}{n},$$

and designate them, respectively, by 0, 1, 2,  $\dots$ , 2n-1. Thus, the circle is divided into 2n arcs, (01), (12), (23),  $\dots$ , (2n-1, 0),



in which  $\sin n\phi$  is alternately + and -. The figure shows the division for n = 5. In passing from arc (01) to arc (12), the function Q, for sufficiently large values of r, changes from + to -. Since by § 25, Q is a continuous function having real values, in going along the circle from + to -, it must at the point 1 pass through zero. Similarly, Q must pass through zero also at the points 2, 3, ..., (2n-1), but it does this at no other points of the circle.

Similar remarks apply to P. It is readily seen that, for sufficiently large values of r, P and  $\cos n\phi$  have always equal signs; that P is positive at the points 0, 2, ..., (2n-2), and in their vicinity, and negative at the points 1, 3, 5, ..., (2n-1), and in their vicinity.

We have seen that Q cannot vanish at all points of an area. Consequently the area within the circle can be divided into districts so that in some districts Q is everywhere positive, while in others it is everywhere negative. These districts are marked off by boundary lines along which Q vanishes. To aid the eye, the positive districts are shaded.

An arc (2h, 2h+1) of the circle, along which Q is positive, lies in a positive district. This district lies partly inside and partly outside the circle. Designate by I the part of it that is inside. Several cases may arise. The area I may terminate inside, as does (2, 12, 3), in which case (2h, 2h+1) is the only arc of the circle on its boundary. Or, the area I may run into another positive arc (2k, 2k+1), or it may divide into two or more branches, each of which terminates in a positive arc (2l, 2l+1). If there could be within I an area, like an island, in which Q were negative, then the conclusions which we are about to draw would still follow.

Consider the boundary line within the circle, passing from 2h+1 to 2k. Along this line Q=0. But P is negative at the point 2h+1 and positive at the point 2k. Since P is continuous and represents real values, P must pass through zero in at least one point along the boundary line connecting 2h+1 and 2k. Thus, at that point, we have not only Q=0 but also P=0; that is, f(z)=P+iQ=0. Thus the existence of at least one root of f(z)=0 is demonstrated.

The figure on the preceding page is taken from H. Weber and represents approximately the relations for the equation

 $z^{5} - 4z - 2 = 0.$ 

Its roots are approximately

 $\alpha = 1.52, \beta = -.51, \gamma = -1.24, \epsilon = .12 + i1.44, \epsilon' = .12 - i1.44$ 

The root  $\alpha$  lies on the boundary (1, 10, 0). The root  $\beta$  lies on the boundary (9, 10, 11, 6). The root  $\gamma$  lies on the boundary (5, 11, 4). The root  $\epsilon$  lies on the boundary (3, 12, 2). The root  $\epsilon'$  lies on the boundary (7, 13, 8).

# CHAPTER II

### **ELEMENTARY TRANSFORMATIONS OF EQUATIONS**

27. Frequently it becomes necessary to transform a given equation into a new one whose roots (or coefficients) bear a given relation to the roots (or coefficients) of the original equation. The discussion of the properties of an equation is often facilitated by such transformations.

28. Change of Signs of Roots. To change an equation into another whose roots are numerically the same as those of the given equation, but opposite in sign, it is only necessary to substitute in the given equation -x for x. This transformation has been used already in the application of Descartes' Rule of Signs to negative roots, § 12. The signs of all the terms containing odd powers of x are changed by it. The proof is as follows:

Let  $\alpha$  be any root of the equation f(x) = 0. Then we must have  $f(\alpha) = 0$ . If, now, we substitute -x for x, we get f(-x) = 0. Of this equation  $-\alpha$  is a root, for when we take  $x = -\alpha$ , we have  $f(-[-\alpha]) = f(\alpha)$ , and this we know to be equal to zero.

29. Roots multiplied by a Given Number. To transform an equation into another whose roots are m times that of the first.

Put y = mx, and substitute  $\frac{y}{m}$  for x in the identity

 $a_0 x^n + a_1 x^{n-1} + \dots + a_n \equiv a_0 (x - a_1) (x - a_2) \dots (x - a_n) = 0;$ we get

$$a_0 \frac{y^n}{m^n} + a_1 \frac{y^{n-1}}{m^{n-1}} + \dots + a_n \equiv a_0 \left(\frac{y}{m} - a_1\right) \left(\frac{y}{m} - a_2\right) \cdots \left(\frac{y}{m} - a_n\right) = 0.$$

Multiplying by  $m^n$ , we have

 $a_0y^n + ma_1y^{n-1} + \dots + m^na_n \equiv a_0(y - ma_1)(y - ma_2) \cdots (y - ma_n) = 0,$ which is the required equation.

Hence, multiply the second term by m, the third by  $m^2$ , and so on.

**Ex. 1.** Transform the equation  $x^3 + \frac{1}{2}x^2 + \frac{1}{3}x + \frac{1}{4} = 0$  into an equation with integral coefficients and  $a_0 = 1$ .

Multiply the roots by m and we get  $x^3 + \frac{m}{2}x^2 + \frac{m^2}{3}x + \frac{m^3}{4} = 0$ . The fractions will disappear if we take m = 6. The result is

 $x^3 + 3x^2 + 12x + 54 = 0.$ 

**Ex. 2.** Find the equation whose roots are 5 times the roots of the equation  $x^4 - x^3 + x^2 - x + \frac{1}{5} = 0$ .

**Ex. 3.** Find the equation whose roots are  $-\frac{1}{2}$  times the roots of

$$x^4 + 4x^3 - 4x^2 + 8x + 32 = 0.$$

**Ex. 4.** Transform the equation  $3x^3 + 4x^2 - 5x + 6 = 0$  into one in which the coefficient of  $x^{\mathbf{e}}$  is unity and all coefficients are integral.

Divide the left member of the given equation by 3, then multiply the roots by m. We obtain  $x^3 + \frac{4 m}{3}x^2 - \frac{5 m^2}{3}x + \frac{6 m^3}{3} = 0$ .

Taking m = 3, we get the required equation,  $x^3 + 4x^2 - 15x + 54 = 0$ .

Ex. 5. Change the signs of the roots of the equation

$$x^6 + 5x^3 - 6x^2 + x + 5 = 0.$$

Ex. 6. Remove the fractional coefficients from the equation

$$x^{3} + \frac{1}{5}x - \frac{1}{125} = 0,$$
$$a_{0} = 1.$$

keeping

**Ex.** 7. Transform the equation  $10 x^4 - 6 x^2 + 7 x - \frac{1}{10} = 0$  so that the coefficient of the highest term is unity.

**Ex. 8.** Remove fractional coefficients from  $\frac{2}{3}x^4 + \frac{1}{4}x^3 - x + \frac{1}{6} = 0$ , also make the coefficient of the highest term unity, and change the signs of the roots.

**30.** Reciprocal Roots. To change an equation into a new one whose roots are the reciprocals of the roots of the first equation. In the equation

$$2a_0x^n + a_1x^{n-1} + \dots + a_n = a_0(x - \alpha_1)(x - \alpha_2) \dots (x - \alpha_n) = 0$$
  
put  $x = \frac{1}{y}$ , and we have  
$$a_0\frac{1}{y^n} + a_1\frac{1}{y^{n-1}} + \dots + a_n = a_0\left(\frac{1}{y} - \alpha_1\right)\left(\frac{1}{y} - \alpha_2\right) \dots \left(\frac{1}{y} - \alpha_n\right) = 0.$$
  
Multiplying by  $y^n$ ,  
$$a_ny^n + a_{n-1}y^{n-1} + \dots + a_0 = a_0a_n\left(y - \frac{1}{\alpha_1}\right)\left(y - \frac{1}{\alpha_2}\right) \dots \left(y - \frac{1}{\alpha_n}\right) = 0.$$
  
the required equation

**31.** Reciprocal Equations. If an equation is not altered when x is changed into its reciprocal, it is called a *reciprocal equation*. Comparing coefficients of the first and last equation in § 30, we see that the conditions for a reciprocal equation are

$$\frac{a_1}{a_0} = \frac{a_{n-1}}{a_n}, \quad \frac{a_2}{a_0} = \frac{a_{n-2}}{a_n}, \quad \cdots \quad \frac{a_{n-1}}{a_0} = \frac{a_1}{a_n}, \quad \frac{a_n}{a_0} = \frac{a_0}{a_n}.$$

The last condition gives  $a_n^2 = a_0^2$  and  $a_n = \pm a_0$ . If  $a_n = +a_0$ , then the denominators in the equations of condition are all alike, and we see that the first, second, third coefficients, etc.. taken from the beginning, are equal respectively to the first, second, and third coefficients, etc., taken from the end. If  $a_n = -a_0$ , then these relations are modified in this, that corresponding terms from the beginning and end have opposite signs.

If  $\alpha$  is a root of a reciprocal equation,  $\frac{1}{\alpha}$  must be a root also. Hence the roots of a reciprocal equation occur in pairs  $\alpha_1, \frac{1}{\alpha_1};$  $\alpha_{22}, \frac{1}{\alpha_2};$  etc.

If the degree of the equation is odd, then one of the roots D

must be its own reciprocal; that is, one of the roots must be either +1 or -1. If the coefficients have all like signs, then -1 is a root; if the coefficients of the terms equidistant from the first and last have opposite signs, then +1 is a root. In either case the degree of the equation can be depressed by unity, if we divide f(x) by x + 1 or by x - 1. The depressed equation is always a reciprocal equation of even degree with like signs for its coefficients.

If the degree of a given reciprocal equation is *even* and if terms equidistant from the first and last have opposite signs, then the left member of the equation has  $x^2 - 1$  as a factor. For, the equation may be written in the form

 $(x^{2n}-1) + a_1 x (x^{2n-2}-1) + a_2 x^2 (2^{2n-4}-1) + \cdots = 0.$ 

Dividing by  $x^2 - 1$  reduces this type of reciprocal equation to one of even degree with all coefficients positive.

Since all reciprocal equations of odd degree and all reciprocal equations of even degree with half of the coefficients negative, are reducible to reciprocal equations of even degree with coefficients all positive, the latter kind is called the standard form of reciprocal equation.

Ex. 1. Under what conditions is the equation

 $x^4 + a_1 x^3 + a_2 x^2 + a_3 x + a_4 = 0$  reciprocal?

Under what conditions is it in the standard form?

Ex. 2. Reduce the following reciprocal equation to the standard form.

 $x^6 + a_1 x^5 + a_2 x^4 - a_2 x^2 - a_1 x - 1 = 0.$ 

We may write it thus:  $(x^6 - 1) + a_1x(x^4 - 1) + a_2x^2(x^2 - 1) = 0$ . Dividing by  $x^2 - 1$ ,  $x^4 + a_1x^3 + (1 + a_2)x^2 + a_1x + 1 = 0$ .

**Ex. 3.** For what value of  $a_m$  will

 $x^{2m} + a_1 x^{2m-1} + a_2 x^{2m-2} + \dots + a_m x^m - a_{m-1} x^{m-1} - \dots - a_1 x - 1 = 0$ be a reciprocal equation ?

**Ex. 4.** Solve the equation  $x^4 + 3x^5 - 3x - 1 = 0$ .

34

## ELEMENTARY TRANSFORMATIONS OF EQUATIONS 35

**Ex. 5.** Solve the equation  $3x^3 + 2x^2 + 2x + 3 = 0$ .

Ex. 6. Given that c is a root of

$$ax^{5} + (b - ac)x^{4} - bcx^{3} - bx^{2} - (a - bc)x + ac = 0,$$

find the other roots.

32. Roots diminished by a Given Number. If an equation is to be transformed into another whose roots are those of the first, diminished by h, then we take y = x - h, and substitute x = y + h in the given equation

$$a_0 x^n + a_1 x^{n-1} + \dots + a_n = 0.$$
 I

We obtain 
$$a_0(y+h)^n + a_1(y+h)^{n-1} + \dots + a_n = 0.$$
 II

If  $\alpha$  is a root of equation I, then  $\alpha - h$  is a root of equation II; for, substituting  $\alpha - h$  for y in the latter, we get

$$a_0\alpha^n + a_1\alpha^{n-1} + \dots + a_n,$$

which expression must vanish, since  $\alpha$  is a root of I. Hence II is satisfied by  $y = \alpha - h$ .

If we expand the binomials in II and collect the coefficients of like powers of y, we obtain, let us suppose, the equation

$$A_0 y^n + A_1 y^{n-1} + A_2 y^{n-2} + \dots + A_n = 0.$$

Since y = x - h, this equation is equivalent to

$$A_0(x-h)^n + A_1(x-h)^{n-1} + \dots + A_{n-1}(x-h) + A_n = 0.$$

The form of this last equation suggests an easy rule for earrying out the actual computation. Dividing the left member by x - h, the remainder obtained is seen to be equal to  $A_n$ , the absolute term. If the quotient thus obtained is divided by x - h, the remainder is  $A_{n-1}$ , the coefficient of x. By continuing this process we can find all the coefficients of the transformed equation.

If, instead of diminishing the roots, we desire to increase them, we take h negative.

**Ex.** 1. Transform  $x^4 - 5x^3 + 7x^2 - 4x + 5 = 0$  into another equation whose roots are less by 2.

By synthetic division the process is as follows :

The numbers in black type, 1, -4, +1, +3, indicate, respectively, the first, second, third, and fourth remainder. Hence the required equation is  $x^4 + 3x^3 + x^2 - 4x + 1 = 0$ .

**Ex. 2.** Diminish the roots of  $2x^5 - x^3 + 10x - 8 = 0$  by 5.

**Ex. 3.** Transform the equation  $x^4 - 8x^3 + x^2 + x - 6 = 0$  into another in which the second term is wanting.

The sum of the roots of the given equation, by § 13, is + 8. In the required equation the sum shall be zero. Hence the sum of the roots must be diminished by 8; each single root by 2. Hence we get by synthetic division  $x^4 - 23 x^2 - 59 x - 48 = 0$ .

**Ex. 4.** Remove the second term of  $x^5 + 10x^4 + x^2 + 1 = 0$ .

**Ex. 5.** Remove the second term of  $4x^4 + 8x^3 + x + 12 = 0$ .

33. Removal of Second Term in the Cubic. In the transformation of the general cubic

$$b_0 x^3 + 3 b_1 x^2 + 3 b_2 x + b_3 = 0$$

into another, deprived of the second term, we notice that each root must be increased by  $\frac{b_1}{b_0}$ , the sum of the roots in the given cubic being  $-\frac{3 b_1}{b_0}$ . Put  $y = x + \frac{b_1}{b_0}$ , then  $x = y - \frac{b_1}{b_0}$ . Substituting, we obtain

$$b_0 \left( y - \frac{b_1}{b_0} \right)^3 + 3 b_1 \left( y - \frac{b_1}{b_0} \right)^2 + 3 b_2 \left( y - \frac{b_1}{b_0} \right) + b_3 = 0.$$

# ELEMENTARY TRANSFORMATIONS OF EQUATIONS 37

Expanding, and collecting the coefficients of the different powers of y, we get

$$b_0y^3 + 3 B_2y + B_3 = 0,$$
  

$$b_0\hat{B}_2 = b_0b_2 - b_1^2 \equiv \mathbf{H},$$
  

$$b_0^2B_3 = b_0^2b_3 - 3 b_0b_1b_2 + 2 b_1^3 \equiv \mathbf{G}.$$

where

Accordingly, the transformed cubic, deprived of the second term, is

$$y^{3} + \frac{3}{b_{0}^{2}}(b_{0}b_{2} - b_{1}^{2})y + \frac{1}{b_{0}^{3}}(b_{0}^{2}b_{3} - 3 b_{0}b_{1}b_{2} + 2 b_{1}^{3}) = 0.$$

If the roots of this equation are multiplied by  $b_0$ , by the process shown in § 29, and the letters **H** and **G**, as defined above, are introduced for brevity, then the transformed cubic takes the form  $z^3 + 3 Hz + G = 0.$ I

$$z^3 + 3Hz + G = 0.$$
  
Since  $z = b_0 y$  and  $y = x + \frac{b_1}{b_0}$ , we have  $z = b_0 x + b_1$ .

The reader will observe that by the use of the binomial coefficients, 1, 3, 3, 1, in the original cubic, the expressions arising in the process of transformation are simplified somewhat. The use of binomial coefficients is frequently found convenient.

34. Removal of Second Term in the Quartic. Write the quartic with binomial coefficients, thus,

$$b_0x^4 + 4 b_1x^3 + 6 b_2x^2 + 4 b_3x + b_4 = 0.$$

The sum of the roots being  $-\frac{4 b_1}{b_0}$ , each root must be increased by  $\frac{b_1}{b_0}$ . Putting  $y = x + \frac{b_1}{b_0}$ , we have  $x = y - \frac{b_1}{b_0}$ . Substituting in the quartic and expanding the binomials, we obtain

$$y^{4} + \frac{6}{b_{0}^{2}}Hy^{2} + \frac{4}{b_{0}^{3}}Gy + \frac{1}{b_{0}^{4}}(b_{0}^{3}b_{4} - 4b_{0}^{2}b_{1}b_{3} + 6b_{0}b_{1}^{2}b_{2} - 3b_{1}^{4}) = 0,$$

## THEORY OF EQUATIONS

where H and G are defined in § 33. The last term of the transformed quartic it is most convenient to consider as composed of H and of a new function I. Let  $I \equiv b_0 b_4 - 4 b_1 b_3 + 3 b_2^2$ . Then we obtain the following:

$$\frac{b_0^3 b_4 - 4 b_0^2 b_1 b_3 + 6 b_0 b_1^2 b_2 - 3 b_1^4 = b_0^2 (b_0 b_4 - 4 b_1 b_3 + 3 b_2^2)}{-3 (b_0 b_2 - b_1^2)^2 = b_0^2 I - 3 H^2}.$$

The transformed quartic takes now the form

$$y^{4} + \frac{6}{b_{0}^{2}}Hy^{2} + \frac{4}{b_{0}^{3}}Gy + \frac{b_{0}^{2}I - 3H^{2}}{b_{0}^{4}} = 0, \qquad I$$

or, multiplying the roots by  $b_0$ , the form

$$z^4 + 6 Hz^2 + 4 Gz + b_0^2 I - 3 H^2 = 0.$$
 II  
Since  $z = b_0 y$ , and  $y = x + \frac{b_1}{b_1}$ , we have  $z = b_0 x + b_1$ .

**Ex. 1.** Compute *H* and *G* for the cubic, obtained by transforming  $x^3 + 3x^2 + 4x - 10 = 0$ , so that the second term will vanish.

**Ex.** 2. Compute *H*, *G*, and *I* for the quartic with the second term wanting, obtained from  $2x^4 - 16x^3 - 2x^2 + x - 12 = 0$ .

Ex. 3. Verify the results obtained in the last two exercises by transforming the cubic and quartic by the process of synthetic division, as in § 32.

35. Equation of Squared Differences of Roots of Cubic. The formation of the equation whose roots are the squares of the differences of every two of the roots of a given cubic is of importance, because the equation thus formed leads with comparative ease to the criteria of the nature of the roots of the general cubic. Let the cubic be

$$b_0 x^3 + 3 b_1 x^2 + 3 b_2 x + b_3 = 0.$$
 I

Transforming so as to remove the second term, we have, by § 33,

$$y^{3} + \frac{3H}{b_{0}^{2}}y + \frac{G}{b_{0}^{3}} = 0,$$
 II  
$$y = x + \frac{b_{1}}{b_{0}}.$$

where

Let the roots of equation II be  $\alpha$ ,  $\beta$ ,  $\gamma$ . Then the squares of the differences of every two of the roots are

$$(\alpha - \beta)^2$$
,  $(\alpha - \gamma)^2$ ,  $(\beta - \gamma)^2$ . III

Since the roots of II are the roots of I, each increased by  $\frac{o_1}{h}$ , it

follows that the *differences* of the roots, two by two, of equation II are the same as the differences of the roots of equation I. Hence the squares of the differences, given in III, are the squares of the differences of the roots of equation I, as well as of equation II. In other words, both equations lead to the same "equation of squared differences." This last equation is evidently

$$\{z - (\alpha - \beta)^2\}\{z - (\alpha - \gamma)^2\}\{z - (\beta - \gamma)^2\}=0.$$
 IV

The coefficients may be calculated as follows: Equation IV is satisfied by the equality

$$z = (\alpha - \beta)^2 \cdot - \alpha^2 - 2\alpha \beta^3 \cdot \beta$$

We obtain from this

$$z = \alpha^2 + \beta^2 (+\gamma^2 - \gamma^2) - \frac{2 \alpha \beta \gamma}{\gamma}.$$

Now  $a^2 + \beta^2 + \gamma^2$  was shown in § 15, Ex. 2, to be equal to  $a_1^2 - 2a_2$ ; in the case of equation II,  $a_1 = 0$ ,  $a_2 = \frac{3H}{b_2^2}$ . So,

$$\alpha^2 + \beta^2 + \gamma^2 = -\frac{6}{b_0^2}H$$
$$\alpha\beta\gamma = -\frac{G}{b_0^3}.$$

while

He

$$z = -\frac{6}{b_0^2} - y^2 + \frac{2}{b_0^3} - \frac{2}{b_0^3} + \frac{2$$

where  $y^2$  and y are written for  $\gamma^2$  and  $\gamma$ . This is allowable, since  $\gamma$  is one of the three possible values that y can assume in equation II.

Multiplying the members of the last equation by y, we have

$$y^{3} + \left(z + \frac{6}{b_{0}^{2}}\right)y - \frac{2}{b_{0}^{3}} = 0.$$

Subtracting equation II from this, we get

$$yz + \frac{3}{b_0^2} \frac{H}{y} - \frac{3}{b_0^3} \frac{G}{z} = 0,$$
$$y = \frac{3}{b_0^3 z + 3} \frac{G}{Hb_0}.$$

whence

We have here y expressed as a linear function of z. Substituting this expression of y in equation II, we obtain, after some labor,

$$\overline{z^3} + \frac{18}{b_0^2} z^2 + \frac{81}{b_0^4} z^2 + \frac{27}{b_0^6} (G^2 + 4 H^3) = 0.$$
 V

This is the "equation of squared differences" of the roots of equation I and of equation II, the roots of V being

$$(\alpha - \beta)^2$$
,  $(\alpha - \gamma)^2$ ,  $(\beta - \gamma)^2$ .

Multiplying the roots of equation V by  $b_0^2$ , we obtain an equation free of fractions,

$$z^{3} + 18 Hz^{2} + 81 H^{2}z + 27 (G^{2} + 4 H^{3}) = 0, \qquad \text{VI}$$

whose roots are

$$b_0^2(\alpha - \beta)^2, \quad b_0^2(\alpha - \gamma)^2, \quad b_0^2(\beta - \gamma)^2.$$
$$(\alpha - \beta)^2(\alpha - \gamma)^2(\beta - \gamma)^2 = -\frac{27}{b_0^6}(G^2 + 4H^3) \equiv D,$$

Here

where D is an important function, known as the *discriminant* of the cubic. Since, by § 33,

$$G \equiv b_0^2 b_3 - 3 b_0 b_1 b_2 + 2 b_1^3,$$
  
$$H \equiv b_0 b_2 - b_1^2,$$

we obtain

$$b_0^4 D = 27 \left( 3 \, b_1^2 b_2^2 + 6 \, b_0 b_1 b_2 b_3 - b_0^2 b_3^2 - 4 \, b_0 b_2^3 - 4 \, b_1^3 b_3 \right).$$

In the discussion of the cubic equation we shall frequently make use of the discriminant.

40

#### ELEMENTARY TRANSFORMATIONS OF EQUATIONS 41

**Ex. 1.** Find the equation of squared differences of the roots of the cubic  $x^3 + 3x^2 - 3x - 1 = 0$ .

Here  $b_0 = 1$ ,  $b_1 = 1$ ,  $b_2 = -1$ ,  $b_3 = -1$ . Hence G = 4 and H = -2. The required equation is  $z^3 - 36 z^2 + 324 z - 432 = 0$ .

**Ex. 2.** The cubic in the previous example is a reciprocal equation. Solve it, find the values of the squared differences of the roots, and see whether they are really roots of the equation of squared differences.

The reciprocal equation of the standard form, obtained from the above, is  $x^2 + 4x + 1 = 0$ . The roots of the given cubic are  $1, -2 \pm \sqrt{3}$ ; their squared differences are  $12, 12 \pm 6\sqrt{3}$ . Dividing the left member of the transformed cubic by z - 12, thus,

$$\begin{array}{r}1 - 36 + 324 - 432 \\ \underline{12} \\ + 12 - 288 + 432 \\ \hline - 24 + 36 + 0\end{array}$$

we see, by §4, that 12 is a root. The depressed equation,  $z^2-24z+36=0$ , is satisfied by  $z = 12 \pm 6\sqrt{3}$ .

**Ex. 3.** Find the equation of squared differences of the roots of the cubic  $x^3 + x^2 - x - 1 = 0$ .

The required equation is  $z^3 - 8z^2 + 16z = 0$ . What inference can be drawn with respect to the roots of the given cubic from the fact that z = 0 is a root of the transformed cubic?  $z = root = z_1 - c_1 + c_2 + c_2 + c_3 + c_3 + c_4 +$ 

**Ex. 4.** Find the equation of the squared differences of the roots of  $x^3 + 3x + 2 = 0$ . Ans.  $z^3 + 18 z^2 + 81 z + 216 = 0$ .

It is important to observe that, since the last term +216 is positive, and is equal to *minus* the product of the roots, at least one of the three values of z must be negative. Now if the roots of the given cubic are all real, then the squares of their differences must be positive, and all the values of z must be positive. A negative value of z can be obtained only when the given cubic has two imaginary roots. Hence  $x^3 + 3x + 2 = 0$ has two imaginary roots. Verify this by Descartes' Rule of Signs.

**Ex. 5.** Find the equation of the squared differences of the roots of  $x^3 + 6x^2 + 5x - 16 = 0$ .

The process is easier if we first transform the cubic to another whose second term is wanting.

36. Criteria of the Nature of the Roots of the Cubic. We proceed to discuss the nature of the roots of the general cubic I in § 35, with the help of the "equation of squared differences" V.

To begin with, observe that, since the absolute term in V is equal to *minus* the product of the three roots of V, at least one of the three roots must be negative when the absolute term is positive. But a negative root cannot occur in V, if all the roots in I are real. A negative result can be obtained only when the number that is being squared is imaginary. Hence, a negative root in V indicates the presence of two imaginary roots in I.

Again, when all the roots in V are positive, then I cannot have imaginary roots. For, the square of the difference of two conjugate imaginary roots is always real and negative, making the absolute term in V positive and one of its roots negative.

Real Roots. Equation I has real roots when  $G^2 + 4 H^3$  is negative. For, to make this negative, H must be negative and  $4 H^3$  must be numerically greater than  $G^2$ . That being the case, the signs of the coefficients in V are + - + -. Hence, by Descartes' Rule of Signs, V can have no negative roots. Since all these roots are real, they must be positive. Consequently, equation I has all its roots real.

Complex Roots. Equation I has two complex roots when  $G^2 + 4 H^3$  is positive. For, when this is positive, one of the roots in V is negative.

Two Equal Roots. Equation I has two equal roots when  $G^2 + 4 H^3 = 0$ . For, in this case, z = 0 is a root of V, showing that two of the roots in I have zero for their difference. Thus, the vanishing of the discriminant indicates equal roots.

Three Equal Roots. Equation I has three equal roots when H=0 and G=0. For, V reduces to  $z^3=0$ . Since all the roots of V are zero, all the roots of I must be equal to one another.

**Ex. 1.** Prove that equation V in § 35 cannot have three equal roots different from zero.

**Ex. 2.** If two roots in V are equal to each other, but not zero, what inference can be drawn about the roots of I?

**Ex. 3.** Compute the discriminant of  $x^3 - 6x^2 + 3x - 4 = 0$ .

**Ex. 4.** Find the discriminant of  $4x^3 + 8x^2 + 5x + 1 = 0$ . What inference can be drawn from its value?

42

# CHAPTER III

# LOCATION OF THE ROOTS OF AN EQUATION

**37**. In this chapter we shall deduce theorems giving limits between which all the real roots of an equation with real coefficients lie. We shall also derive theorems which enable us to separate from each other all the distinct real roots, and to ascertain the exact number and location of the real roots.

**38.** An Upper Limit. If in the equation f(x) = 0 the coefficient of  $x^n$  is unity, then the numerically greatest negative coefficient, increased by one, is an upper limit of the positive roots of the equation.

Any positive value of x makes f(x) > 0, if it makes

$$x^{n} - p(x^{n-1} + x^{n-2} + \dots + 1) > 0,$$
  
$$x^{n} - p \cdot \frac{x^{n} - 1}{x - 1} > 0,$$

or,

where p is the numerical value of the greatest negative coefficient. All the more is f(x) > 0, if a positive value of x makes

$$(x^{n}-1)-p\frac{x^{n}-1}{x-1} > 0,$$

$$(x^{n}-1)\left(1-\frac{p}{x-1}\right) > 0.$$

or,

But this last expression is always > 0, or positive, if p < x-1; that is, if x > p+1.

Since any real value of x, greater than p+1, makes f(x) > 0, every real value of x which makes f(x) equal to zero must be equal to or less than p+1. Hence p+1 is an upper limit of the real positive roots of f(x) = 0.

#### THEORY OF EQUATIONS

**39.** Another Upper Limit. If the numerical value of each negative coefficient is divided by the sum of all the positive coefficients which precede it, the greatest of the fractions thus formed, increased by one, is an upper limit of the positive roots of f(x) = 0.

Let  $f(x) \equiv a_0 x^n + a_1 x^{n-1} - a_2 x^{n-2} + a_3 x^{n-3} - a_4 x^{n-4} + \dots + a_n$ , in which the coefficients of  $x^{n-2}$  and  $x^{n-4}$  are negative. Since

$$(x^{m}-1) = (x-1)(x^{m-1}+x^{m-2}+\dots+x+1),$$

we have  $x^m = (x-1)(x^{m-1} + x^{m-2} + \dots + x + 1) + 1.$ 

If we transform all the *positive* terms in f(x) by means of this formula, we obtain f(x) = c

$$\begin{array}{c} a_0(x-1)x^{n-1} + a_0(x-1)x^{n-2} + a_0(x-1)x^{n-3} + a_0(x-1)x^{n-4} + \dots + a_0 \\ + a_1(x-1)x^{n-2} + a_1(x-1)x^{n-3} + a_1(x-1)x^{n-4} + \dots + a_1 \\ - a_2x^{n-2} \\ + a_3(x-1)x^{n-4} + \dots + a_3 \\ - a_4x^{n-4} \\ + \dots \end{array}$$

If in this expression x is assigned a positive value large enough to make the sum of the coefficients in each column of terms positive, then f(x) will be positive for that value of x. The coefficients in the first and third column are positive, if x > 1. The same is true of all other columns which are free of negative coefficients.

The sum of the coefficients in the second column, containing the negative coefficient  $-q_2$ , is positive if x is large enough to make  $q_1(x-1) + q_2(x-1) = q > 0$ 

$$a_0(x-1) + a_1(x-1) - a_2 > 0.$$

Whence

$$x > \frac{a_2}{a_0 + a_1} + 1.$$

. Similarly, we obtain from the fourth column, if

$$a_0(x-1) + a_1(x-1) + a_3(x-1) - a_4 > 0,$$

the inequality

$$x > \frac{a_4}{a_0 + a_1 + a_3} + 1.$$

The same reasoning applies to any column containing a negative coefficient. Hence, if we take x equal to, or greater than, the greatest of the expressions thus obtained, then the polynomial f(x) will be positive, and the greatest expression constitutes an upper limit of the positive roots.

Ex. 1. Find upper limits of the positive roots of

$$x^4 - 8 x^3 + 18 x^2 - 16 x + 5 = 0.$$

By § 38, 17 is an upper limit.

By § 39, the fractional expressions are  $\frac{8}{1} + 1$  and  $\frac{16}{1+18} + 1$ .

Hence 9 is an upper limit. The largest positive root is 5. Thus § 39 gives here a closer limit than § 38. The limit obtained from § 38 is never smaller than that obtained from § 39, and usually not so small.

Ex. 2. Find superior limits, by § 38 and by § 39, of

- (1)  $x^4 + 45 x^2 40 x + 84 = 0$ .
- (2)  $3x^4 + 6x^3 + 12x^2 4x 10 = 0$ .
- (3)  $2x^5 + 10x^4 72x^3 + 5x^2 + 15x 39 = 0$ .
- (4)  $2x^3 5x^2 + x + 10 = 0$ .

**40.** Lower Limits. A number not greater than any of the positive roots of an equation constitutes a lower or inferior limit. Such a limit may be found by transforming the given equation into another whose roots are the reciprocals of the roots of the given equation. By § 30, this can be done by writing  $x = \frac{1}{y}$ . In the transformed equation we find a superior limit of y; the reciprocal of y will be an inferior limit of x.

41. Limits of Negative Roots. Substitute in the given equation -y for x, and then find the superior and inferior limits of the positive roots of the transformed equation.

**Ex. 1.** Find limits of the positive and of the negative roots of  $x^4 - 19 x^2 - 23 x - 7 = 0$ .

By § 38 and § 39 the upper limits are 24. Writing  $\frac{1}{u}$  for x, we get

7  $y^4 + 23 y^3 + 19 y^2 - 1 = 0$ . The upper limits of the roots of this equation are  $\frac{5}{4}$  and  $\frac{5}{48}$ ; hence the lower limits of the positive roots of the given equation are  $\frac{7}{4}$  and  $\frac{4}{58}$ .

Writing -y for x, we obtain  $y^4 - 19 y^2 + 23 y - 7 = 0$ . We obtain 20 as a superior limit and  $\frac{7}{30}$  as an inferior limit of the positive values of y. Hence the *negative* roots of the given equation lie between  $-\frac{7}{30}$  and -20, and all the roots lie between 24 and -20.

To convey an idea of how the limits compare with the actual values of x, we give the roots:  $4.8977 \cdots$ ,  $-3.6331 \cdots$ ,  $-.7124 \cdots$ ,  $-.5522 \cdots$ .

**Ex.** 2. Between what limits do the real roots of  $x^5 + 5x^4 + x^3 - 16x^2 - 20x - 16 = 0$  lie?

By § 38 and § 41, the roots lie between 21 and -21. By § 39 and § 41, the roots lie between  $\frac{27}{7}$  and -6. The roots are 2, -2, -4,  $\frac{1}{2}(-1\pm\sqrt{-3})$ .

Ex. 3. Between what limits are the real roots of

- (1)  $x^4 + 4x^3 x^2 16x 12 = 0$ ,
- (2)  $x^4 3x^3 + 3x 1 = 0$ ,
- (3)  $x^5 11x^4 + 17x^3 + 17x^2 11x + 1 = 0$ ?

42. Change of Sign of f(x). If two real numbers a and b, when substituted for x in f(x), give to f(x) contrary signs, an odd number of roots of the equation f(x) = 0 must lie between a and b; if they give to f(x) the same sign, either no root or an even number of roots must lie between a and b.

Since f(x) varies continuously with x (§ 25), and f(x) changes sign in going from f(a) to f(b), passing through all the intermediate values, it follows that f(x) must pass through the value zero. That is, there is some real value of x, between a and b, which causes f(x) to vanish and is a root of the equation f(x)=0. But f(x), in passing from f(a) to f(b), may go through zero nore than once. When f(a) and f(b) have opposite signs, f(x)must pass through zero an odd number of times. Since a real root corresponds to a point where the graph of f(x) crosses the axis of x, the statement just made simply means that, to pass from a point on one side of the axis to a point on the other side of it, we must cross the axis an odd number of times.

Similarly, if f(a) and f(b) have like signs, they represent two points on the same side of the axis. To pass from one point to the other, the graph either does not cross the axis at all, or it crosses the axis an even number of times. Hence, if f(a) and f(b) have like signs, there are either no roots or an even number of roots between a and b.

**Ex. 1.** Locate the roots of  $x^4 + 4x^3 - x^2 - 16x - 11 = 0$ .

From Descartes' Rule of Signs (§ 11) we see that there cannot be more than one positive root and not more than three negative roots. We find

> f(0) = -11. f(-1) = +1. $f(1) = -23. \qquad f(-2) = +1.$ f(2) = +1.f(-2.7) = -.6.f(-3) = +1.

We see that the positive root lies between 1 and 2, that the negative roots lie respectively between 0 and -1, -2 and -2.7, -2.7 and -3.

**Ex. 2.** Locate the roots of  $x^5 - 5x^4 + 9x^3 - 9x^2 + 5x - 1 = 0$ .

By Descartes' Rule of Signs we see that there are no negative roots. We obtain 6 as a superior limit of the positive roots. We have

f(0) = -1.	f(2) = -3.
f(.5) = +.09.	f(3) = +14.
f(1) = 0.	f(6) = +2945.

We see that 1 is a root; that there is a root between 0 and .5; also between 2 and 3. Two roots are still unaccounted for; they are imaginary, as can be ascertained by Sturm's Theorem, to be given later.

Ex. 3. Locate the real roots of

(1)  $x^3 - 3x^2 - 46x - 71 = 0$ . (2)  $x^4 + 2x^3 - 41x^2 - 42x + 361 = 0$ . (3)  $x^4 - 16 x^3 + 86 x^2 - 176 x + 110 = 0$ .

**43.** Maximum and Minimum Values of f(x). Any value of x which renders f(x) a maximum or a minimum is a root of the derived function of f'(x).

First. Let a be a value which makes f(x) a minimum. Since f(a) is a minimum, it is less than both f(a-h) and f(a+h), where h is a small increment. By Taylor's Theorem (§ 18) we have

$$f(a-h) - f(a) = -f'(a) \cdot h + f''(a) \cdot \frac{h^2}{2} - \cdots,$$
  
$$f(a+h) - f(a) = +f'(a) \cdot h + f''(a) \cdot \frac{h^2}{2} + \cdots.$$

Since the left members of these equations are both positive, the right members must be positive too. Now h may be taken so small that the sign of the right member of each equation is the same as the sign of the first term in the right member. Hence  $-f'(a) \cdot h$  and  $+f'(a) \cdot h$  must both be of the same sign. But this is possible only when f'(a) = 0; that is, when *a is a root of the first derivative*. Since in each equation the right member is positive, and the first term in that member is zero, it follows that f''(a) is positive.

Second. Suppose that x = a makes f(x) a maximum. Then the left members of the above equations are both negative. That the right members may be both negative, for very small values of h, it is necessary not only that f'(a) should vanish as before, but that f''(a) be a negative value.

44. Rule for Maxima and Minima. The proof of the preceding article suggests the following rule for finding maximum and minimum values of f(x): Solve the equation f'(x) = 0. Each of its roots renders f(x) a maximum or minimum, according as it makes f''(x) negative or positive.

**Ex. 1.** Find the maxima and minima of  $f(x) = 2x^3 + 15x^2 + 36x + 5$ .

Here  $f'(x) = 6 x^2 + 30 x + 36$ , and f''(x) = 12 x + 30.

f'(x) = 0 gives x = -2, or -3. We find that f''(-2) is positive and f''(-3) is negative. Hence f(-2) is a minimum and f(-3) is a maximum.

Ex. 2. Find the maximum and minimum values of  $f(x) = 2x^3 + 3x^2 - 36x + 75$ ,

# LOCATION OF THE ROOTS OF AN EQUATION 49

45. Rolle's Theorem. Between two successive real roots a and b of the equation f(x) = 0 there lies at least one real root of the equation f'(x) = 0. In other words, what goest for the equation f'(x) = 0.

Let the curve in this figure be the graph of f(x) = 0. The points A, B, C, D, E, F, G represent maximum and minimum values of f(x); the points M, N, P represent real roots of f(x)=0. Between the two roots M and N the curve bends down and



then up. Between the real root at N and the double root at P the curve goes up, down, up, and finally down. Evidently, between each pair of distinct successive real roots there must be at least one maximum or minimum value of f(x).

But each maximum or minimum point represents a value of x which is a root of the equation f'(x) = 0 (§ 44). Hence Rolle's Theorem is proved.

From the examination of the figure we see that two successive roots of the derived function may not comprise between them any real root of f(x) = 0, as in case of the roots represented by D and E; they may comprise one distinct root, as in case of the roots at A and B, B and C, E and F, but they can never comprise more than one root of f(x) = 0.

11. For with This here

**Ex. 1.** The equation  $x^4 - 12x^3 + 47x^2 - 72x + 36 = 0$  has the roots 1, 2, 3, 6. Locate the roots of the equation  $2x^3 - 18x^2 + 47x - 36 = 0$  by Rolle's Theorem.

46. The determination of the number of real roots and of complex roots of an equation is a problem which has engaged the attention of several great mathematicians. Researches on this subject have been made by Descartes, Newton, Waring, Budan, Fourier, Sylvester, Sturm, and some more recent mathematicians. Nearly all of the theorems and rules are defective in not giving the exact number of real roots or of imaginary roots, but of giving merely a superior limit to this number. Descartes' Rule of Signs, for instance, gives only superior limits for the number of positive and negative roots.

The theorem of Sturm is free from this blemish. It tells always the exact number of real roots within a given interval and the exact number of imaginary roots of an equation. Because of this unfailing certainty we select Sturm's Theorem to the exclusion of the theorems of Newton, Sylvester, Budan, and Fourier, even though it is laborious in its application. In practice, the nature and situation of the roots are more usually found, when possible, by the theorem of § 42, combined with Descartes' Rule of Signs and the theorems on the superior and inferior limits of the roots (§§ 38–41), Sturm's Theorem being used only when the other theorems fail to give us the desired information.

47. Sturm's Functions. Let f(x) = 0 be an equation which has no equal roots. Find the first derived function of f(x), namely f'(x). Then proceed with the process of finding the highest common factor of f(x) and f'(x), with this modification, that the sign of each remainder be changed before it is used as a divisor. Continue the process until a remainder is reached which does not contain x, and change the sign of that also. We designate the several remainders with their signs changed, by

# LOCATION OF THE ROOTS OF AN EQUATION 51

 $f_2(x), f_3(x), \dots, f_n(x)$ , and call them auxiliary functions. The functions  $f(x), f'(x), f_2(x), f_3(x), \dots, f_n(x)$  are called Sturm's functions.

**48.** Sturm's Theorem. If f(x) = 0 has no equal roots, let any two real quantities a and b be substituted for x in Sturm's functions, then the difference between the number of variations of sign in the series when a is substituted for x and the number when b is substituted for x expresses the number of real roots of f(x) = 0 between a and b.

When f(x) = 0 has multiple roots, the difference between the number of variations of sign when a and b are substituted for x in the series, f(x), f'(x),  $f_2(x)$ ,  $\dots$ ,  $f_r(x)$ , where  $f_r(x)$  is the highest common factor of f(x) and f'(x), is equal to the number of real roots between a and b, each multiple root counting only once.

First Case. No Equal Roots. In § 21 the operation of finding the highest common factor between f(x) and f'(x) was used for finding multiple roots of the equation f(x) = 0. If there is no highest common factor involving x, there are no multiple roots, and we are able to find all of the n + 1 Sturm's functions. The last function,  $f_n(x)$ , is numerical and not zero.

From the mode of formation of Sturm's functions we obtain the following equations, in which  $q_1, q_2, \dots, q_{n-1}$  are the successive quotients in the process:

$$\begin{cases}
f(x) = q_1 f'(x) - f_2(x), \\
f'(x) = q_2 f_2(x) - f_3(x), \\
f_2(x) = q_3 f_3(x) - f_4(x), \\
\vdots \\
f_{n-2}(x) = q_{n-1} f_{n-1}(x) - f_n(x).
\end{cases}$$
I

(1) Two consecutive auxiliary functions cannot vanish for x the same value of x. For, if  $f_2(x)$  and  $f_3(x)$  vanish together when x = c, each would contain the factor x - c. From the second equation it would follow that x - c is a factor of f'(x),

and from the first equation that x - c is a factor of f(x). Hence f(x) and f'(x) would have a common factor and (§ 21) f(x) would have equal roots, which is contrary to hypothesis.

(2) When any auxiliary function vanishes the two adjacent functions have opposite signs. Suppose, for example, that  $f_3(x)$  is zero for x = c. By (1),  $f_2(x)$  and  $f_4(x)$  cannot be zero when  $f_3(x)$  is zero. The third equation, above, then reduces to  $f_2(x) = -f_4(x)$ , showing that  $f_2(x)$  and  $f_4(x)$  have contrary signs.

(3) When x, in passing from the value a to the value b, passes through a value which makes an auxiliary function vanish, Sturm's functions neither gain nor lose variations in sign. For, suppose that, for x = c,  $f_r(x) = 0$ , then  $f_{r-1}(c)$  and  $f_{r+1}(c)$  have opposite signs. As  $f_r(x)$  passes through zero, it changes its sign from + to -, or from - to +. Thus the three functions  $f_{r-1}(x)$ ,  $f_r(x)$ ,  $f_{r+1}(x)$  will have one variation in sign just before x = c and also just after x = c. In other words, no matter which sign is placed between two unlike signs, we have only one variation. Hence no variation is either gained or lost among Sturm's functions.

(4) When x, in passing from the value a to the value b, assumes a value which is a root of the equation f(x) = 0, then Sturm's functions lose *one* variation in sign. By Taylor's Theorem, § 18,

$$\begin{aligned} f(c-h) - f(c) &= -hf'(c) + \frac{h^2}{\underline{|2|}}f''(c) - \cdots, \\ f(c+h) - f(c) &= +hf'(c) + \frac{h^2}{\underline{|2|}}f''(c) + \cdots. \end{aligned}$$

For very small values of h the sign of the right member of each expansion will be the same as the sign of its first term. If f(x) vanishes for x = c, so that f(c) = 0, and if f'(c) is positive, f(c-h) is negative and f(c+h) is positive. That is, the signs of f(x) and f'(x) will be -+ just before x = c, and ++ just after x = c. Thus one variation in sign is lost. If f'(c) is negative, then f(c-h) is positive and f(c+h) is negative. That is, the signs of f(x) and f'(x) will be +- just before x = c, and -- just after x = c. Hence a variation is lost, as x passes through a root of f(x) = 0, whether f'(c) is positive or negative.

We have now shown that, whenever x, in passing continuously from a to b, assumes a value which makes one or more auxiliary functions vanish, while f(x) does not vanish for that value, no variations of sign are gained or lost among Sturm's functions; but every time that x assumes a value which causes f(x) to vanish, one variation is lost. Hence, the number of variations lost, as x goes from the real value a to the real value b, is equal to the number of real roots of f(x) = 0 between a and b.

Second Case. Equal Roots. In the case of equal roots the functions f(x) and f'(x) have a common factor; hence the last of Sturm's functions is not a numerical constant, as before; this last function is now the highest common factor of f(x) and f'(x). Let Sturm's functions be  $f(x), f'(x), f_2(x), \dots, f_r(x)$ .

If x passes through a root of f(x) = 0, which is not a multiple root, then the reasoning of the First Case still holds.

But if f(x) = 0 has the multiple root r, and if x = r, we have a different state of things; consecutive functions will vanish simultaneously. Suppose that r is an *m*-multiple root, then  $f(x) = (x - x)\pi(x - x)(x - x)$ 

and

$$f(x) = (x - r)^{m}(x - r_{1})(x - r_{2}) \cdots$$
  

$$f'(x) = m(x - r)^{m-1}(x - r_{1})(x - r_{2}) \cdots$$
  

$$+ (x - r)^{m}(x - r_{2})(x - r_{3}) \cdots$$
  

$$+ (x - r)^{m}(x - r_{1})(x - r_{3}) \cdots$$
  

$$+ \cdots \cdots \cdots$$

Divide f(x) and f'(x) by their H. C. F.  $(x-r)^{m-1}$ , and we get two functions g(x) and  $g_1(x)$ . We notice that f(x) and  $g_1(x)$ have no common factor and therefore cannot vanish simultaneously. Let g'(x) be the first derived function of g(x).

53

## THEORY OF EQUATIONS

We find that  $g_1(x)$  differs from g'(x) only by the presence in  $g_1(x)$  of the positive coefficient m. If x = r, then  $g_1(x)$  and g'(x) have the same sign; for,  $g_1(r) = m(r-r_1)(r-r_2) \cdots$  and  $g'(r) = (r-r_1)(r-r_2) \cdots$ . They have like signs also for

$$x = r_1, \text{ or } r_2, \cdots$$

We may therefore find the situation of the roots of g(x) = 0by taking g(x) and  $g_1(x)$  as the first two of Sturm's functions and forming from these two the rest of them. This is permissible, since by applying the reasoning of the First Case it may be shown that this new set of functions possesses the two fundamental properties that as x passes from a to b no variations of signs are gained or lost when an auxiliary function vanishes, and that one and only one variation is lost when g(x) vanishes.

The number of variations in sign will always be the same for the series  $f(x), f'(x), f_2(x), \cdots f_r(x),$ 

as for

 $g(x), g_1(x), g_2(x), \cdots g_r(x)$ .

For, corresponding terms of the two series of functions differ always only by the factor  $(x - r)^{m-1}$ , so that, for any value of x, the signs of the terms in the first series are all the same as those of the second series, or the signs are all unlike.

Hence, by examining the variations in signs of the first series we can find out how many real roots of the equation g(x) = 0lie between a and b, and this number of roots is the same as the number of *real and distinct* roots of the equation f(x) = 0between those same limits. This proves the second case when r is a multiple root. If f(x) = 0 has, besides r, the multiple root  $r_m$ , then a slight and obvious modification of our proof is necessary.

**49.** In the application of Sturm's theorem, the following point must be borne in mind. In finding the functions  $f_2(x)$ ,  $f_3(x)$ ,  $\cdots$  it is allowable to introduce or suppress any monomial

or numerical factor, as is done in the process of finding the H.C.F., *provided that the factor is positive*. Particular care must be taken not to change any of the signs, except of course the sign of a remainder, just before it is used as a divisor in the next operation.

If we wish to ascertain simply the total number of real roots, without fixing their location, we need only substitute in the Sturmian functions the values  $x = -\infty$  and  $x = +\infty$  and observe the difference in the number of variations of sign.

Ex. 1. Apply Sturm's Theorem to  $x^3 - x^2 - 10 x + 1 = 0$ . Here  $f'(x) = 3 x^2 - 2 x - 10$ ,  $f_2(x) = 62 x + 1$ ,  $f_3(x) = 38313$ .

We give the signs of the Sturm's functions for the indicated values of x:

x	f(x)	f'(x)	$f_2(x)$	$f_3(x)$
00	+	+	+	+
4	+	+	+	+
3	-	+	+	+ (no deled
2	<u> </u>	-	+	+ (1 add . 1)
1	-	-	+	+
0	· + ·	<u> </u>	+	+ 1 Jal
-2	+	+		+
- 3	-	+		+
- ∞	· -	+		+

Since  $x = \infty$  gives no variations and  $x = -\infty$  gives three variations, all three roots are real. The roots lie between 3 and 4, 0 and 1, -2 and -3.

**Ex. 2.** Apply Sturm's Theorem to  $x^5 - 5x^4 + 9x^3 - 9x^2 + 5x - 1 = 0$ , the equation given in Ex. 2, § 42.

Here

$$f'(x) = 5 x^{4} - 20 x^{3} + 27 x^{2} - 18 x + 5,$$
  

$$f_{2}(x) = x^{3} - x,$$
  

$$f_{3}(x) = -32 x^{2} + 38 x - 5,$$
  

$$f_{4}(x) = -26 x + 19,$$
  

$$f_{b}(x) = -192.$$

When  $x = \infty$ , Sturm's functions give one variation; when  $x = -\infty$ , they give four. Hence there are three real and two imaginary roots.

#### THEORY OF EQUATIONS

**Ex.** 3. Apply Sturm's Theorem to  $2x^5 + 7x^4 + 8x^3 + 2x^2 - 2x - 1 = 0$ . We find  $f'(x) = 10x^4 + 28x^3 + 24x^2 + 4x - 2$ ,  $f_2(x) = x^3 + 3x^2 + 3x + 1$ .

Here  $f_2(x)$  is found to be the H. C. F. of f(x) and f'(x); hence -1 is a quadruple root. For  $x = +\infty$ , the functions f(x), f'(x),  $f_2(x)$  yield the signs + + +; for  $x = -\infty$  they yield - + -. Hence there are two distinct real roots, and all the roots are real.

**Ex. 4.** Show that all the roots of  $x^4 + x^3 - x^2 - 2x + 4 = 0$  are imaginary.

Ex. 5. Required the number and situation of the real roots of

$$2 x^{4} - 11 x^{2} + 8 x - 16 = 0,$$
  

$$x^{3} + 11 x^{2} - 102 x + 181 = 0,$$
  

$$x^{3} - 36 x^{3} + 72 x^{2} - 37 x + 72 = 0.$$

50. Nature of the Roots of the Quartic. In the study of the nature of the roots of the cubic equation we began in § 35 by deducing the "equation of squared differences of the roots of the cubic." Then, in § 36, we used this transformed equation in the discussion of the roots of the given cubic. The same mode of procedure might be adopted in the study of the roots of the quartic equation. But the formation of the "equation of squared differences of the roots" is laborious, and we prefer to begin the discussion by applying Sturm's Theorem to the quartic with its second term removed.

If we transform the general quartic

$$b_0 x^4 + 4 b_1 x^3 + 6 b_2 x^2 + 4 b_3 x + b_4 = 0, \qquad I$$

into a new equation, deprived of its second term and with coefficients integral in form, we obtain, as in § 34,

$$y^4 + 6 Hy^2 + 4 Gy + b_0^2 I - 3 H^2 = 0,$$
 II

where

56
### LOCATION OF THE ROOTS OF AN EQUATION 57

Representing the left member of equation II by f(y), we get

$$\frac{J'(y)}{4} = y^3 + 3 Hy + G,$$

and, by division, and whong sugar

$$f_2(y) = -3 Hy^2 - 3 Gy - b_0^2 I + 3 H^2.$$

Before dividing  $\frac{1}{4}f'(y)$  by  $f_2(y)$ , multiply  $\frac{1}{4}f'(y)$  by the positive factor  $3H^2$ . We obtain, after dividing the remainder by  $b_0^2$ .

$$f_3(y) = (b_0^2 H I - 3 G^2 - 12 H^3) \frac{y}{b_0^2} - GI.$$

We find it convenient to let  $b_0^2 HI - G^2 - 4 H^3 \equiv b_0^3 J$ .

Then  $f_3(y) = (3 \ b_0 J - 2 \ HI)y - GI.$ 

where

Now multiply  $f_2(y)$  by the positive factor  $(3 b_0 J - 2 HI)^2$ , and we obtain, after division, a remainder which, with its sign changed, is equal to

$$\begin{aligned} (b_0^2 I - 3 H^2) (3 b_0 J - 2 HI)^2 + 3 G^2 I (3 b_0 J - HI) \\ &= b_0^2 H^2 I^3 - 27 b_0^2 H^2 J^2 + T, \\ T &\equiv (9 b_0^4 I J^2 - 12 b_0^3 H I^2 J + 36 b_0 H^3 I J + 9 b_0 G^2 I J) \\ &+ (3 b_0^2 H^2 I^3 - 3 G^2 I^2 H - 12 H^4 I^2) \\ &= 3 b_0 L I (3 b_0^3 J - 4 b_0^2 H I + 12 H^3 + 3 G^2) + 3 b_0^3 I^2 H J \end{aligned}$$

$$= 3 b_0 IJ(3 b_0^3 J - 3 b_0^2 HI + 12 H^3 + 3 G^2)$$

$$= 3 b_0 IJ (3 b_0^3 J - 3 b_0^3 J) = 0.$$

If the remainder is divided by the positive factor  $b_0^2 H^2$ , we obtain  $f_4(y) = I^3 - 27 J^2$ .

We have now all of Sturm's functions of equation II.

(1) All roots real. If  $(I^3 - 27 J^2) > 0$ ,  $(3 b_0 J - 2 HI) > 0$ , and H < 0; then, for  $y = \infty$ , the signs of Sturm's functions are + + + + + +; for  $y = -\infty$  the signs are + - + - +. The excess of variations in the latter case is four; hence all the roots are real. (2) All roots imaginary. If  $I^3 - 27 J^2 > 0$ , and if H > 0 or else  $(3 b_0 J - 2 HI) < 0$ , then the number of variations in signs for  $y = -\infty$  is the same as for  $y = \infty$ ; hence there are no real roots.

(3) Two real roots. If  $I^3 - 27 J^2 < 0$ , then, no matter what signs H and  $(3 b_0 J - 2 HI)$  may have, we get always a difference of two variations for  $y = \infty$  and  $y = -\infty$ ; hence there are two real roots and two imaginary roots.

(4) Equal roots. When  $I^3 - 27 J^2 = 0$ , it is evident from the theory of the H. C. F. that there are equal roots. If  $f_4(y)$  is the only one of Sturm's functions which vanishes identically, then  $f_3(y)$  is the H. C. F. in y and there are two roots equal to each other. If  $f_3(y)$  is identically zero, which happens when I=0 and J=0, or when G=0 and  $3 b_0J=2$  HI, then three roots are equal to each other or there are two distinct pairs of double roots. That is, if I=0 and J=0, we get from the equation defining J the relation  $G^2 + 4 H^3 = 0$ , which makes  $f_2(y)$  a perfect square. Hence three roots are equal. When G=0 and  $3 b_0J=2$  HI, it follows that  $b_0^2I=12$  H<sup>2</sup> and  $f_2(y)$  is readily seen to be composed of two unequal factors in y, indicating the existence of two distinct pairs of equal roots. If we have I=0, J=0, and H=0, then it follows that G=0 and  $f_2(y)=0$ ; hence  $f'(x) = y^3$  and all the roots are equal.

This discussion of equation II applies also to equation I, representing the general quartic; for, since  $y = b_0 x + b_1$ , the values of x are real, imaginary, or multiple values, according as the values of y are real, imaginary, or multiple values.

Ex. 1.) Compute the values of H, G, I, J for the equation  $x^4 - 4x^3 + 60x^2 - 8x + 1 = 0.$ 

Then discuss the nature of the roots.

**Ex.** 2. Show that in equation II a double root is equal to  $GI \div (3 b_0 J - 2 HI)$ , a triple root is equal to  $-iH^{\frac{1}{2}}$ , a quadruple root is equal to 0.

**Ex.** 3. Apply Sturm's Theorem to the cubic  $y^3 + 3 Hy + G = 0$ , and verify the results of § 36.

59

51. Discriminant of the Quartic. The expression  $I^3 - 27 J^2$  played an important rôle in the discussion of the nature of the roots of the quartic. We shall prove that, when multiplied by the constant  $256 b_0^{-6}$ , it is equal to the product of the squares of the differences of the roots. This product is called the *discriminant* of the quartic.

Let  $I_{p_{\alpha}}^{3} \rightarrow 27 J^{2} = R$ . When *R* vanishes, the quartic was seen to have equal roots. Hence  $(\alpha - \alpha_{1})$  must be a factor of *R*. Since *R* is a constant for an equation with constant coefficients, it is unaltered when  $(\alpha - \alpha_{1})$  is changed to  $(\alpha_{1} - \alpha)$ . Hence  $(\alpha - \alpha_{1})^{2}$  must be a factor of *R*. This reasoning holds for the difference of every two roots. Hence

is a factor of R. Remembering that  $b_1$ ,  $b_2$ ,  $b_3$ ,  $b_4$  are symmetric functions of the roots, involving the roots to the degrees one, two, three, four, respectively, we see on examining the expression for R, that it cannot involve products of roots of higher degree than 12. But 12 is also the degree of the terms in the product I. Hence there are no other factors in R which involve the roots. Therefore, R differs from the product I by some numerical factor only. This factor can be easily found by using any simple quartic which has distinct roots, say  $b_0x^4 - 1 = 0$ . Here  $R = -b_0^3$ , the product I is  $-256 b_0^{-3}$ . Hence

$$(\alpha - \alpha_1)^2 (\alpha - \alpha_2)^2 (\alpha - \alpha_3)^2 (\alpha_1 - \alpha_2)^2 (\alpha_1 - \alpha_3)^2 (\alpha_2 - \alpha_3)^2$$
  
=  $\frac{256}{h^6} (I^3 - 27 J^2) = D,$ 

where D is the discriminant.

## CHAPTER IV

## APPROXIMATION TO THE ROOTS OF NUMERICAL EQUATIONS

52. Solution by Radicals and by Approximation. The modern theory of equations is the outgrowth of attempts made during past centuries to solve equations arising in the consideration of problems in pure and applied mathematics. The subject of the solution of equations resolves itself into two quite distinct parts: Firstly, the solution of numerical equations whose coefficients are given numbers, by some method of approximation to the true value of the roots; secondly, the solution of equations whose coefficients are either particular numbers or independent variables, in such a way as to yield accurate expressions for the values of the roots in terms of the coefficients ---such expressions to involve no other processes than addition, subtraction, multiplication, division, and the extraction of roots of any orders. The latter process is called the algebraic solution of equations. The former is of importance to the practical computer, the latter is of special interest to the pure mathematician. In the former each root may be determined separately; in the latter a general expression must be found which represents all the roots indifferently.

In the *algebraic* solution of equations no great difficulty presents itself as long as the degree of the equation does not exceed four. But in spite of persistent attempts by many of the ablest mathematicians, no algebraic solution of the general equation of the fifth or a higher degree has ever been given. In fact, we shall be able to show conclusively that no such solution is possible; that is, no solution can be given in which

60

the roots are expressed in terms of the coefficients by means of radical signs or fractional exponents. In the quadratic  $x^2 + ax + b = 0$  we know that  $x = \frac{1}{2}(-a \pm \sqrt{a^2 - 4b})$ . In the cubic we shall see that x can be similarly expressed in terms of its coefficients by indicating the extraction of certain square roots and cube roots. The same remark applies to the quartic. But in the general quintic x refuses to submit itself to this mode of treatment. A general solution of the quintic has been given, but the solution involves elliptic integrals and is, therefore, not algebraic, but transcendental.

The problem of the solution of numerical equations by approximation to a certain number of decimal places is much easier. Not only are we able to determine, with comparative ease, the real roots of equations of lower degrees, but also of the quintic and of higher equations.

Methods of approximation to the roots of numerical equations have been devised by several mathematicians — Newton, Lagrange, Budan, Fourier, and others. But the best practical method is that given in 1819 by William George Horner. We'shall confine ourselves to the exposition of his method and that of Newton.

3% 53. Commensurable and Incommensurable Roots. A real root of a numerical equation is said to be *commensurable* when it is an integer or a rational fraction; it is said to be *incommensurable* when it involves an interminable decimal which is not a repeating decimal.. Since a repeating decimal can be expressed as a rational fraction, a root in that form is commensurable.

54. Fractional Roots. A rational fraction cannot be a root of an equation with integral coefficients, the coefficient of  $x^n$  being unity.

If possible, let  $\frac{h}{k}$ , h and k being integers and  $\frac{h}{k}$  a fraction reduced to its lowest terms, be a root of the equation

 $x^n + a_1 x^{n-1} + a_2 x^{n-2} + \dots + a_n = 0.$ 

Writing  $\frac{h}{k}$  for x, we get  $\left(\frac{h}{k}\right)^n + a_1 \left(\frac{h}{k}\right)^{n-1} + a_2 \left(\frac{h}{k}\right)^{n-2} + \dots + a_n = 0.$ 

Multiplying by  $k^{n-1}$  and transposing all integral terms,

$$\frac{h^n}{k} = -a_1 h^{n-1} - a_2 h^{n-2} k - \dots - a_n k^{n-1}.$$

This equation is impossible, since the fraction  $\frac{\hbar^n}{k}$ , which is in its lowest terms, cannot be equal to an integral number.

Hence,  $\frac{h}{k}$  cannot be a root of the given equation.

-0 55. Integral Roots. Since the equation with integral coefficients,  $x^n + a_1 x^{n-1} + \dots + a_n = 0$ ,

cannot have rational fractional roots, and since  $a_n$  is numerically equal to the product of all the roots (§ 13), it is evident that all commensurable roots are exact divisors of  $a_n$  and may be found by testing the factors of  $a_n$ . By § 4 a factor c is a root, if f(x) is divisible by x - c without a remainder.

If the coefficient of  $x^n$  is not unity, but  $a_0$ , then we may divide through by  $a_0$  and transform the equation into another whose roots are those of the given equation multiplied by  $a_0$ (§ 29). In the new equation the coefficient of  $x^n$  is unity and all the other coefficients are integral. Hence, all its commensurable roots are integral.

**Ex. 1.** Find the commensurable roots of  $x^3 - 7x - 6 = 0$ .

The commensurable roots must be found among the values  $\pm 1$ ,  $\pm 2$ ,  $\pm 3$ ,  $\pm 6$ , which are all factors of -6. By Descartes' Rule of Signs we see that there is only one positive root. By substitution or by synthetic division we find that +1 is not a root, that -1 is a root. We may now either depress the degree of the equation by dividing by x + 1 and then solve the resulting quadratic, or we may try the other factors. We obtain -2 and +3 as the values of the other roots.

Ex. 2. Find the commensurable roots of

 $2 x^3 - x^2 - x - 3 = 0.$ 

Dividing the left member by 2 and multiplying the roots by 2, we obtain  $x^3 - x^2 - 2x - 12 = 0.$ 

It is found that +3 is the only commensurable root of this equation. Hence,  $+\frac{3}{4}$  is the only commensurable root of the given equation.

Ex. 3. Find all the commensurable roots of

 $x^{3} + 4x^{2} + 6x + 3 = 0.$   $x^{4} - 3x^{3} - 22x^{2} - 39x - 21 = 0.$   $x^{5} - 10x^{4} + 17x^{2} - x - 7 = 0.$   $x^{5} - 13x^{4} + 34x^{3} - 26x^{2} - 18x + 22 = 0.$   $6x^{3} - 25x^{2} + 3x + 4 = 0.$  $4x^{3} + 20x^{2} - 23x + 6 = 0.$ 

 → 56. Horner's Method. This method may be used advanta- geously for finding not only incommensurable roots, but also commensurable roots when the process of § 55 is inconvenient.

In the application of Horner's method we must know the *first significant figure* of the root, to start with. The first digit may be found by the process indicated in § 42 or by Sturm's Theorem.

Horner's method consists of successive transformations of an equation. Each transformation diminishes the root by a certain amount. If the required root is 2.24004, then the root is diminished successively by 2, .2, .04, .00004. The mode of effecting these transformations, by synthetic division, was explained in § 32. The method will be readily understood by the study of the following example:

**Ex. 1.** The equation  $x^3 - x - 9 = 0$ , I has a root between 2 and 3, for f(2) = -3 and f(3) = +15. The first figure of the root is therefore 2. Transforming the equation so that the roots of the new equation will be smaller by 2, we obtain

1	+0	-1	- 9	2
	+2	+4	+6	
	+2	+3	- 3	
	+2	+ 8		
	+4	+11		
	+2			
	+6			

### THEORY OF EQUATIONS

Since the roots of the transformed equation

$$x^3 + 6x^2 + 11x - 3 = 0$$
 II

are equal to the roots of equation I less 2, equation II has a root between 0 and 1. This root being less than unity,  $x^2$  and  $x^3$  are each less than x. Neglecting  $x^8$  and  $6x^2$ , we obtain an approximate value for x from

$$11 x - 3 = 0$$
, or  $x = .2$ .

Transforming II so as to diminish the roots by .2, we get

$$x^3 + 6.6 x^2 + 13.52 x - .552 = 0.$$
 III

Neglecting  $x^3 + 6.6 x^2$ , we find an approximate value for x in equation II from 13.52 x - .552 = 0, or x = .04.

Diminishing the roots of III by the value .04, we have

$$x^3 + 6.72 x^2 + 14.0528 x - .000576 = 0.$$
 IV

From 14.0528 x - .000576 = 0, we get x = .00004.

The root of equation I whose first figure is 2 has now been diminished by 2, .2, .04, .00004. Hence the root is approximately 2.24004. The successive transformations may be conveniently and compactly represented as follows:

+0	-1	- 9   2.24004
2	4	6
2	3	- 3
<b>2</b>	8	2.448
4	11	552
2	1.24	.551424
6	12.24	000576
.2	1.28	
$\overline{6.2}$	13.52	
.2	.2656	
6.4	13.7856	
2	.2672	
6.6	14.0528	
.04		
6.64		
.04		
6.68		
.04		
6.72		

R

64

The broken lines indicate the conclusion of the successive transformations. The numbers immediately below a broken line are the coefficients of the transformed equation. Thus, the second transformed equation is seen at once to be  $x^3 + 6.6 x^2 + 13.52 x - .552 = 0$ .

**Ex. 2.** In the equation  $x^3 - 46.6x^2 - 44.6x - 142.8 = 0$  we find that f(40) = -, f(50) = +. Hence there is a root between 40 and 50. To find this root, diminish the roots by 40, then find the first figure of the root in the transformed equation and proceed by Horner's method as already explained. The work is as follows:

1	-46.6	-44.6	$-142.8 \mid 47.6$
	40	- 264	- 12344
	- 6.6	- 308.6	-12486.8
	40	1336	11131.4
	33.4	1027.4	-1355.4
	40	562.8	1355.4
	73.4	1590.2	
	7	611.8	
	80.4	2202.0	
	7	57	
	87.4	2259	
	7		
	94.4		
	.6		
	95		

In the first transformed equation  $x^3 + 73.4 x^2 + 1027.4 x - 12486.8 = 0$ we only know that the value of x is less than 10; hence the method of Ex. 1, where we ignored the terms containing  $x^3$  and  $x^2$ , is not applicable. Since in this transformed equation f(7) = - and f(8) = +, we know that 7 is the desired digit.

In the second transformed equation we know that x lies between 0 and 1. Hence we find the first digit of x from the equation 2202 x - 1355.4 = 0.

Since in the third transformation there is no remainder, we know by § 3 that .6 is a root of  $x^3 + 94.4 x^2 + 2202 x - 1355.4 = 0$  and that 47.6 is a commensurable root of the given equation.

When the fractional part of the root is being found and the values of the coefficients  $x^2$ ,  $x^3$ , etc., are sufficiently small, it will be noticed that the last two terms of each transformed equation occurring in Horner's process have opposite signs. This is as it

should be; for if the two terms had like signs, the value of x in the transformed equation would be negative, showing that the last digit in the root of the original equation had been taken too large. For instance, if in Ex. 1 the first decimal had, by mistake, been taken as 3, instead of 2, then the second transformed equation would have been  $x^3 + 6.9 x^2 + 14.87 x + .867 = 0$ . The approximate value of x in this equation is -.05, showing that in diminishing the roots by .3 we took away too much.

If, by mistake, a digit is taken too small, the error will show itself in the next step. Suppose that in Ex. 1 the first decimal had been taken to be .1, then the second transformed equation would have been  $x^3 + 6.3 x^2 + 12.23 x - 1.839 = 0$ . From 12.23 x - 1.839 = 0 we get approximately x = .15. This changes .1 into .25, and thus discloses an error in the estimate of the first decimal.

To find the value of a *negative root* by Horner's method, we need only transform the given equation by writing -x for x and then proceed as before.

Ex. 1. Find the real roots of :

(1)  $4x^5 - 3x^4 - 2x^2 + 4x - 10 = 0.$ (2)  $3x^5 + 3x^4 - x^2 - 4x + 5 = 0.$ (3)  $7x^4 + 3x^3 - 5x^2 + 4x - 6 = 0.$ (4)  $x^7 - x^6 + x^5 + x^4 - 10 = 0.$ (5)  $x^5 - 4x - 2 = 0.$ 

★ 57. Newton's Method of Approximation. This method is not as convenient in the solution of numerical equations involving algebraic functions as is the method of Horner, but it has the advantage of being applicable to numerical equations involving transcendental functions. For instance, Newton's method can be used in finding x in  $x - \sin x = 2$ .

Let f(x) = 0 be the given equation. Suppose that we know a quantity a which differs from one of the values of x by the small

6**6** 

quantity h. Then we have x = a + h. By Taylor's Theorem

$$f(x) = f(a+h) = f(a) + hf'(a) + \frac{h^2}{\underline{l}^2}f''(a) + \cdots$$

Since h is small, we get, by neglecting higher powers of h, an approximate value of h from the equation f(a) + hf'(a) = 0, namely,  $h = -\frac{f(a)}{f'(a)}$ . We have approximately  $x = a - \frac{f(a)}{f'(a)}$ . Letting this new approximation to the value of x be represented by b, we may repeat the above process and secure a still closer approximation, and so on.

**Ex. 1.** Solve  $x - \sin x = 2$ .

The angle x, measured in radians, must lie between 2 and 3. Take a = 2.5,  $f(a) = .5 - \sin 2.5 = .5 - \sin 143^{\circ} 14' = -.097$ .

$$a = 1 - \cos 2.5 = 1.801.$$

Hence

here h = .0539, b = a + h = 2.5539.

A second approximation gives us

$$f(b) = -.00054, f'(b) = 1.8322, h = .0002947.$$
  
$$r = b + b - 2.554195$$

Hence

58. Complex Roots of Numerical Equations. Recently methods for approximating to the complex as well as the real roots of numerical equations have been perfected.\* The exposition of these methods is too long for a work like this.

\* See Emory McClintock, "A Method for Calculating Simultaneously All the Roots of an Equation," in the American Journal of Mathematics, Vol. XVII., pp. 89-110; M. E. Carvallo, Méthode pratique pour la Résolution numérique complète des Équations algébriques ou transcendantes, Paris, 1896.

# CHAPTER V

### THE ALGEBRAIC SOLUTION OF THE CUBIC AND QUARTIC

59. Solution of the Cubic. There are many different solutions of the general cubic equation,

$$b_0 x^3 + 3 b_1 x^2 + 3 b_2 x + b_3 = 0.$$
 I

The one which we shall give is due to the Italian mathematician Tartaglia and was first published in 1545 by Cardan. Equation I is first transformed into another whose second term is wanting. Putting, as in § 33,  $x = \frac{z - b_1}{b}$ , we get

where  $H = b_0 b_2 - b_1^2$  and  $G = b_0^2 b_3 - 3 b_0 b_1 b_2 + 2 b_1^3$ . To solve equation II, let z = u + v. Substituting in II, we get

$$u^{3} + v^{3} + 3(uv + H)(u + v) + G = 0.$$

We are permitted to subject the quantities u and v to a second condition. The most convenient assumption will be

$$uv + H = 0.$$
 III

$$u^3 + v^3 = -G.$$
 IV

· This yields

Eliminating v between III and IV, we get

$$u^3 - \frac{H^3}{u^3} = -G', \text{ or } u^6 + Gu^3 = H^3.$$

The last equation is a quadratic in form. Solving it, we have

$$u^3 = -\frac{G}{2} + \sqrt{\frac{G^2}{4} + H^3}.$$

### SOLUTION OF THE CUBIC AND QUARTIC

Then by IV, 
$$v^3 = -G - u^3 = -\frac{G}{2} - \sqrt{\frac{G^2}{4} + H^3}$$
.  
Since  $u = \sqrt[3]{-\frac{G}{2} + \sqrt{\frac{G^2}{4} + H^3}}, v = \sqrt[3]{-\frac{G}{2} - \sqrt{\frac{G^2}{4} + H^3}}, V$ 

and z = u + v, we have

$$z = \sqrt[3]{-\frac{G}{2} + \sqrt{\frac{G^2}{4} + H^3}} + \sqrt[3]{-\frac{G}{2} - \sqrt{\frac{G^2}{4} + H^3}}.$$
 VI

The expression for the root of the cubic, given in formula VI is known as *Cardan's formula*.

Since a number has three cube roots, it is evident from V that u and v have each three values. It may seem as if with each value of u we might be able to associate any one of the three values of v, thus obtaining all together nine values for u+v, or z. As the cubic has only three roots, this cannot be. Of the nine values, six are excluded by equation III, which uand v must satisfy. Eliminating v between z = u + v and equation III, we get H

$$z = u - \frac{H}{u}$$
, VII

where u has the form given in V. Since in expression VII there is only one number, u, which has triple values, this expression does not involve the difficulties of Cardan's formula. Let the three values of u be u,  $u\omega$ ,  $u\omega^2$ , where  $\omega$  stands for one of the two complex cube roots of unity,  $-\frac{1}{2} \pm \frac{1}{2}\sqrt{-3}$ . Then the three roots of the cubic II are

$$u - \frac{H}{u}, u\omega - \frac{H\omega^2}{u}, u\omega^2 - \frac{H\omega}{u}$$
 VIII

Since  $z = b_0 x + b_1$ , we obtain the roots of the general cubic I by subtracting  $b_1$  from each of the three expressions in VIII, and then dividing the three results by  $b_0$ .

60. Irreducible Case. — The general expression for the roots of a quadratic equation with literal coefficients may be used

69

conveniently in solving numerical quadratic equations. For each letter we substitute its numerical value, then carry out the indicated operations. It is an interesting fact that, in case of the *cubic*, this mode of procedure is not always possible and that the algebraic solution of the cubic is of little practical use in finding the numerical values of the roots.

In § 36 we found that the roots of the cubic are all real. when  $G^2 + 4 H^3$  is negative. In the attempt to compute these real roots of the cubic by substituting the values of H and Gin the general formula, we encounter the problem, to extract the cube root of a complex number. But there exists no convenient arithmetical process of doing this. Nor is there any way of avoiding the complex radicals and of expressing the values of the real roots by real radicals. This fact will be proved in Ex. 8, § 183. By the older mathematicians this case, when  $G^2 + 4 H^3$  is negative, was called the "irreducible case" in the solution of the cubic, the word "irreducible" having here a meaning different from that now assigned to it in algebra. See § 123.

61. Solution by Trigonometry. The "irreducible case" may be disposed of by expanding the two terms in Cardan's formula into two converging series with the aid of the binomial theorem. The imaginary terms will disappear in the addition of the two series. But it is better to use the following trigonometric method (which is itself inferior, for the purpose of arithmetical computation, to Horner's method, § 56):

Let

We get

$$-\frac{G}{2} = r\cos\theta, \ \sqrt{\frac{G^2}{4} + H^3} = ir\sin\theta,$$
$$u^3 = r(\cos\theta + i\sin\theta),$$
$$v^3 = r(\cos\theta - i\sin\theta),$$
$$r = \sqrt{-H^3}; \ \cos\theta = \frac{-G}{2\sqrt{-H^3}}.$$

70

where

Hence,

$$u = \sqrt{-H} \left( \cos \frac{2n\pi + \theta}{3} + i \sin \frac{2n\pi + \theta}{3} \right),$$
$$v = \sqrt{-H} \left( \cos \frac{2n\pi + \theta}{3} - i \sin \frac{2n\pi + \theta}{3} \right),$$
$$z = u + v = 2\sqrt{-H} \cos \frac{2n\pi + \theta}{3},$$

and

where n takes the values 0, 1, 2.

62. Euler's Solution of Quartic. Removing the second term of the quartic

we get as in § 34,

$$z^4 + 6 Hz^2 + 4 Gz + b_0^2 I - 3 H^2 = 0, \qquad \text{II}$$

where  $z = b_0 x + b_1$ ,  $H = b_0 b_2 - b_1^2$ ,  $I = b_0 b_4 - 4 b_1 b_3 + 3 b_2^2$ ,  $G = b_0^2 b_3 - 3 b_0 b_1 b_2 + 2 b_1^3$ .

Euler assumes the general expression for a root of equation II to be  $z = \sqrt{u} + \sqrt{v} + \sqrt{w}$ .

Squaring,  $z^2 - u - v - w = 2\sqrt{u}\sqrt{v} + 2\sqrt{u}\sqrt{w} + 2\sqrt{v}\sqrt{w}$ . Squaring again and simplifying,

$$z^{4} - 2 z^{2} (u + v + w) - 8 z \sqrt{u} \sqrt{v} \sqrt{w} + (u + v + w)^{2} .$$
  
- 4 (uv + uw + vw) = 0.

Equating coefficients of this and equation II, we have

$$-3 H = u + v + w, \ G = -2 \sqrt{u} \sqrt{v} \sqrt{v},$$
  
$$(u + v + w)^{2} - 4 (uv + uw + vw) = b_{0}^{2}I - 3 H^{2},$$
  
$$uv + uw + vw = 3 H^{2} - \frac{b_{0}^{2}I}{4}.$$

 $\mathbf{or}$ 

But -(u + v + w), (uv + uw + vw), -uvw are the coefficients of a cubic whose roots are u, v, w. This cubic, called "Euler's cubic," is

$$y^{3} + 3Hy^{2} + \left(3H^{2} - \frac{b_{0}^{2}I}{4}\right)y - \frac{G^{2}}{4} = 0.$$
 III

Let  $y = b_0^2 x - H$ , and we obtain

$$4 b_0^3 x^3 - b_0 I x + J = 0, IV$$
  
$$b_0^3 J = b_0^2 I H - 4 H^3 - G^2.$$

where

Equation IV is called the *reducing cubic* of the quartic. Since u, v, w are the three values of y in III, we have

 $u = b_1^2 - b_0 b_2 + b_0^2 x_1, \quad v = b_1^2 - b_0 b_2 + b_0^2 x_2, \quad w = b_1^2 - b_0 b_2 + b_0^2 x_3,$ Hence,

$$z = \sqrt{b_1^2 - b_0 b_2 + b_0^2 x_1} + \sqrt{b_1^2 - b_0 b_2 + b_0^2 x_2} + \sqrt{b_1^2 - b_0 b_2 + b_0^2 x_3}.$$
 V

Or, since  $G = -2\sqrt{u}\sqrt{v}\sqrt{w}$ , we may write

$$z = \sqrt{u} + \sqrt{v} - \frac{G}{2\sqrt{u}\sqrt{v}}.$$
 VI

In the expression for z in VI each of the radicals may be either + or -. Hence z has four values — the four roots of equation II. In equation V there are apparently eight values of z, but four of them are ruled out by the relation  $2\sqrt{u}\sqrt{v}\sqrt{w} = -G$ .

From the above we see that the roots of the quartic are expressed in terms of u, v, w. The values of the latter are given in terms of the coefficients of the quartic and the three roots  $x_1, x_2, x_3$  of the cubic IV. To solve the quartic by the present method we must, therefore, first solve the *reducing cubic*. There are many other algebraic solutions of the general quartic, but every one of them calls for the solution of an auxiliary equation of the third degree. These cubics are called *resolvents*.

**Ex. 1.** Under what conditions can a quartic be solved algebraically without the extraction of cube roots ?

It is only necessary that the *reducing cubic* have a rational root, so that the other two roots can be expressed in terms of square roots. Euler's cubic answers equally well.

### SOLUTION OF THE CUBIC AND QUARTIC

73

**Ex.** 2. Show that the reducing cubic of  $x^4 + 2x^3 + x^2 - 2 = 0$  has a rational root. Solve the quartic by square roots.

**Ex. 3.** Show that, in general, the values of x and y in  $x^2 + y = a$ ,  $y^2 + x = b$  cannot be found algebraically without the extraction of cube roots.

**Ex.** 4. Can all the values of x and y in  $x^2 + y = 11$ ,  $y^2 + x = 7$  be found without the extraction of cube roots? For solutions, see the *Am. Math. Monthly*, Vol. VI., p. 13, Vol. VII., p. 169; see also Vol. X., p. 192.

-2=0

X2+6x2+3x+18

+K

= 0

Robert 51

11 61 5

## CHAPTER VI

## SOLUTION OF BINOMIAL EQUATIONS AND RECIPROCAL EQUATIONS

### -763. The Binomial Equation.

$$x^n - a = 0,$$

where a is either real or complex, may be solved trigonometrically as follows. Let

$$x^{n} = a = r \{ \cos(2k\pi + \theta) + i \sin(2k\pi + \theta) \},\$$

where k may assume any integral value. Then, by De Moivre's Theorem.

$$x = \sqrt[n]{r} \left\{ \cos \frac{2 \ k\pi + \theta}{n} + i \sin \frac{2 \ k\pi + \theta}{n} \right\}.$$

By assigning to k any n consecutive integral values we obtain n values for x and no more than n, since the n values recur in periods.

It is readily seen that the roots are all complex when a is a complex number. For, to obtain a real root,  $\frac{2k\pi+\theta}{n}$  must be zero or a multiple of  $\pi$ ; that is,  $2k\pi + \theta$  will be zero or a multiple of  $\pi$ ; hence  $\alpha$  itself must be real, which is contrary to supposition. When a = +1,

then

$$x^{n} = 1 = \cos 2 k\pi + i \sin 2 k\pi,$$
$$x = \cos \frac{2 k\pi}{n} + i \sin \frac{2 k\pi}{n},$$

and

Τ

where k may be assigned the values 0, 1, ..., (n-1). If n is odd, then k=0 is the only value of k which yields a real root, viz. x=1. If n is even, then only the values k=0 and  $k=\frac{n}{2}$  yield real roots, viz. x=1 and x=-1.

When 
$$a = -1$$
,

thèn

$$x^{n} = -1 = \cos(2k+1)\pi + i\sin(2k+1)\pi,$$

where k may take the values 0, 1, ..., (n-1).

Then 
$$x = \cos \frac{(2k+1)\pi}{n} + i \sin \frac{(2k+1)\pi}{n}$$
.

There can be no real roots, unless  $\frac{2k+1}{n}$  is an integer, and therefore *n* an odd number. If n = 2k+1, that is  $k = \frac{n-1}{2}$ , we obtain the real root x = -1.

# 64. Geometrical Interpretation of the Roots of  $x^n = a$ . The *n* roots may be represented graphically in the Wessel's Diagram (§ 22) by *n* lines drawn from the centre of a circle of radius  $\sqrt[n]{r}$ 

to points on its circumference and dividing the perigon at the centre into equal angles of  $\frac{2\pi}{n}$  radians. Thus, let n = 3 and r = 1. The three cube roots of unity are seen from I, § 63, to be  $1, -\frac{1}{2} + \frac{1}{2}\sqrt{-3}, -\frac{1}{2} - \frac{1}{2}\sqrt{-3}$ . They are represented, respectively, by the lines OA, OB, OC. These lines make with each other angles of  $\frac{2}{3}\pi$ 



radians or 120°. The circumference is divided into three equal parts. In the general case the circumference is divided into n equal parts. Hence the theory of the roots of unity is closely allied with the problem of inscribing regular polygons in a circle or the theory of the *Division of the Circle*. This

### THEORY OF EQUATIONS

subject has been worked out mainly by C. F. Gauss, 1801, and will be treated more fully in Chapter XVII under the head of Cyclotomic Equations.

65. Roots of Unity. We give a few general properties of the *n*th roots of unity, some of which are evident from previous considerations.

I. The equation  $x^n = 1$  has no multiple roots.

Here  $f(x) = x^n - 1$ ,  $f'(x) = nx^{n-1}$ . Since f(x) and f'(x) have no common factor involving x, there are no multiple roots (§ 21).

II. If  $\alpha$  is a root of  $x^n - 1 = 0$ , then  $\alpha^k$  is also a root, k being any integer.

Since  $a^n = 1$ , it follows that  $a^{nk} = 1$  or  $(a^k)^n = 1$ , where k is zero or any integer, positive or negative. Hence  $a^k$  is a root of unity. As there are only n roots, it is evident that the powers of  $\alpha$  are not all distinct from each other, and  $a^k$  is a periodic function.

III. If m and n are prime to each other, the equations  $x^m - 1 = 0$ and  $x^n - 1 = 0$  have no common root except 1.

First we prove the theorem: If m and n are prime to each other, then it is always possible to find integers a and b such that  $mb - na = \pm 1$ . The fraction  $\frac{m}{n}$  may be expanded into a terminating continued fraction, say

$$\frac{m}{n} = p + \frac{1}{q + \frac{1}{r}}$$

The successive convergents are  $p, \frac{pq+1}{q}, \frac{p(qr+1)+r}{qr+1}$ . Sub-

tracting the last but one convergent from the last, we obtain a fraction whose numerator, pq(qr+1)+qr-(pq+1)(qr+1), is seen to be equal to -1. (By mathematical induction it may be shown that if  $\frac{u_{n-1}}{v_{n-1}}$  and  $\frac{u_n}{v_n}$  are any two successive convergents, then  $u_n v_{n-1} - u_{n-1} v_n = \pm 1$ .) But

$$m = p(qr+1) + r, n = qr+1;$$

hence, if we take a = pq + 1, b = q, we have

$$mb - an = \pm 1.$$
 Q.E.D.

Now, if possible, let  $\alpha$  be a root common to  $x^m - 1 = 0$  and  $x^n - 1 = 0$ . Then  $\alpha^m = 1$ ,  $\alpha^n = 1$  and  $\alpha^{mb} = 1$ ,  $\alpha^{na} = 1$ , where  $\alpha$  and b are numbers which satisfy the relation  $mb - na = \pm 1$ . Hence,  $\alpha^{mb-na} = 1$ ,  $\alpha^{\pm 1} = 1$ , or  $\alpha = 1$ . That is, 1 is the only root common to the two equations.

**IV.** If h is the highest common factor of m and n, then roots of  $x^n - 1 = 0$  are common roots of  $x^m - 1 = 0$  and  $x^n - 1 = 0$ .

We have m = hm', n = hn', where m' and n' are prime to each other. Hence it is possible to find integers a and b, such that  $m'b - n'a = \pm 1$ . Multiplying by h, we get  $mb - na = \pm h$ .

Now, if  $\alpha$  is a common root, we have  $\alpha^m = 1$ ,  $\alpha^n = 1$ ,  $\alpha^{mb-na} = 1$ , or  $\alpha^{\pm h} = 1$ . This means that  $\alpha$  is a root of  $x^h - 1 = 0$ .

V. If  $\alpha$  is a complex root of  $\hat{x}^n - 1 = 0$ , n being prime, then the roots are 1,  $\alpha$ ,  $\alpha^2$ ,  $\alpha^3$ ,  $\cdots$ ,  $\alpha^{n-1}$ .

By II, 1,  $\alpha$ ,  $\alpha^2$ , ...,  $\alpha^{n-1}$ , are all roots of the equation. They are all different; for suppose  $\alpha^p = \alpha^q$ , then  $\alpha^{p-q} = 1$ . But by III,  $x^n - 1 = 0$  and  $x^{p-q} - 1 = 0$  cannot have a root in common, since *n* and (p-q) are prime to each other. Hence the equation  $\alpha^{p-q} = 1$  is impossible, and all the roots are included in the series 1,  $\alpha$ , ...,  $\alpha^{n-1}$ .

VI. The roots of the equations

$$x^{p} - 1 = 0, x^{q} - 1 = 0, x^{r} - 1 = 0, \cdots$$

all satisfy the equation  $x^{pqr} \cdots - 1 = 0$ .

For if  $\alpha$  is a root of  $x^p - 1 = 0$ , then  $\alpha^p = 1$  and  $(\alpha^p)^{qr} = 1$ , or  $\alpha^{pqr} = 1$ . That is,  $\alpha$  is a root of  $x^{pqr} = -1 = 0$ . **66.** Primitive Roots of Unity. A root of  $x^n - 1 = 0$  is called - a *primitive root* of that equation, if it is not at the same time a root of unity of lower degree.

Take  $x^6 - 1 = 0$ . By VI, § 65, the roots of  $x^2 - 1 = 0$  and  $x^3 - 1 = 0$  are roots of  $x^6 - 1 = 0$ . These common roots are 1,  $-1, -\frac{1}{2} \pm \frac{1}{2}\sqrt{-3}$ . The other two roots are found by solving  $x^3 + 1 = 0$ ; they are  $+\frac{1}{2} \pm \frac{1}{2}\sqrt{-3}$ , and are seen to be primitive roots of  $x^6 - 1 = 0$ .

I. We proceed to show that primitive roots of unity exist for every degree n.

If n is prime, then, by III, § 65,  $x^n - 1 = 0$  has no root in common with a similar equation of lower degree, except the root 1. Hence all the roots of  $x^n - 1 = 0$ , except the root 1, are primitive roots.

If  $n = p^m$ , where p is a prime, every exact divisor of  $p^m$ , except  $p^m$  itself, is an exact divisor of  $p^{m-1}$ . Hence, by VI, § 65, every nth root of unity which is at the same time a root of unity of lower degree, must be a root of  $x^{p^{m-1}} - 1 = 0$ . Since  $p^{m-1}$  is a factor of  $p^m$ , it follows, moreover, that every root of  $x^{p^{m-1}} - 1 = 0$  is a root of  $x^{p^m} - 1 = 0$ . Thus, there are  $p^{m-1}$  roots which are not primitive, and the number of primitive roots is  $p^m \left(1 - \frac{1}{p}\right)$ .

If  $n = p^m \cdot q^*$ , where p and q are prime, then there are  $p^m \left(1 - \frac{1}{p}\right)$  primitive roots of  $x^{p^m} - 1 = 0$  and  $q \left(1 - \frac{1}{q}\right)$  primitive roots of  $x^{q^*} - 1 = 0$ . Now, if a and  $\beta$  are two primitive roots of these equations, respectively, then  $\alpha\beta$  is a primitive root of  $x^n - 1 = 0$ . For suppose  $(\alpha\beta)^r = 1$ , where r < n, then  $a^r = \beta^{-r}$ . By II, § 65,  $a^r$  is a root of  $x^{p^m} - 1 = 0$  and  $\beta^{-r}$  is a root of  $x^{q^*} - 1 = 0$ . But the two equations can have no root in common, except unity, since  $p^m$  and  $q^*$  are prime to each other, by III, § 65. Hence r cannot be less than n. Since, by II, § 65,  $a^n = 1$ 

## BINOMIAL AND RECIPROCAL EQUATIONS

and  $\beta^n = 1$ , it follows that  $(\alpha\beta)^n = 1$ , and  $\alpha\beta$  is a primitive root of  $x^n - 1 = 0$ . Since there are

$$p^{m}\left(1-\frac{1}{p}\right)q^{s}\left(1-\frac{1}{q}\right)$$

such products  $\alpha \cdot \beta$ , this expression gives also the number of primitive *n*th roots of unity.

It is easy to extend this proof to the case where  $n = p^m q^s r^t \cdots$ .

II. We give, without proof, the theorem that if a is a primitive nth root of unity, then  $a^r$  is a primitive nth root of unity always and only when r and n are prime to each other. This theorem enables one to find all the primitive nth roots from one of them.\*

III. The roots of the equation  $x^n - 1 = 0$ , where  $n = p^a q^b \cdots r^e$ and  $p, q, \cdots r$  are the prime factors of n, are the n products of the form  $\beta \gamma \cdots \delta$ , where  $\beta$  is a root of  $x^{p^a} = 1$ ,  $\gamma$  a root of  $x^{q^b} = 1$ , ...,  $\delta$  is a root of  $x^e = 1$ .

Let  $\alpha = \beta \gamma \cdots \delta$ .

Here  $\beta$  represents any one of  $p^{\alpha}$  values; similarly,  $\gamma$ , ...,  $\delta$  represent, respectively,  $q^{\delta}$ , ...,  $r^{c}$  values. From this it may be shown that  $\alpha$  has n values, which are the n roots of  $x^{n} - 1 = 0$ .

For, in the first place, we have  $\beta^{p^a} = 1$ ,  $\gamma^{q^b} = 1$ ,  $\dots$ ,  $\delta^{r^c} = 1$ ; hence, also,  $\beta^n = 1$ ,  $\gamma^n = 1$ ,  $\dots$ ,  $\delta^n = 1$ , and, therefore,  $\alpha^n = 1$ .

In the next place, we show that the *n* values of  $\alpha$  are distinct. If possible, let two values of  $\alpha$  be equal, say

$$\beta'\gamma' \cdots \delta' = \beta''\gamma'' \cdots \delta''. \qquad I$$

Since not all the roots in the left member of I can be equal, respectively, to the roots in the right member, let  $\beta'$  and  $\beta''$  be distinct.

\* For the proof, see Burnside and Panton, Vol. I, 1899, p. 96. We have followed the exposition of the subject of the roots of unity given by these authors. From I we get

 $(\beta'\gamma'\cdots\delta')^{q^b\cdots r^c}=(\beta''\gamma''\cdots\delta'')^{q^b\cdots r^c},$ 

and

$$(\gamma' \cdots \delta')^{q^b \cdots r^c} = (\gamma'' \cdots \delta'')^{q^b \cdots r^c} = 1.$$
  
 $\beta'^{q^b \cdots r^c} = \beta''^{q^b \cdots r^c}.$ 

We have

Since  $\beta'$  and  $\beta''$  are distinct roots of  $x^{p^a} = 1$ , they are equal to two different powers of one and the same primitive root  $\beta$ , and we may write

$$\beta' = \beta^{m+m'}, \quad \beta'' = \beta^{m'},$$

where m' and m + m' are each less than  $p^a$ . We get

$$\beta^{(m+m')q^b \cdots r^c} = \beta^{m'q^b \cdots r^c},$$
or
$$\beta^{mq^b \cdots r^c} = 1.$$

Hence,  $\beta$  is a root of both  $x^{p^a} = 1$  and  $x^{mq^{b} \dots r^e} = 1$ , and also of  $x^{s} = 1$ , where s is the highest common factor of  $p^{a}$  and  $mq^{b} \dots r^{e}$ . (Theorem IV, § 65.) But we have  $s \ge m$ , hence,  $s < p^{a}$ . Thus,  $\beta$  must be a root of an equation of lower degree than  $p^{a}$ . Since  $\beta$  is primitive, this cannot be, and equation I is impossible.

IV. The roots of  $x^{p^a} - 1 = 0$ , where p is prime, can be found from the roots of equations of the form  $x^p = A$ .

Let  $w_1$  be any root of  $x^p = 1$ ,  $w_2$  any root of  $x^p = w_1$ ,  $w_3$  any root of  $x^p = w_2$ , and so on, and finally  $w_a$  any root of  $x^p = w_{a-1}$ . Then the product  $a = w_1 w_2 \cdots w_a$  represents  $p^a$  distinct roots of  $x^{p^a} = 1$ .

For, since  $w_1^p = 1$ ,  $w_2^p = w_1$ , etc., we obtain successively the relations,

80

V. The solution of  $x^n - 1 = 0$ , where n is any composite number, is reduced to the solution of binomial equations in which n is a prime number.

This important result, of which further use will be made in a later chapter, follows readily from the theorems III and IV of this paragraph.

**67.** Depression of Reciprocal Equations. A reciprocal equation of the standard form ( $\S$  31) can always be depressed to one of half the dimensions.

Divide both sides of the given reciprocal equation

$$a_0 x^{2m} + a_1 x^{2m-1} + \dots + a_1 x + a_0 = 0$$

by  $x^m$ , and we get, on collecting in pairs the terms which are equidistant from the beginning and end,

$$a_0\left(x^m + \frac{1}{x^m}\right) + a_1\left(x^{m-1} + \frac{1}{x^{m-1}}\right) + \dots + a_{m-1}\left(x + \frac{1}{x}\right) + a_m = 0.$$

Assuming  $y = x + \frac{1}{x}$ , we obtain

$$\begin{aligned} x^{2} + \frac{1}{x^{2}} &= y^{2} - 2, \\ x^{3} + \frac{1}{x^{3}} &= \left(x^{2} + \frac{1}{x^{2}}\right)\left(x + \frac{1}{x}\right) - y = y^{3} - 3y, \\ x^{4} + \frac{1}{x^{4}} &= \left(x^{3} + \frac{1}{x^{3}}\right)\left(x + \frac{1}{x}\right) - y^{2} + 2 = y^{4} - 4y^{2} + 2, \end{aligned}$$

and generally

$$x^{p} + \frac{1}{x^{p}} = \left(x^{p-1} + \frac{1}{x^{p-1}}\right)\left(x + \frac{1}{x}\right) - \left(x^{p-2} + \frac{1}{x^{p-2}}\right)$$

By substitution in the above equation we obtain an equation of the *m*th degree in y. From the relation  $x + \frac{1}{x} = y$  we see that two values of x may be deduced from each value of y.

G

**Ex. 1.** Find the primitive roots of  $x^2 - 1 = 0$ ,  $x^3 - 1 = 0$ ,  $x^4 - 1 = 0$ .

**Ex.** 2. Find the roots of  $x^5 - 1 = 0$ .

Dividing by x - 1, we get  $x^4 + x^3 + x^2 + x + 1 = 0$ .

Dividing this reciprocal equation by  $x^2$  and taking  $x + \frac{1}{x} = y$ , we obtain  $y^2 + y = 1$  and  $y = \frac{-1 \pm \sqrt{5}}{2}$ .

Solving  $x^2 - xy + 1 = 0$ , we arrive at the following four roots :

$$\begin{aligned} x_1 &= -\frac{1}{4}(1+\sqrt{5}+i\sqrt{10-2\sqrt{5}}), \ x_2 &= -\frac{1}{4}(1-\sqrt{5}-i\sqrt{10+2\sqrt{5}}), \\ x_3 &= -\frac{1}{4}(1-\sqrt{5}+i\sqrt{10+2\sqrt{5}}), \ x_4 &= -\frac{1}{4}(1+\sqrt{5}-i\sqrt{10-2\sqrt{5}}). \end{aligned}$$

These four are primitive fifth roots of unity. The other root is 1. Show that  $x_2 = x_1^2$ .

**Ex.** 3. Find the roots of  $x^6 - 1 = 0$ .

**Ex.** 4. Find the roots of  $x^7 - 1 = 0$ .

Dividing by x - 1, we get a reciprocal equation in the standard form which can be depressed to the cubic  $y^3 + y^2 - 2y - 1 = 0$ .

Writing  $z = y + \frac{1}{3}$ , we have  $z^3 - \frac{7}{3}z - \frac{7}{27} = 0$ . By § 59 we obtain for y three values,  $\alpha$ ,  $\alpha_1$ ,  $\alpha_2$ , where

$$\alpha = -\frac{1}{3} + \frac{1}{6}\sqrt[3]{28 + 84\sqrt{-3}} + \frac{1}{6}\sqrt[3]{28 - 84\sqrt{-3}}.$$

From  $x^2 - xy + 1 = 0$  we get the six values

$$\frac{lpha \pm \sqrt{lpha^2 - 4}}{2}, \ \frac{\dot{lpha}_1 \pm \sqrt{lpha_1^2 - 4}}{2}, \ \frac{lpha_2 \pm \sqrt{lpha_2^2 - 4}}{2},$$

which, together with unity, are the seventh roots of unity.

**Ex.** 5.) Find the roots of  $x^8 - 1$ . Which are primitive roots?

**Ex.** 6. Find the roots of  $x^9 - 1 = 0$ .

Extracting the cube root, we get  $x^3 = 1$  or w or  $w^2$  and x = 1, w,  $w^2$ ,  $\sqrt[3]{w}$ ,  $w^{\sqrt[3]{w}}$ ,  $w^{2\sqrt[3]{w^2}}$ ,  $w^{\sqrt[3]{w^2}}$ ,  $w^{2\sqrt[3]{w^2}}$ ,  $w^{2\sqrt[3]{w^2}}$ , where w and  $w^2$  are the primitive cube roots of unity. Give the primitive roots of  $x^9 - 1 = 0$ .

**Ex.** 7. Give a trigonometric solution of  $x^{10} - 1 = 0$  and state which roots are primitive.

Ex. 8. Find the primitive roots of  $x^{12} - 1 = 0$ .

**Ex. 9.** How many primitive roots has  $x^{180} - 1 = 0$ ?

**Ex. 10.** Find the sum of the primitive roots of  $x^{14} - 1 = 0$ .

#### BINOMIAL AND RECIPROCAL EQUATIONS

#### Ex. 11. By trigonometry find approximate values for the roots of

 $x^{11} - 1 = 0, \ x^{13} - 1 = 0.$ 

**Ex. 12.** From the primitive roots of  $x^3 - 1 = 0$  and  $x^5 - 1 = 0$  find the primitive roots of  $x^{15} - 1 = 0$ .

**Ex. 13.** Form the equation whose roots are the primitive roots of  $x^{21} - 1 = 0$ .

There are 12 primitive roots. We have

$$x^{21} - 1 = (x^7 - 1)(x^{14} + x^7 + 1).$$

The roots of  $x^7 - 1 = 0$  are non-primitive for  $x^{21} - 1 = 0$ . Since  $x^3 - 1$  is a factor of  $x^{21} - 1$ , the two primitive roots of  $x^3 - 1 = 0$  are the two remaining non-primitive roots of  $x^{21} - 1 = 0$ . These two roots are roots of  $x^2 + x + 1 = 0$ . Hence  $(x^{14} + x^7 + 1) \div (x^2 + x + 1) = 0$  is the required equation. This is a reciprocal equation which can be depressed to  $x^6 - x^5 - 6x^4 + 6x^3 + 8x^2 - 8x + 1 = 0$ .

**Ex. 14.** If  $-\sqrt{-1}$  is a primitive root of  $x^n - 1 = 0$ , find *n*. If  $-\sqrt{-1}$  is a non-primitive root, what values may *n* take?

## CHAPTER VII

### SYMMETRIC FUNCTIONS OF THE ROOTS

68. Newton's Formulæ for Sums of Powers of Roots. The sums of like powers of the roots of f(x) = 0 can be expressed rationally in terms of the coefficients. The sum of the *p*th powers of the roots  $\alpha$ ,  $\beta$ ,  $\gamma$ ,  $\delta$ , ... of the equation f(x) = 0constitutes a symmetric function of the roots. The definition and elementary discussion of symmetric functions were given in § 15. Following the usual notation, we designate  $\Sigma \alpha^p$  by  $s_p$  so that

$$s_1 = \alpha + \beta + \gamma + \delta + \cdots,$$
  

$$s_2 = \alpha^2 + \beta^2 + \gamma^2 + \delta^2 + \cdots,$$
  

$$s_3 = \alpha^3 + \beta^3 + \gamma^3 + \delta^3 + \cdots.$$

(To establish Newton's formulæ, write (II, § 20)

$$f'(x) = \frac{f(x)}{x-\alpha} + \frac{f(x)}{x-\beta} + \frac{f(x)}{x-\gamma} + \cdots$$

The indicated divisions can be exactly performed, § 3.

$$f(x) = x^{n} + a_{1}x^{n-1} + \dots + a_{n-1}x + a_{n},$$

we get

get 
$$\frac{f(x)}{x-\alpha} = x^{n-1} + (\alpha + a_1)x^{n-2} + (\alpha^2 + a_1\alpha + a_2)x^{n-3} + \cdots + (\alpha^m + a_1\alpha^{m-1} + a_2\alpha^{m-2} + \cdots + a_m)x^{n-m-1} + \cdots$$

Similarly, performing the divisions of  $\frac{f(x)}{x-\beta}$ ,  $\frac{f(x)}{x-\gamma}$ , ..., and adding all the quotients, we obtain

$$f'(x) = nx^{n-1} + (s_1 + na_1)x^{n-2} + (s_2 + a_1s_1 + na_2)x^{n-3} + \cdots + (s_m + a_1s_{m-1} + a_2s_{m-2} + \cdots + na_m)x^{n-m-1} + \cdots$$

By § 19, we know that

 $f'(x) = nx^{n-1} + (n-1)a_1x^{n-2} + (n-2)a_2x^{n-3} + \dots + a_{n-1}.$ 

Equating coefficients of the same power of x in the two expressions for f'(x), we have

$$s_1 + na_1 = (n - 1)a_1$$
, or  $s_1 + a_1 = 0$ ,  
 $s_2 + a_1s_1 + na_2 = (n - 2)a_2$ , or  $s_2 + a_1s_1 + 2a_2 = 0$ ,

and generally, when m < n,

$$s_{m} + a_1 s_{m-1} + a_2 s_{m-2} + \dots + n a_m = (n - m) a_m,$$
  
$$s_m + a_1 s_{m-1} + a_2 s_{m-2} + \dots + a_{m-1} s_1 + m a_m = 0.$$
 I

or

From relations I, known as Newton's formulæ, we derive easily:

$$s_1 = -a_1, \qquad s_2 = a_1^2 - 2a_2, \qquad s_3 = -a_1^3 + 3a_1a_2 - 3a_3, \\ s_4 = a_1^4 - 4a_1^2a_2 + 4a_1a_3 + 2a_2^2 - 4a_4,$$

and so on, up to  $s_{n-1}$ . To extend these results to the sums of all positive integral powers of the roots, viz.  $s_n, s_{n+1}, \dots$ , multiply f(x) = 0 by  $x^{m-n}$ , where m > n, and we have

$$x^{m} + a_{1}x^{m-1} + a_{2}x^{m-2} + \dots + a_{n}x^{m-n} = 0.$$

Substituting for x in succession the roots  $\alpha$ ,  $\beta$ ,  $\gamma$ ,  $\delta$ ,  $\cdots$  and adding the results, we get

$$s_m + a_1 s_{m-1} + a_2 s_{m-2} + \dots + a_n s_{m-n} = 0.$$
 II

If we give m, successively, the values  $n, n + 1, n + 2_r \cdots$  and observe that  $s_0 = n$ , we obtain

$$s_n + a_1 s_{n-1} + a_2 s_{n-2} + \dots + n a_n = 0,$$
  

$$s_{n+1} + a_1 s_n + a_2 s_{n-1} + \dots + a_n s_1 = 0,$$
  

$$s_{n+2} + a_1 s_{n+1} + a_2 s_n + \dots + a_n s_2 = 0, \text{ etc.},$$

which enable us to find expressions for  $s_n, s_{n+1}, \cdots$ .

To find the sum of *negative* integral powers of the roots of f(x) = 0, put  $x = \frac{1}{y}$  and find the sums of the corresponding *positive* powers of the roots of the transformed equation.

The values of  $s_m$  may be expressed in determinant form as follows:

$$s_{2} = \begin{vmatrix} a_{1} & 1 \\ 2 & a_{2} & a_{1} \end{vmatrix}, s_{3} = -\begin{vmatrix} a_{1} & 1 & 0 \\ 2 & a_{2} & a_{1} & 1 \\ 3 & a_{3} & a_{2} & a_{1} \end{vmatrix}, s_{4} = \begin{vmatrix} a_{1} & 1 & 0 & 0 \\ 2 & a_{2} & a_{1} & 1 & 0 \\ 3 & a_{3} & a_{2} & a_{1} & 1 \\ 4 & a_{4} & a_{3} & a_{2} & a_{1} \end{vmatrix}, \text{ etc.}$$

69. Coefficients expressed in Terms of  $s_m$ . From the formulæ of § 68 one readily obtains

$$a_{2} = \frac{1}{2} \begin{vmatrix} s_{1} & 1 \\ s_{2} & s_{1} \end{vmatrix}, a_{3} = -\frac{1}{\begin{vmatrix} 3 \\ 3 \\ s_{3} \\ s_{4} \\ s_{3} \\ s_{2} \\ s_{1} \end{vmatrix}} \begin{vmatrix} s_{1} & 1 & 0 & 0 \\ s_{2} & s_{1} & 2 & 0 \\ s_{3} & s_{2} & s_{1} \\ s_{4} & s_{3} & s_{2} \\ s_{4} & s_{3} & s_{2} \\ s_{4} & s_{3} & s_{2} \\ s_{1} \\ s_{2} \\ s_{3} \\ s_{4} \\ s_{5} \\ s_{1} \\ s_{1} \\ s_{1} \\ s_{1} \\ s_{2} \\ s_{1} \\ s_{1} \\ s_{2} \\ s_{1} \\ s_{1} \\ s_{2} \\ s_{1} \\ s_{2} \\ s_{1} \\ s_{1} \\ s_{2} \\ s_{1} \\ s_{2} \\ s_{1} \\ s_{1} \\ s_{2} \\ s_{2} \\ s_{1} \\ s_{1} \\ s_{2} \\ s_{1} \\ s_{2} \\ s_{1} \\ s_{2} \\ s_{1} \\ s_{2} \\ s_{1} \\ s_{1} \\ s_{2} \\ s_{2} \\ s_{1} \\ s_{1} \\ s_{2} \\ s_{1} \\ s_{1} \\ s_{1} \\ s_{2} \\ s_{1} \\ s_{1} \\ s_{1} \\ s_{2} \\ s_{1} \\ s_{1} \\ s_{1} \\ s_{1} \\ s_{2} \\ s_{1} \\ s_{1}$$

Ex. 1. Find the sums of positive powers of the roots of

 $x^4 + x^3 + x^2 + x + 1 = 0.$ 

We have

$$s_1 = -a_1 = -1,$$
  

$$s_2 = -a_1s_1 - 2 a_2 = -1,$$
  

$$s_3 = -a_1s_2 - a_2s_1 - 3 a_3 = -1,$$
  

$$s_4 = -a_1s_3 - a_2s_2 - a_3s_1 - 4 a_4 = -1,$$

and so on. The roots are the primitive fifth roots of unity. Verify our result for  $s_2$  by actually squaring the roots given in Ex. 2, § 67.

Ex. 2. Find the sums of positive and negative powers of the roots of

 $x^3 - 2 x^2 + 5 x - 4 = 0,$ 

 $s_1 = 2, s_2 = -6, s_3 = -10, s_4 = +18$ , and so on. To get  $s_{-m}$ , put  $x = \frac{1}{y}$ , and the equation becomes  $x^3 - \frac{5}{4}x^2 + \frac{1}{2}x - \frac{1}{4} = 0$ . Then  $s_{-1} = \frac{5}{4}, s_{-2} = \frac{9}{16}$ ,  $s_{-3} = \frac{5}{64}$ , and so on.

**Ex. 3.** Find the sums of positive and negative powers of the roots of  $x^n + 1 = 0$ . Subscription  $x^{n-1} = 0$ .

**Ex.** 4. Show that if the sum of an even power of the roots is zero or negative, the equation has at least two complex roots.

\* Ex. 5. Show that, for  $x^n - 1 = 0$ ,  $s_m = n$  or 0, according as m is divisible or not divisible by n.

Substitute for  $a_1, \dots, a_n$  their values in I and II, § 68.  $S_m = -m$ ,  $S_{1m} = (-1)$ 

86

**70.** Fundamental Theorem of Symmetric Functions. Every rational symmetric function of the roots of an algebraic equation can be expressed rationally in terms of the coefficients.

To begin with, we shall find the value of the symmetric function  $\Sigma \alpha^m \beta^p$ , in which each term involves two of the roots. We have

$$s_m = \alpha^m + \beta^m + \gamma^m + \cdots,$$
  
$$s_p = \alpha^p + \beta^p + \gamma^p + \cdots.$$

 $s_m s_p = s_{m+p} + \Sigma \alpha^m \beta^p,$ 

Multiplying, we get

$$s_m s_p = \alpha^{m+p} + \beta^{m+p} + \gamma^{m+p} + \cdots + \alpha^m \beta^p + \alpha^m \gamma^p + \beta^m \gamma^p + \cdots,$$

that is,

hence,  $\Sigma \alpha^m \beta^p = s_m s_p - s_{m+p}$ .

This result has been obtained on the supposition that m and p are unequal integers. If they are equal, then the terms in  $\Sigma a^m \beta^p$ become equal two and two, and  $\Sigma a^m \beta^p = 2 \Sigma(\alpha\beta)^m = s_m^2 - s_{2m}$ . In either case the symmetric function is expressed as a rational function of the sums of powers of the roots. But by § 68 the sums of like powers,  $s_m$ , can be expressed rationally in terms of the coefficients of the given equation. Hence  $\Sigma a^m \beta^p$  can be expressed rationally in terms of the coefficients.

Next we express the value of the symmetric function  $\sum \alpha^m \beta^p \gamma^q$ , where each term involves three roots, as a rational function of the coefficients. We have

$$\sum \alpha^m \beta^p = \alpha^m \beta^p + \alpha^m \gamma^p + \beta^m \gamma^p + \cdots,$$
  
$$s_q = \alpha^q + \beta^q + \gamma^q + \cdots.$$

Multiplying, we have

$$s_{g}\Sigma\alpha^{m}\beta^{p} = \alpha^{m+q}\beta^{p} + \beta^{m+q}\gamma^{p} + \gamma^{m+q}\alpha^{p} + \cdots + \alpha^{m}\beta^{p+q} + \beta^{m}\gamma^{p+q} + \gamma^{m}\alpha^{p+q} + \cdots + \alpha^{m}\beta^{p}\gamma^{q} + \cdots.$$

I

The terms on the right-hand side constitute three sets, represented in our notation, respectively, by  $\Sigma a^{m+q} \beta^p$ ,  $\Sigma a^m \beta^{p+q}$ ,  $\Sigma a^m \beta^p \gamma^q$ . Hence

$$s_q \Sigma \alpha^m \beta^p = \Sigma \alpha^{m+q} \beta^p + \Sigma \alpha^m \beta^{p+q} + \Sigma \alpha^m \beta^p \gamma^q.$$

Transposing and substituting for the symmetric functions whose terms involve only two roots their values as determined by I, we obtain

$$\Sigma \alpha^m \beta^p \gamma^q = s_m s_p s_q - s_{m+p} s_q - s_{m+q} s_p - s_m s_{p+q} + 2 s_{m+p+q}.$$
 II

This supposes that m, p, q are unequal. If m = p, we have

 $2 \Sigma(\alpha\beta)^{m} \gamma^{q} = s_{m}^{2} s_{q}^{2} - s_{2m} s_{q} - 2 s_{m+q} s_{m} + 2 s_{2m+q}.$ 

If m = p = q, we obtain for  $\sum \alpha^m \beta^p \gamma^q$  the value  $2 \cdot 3 \sum (\alpha \beta \gamma)^m$  and

 $6 \Sigma \alpha^m \beta^p \gamma^q = s_m^{3} - 3 s_{2m} s_m + 2 s_{3m}.$ 

Thus,  $\sum \alpha^m \beta^p \gamma^q$  may always be expressed rationally in terms of the coefficients of the given equation.

This method may be continued to any extent, and the proof may be given for any function  $\Sigma \alpha^m \beta^p \gamma^a \delta^r \cdots$ .

In every symmetric function thus far considered all the terms were of the same degree; the function was homogeneous. If any rational symmetric integral function is not homogeneous, then it is the sum of two or more homogeneous symmetric integral functions, such as  $\alpha + \beta + \gamma + \alpha\beta + \alpha\gamma + \beta\gamma$ . Hence it is evident that a rational symmetric integral function can be expressed rationally in terms of the coefficients, whether the function be homogeneous or not.

Finally, we observe that no *fractional* function can be symmetric unless it can be so reduced that its numerator and denominator are each integral symmetric functions. Hence, also, a *fractional* rational symmetric function can be expressed rationally in terms of the coefficients, and our theorem is established.

71. By the aid of the theorem of § 70 we can calculate the value, in terms of the coefficients, of any rational symmetric function. But this method is laborious, and usually other methods are preferable. For convenience of reference we state here some of the results obtained in § 15, viz.,

For the cubic  $x^3 + ax^2 + bx + c = 0$ ,

$$\begin{split} \Sigma a^2 \beta &= 3 \ c - ab, \\ \Sigma a^2 \beta^2 &= b^2 - 2 \ ac, \\ \Sigma a^3 \beta &= a^2 b - 2 \ b^2 - ac, \\ (\alpha + \beta)(\beta + \gamma)(\gamma + a) &= c - ab. \end{split}$$

For the quartic  $x^4 + ax^3 + bx^2 + cx + d = 0$ ,

$$\begin{aligned} \Sigma \alpha^2 \beta &= 3 c - ab, \\ \Sigma \alpha^2 \beta^2 &= b^2 - 2 ac + 2 d. \end{aligned}$$

**Ex. 1.** For the cubic find the value, expressed in terms of the coefficients, of  $\frac{\Sigma \alpha^2 \beta + \Sigma \alpha^2 \beta^2}{\Sigma \alpha^3 \beta + \Sigma \alpha^2}$ .

Ex. 2.) For the quartic find the value of the irrational symmetric function  $\sqrt{\Sigma \alpha^{3}\beta}$ .

**Ex. 3.** For f(x) = 0 calculate  $\sum \alpha_1^2 \alpha_2 \alpha_3$ , where  $\alpha_1, \alpha_2, \dots, \alpha_n$  are the roots.

Multiply 
$$\Sigma \alpha_1 = -\alpha_1$$
  
and  $\Sigma \alpha_1 \alpha_2 \alpha_3 = -\alpha_3$ .

and

In the product the term  $\alpha_1^2 \alpha_2 \alpha_3$  occurs only once, the term  $\alpha_1 \alpha_2 \alpha_3 \alpha_4$  occurs 4 times. Hence,

$$\Sigma \alpha_1^2 \alpha_2 \alpha_3 + 4 \Sigma \alpha_1 \alpha_2 \alpha_3 \alpha_4 = a_1 a_3,$$
  
$$\Sigma \alpha_1^2 \alpha_2 \alpha_3 = a_1 a_3 - 4 a_4.$$

If the calculation is carried on by § 70, II, we have, since p=q=1 and m=2,

$$2 \Sigma \alpha_1^2 \alpha_2 \alpha_3 = s_2 s_1^2 - 2 s_3 s_1 - s_2^2 + 2 s_4.$$

Substituting for  $s_1$ ,  $s_2$ ,  $s_3$ ,  $s_4$  their values, § 68, and carrying out the indicated operations, we get the same answer.

**Ex.** 4. Show that for the general equation f(x) = 0, the general form, in terms of the coefficients, obtained for  $\sum \alpha_1^2 \alpha_2^2$  is the same as for the quartic equation.

**Ex. 5.** Calculate  $\sum \alpha_1^3 \alpha_2$  for f(x) = 0 and from the result derive the special value it assumes for the cubic.

**Ex. 6.** Calculate  $\sum \alpha_1^2 \alpha_2^2 \alpha_3$  for the quintic equation. Is the result the same for the general equation ?

**Ex.** 7. Find the value of the symmetric function  $(\alpha - \beta)^2 + (\beta - \gamma)^2 + (\gamma - \alpha)^2$  for the cubic  $b_0x^3 + 3b_1x^2 + 3b_2x + b_3 = 0$ . Deduce the same result from V, § 35.

**Ex. 8.** By aid of § 35 compute the value of  $(\alpha - \beta)^2(\alpha - \gamma)^2(\beta - \gamma)^2$  for the cubic  $x^3 + x^2 + x + 1 = 0$ . What relation has this symmetric function to the discriminant of the cubic? How many values does the function  $(\alpha - \beta)(\alpha - \gamma)(\beta - \gamma)$  assume when the roots are interchanged? Why is this function not symmetric?

Ex. 9. Show that for the quartic

 $x^4 + a_1 x^3 + a_2 x^2 + a_3 x + a_4 = 0,$ 

 $(\alpha_1\alpha_2 + \alpha_3\alpha_4)(\alpha_1\alpha_3 + \alpha_2\alpha_4)(\alpha_1\alpha_4 + \alpha_2\alpha_3) = a_3^2 + a_1^2a_4 - 4a_2a_4.$ 

Ex. 10. Show that for this quartic

$$(\alpha\beta + \gamma\delta)(\gamma\alpha + \beta\delta) + (\alpha\beta + \gamma\delta)(\beta\gamma + \alpha\delta) + (\beta\gamma + \alpha\delta)(\gamma\alpha + \beta\delta)$$
$$= a_1a_3 - 4 a_4.$$

\* Ex. 11. Form the cubic equation having for its roots

 $\alpha\beta + \gamma\delta$ ,  $\alpha\gamma + \beta\delta$ ,  $\beta\gamma + \alpha\delta$ .

**Ex. 12.** Show how the general quartic may be solved with the aid of the roots of the cubic in Ex. 11 and the relation  $\alpha\beta\gamma\delta = \alpha_4$ .

**Ex. 13.** How many different values will the function  $\alpha\beta + \gamma\delta$  assume, as the roots are interchanged in every possible way?

\* Ex. 14. Find the equation whose roots are

$$\begin{split} \rho &= \sqrt{2} + \sqrt[3]{5}, \qquad \rho_1 = \sqrt{2} + \omega \sqrt[3]{5}, \qquad \rho_2 = \sqrt{2} + \omega^2 \sqrt[3]{5}, \\ \rho_3 &= -\sqrt{2} + \sqrt[3]{5}, \qquad \rho_4 = -\sqrt{2} + \omega \sqrt[3]{5}, \qquad \rho_5 = -\sqrt{2} + \omega^2 \sqrt[3]{5}. \end{split}$$

Let the required equation be

 $x^6 + a_1 x^5 + a_2 x^4 + a_3 x^3 + a_4 x^2 + a_5 x + a_6 = 0.$ 

We have  $a_1 = 0$ , and therefore  $a_2 = \sum \rho \rho_1 = -\frac{1}{2} \sum \rho^2 = -6$ . Multiplying  $\sum \rho \rho_1$  by  $\sum \rho$ , we have  $3 \sum \rho \rho_1 \rho_2 + \sum \rho \rho_1^2 = 0$ , hence

$$a_{3} = -\Sigma \rho \rho_{1} \rho_{2} = \frac{1}{3} \Sigma \rho \rho_{1}^{2} = -\frac{1}{3} \Sigma \rho^{3} = -10.$$

Multiplying  $\Sigma \rho \rho_1 \rho_2$  by  $\Sigma \rho$ , we obtain

$$\begin{array}{l} 4 \; \overline{\Sigma}\rho\rho_{1}\rho_{2}\rho_{8} + \Sigma\rho\rho_{1}\rho_{2}^{2} = 0 \; ; \; \Sigma\rho\rho_{1}\rho_{2}^{2} = \Sigma\rho_{2}^{2} \cdot \Sigma\rho\rho_{1} - \Sigma\rho_{2}^{3} \cdot \Sigma\rho + \Sigma\rho_{2}^{4} \\ = \Sigma\rho_{2}^{2} \cdot \Sigma\rho\rho_{1} + \Sigma\rho_{2}^{4} = -48, \end{array}$$

hence  $a_4 = 12$ .

Similarly, we get

$$5 \Sigma \rho \rho_1 \rho_2 \rho_3 \rho_4 + \Sigma \rho \rho_1 \rho_2 \rho_3^2 = 0, \ \Sigma \rho \rho_1 \rho_2 \rho_3^2 = \Sigma \rho_3^2 \cdot \Sigma \rho \rho_1 \rho_2 - \Sigma \rho_3^3 \cdot \Sigma \rho \rho_1 - \Sigma \rho_3^5 = -300,$$

hence  $a_5 = -60$ . We have  $a_6 = 17$ .

\* Ex. 15.) Find the value, in terms of the coefficients of the cubic, of  $(\alpha + \omega \alpha_1 + \omega^2 \alpha_2)^3 + (\alpha + \omega^2 \alpha_1 + \omega \alpha_2)^3$ , where  $\omega$  is a complex cube root of unity.

\* Ex. 16. Show that for the quartic

$$x^4 + 4 b_1 x^3 + 6 b_2 x^2 + 4 b_3 x + b_4 = 0,$$

the following relations hold :

$$\begin{split} \Sigma \alpha^5 \alpha_1 &= 1536 \ b_1^4 b_2 - 2304 \ b_1^2 b_2^2 + 432 \ b_2^3 - 256 \ b_1^3 b_3 + 672 \ b_1 b_2 b_3 \\ &- 48 \ b_3^2 + 16 \ b_1^2 b_4 - 36 \ b_2 b_4. \end{split}$$

$$\begin{split} \Sigma \alpha^4 \alpha_1 \alpha_2 &= 256 \ b_1^3 b_3 - 288 \ b_1 b_2 b_3 + 48 \ b_3^2 - 16 \ b_1^2 b_4 + 12 \ b_2 b_4. \\ \Sigma \alpha^3 \alpha_1^2 \alpha_2 &= 96 \ b_1 b_2 b_3 - 48 \ b_3^2 - 48 \ b_1^2 b_4 + 24 \ b_2 b_4. \end{split}$$

$$\begin{split} \Sigma \alpha^2 \alpha_1^3 &= 216 \ b_2^3 - 288 \ b_1 b_2 b_3 + 48 \ b_3^2 + 48 \ b_1^2 b_4 - 18 \ b_2 b_4. \\ \Sigma \alpha^2 \alpha_1^2 \alpha_2 \alpha_3 &= 6 \ b_2 b_4. \\ \Sigma \alpha^2 \alpha_1^2 \alpha_2 \alpha_3 &= 6 \ b_2 b_4. \end{split}$$

$$\begin{split} \Sigma \alpha^2 \alpha_1 \alpha_2 &= 16 \ b_1^2 - 12 \ b_2. \\ \Sigma \alpha^2 \alpha_1 \alpha_2 &= 16 \ b_1 b_3 - 4 \ b_4. \end{split}$$
\* Ex. 17 Find the cubic whose roots are 
$$(\alpha - \alpha_1) (\alpha_2 - \alpha_3), \ (\alpha - \alpha_2) (\alpha_3 - \alpha_1), \ (\alpha - \alpha_3) (\alpha_1 - \alpha_2). \end{split}$$

\* Ex. 18. Show that, for the quartic  $x^4 + a_1x^3 + a_2x^2 + a_3x + a_4 = 0$ , we have

$$(\alpha + \alpha_1 - \alpha_2 - \alpha_3)(\alpha - \alpha_1 - \alpha_2 + \alpha_3)(\alpha - \alpha_1 + \alpha_2 - \alpha_3)$$
  
= - (\alpha\_1^3 - 4\alpha\_1\alpha\_2 + 8\alpha\_3).

## CHAPTER VIII

### ELIMINATION

72. Resultants or Eliminants. Let us determine the condition that the two equations

$$f(x) \equiv a_0 x^2 + a_1 x + a_2 = 0,$$
  

$$F(x) \equiv c_0 x^2 + c_1 x + c_2 = 0,$$

shall have a root in common. Designate the roots of the second equation by  $\beta_1, \beta_2$ . The necessary and sufficient condition that  $\beta_1$  or  $\beta_2$  shall satisfy the equation f(x) = 0 is that  $f(\beta_1)$  or  $f(\beta_2)$  shall vanish; in other words, that the product  $f(\beta_1) \cdot f(\beta_2)$  shall be zero. Multiplying together

$$f(\beta_1) \equiv a_0 \beta_1^2 + a_1 \beta_1 + a_2, f(\beta_2) \equiv a_0 \beta_2^2 + a_1 \beta_2 + a_2,$$

we get

$$a_0^2 \beta_1^2 \beta_2^2 + a_0 a_1 (\beta_1 \beta_2^2 + \beta_1^2 \beta_2) + a_0 a_2 (\beta_1^2 + \beta_2^2) + a_1^2 \beta_1 \beta_2 + a_1 a_2 (\beta_1 + \beta_2) + a_2^2.$$

Multiplying by  $c_0^2$  and substituting for the symmetric functions of  $\beta_1$  and  $\beta_2$  their values in terms of the coefficients of F(x) = 0, we have

$$a_0^2 c_0^2 - a_0 a_1 c_1 c_2 + a_0 a_2 c_1^2 - 2 a_0 a_2 c_0 c_2 + a_1^2 c_0 c_2 - a_1 a_2 c_0 c_1 + a_2^2 c_0^2.$$

This expression is called the *eliminant* or *resultant*. Its vanishing is the condition that the given equations shall have a root in common.

If from n equations involving n-1 variables we eliminate the variables and obtain an equation R = 0 involving only the
ELIMINATION

coefficients of the equations, the expression R is called the *eliminant* or *resultant* of the given equations.

In the above example the elimination was performed with. the aid of symmetric functions. This method generalized is as follows:

73. Elimination by Symmetric Functions. To find the conditions that the two equations

$$f(x) \equiv a_0 x^n + a_1 x^{n-1} + a_2 x^{n-2} + \dots + a_n = 0,$$
  

$$F(x) \equiv c_0 x^m + c_1 x^{m-1} + c_2 x^{m-2} + \dots + c_m = 0,$$

shall have a common root. For this purpose it is necessary and sufficient that some one of the roots  $\beta_1, \beta_2, \dots, \beta_m$  of F(x) = 0shall satisfy f(x) = 0, in which case the product

$$f(\beta_1) \cdot f(\beta_2) \cdots f(\beta_m)$$

must vanish.

Multiplying these together, we obtain, after substituting for the symmetric functions of  $\beta_1, \beta_2, \dots, \beta_m$  which occur in the product their values in terms of  $c_0, c_1, \dots, c_m$ , and after clearing of fractions,

$$R = c_0^m f(\beta_1) \cdot f(\beta_2) \cdots f(\beta_m).$$

Here R is the eliminant and is a rational integral function of the coefficients of f(x) and F(x). Its vanishing is the condition that the two given equations have a root in common. The degree of the resultant in the coefficients of the given equations is in general m + n.

It is easy to see that we obtain the same eliminant by substituting the roots  $a_1, a_2, \dots, a_n$  of f(x) = 0, in succession, for x in the polynomial F(x). 74. Euler's Method of Elimination. If f(x) = 0 and F(x) = 0, as defined in § 73, have a root  $\alpha$  in common, we may write

$$f(x) \equiv (x - \alpha) f_1(x)$$

$$F(x) \equiv (x - \alpha) F_1(x),$$

$$f_1(x) \equiv A_1 x^{n-1} + A_2 x^{n-2} + \dots + A_n,$$

$$F_1(x) \equiv C_1 x^{m-1} + C_2 x^{m-2} + \dots + C_m,$$

where

or

the coefficients  $A_{\nu}, \dots, A_n$  and  $C_{\nu}, \dots, C_n$ , being undetermined quantities.

We obtain easily the identical equation of the (m + n - 1)th degree  $f(x) \cdot F_1(x) \equiv F(x) \cdot f_1(x)$ .

Performing the indicated multiplications and equating coefficients of like powers of x, we obtain m + n homogeneous equations. Eliminating the undetermined coefficients, we obtain the required resultant.

Thus, find the resultant of

$$a_0x^2 + a_1x + a_2 = 0, \ c_0x^2 + c_1x + c_2 = 0.$$

If they have a root in common, we obtain the identity

$$\begin{aligned} (C_1x+C_2)(a_0x^2+a_1x+a_2) &\equiv (A_1x+A_2)(c_0x^2+c_1x+c_2) \\ (C_1a_0-A_1c_0)x^3+(C_1a_1+C_2a_0-A_1c_1-A_2c_0)x^2 \\ &+(C_1a_2+C_2a_1-A_1c_2-A_2c_1)x+C_2a_2-A_2c_2 \equiv 0. \end{aligned}$$

Equating coefficients,

$$\begin{array}{ccc} C_{1}a_{0} & -A_{1}c_{0} & = 0, \\ C_{1}a_{1} + C_{2}a_{0} - A_{1}c_{1} - A_{2}c_{0} = 0, \\ C_{1}a_{2} + C_{2}a_{1} - A_{1}c_{2} - A_{2}c_{1} = 0, \\ C_{2}a_{2} & -A_{2}c_{2} = 0. \end{array} \right\}$$

In order that the four homogeneous equations I may be consistent with each other it is necessary that

### ELIMINATION

$$\begin{vmatrix} \dot{a}_0 & 0 & c_0 & 0 \\ a_1 & a_0 & c_1 & c_0 \\ a_2 & a_1 & c_2 & c_1 \\ 0 & a_2 & 0 & c_2 \end{vmatrix} = 0.$$

This vanishing determinant is the resultant.

[To recall the reason for this, observe that if each member of the four equations I is divided by  $A_2$ , we have really only three unknown quantities, viz.  $\frac{C_1}{A_2}$ ,  $\frac{C_2}{A_2}$ ,  $\frac{A_1}{A_2}$ . If their values, which may be obtained from the first three equations, are substituted in the fourth equation, then we obtain a relation between the coefficients of the two given equations which is the same as that expressed by the above determinant.]

75. Sylvester's Dialytic Method of Elimination. To eliminate x between f(x) = 0 and F'(x) = 0, equations of the degrees n and m, defined as in § 73, multiply the first successively by  $x^0, x^1, x^2, \dots, x^{m-1}$ , and the second successively by  $x^0, x^1, x^2, \dots, x^{n-1}$ .

We obtain thus the m + n equations

$$f(x) = 0, xf(x) = 0, x^2f(x) = 0, \dots, x^{m-1}f(x) = 0,$$
  

$$F(x) = 0, xF(x) = 0, x^2F(x) = 0, \dots, x^{n-1}F(x) = 0.$$

The highest power of x is m + n - 1. If f(x) = 0 and F(x) = 0 have a common root, it will satisfy all the m + n equations. If the different powers of x, viz.  $x, x^2, x^3, \dots, x^{m+n-1}$ , be taken as m + n - 1 unknown quantities satisfying m + n linear equations, it is evident that a relation must exist between the coefficients of the equations. This condition of consistency is the vanishing of the resultant.\*

\* The above proof of Sylvester's method is the one usually given. Attention should be called to the fact that it is not shown there that the different powers of x have values that are consistent.

Thus, to find the resultant of

	$f(x) \equiv$	$a_0x^3 + a_1x^2 + a_2x + a_2x + a_3x + a_3$	$a_3 = 0,$
and	$F(x) \equiv$	$c_0 x^2 + c_1 x +$	$c_2 = 0,$
we have	$f(x) \equiv$	$a_0x^3 + a_1x^2 + a_2x +$	$a_3 = 0,$
	$xf(x) \equiv$	$a_0 x^4 + a_1 x^3 + a_2 x^2 + a_3 x$	= 0,
	$F(x) \equiv$	$+ c_0 x^2 + c_1 x +$	$c_2 = 0,$
	$xF(x) \equiv$	$+c_0x^3 + c_1x^2 + c_2x$	= 0,
	$x^2F(x) \equiv$	$c_0 x^4 + c_1 x^3 + c_2 x^2$	= 0.

That the four unknowns x,  $x^2$ ,  $x^3$ ,  $x^4$ , may satisfy the five equations, it is necessary that

$$R \equiv egin{bmatrix} 0 & & a_0 & a_1 & a_2 & a_3 \ a_0 & a_1 & a_2 & a_3 & 0 \ 0 & 0 & c_0 & c_1 & c_2 \ 0 & c_0 & c_1 & c_2 & 0 \ c_0 & c_1 & c_2 & 0 & 0 \ \end{bmatrix} = 0.$$

R is the resultant.

76. Discriminant of f(x) = 0. It was proved in § 21 that if f(x) = 0 has a multiple root, that root satisfies f'(x) = 0. The condition that f(x) = 0 and f'(x) = 0 have a root in common is expressed by the vanishing of their resultant. The resultant of f(x) = 0 and f'(x) = 0 is called the discriminant of f(x) = 0. The discriminant of an equation f(x) = 0 may be otherwise defined as the simplest function of the coefficients, or of the roots, whose vanishing signifies that the equation has equal roots.

If f(x) = 0 and f'(x) = 0 have a common root, this root will satisfy also nf(x) - f'(x) = 0. Instead of finding the resultant of f(x) and f'(x), we may therefore find the resultant of nf(x) - f'(x) = 0 and f'(x) = 0. The latter mode of procedure is preferable, because it gives us the resultant clear of an extraneous factor.

96

### ELIMINATION

The discriminants of the general quadratic, cubic, and quartic are, respectively, as follows:

Quadratic disc. 
$$=\frac{4}{b_0^2}(b_1^2 - b_0 b_2);$$
  
Cubic disc., § 35,  $=-\frac{27}{b_0^6}(G^2 + 4 H^3);$   
Quartic disc., § 51,  $=\frac{256}{b_0^6}(I^3 - 27 J^2).$ 

**77.** Discriminant expressed as a Symmetric Function of the Roots. Since the discriminant of the equation f(x) = 0 vanishes always when at least two roots are equal, but under no other conditions, it follows that  $\alpha_1 - \alpha_2$  must be a factor of the discriminant. For if  $\alpha_1$  and  $\alpha_2$  are the equal roots,  $\alpha_1 - \alpha_2$  is the only simple factor which will vanish because of this equality. But an interchange of *any two* roots, say  $\alpha_1$  and  $\alpha_2$ , must not alter the numerical value or the *sign* of the discriminant, since the discriminant is a constant when the coefficients of the equation are constants. Hence the lowest positive power to which the factor  $\alpha_1 - \alpha_2$  can occur in the discriminant is the second power. In other words,  $(\alpha_1 - \alpha_2)^2$  is a factor of the discriminant.

Since this reasoning applies to any two roots whatever,  $(\alpha_1 - \alpha_3)^2$  is a factor; also  $(\alpha_1 - \alpha_4)^2$ ; and so on.

Hence the product

$$D \equiv \Pi (\alpha_1 - \alpha_2)^2 \equiv (\alpha_1 - \alpha_2)^2 (\alpha_1 - \alpha_3)^2 \cdots (\alpha_{m-n} - \alpha_n)^2$$

is a factor of the discriminant. If the multiplications indicated in this product were carried out, each term would be of the -n(n-1)th degree in the roots.

The resultant of f(x) = 0 and f'(x) = 0 may be expressed by § 73 as  $a_0^n \cdot f'(a_1) \cdot f'(a_2) \cdots f'(a_n)$ ,

where  $\alpha_1, \alpha_2, \dots, \alpha_n$  are the roots of f(x) = 0. One term of this product is  $(n\alpha_0^{2})^n (\alpha_1 \alpha_2 \dots \alpha_n)^{n-1}$ ; the degree of this term in the roots

is n(n-1). This product is homogeneous, for if in any other term, say  $(n-1)^n a_0^n a_1^n (a_1 a_2 \cdots a_n)^{n-2}$ , we substitute for the coefficients their equivalents in terms of the roots, by the relations of § 13, say  $a_1 + a_2 + \cdots + a_n$  for  $-\frac{a_1}{a_0}$ , we see that this term likewise is of the degree n(n-1) in the roots. Hence the product  $\Pi(a_1 - a_2)^2$  is of the same degree in the roots as the resultant of f(x) = 0 and f'(x) = 0, and, therefore, as the discriminant of f(x) = 0. Consequently, this product can differ from the discriminant by a numerical factor only.

**Ex. 1.**) Show that the resultant of  $x^2 - x - 42 = 0$  and  $x^2 + 4x - 77 = 0$  is zero, proving that the left members of the equations have a common factor.

Ex. 2. Find the resultant of

 $a_0x^3 + a_1x^2 + a_2x + a_3 = 0$  and  $c_0x^3 + c_1x^2 + c_2x + c_3 = 0$  by Euler's method.

**Ex. 3.** For what value of a will the two equations  $x^3 + ax^2 + x - 1 = 0$  and  $x_2^2 + 3x + 7 = 0$  have a root in common ?

**Ex. 4.** Using Sylvester's method of elimination, find the discriminant of  $b_0x^3+3 b_1x^2+3 b_2x+b_3=0$ .

**Ex. 5.** Find the discriminant of  $x^n - 1 = 0$ . Has the equation equal roots?

**Ex. 6.** Find the discriminant of  $x^{n+1} - x^n - x + 1 = 0$ .

# CHAPTER IX

iche

## THE HOMOGRAPHIC AND THE TSCHIRNHAUSEN , TRANSFORMATIONS

78. Homographic Transformation. All the transformations of equations explained in \$\$ 27-34 are special cases of the homographic transformation, in which x is connected with the new variable y by the relation

$$y = \frac{\lambda x + \mu}{\lambda' x + \mu'},$$

where  $\lambda$ ,  $\lambda'$ ,  $\mu$ ,  $\mu'$  are constants. Thus, if  $\lambda = -\mu' = 1$ ,  $\lambda' = \mu = 0$ , then y = -x, as in § 28; if  $\lambda = \mu' = 1$  and  $\lambda' = 0$ , then  $y = x + \mu$ , as in § 32.

By solving for x we readily get

$$x = \frac{\mu - \mu' y}{\lambda' y - \lambda}.$$

If this value of x is substituted in a given equation of the nth degree, we obtain a new equation of the nth degree in y.

If  $\alpha, \beta, \gamma, \ldots$  are the roots of the original equation and  $\alpha', \beta', \gamma', \ldots$  the corresponding roots of the transformed equation, then we have

$$\alpha' = \frac{\lambda \alpha + \mu}{\lambda' \alpha + \mu'}, \beta' = \frac{\lambda \beta + \mu}{\lambda' \beta + \mu'}, \text{ etc.}$$

Subtracting, we get  $\alpha' - \beta' = \frac{(\alpha - \beta)(\lambda \mu' - \lambda' \mu)}{(\lambda' \beta + \mu')(\lambda' \alpha + \mu')}$ . We obtain similar expressions for  $\alpha' - \gamma'$ ,  $\delta' - \beta'$ ,  $\delta' - \gamma'$ , etc. If now we take any four roots  $\alpha$ ,  $\beta$ ,  $\gamma$ ,  $\delta$  and the corresponding roots  $\alpha'$ ,  $\beta'$ .

 $\gamma', \delta'$ , we obtain by means of these expressions the following relation:  $\frac{(\alpha'-\beta')(\delta'-\gamma')}{(\alpha'-\gamma')(\delta'-\beta')} = \frac{(\alpha-\beta)(\delta-\gamma)}{(\alpha-\gamma)(\delta-\beta)}.$ 

The geometrical significance of each of these fractions becomes  
apparent, if taking 
$$O$$
 as origin, we put  $\alpha = OC$ ,  $\beta = OA$ ,  
 $\gamma = OB$ ,  $\delta = OD$ . Then  
 $\alpha - \beta = AC$ ,  $\alpha - \gamma = BC$ ,  
 $\delta - \beta = AD$ ,  $\delta - \gamma = BD$ ,

and the fraction on the right-hand side is equal to  $\frac{AC}{BC} \div \frac{AD}{BD}$ . This is the cross-ratio (anharmonic ratio) of the points C and Dwith respect to the points A and B. See Ex. 10, § 113.

Similarly, the left-hand fraction expresses the cross-ratio of points C' and D' with respect to points A' and B'. Hence, if the roots  $\alpha$ ,  $\beta$ ,  $\gamma$ ,  $\delta$  represent distances on a line, measured from an origin O, then the cross-ratio of the four points thus determined is the same as the cross-ratio, similarly formed, of the points, determined in the same manner by the corresponding roots  $\alpha', \beta', \gamma', \delta'$ , of the transformed equation.

Thus, we have on the same line two ranges of points,  $\alpha, \beta, \gamma, \delta, \cdots$  and  $\alpha', \beta', \gamma', \delta', \cdots$  such that the cross-ratio of any four points of one range is equal to the cross-ratio of the corresponding four points on the other. Such ranges are called homographic; hence the name, homographic transformation. To a point in one range corresponds one, and only one, point in the other. In other words, there is a one-to-one correspondence between the two ranges of points. The homographic transformation is the most general transformation in which this correspondence holds. We proceed to consider transformations which are not usually homographic.

79. The Most General Transformation. The most general rational algebraic transformation of the roots of an equation f(x) = 0 of the nth degree can be reduced to an integral transformation of a degree not higher than the (n-1)th. spirite - b

а

(

Every rational function of a root  $\alpha_m$  can be expressed in the form of a fraction whose numerator and denominator are each rational *integral* functions of the root, viz.

$$\frac{g(\alpha_m)}{h(\alpha_m)}$$
.

Multiplying both numerator and denominator of  $\frac{1}{h(a_m)}$  by the same quantity, we may write

$$\frac{1}{h(\alpha_m)} = \frac{h(\alpha_1) \cdots h(\alpha_{m-1}) \cdot h(\alpha_{m+1}) \cdots h(\alpha_n)}{h(\alpha_1) \cdot h(\alpha_2) \cdots h(\alpha_n)}.$$

We see that the denominator  $h(a_1) \cdot h(a_2) \cdots h(a_n)$  is a symmetric function of the roots  $a_1, a_2, \cdots, a_n$  of the equation f(x) = 0. By § 70 this function can be expressed rationally in terms of the coefficients. Hence  $a_m$  can be made to disappear from the denominator of the fraction representing the value of  $\frac{1}{h(a_m)}$ . In other words,  $\frac{1}{h(a_m)}$  is reduced to an integral function of  $a_m$ .

Again, the numerator of this fraction, viz.

$$h(\alpha_1) \cdots h(\alpha_{m-1}) \cdot h(\alpha_{m+1}) \cdots h(\alpha_n),$$

is a symmetric function of the roots  $a_1, \dots, a_{m-1}, a_{m+1}, \dots, a_n$  of the equation  $\frac{f(x)}{x-a_m} = 0$ . Hence it can be expressed as a rational function of the coefficients of this equation. These coefficients are rational integral functions of  $a_m$  and the coefficients of f(x) = 0, as may be seen by performing the indicated division. Hence  $\frac{1}{h(a_m)}$  and also  $\frac{g(a_m)}{h(a_m)}$  can be expressed as an integral rational function of  $a_m$ . Let the integral function  $G(a_m) = \frac{g(a_m)}{h(a_m)}$ . If  $G(a_m)$  is of a degree higher than the *n*th, divide G(x) by f(x), and we obtain

$$G(x) = Q \cdot f(x) + H(x),$$

where the degree of the function H(x) does not exceed n-1. Now write  $a_m$  for x. Since  $f(a_m) = 0$ , we have  $G(a_m) = H(a_m)$ , and the theorem is proved.

80. The Tschirnhausen Transformation. The most general rational algebraic transformation of a root of the equation f(x) = 0 can therefore be represented by the integral functions of the (n-1)th degree

$$y = d_1 + d_2 x + d_3 x^2 + \dots + d_n x^{n-1}.$$

This is known as the Tschirnhausen transformation.

By its aid Tschirnhausen succeeded in reducing the general cubic and quartic equations to the form of binomial equations. We shall do this for the cubic,

$$b_0 x^3 + 3 b_1 x^2 + 3 b_2 x + b_3 = 0.$$

We assume  $y = d_1 + d_2 x + x^2$ , where  $d_1$  and  $d_2$  are coefficients whose values must be determined.

Let the roots of the given equation be  $\alpha_1, \alpha_2, \alpha_3$ , and the corresponding roots of the required equation  $y^3 - c = 0$  be  $\beta, \omega\beta, \omega^2\beta$ , where  $\omega$  and  $\omega^2$  are the complex cube roots of unity. Then

$$\begin{array}{c} \beta = d_1 + d_2 \alpha_1 + \alpha_1^2, \\ \omega \beta = d_1 + d_2 \alpha_2 + \alpha_2^2, \\ \omega^2 \beta = d_1 + d_2 \alpha_3 + \alpha_3^2. \end{array}$$
 I

Adding, we obtain  $3 d_1 + d_2 s_1 + s_2 = 0$ .

4+0,3+00 + 01

Multiplying the second equation by  $\omega$ , and the third by  $\omega^2$ , and adding, we have  $(\alpha_1 + \omega \alpha_2 + \omega^2 \alpha_3)d_2 + \alpha_1^2 + \omega \alpha_2^2 + \omega^2 \alpha_3^2 = 0$ . Whence

$$d_2 + s_1 = d_2 + \alpha_1 + \alpha_2 + \alpha_3 = -\frac{\alpha_2 \alpha_3 + \omega \alpha_1 \alpha_3 + \omega^2 \alpha_1 \alpha_2}{\alpha_1 + \omega \alpha_2 + \omega^2 \alpha_3}.$$

Since  $\omega$  may represent either one of the two complex cube roots of unity, there are two possible values for this fraction. By a somewhat laborious operation, these values may be shown to be roots of the quadratic

$$(b_0b_2 + b_1^2)x^2 + (b_0b_3 - b_1b_2)x + (b_1b_3 - b_2^2) = 0.$$

The coefficients of this quadratic being known, we can find its two roots, hence also the required values of  $d_1$  and  $d_2$ . Then, multiplying together the members of equation I, and substituting for the symmetric functions of  $\alpha_1$ ,  $\alpha_2$ ,  $\alpha_3$  their values, we arrive at the value of c in  $y^3 - c = 0$ .

After reducing the cubic and quadratic to the binomial form, Tschirnhausen hoped to be able to transform the general quintic to the form  $y^5 - c = 0$ . Since this form admits of algebraic solution, he hoped to find the much-sought-for general algebraic solution of the quintic. But in the determination of the coefficients  $d_1, d_2, d_3, d_4, d_5$ , unlooked-for difficulties presented themselves, calling for the solution of an equation of the 24th degree. While the Tschirnhausen transformation is worthless for the general solution of the quintic, it enables one to remove the second, third, and fourth term of the quintic and of equations of higher degrees.

(Ex. 1.) Reduce  $x^2 + ax + b = 0$  to the binomial form by the Tschirnhausen transformation.

**Ex. 2.** Find the integral transformation of a degree not higher than the second, which is equivalent to the transformation  $y = \frac{x+1}{x^2+1}$  for the cubic  $x^3 + x^2 + x + 2 = 0$ .

Here

$$\frac{f(x)}{x-\alpha_2} = x^2 + (\alpha_2 + 1)x + (\alpha_2^2 + \alpha_2 + 1),$$

 $\frac{1}{\alpha_2^2 + 1} = \frac{(\alpha_1^2 + 1)(\alpha_3^2 + 1)}{(\alpha_1^2 + 1)(\alpha_2^2 + 1)(\alpha_3^2 + 1)} = \frac{\alpha_1^2 \alpha_3^2 + \alpha_1^2 + \alpha_3^2 + 1}{\alpha_1^2 \alpha_2^2 \alpha_3^2 + \Sigma \alpha_1^2 \alpha_2^2 + \Sigma \alpha_1^2 + 1}$   $= (\alpha_2^2 + \alpha_2 + 1)^2 - \alpha_2^2, y = -(x + 1)^2. \quad Ans.$ 

X2+x+1)-X

# CHAPTER X

### **ON SUBSTITUTIONS**

**81.** Notation. In the arrangement or permutation of four letters,  $a_1a_2a_3a_4$ , let each letter be replaced by one of the others; put, for instance,  $a_4$  for  $a_1$ ,  $a_3$  for  $a_2$ ,  $a_1$  for  $a_3$ , and  $a_2$  for  $a_4$ , then this operation, called a *substitution*, may be designated by the notation

# $\begin{pmatrix}a_1a_2a_3a_4\\a_4a_3a_1a_2\end{pmatrix},$

where each letter is replaced by the one beneath, or by the notation  $(a_1a_4a_2a_3)$ , where each letter is replaced by the one immediately following, the last letter,  $a_3$ , being replaced by the first,  $a_1$ . We shall use more frequently the second notation.

Observe that	$egin{pmatrix} x_1x_2x_3 \ x_3x_1x_2 \end{pmatrix}\equiv (x_1x_3x_2),  \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ $	× × ×
and that	$ \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 2 & 3 & 4 & 5 \\ 2 & 4 & 5 & 3 & 1 \end{pmatrix} \equiv (1 \ 2 \ 4 & 3 \ 5). $	1.00

Just as the substitution  $(a_1a_4a_2a_3)$ , effected upon the arrangement  $a_1a_2a_3a_4$ , gives the new arrangement  $a_4a_3a_1a_2$ , so when effected upon  $a_4a_3a_1a_2$ , it gives  $a_2a_1a_4a_3$ .

We shall agree that in a substitution a letter may be replaced by itself, but that no two letters can be replaced by the same letter. Accordingly

$$\begin{pmatrix} a_1 a_2 a_3 a_4 \\ a_1 a_3 a_4 a_2 \end{pmatrix}$$

is a substitution, but  $(a_1a_2a_3a_2a_4)$  is not, because in the latter  $a_1$  and  $a_3$  are both replaced by  $a_3$ .

104

# M ON SUBSTITUTIONS

**Ex.** 1. Show that (xyzw) is the same substitution as (wxyz).

**Ex. 2.** Show that  $(a_1a_2 \cdots a_n)$  is equal to

 $(a_{n-m}a_{n-m+1}\cdots a_na_1a_2\cdots a_{n-m-1});$ 

that, therefore, the same substitution may be represented in several ways and that its form is consequently not unique.

82. Product of Substitutions. By the notation  $(a_1a_2 \cdots a_n)$ ,  $(b_1b_2 \cdots b_m)$  we mean that the substitution  $(a_1a_2 \cdots a_n)$  is performed first; then, upon the result thus obtained, the substitution

 $(b_1 \ b_2 \cdots b_m)$ 

is performed. We call the two substitutions, placed in juxtaposition, their *product* in the given sequence.

If the product  $(1 \ 2 \ 3)(4 \ 5 \ 3)$  be applied to the digits 1 2 3 4 5, taken in their natural order, the substitution (1 2 3) yields the arrangement 2 3 1 4 5. The substitution (4 5 3) applied to this result gives the arrangement 2 4 1 5 3. But this last arrangement may be obtained from the first by the substitution (1 2 4 5 3). Hence the product of (1 2 3) and (4 5 3) is equivalent to the single substitution (1 2 4 5 3).

The indicated product  $(1\ 2\ 3)(4\ 5\ 3)$  may be carried out conveniently as follows: 1 is replaced by 2 in the first substitution, and 2 is not replaced in the second substitution; hence 1 is replaced by 2 in the product. Again, 2 is replaced by 3 in the first substitution, 3 is replaced by 4 in the second substitution; hence 2 is replaced by 4 in the product. Likewise, 4 is replaced by 5 in the second substitution and also in the product; 5 is replaced by 3 in the second substitution and in the product. Hence the result of the multiplication is the substitution  $(1\ 2\ 4\ 5\ 3)$ .

**Ex. 1.** Show that  $(4 \ 5 \ 3)(1 \ 2 \ 3) = (1 \ 2 \ 3 \ 4 \ 5)$ .

**Ex.** 2. Show that (abcd)(acde) = (abdce).

83. Commutative and Associative Law. Notice that the product of  $(1\ 2\ 3)(4\ 5\ 3)$  is not the same as the product of  $(4\ 5\ 3)(1\ 2\ 3)$ . On the other hand, we see that  $(1\ 2\ 3)(4\ 5)$  =  $(4\ 5)(1\ 2\ 3)$  and that (xy)(xx)(xx)(yx)=(xx)(yx)(xy)(xy)(xy).

Hence it follows that in the multiplication of substitutions the commutative law is not, in general, obeyed. However, we shall find that the associative law is always obeyed.

**Ex. 1.** Show that if  $s_a$ ,  $s_b$ ,  $s_c$  are substitutions,

 $(s_a s_b) s_c = s_a(s_b s_c) = s^a s_b s_c.$ 

Assume that  $s_a$  replaces an element p by q, that  $s_b$  replaces an element q by r, that  $s_c$  replaces an element r by s, then  $s_a s_b$  replaces an element p by r; and  $s_b s_c$  replaces an element q by s.

Hence,  $s_a s_b s_c$ ,  $(s_a s_b) s_c$ ,  $s^a(s_b s_c)$  each replace p by s.

84. Identical Substitution. A substitution which replaces every symbol by that symbol itself is an *identical* substitution. Example:  $\binom{a_1a_2a_3}{a_1a_2a_3}$ , which may also be written  $(a_1)(a_2)(a_3)$ . In  $(a_1)$  the letter  $a_1$ , is at the same time the first and the last letter, hence it is replaced by itself. As the identical substitution plays a rôle analogous to that of unity in the product of numbers, it is usually represented by 1.

85. Inverse Substitutions. The *inverse* of a given substitution is one which restores the original arrangement, so that a given substitution and its inverse constitute together an identical substitution. Thus, the inverse of the substitution

$$s = \begin{pmatrix} a_1 a_2 a_3 \cdots a_n \\ b_1 b_2 b_3 \cdots b_n \end{pmatrix} \text{ is the substitution } \begin{pmatrix} b_1 b_2 b_3 \cdots b_n \\ a_1 a_2 a_3 \cdots a_n \end{pmatrix}$$

Let the inverse of the substitution s be designated by  $s^{-1}$ . Then the inverse of  $s^{-1}$  is s. The fact that any substitution, followed by its inverse, gives us the original arrangement may be expressed by the symbolism  $s \cdot s^{-1} = s^0$ .

We have also  $s^{-1} \cdot s = s^0$ , where  $s^0$  signifies an identical substitution, *i.e.*  $s^0 = 1$ .

106

The repetition of a substitution s or  $s^{-1}$ , r times, is denoted by  $s^r$  or  $s^{-r}$ . Hence exponents are used here in much the same way as are integral exponents in algebra.

86. Cyclic Substitutions. If we suppose the letters of the substitution  $(a_1a_2 \cdots a_n)$  to be placed in the given order on the circumference of a circle at equal intervals of  $\frac{360^{\circ}}{n}$ , the given substitution is equivalent to a positive rotation of the circle through  $\frac{360^{\circ}}{n}$ . Hence such a substitution is called a cycle, or a cyclic substitution, or a circular substitution. The product  $(abc \cdots d)(xyz \cdots w)$  is called a substitution of two cycles. Similarly we have substitutions of three or more cycles. The substitution  $\begin{pmatrix} 1 & 2 & 3 & 4 & 5 & 6 & 7 \\ 3 & 4 & 5 & 7 & 1 & 2 & 6 \end{pmatrix}$  consists of the two cycles, (1 & 3 & 5)(2 & 4 & 7 & 6); for 1 is replaced by 3, 3 by 5, 5 by 1, and we have one cycle; again, 2 is replaced by 4, 4 by 7, 7 by 6, 6 by 2, and we have the second cycle.

In this manner any substitution can be resolved into cycles so that no two cycles have a digit in common. This resolution can be effected in only one way.

A cycle may consist of a single element, say (5). The substitution  $\begin{pmatrix} 1 & 2 & 3 & 4 & 5 \\ 3 & 2 & 4 & 1 & 5 \end{pmatrix}$  may also be written (1 & 3 & 4)(2)(5), or (1 & 3 & 4)2 & 5, or (1 & 3 & 4).

**Ex. 1.** Find the cycles of the substitution  $\binom{abcdefgh}{cdafgbhe}$ .

**Ex. 2.** Verify the relations (acb)(abc) = 1, (abc)(abc) = (acb), (ab)(ac) = (abc), (bc)(acb) = (ac), (bc)(bc) = 1, (abc)(acb) = 1.

**Ex. 3.** In which of the following products is the commutative law obeyed: (abc)(ac), (bc)(acb), (bca)(bac)?

Ex. 4. Write the inverse of (abcde).

87. Finite Number of Distinct Substitutions. The number of distinct substitutions which can be performed upon a finite number of elements  $a_1a_2 \cdots a_n$  is finite, for the number of substitutions cannot exceed the number of permutations, and this is known to be finite. Hence, if upon  $a_1a_2 \cdots a_n$  we perform an unlimited series of substitutions  $s, s^2, s^3, s^4, \cdots$ , the results of those substitutions cannot all be distinct. There will be certain powers of s which give the same result as does s itself. Let m + 1 be the lowest power of this kind, then  $s^{m+1} = s$ . This may be written  $s^m \cdot s = s$ . Hence

$$s^m s s^{-1} = s s^{-1} = s^0 = 1,$$
  
 $s^m = 1.$ 

and

We call m the order of the substitution.

The order of a substitution is the least power of the substitution which is equivalent to the identical substitution.

If 
$$s = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 2 & 3 & 4 \\ 2 & 3 & 4 & 1 \end{pmatrix}$$
, then  $s^2 = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 2 & 3 & 4 \\ 3 & 4 & 1 & 2 \end{pmatrix}$ ,  $s^3 = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 2 & 3 & 4 \\ 4 & 1 & 2 & 3 \end{pmatrix}$ ,  
 $s^4 = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 2 & 3 & 4 \\ 1 & 2 & 3 & 4 \end{pmatrix}$ ,  $s^5 = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 2 & 3 & 4 \\ 4 & 1 & 2 & 3 \end{pmatrix}$ , etc.

Hence m + 1 = 5, m = 4, and  $s^4 = s^0 = 1$ ,  $s^6 = s^2$ , and generally,  $s^{4n+r} = s^r$ .

This substitution s is cyclic. It is evident that the order of a cyclic or circular substitution is equal to the number of its elements (digits).

If  $s = (1 \ 2 \ 3)(4 \ 5)$ , then  $s^2 = (1 \ 3 \ 2)$ ,  $s^3 = (4 \ 5)$ ,  $s^4 = (1 \ 2 \ 3)$ ,  $s^5 = (1 \ 3 \ 2)(4 \ 5)$ ,  $s^6 = 1$ . Hence the order is 6.

If  $n_1, n_2, n_3, \cdots$  denote the number of elements in the successive cycles of a substitution, then its order is a number exactly divisible by each of the numbers  $n_1, n_2, n_3, \cdots$ ; that is, its order is the least common multiple of  $n_1, n_2, n_3, \cdots$ .

**Ex.** 1. Show by actual substitution that the order of  $s = (1 \ 2)(3 \ 4 \ 5)$ . (6789) is 12 or the L. C. M. of 2, 3, 4.

**88.** Theorem. The product  $t^{-1}st$  may be conveniently obtained from the substitutions s and t by performing upon each cycle of s the substitution t.

Let

and 
$$s = (abc \cdots )(a'b'c' \cdots ) \cdots$$
$$t = \begin{pmatrix} abc \cdots a'b'c' \cdots \\ a\beta\gamma \cdots a'\beta'\gamma' \cdots \end{pmatrix}.$$

Take any one of the letters  $\alpha$ ,  $\beta$ ,  $\gamma$ , ...,  $\alpha'$ ,  $\beta'$ ,  $\gamma'$ , ..., say  $\beta$ . By  $t^{-1}$ ,  $\beta$  is replaced by b; by s, b is replaced by c; by t, c is replaced by  $\gamma$ . Hence by  $t^{-1}st$ ,  $\beta$  is replaced by  $\gamma$ .

Now, if by t we substitute  $\beta$  for b and  $\gamma$  for c in the cycles of s, then, instead of the sequence b c, we have in s the sequence  $\beta \gamma$ , which replaces  $\beta$  by  $\gamma$ , as before. As this consideration applies not to  $\beta$  alone, but to any letter, the theorem is established.

In the operation  $t^{-1}st$ , t is said to transform s; the operation is called a transformation.

**Ex. 1.** If  $s = (1 \ 2 \ 3)(4 \ 5 \ 6 \ 7), t = (5 \ 7 \ 2 \ 3)$ , then  $t^{-1} = (3 \ 2 \ 7 \ 5)$ . To illustrate the theorem just proved, apply  $t^{-1}$  to the arrangement  $1 \ 2 \ 3 \ 4 \ 5 \ 6 \ 7$  and we get  $1 \ 7 \ 2 \ 4 \ 3 \ 6 \ 5$ . To this result apply the substitution s, and we have  $2 \ 4 \ 3 \ 5 \ 1 \ 7 \ 6$ . To this last arrangement apply t, and we obtain finally  $3 \ 4 \ 5 \ 7/2 \ 6$ .

This same final arrangement is obtained more easily, if in place of performing the three substitutions, we perform upon the arrangement 1234567 only one substitution, namely s' = (135)(4762). Now s' is gotten from s by performing upon each cycle of s the substitution t.

**Ex.** 2. If  $s = (1 \ 2 \ 3)(4 \ 5 \ 6 \ 7)$  and  $t = (2 \ 4 \ 3 \ 7)$ , find  $t^{-1}st$  by theorem in § 88.

**Ex. 3.** If s = (ab)(cd), t = (abc), determine the result of operating with  $t^{-1}st$  upon the arrangement  $a \ b \ c \ d$ .

**89.** Transpositions. A transposition is a cyclic substitution containing two elements. Thus, (ab), (bc), (1 2) are transpositions.

**Ex. 1.** Show that the square of any transposition is the identical substitution, *i.e.* 1.

**90.** Theorem. A substitution may be expressed as the product of transpositions in an unlimited number of ways.

We can easily verify that

 $(1\ 2\ 3\cdots n) = (1\ 2)(1\ 3)\ \cdots\ (1\ n),$ and that  $(1\ 2\ 3)(4\ 5\ 6\ 7)\ \cdots\ = (1\ 2)(1\ 3)(4\ 5)(4\ 6)(4\ 7)\ \cdots.$ 

From this it appears that every substitution can be expressed as the product of transpositions.

The number of ways of doing this is unlimited, for between any two transpositions just found we may interpolate the indicated square of any transposition without modifying the substitution; or we may prefix or annex the square of any transposition, and we may continue this *ad libitum*. Thus,

$$abc \models (ab)(ac) = (ca)(ca)(ab)(bc)(bc)(ac).$$

**91.** Theorem. The number of transpositions into which a substitution is resolvable is either always even or always odd.

The effect of any transposition, say  $(\alpha_1 \alpha_2)$  upon the square root of the discriminant,  $\sqrt{D}$ , is to change its sign. To show this write (§ 77)

$$\sqrt{D} = (\alpha_1 - \alpha_2)(\alpha_1 - \alpha_3)(\alpha_1 - \alpha_4) \cdots (\alpha_1 - \alpha_n),$$

$$(\alpha_2 - \alpha_3)(\alpha_2 - \alpha_4) \cdots (\alpha_2 - \alpha_n),$$

$$(\alpha_3 - \alpha_4) \cdots (\alpha_3 - \alpha_n),$$

$$(\alpha_{n-1} - \alpha_n).$$

The transposition  $(\alpha_1 \alpha_2)$  alters the sign of the factor  $(\alpha_1 - \alpha_2)$ and interchanges the remaining factors of the first row with the factors of the second row. The factors in the remaining rows remain unaltered. Hence the sign of  $\sqrt{D}$  is reversed by a single transposition.

Since any substitution can be expressed as the product of transpositions, the effect of any substitution on  $\sqrt{D}$  must be

110

either to alter or not to alter its sign. If the sign of  $\sqrt{D}$  remains unchanged, the substitution must contain an *even* number of transpositions; if the sign of  $\sqrt{D}$  is changed, the number of transpositions must be *odd*. Hence no substitution is capable of being expressed both by an even and by an odd number of transpositions.

92: Even and Odd Substitutions. A substitution expressible as the product of an even number of transpositions is called an *even substitution*; one expressible by an odd number of transpositions is called an *odd substitution*. Identical substitutions are classified as even.

Ex. 1. Are the following substitutions odd or even ?

$$s = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 2 & 3 & 4 & 5 & 6 \\ 1 & 3 & 2 & 5 & 6 & 4 \end{pmatrix}, s' = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 2 & 3 \\ 2 & 3 & 1 \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} 4 & 5 & 6 & 7 \\ 4 & 6 & 7 & 5 \end{pmatrix},$$
$$s'' = (4 & 5 & 6)(1 & 7 & 4 & 6 & 2 & 3), s''' = (1 & 2 & 3 & 4)^3.$$

\* Ex. 2. Show that any substitution transforms an even substitution into an even substitution. See § 88.

**93.** Theorem. All even substitutions can be expressed as the product of cyclic substitutions of three elements.

If two transpositions have one element in common, we have an equality like the following:

$$(1 \ 2)(1 \ 3) = (1 \ 2 \ 3).$$

If two transpositions have no element in common, we have the following relation:

$$(1 \ 2)(3 \ 4) = (1 \ 3 \ 4)(1 \ 3 \ 2).$$

Thus, since any two pairs of transpositions are expressible in terms of cyclic substitutions of three elements each, it follows that any *even* substitution can be thus expressed.

**Ex. 1.** Express the even substitution  $(1\ 2\ 3\ 4)(2\ 4\ 5\ 6)$  as the product of cyclic substitutions of three elements.

# CHAPTER XI

### SUBSTITUTION-GROUPS

### 94. Example of a Group. The substitutions

1, (1 2 3), (1 3 2), I

are distinct and possess the property that the product of any two of them, in whichever sequence they are taken, is equal to one of the three. Thus,

> $(1 \ 2 \ 3)(1 \ 3 \ 2) = (1 \ 3 \ 2)(1 \ 2 \ 3) = 1.$  $1(1 \ 2 \ 3) = (1 \ 2 \ 3)1 = (1 \ 2 \ 3).$  $1(1 \ 3 \ 2) = (1 \ 3 \ 2)1 = (1 \ 3 \ 2).$

Moreover, the square of any substitution gives a substitution in the set. For,  $(1\ 2\ 3)^2 = (1\ 3\ 2)$ ,  $(1\ 3\ 2)^2 = (1\ 2\ 3)$ ,  $1^2 = 1$ . The three substitutions I, possessing these properties, are said to form a group.

95. Definition of Substitution-group. A set of distinct substitutions, the product of any two and the square of any one of which belong to the set, is called a group of substitutions, or a substitution-group.

When using the term *group* we shall always mean a substitution-group.

The substitutions  $(1 \ 2)$ ,  $(1 \ 3)$ ,  $(1 \ 2 \ 3)$  do not form a group; for, while each substitution is distinct and while some of the products yield substitutions in the set, others do not. Thus,  $(1 \ 3)(1 \ 2)$  yields  $(1 \ 3 \ 2)$ , which does not belong to the set.

**Ex. 1.** Prove that the product of three or more substitutions of a group is a substitution belonging to the group,

#### SUBSTITUTION-GROUPS

**96.** Degree and Order of a Group. The number of elements (letters or digits) operated on by the substitutions of a group is called the *degree* of the group. The number of substitutions in a group is called the *order* of a group. Thus, the group

1, (abc), (acb), (ab), (ac), (bc)

involves the three elements a, b, c and has six substitutions. Hence it is of the third degree and sixth order.

**Ex. 1.** Tell the degree and order of the group 1, (ac)(bd).

**Ex. 2.** Prove that the identical substitution satisfies the conditions of a group.

**Ex. 3.** Show that any positive integral power of a substitution of a group is a substitution of that group.

Ex. 4. Prove that the identical substitution belongs to every group.

\*Ex. 5. Prove that the inverse of any substitution in a group belongs to the group.

**Ex. 6.** Every substitution s in a group is equal to the product of two substitutions of the group.

**97.** Theorem. Upon the distinct letters  $a_1 a_2 \cdots a_n$  there can be performed n! substitutions which form a group.

From elementary algebra we know that the total number of permutations of n distinct letters, taken all at a time, is

$$n(n-1)(n-2)\cdots 3\cdot 2\cdot 1=n!.$$

Take any one permutation P. We may change it into any one of the other permutations by performing a substitution. But for no two of these other n! - 1 permutations is the substitution the same. Hence there must be one less than n! such substitutions. Counting in the identical substitution, we have in all n!substitutions.

These n! substitutions form a group. For with any one of them operate upon the permutation P, then upon the result thus obtained operate with the same or any other substitution. The second result will, of course, be some one of the n! permu-

I

tations which can be obtained from the permutation P directly by performing one of the given substitutions. Thus it follows that the product of any two substitutions or the square of any substitution is equivalent to one of the given substitutions.

**Ex. 1.** The letters  $a_1a_2a_3$  admit of the six permutations,  $a_1a_2a_3$ ,  $a_1a_3a_2$ ,  $a_2a_1a_3$ ,  $a_2a_3a_1$ ,  $a_3a_1a_2$ ,  $a_3a_2a_1$ . Show that these six permutations are obtained, respectively, from  $a_1a_2a_3$  by performing the substitutions 1,  $(a_1)(a_2a_3), (a_1a_2)(a_3), (a_1a_2a_3), (a_1a_3a_2), (a_1a_3)(a_2)$ . Show that these substitutions form a group.

98. Symmetric Functions and Symmetric Group. A symmetric function of n letters  $a_1, a_2, \dots, a_n$ , being unaltered in value when any two of the letters are interchanged, undergoes no change in value when it is operated on by a substitution belonging to the group given in the preceding theorem. Because of this invariance the symmetric function is said to belong to that group, and the group bears the name of symmetric group.

**Ex. 1.** By applying each of the substitutions of the symmetric group 1,  $(a_1a_2a_3)$ ,  $(a_1a_3a_2)$ ,  $(a_2a_3)$ ,  $(a_1a_3)$ ,  $(a_1a_2)$ , show the invariance of the symmetric function,  $a_1a_2 + a_1a_3 + a_2a_3$ .

**99.** Theorem. All even substitutions of n letters form together a group.

Even substitutions are each resolvable into the product of an even number of transpositions, § 92. Hence the product of any two of them and the square of any one of them yield even substitutions.

**Ex. 1.** With the letters a, b, c we can form three transpositions (ab), (ac), (bc). Taking the products of every two of these in either sequence and the square of every transposition, we obtain the following *distinct* substitutions, all *even*, which form a group:

**Ex. 2.** Show that the odd substitutions of n letters do not form a group.

100. Alternating Functions and Alternating Groups. Let  $a_1, a_2, \dots, a_n$  be *n* magnitudes, all different. A function of these, such that an interchange of any two of them changes the sign of the function, is called an *alternating function*.

An even substitution performed upon this function will not alter its value. For, an even substitution, which consists of an even number of transpositions, will reverse the sign of the function an even number of times, and will, therefore, restore the function to the original sign.

Since the even substitutions of n letters leave an alternating function unaltered in value while all the odd substitutions reverse its sign, the group comprising all these even substitutions is called the *alternating group* of the *n*th degree. Because of this invariance for all the even substitutions, but for no others, the alternating function is said to *belong to* the alternating group.

\* Ex. 1. Show that the square root of the discriminant of an equation of the *n*th degree, expressed as a function of the roots, is a function which belongs to the alternating group of the *n*th degree.

101. Cyclic Functions and Cyclic Groups. The powers of any substitution form a group. The number of distinct substitutions  $s, s^2, s^3, \cdots$ , resulting from taking the different powers of the substitution s, cannot exceed the order of the substitution (§ 87). If this order is m, then  $s^m = 1$ . If, therefore, we square any one of the m distinct substitutions, or multiply any two of them together, the result is always one of the m distinct substitutions. Hence the m distinct substitutions  $s, s^2, s^3, \cdots, s^m$  are a group.

The powers of the cyclic substitution of n letters  $(a_1a_2 \cdots a_n)$  constitute the cyclic group of the degree n.

A function of n letters which is unchanged in value by all the substitutions of the cyclic group, but by no others, is called a cyclic function. The simplest cyclic function belonging to the cyclic group of the degree n is

$$a_1a_2^2 + a_2a_3^2 + \dots + a_{n-1}a_n^2 + a_na_1^2.$$

**Ex. 1.** Show that the function  $a_1a_2^2 + a_2a_3^2 + a_3a_1^2$  belongs to the cyclic group 1,  $(a_1a_2a_3)$ ,  $(a_1a_3a_2)$ .

**Ex.** 2. Show that  $(a_1 + a_2\omega + a_3\omega^2)^3$  belongs to the cyclic group of degree 3,  $\omega$  being a complex cube root of unity.

**Ex. 3.** By raising  $(a_1a_2a_3a_4)$  to powers find the cyclic group of the degree 4.

# 102. Transitive and Intransitive Groups. In the group

$$1, (1 \ 2)(3 \ 4), (1 \ 3)(2 \ 4), (1 \ 4)(2 \ 3)$$

the second substitution replaces 1 by 2, the third replaces 1 by 3, the fourth replaces 1 by 4. Similarly, by means of these substitutions the digits 2, 3, or 4 can be changed into every other digit operated on by the substitutions in the group. This group is said to be *transitive*.

A substitution group is called *transitive* when it permits any element to be replaced by every other.

A group that is not transitive is called *intransitive*. As an example of the latter we give the following group,

$$1, (1 3), (2 4), (1 3)(2 4).$$

Here neither 1 nor 3 can ever be replaced by either 2 or 4.

103. Primitive and Imprimitive Groups. If in the transitive group consisting of the six substitutions

1,  $(1 \ 2 \ 3 \ 4 \ 5 \ 6)$ ,  $(1 \ 3 \ 5)(2 \ 4 \ 6)$ ,  $(1 \ 4)(2 \ 5)(3 \ 6)$ ,  $(1 \ 5 \ 3)(2 \ 6 \ 4)$ , (1  $6 \ 5 \ 4 \ 3 \ 2)$  the digits are divided into the two sets 1, 3, 5 and 2, 4, 6, then we notice that each of the three substitutions  $(1\ 2\ 3\ 4\ 5\ 6)$ ,  $(1\ 4)(2\ 5)(3\ 6)$ , and  $(1\ 6\ 5\ 4\ 3\ 2)$  replaces the digits of one set by the digits of the other set, while each of the two substitutions  $(1\ 3\ 5)(2\ 4\ 6)$ ,  $(1\ 5\ 3)(2\ 6\ 4)$  simply interchanges the digits of one set among themselves. This group is called *imprimitive*.

A transitive group is called *imprimitive* when its elements can be divided into sets of an equal number of distinct elements, so that every substitution either replaces all the elements of one set by all the elements of another, or simply interchanges the elements of one set among themselves. Otherwise it is *primitive*. Example of a primitive group:

There are three imprimitive groups of degree four, twelve of degree six, and no imprimitive groups of degree two, three, and five.

Ex. 1. Show that no group whose degree is a prime number can be imprimitive.

104. List of Groups of Degree Two, Three, Four, and Five. We give here a list of the groups of the first five degrees, omitting only the group 1. By  $G_q^{(p)}$  we mean a group of the degree p and order q. We give also the notation for groups used by Cayley and others. In their notation the symmetric group of degree four is designated by (abcd) all; cyc means "cyclic" substitution; pos means "positive" or even substitution. For a list of all groups whose degree does not exceed eight, see Am. Jour. of Math., Vol. 21 (1899), p. 326. In the list of groups of degree n, we give only those which actually involve n letters. But it must be understood that any group involving less than n letters may be taken as an intransitive group of the nth degree. For instance,  $G_2^{(2)} = 1$ , (ab) may be written as a group of the third degree, thus: 1, (ab)(c).

DEGREE Two.  

$$G_{2}^{(2)} = (ab) \text{ all } \equiv 1, (ab).$$
  
DEGREE THREE.  
 $G_{6}^{(3)} = (abc) \text{ all } \equiv 1, (abc), (acb), (ab), (ac), (bc).$   
 $G_{3}^{(3)} = (abc) \text{ cyc.} \equiv 1, (abc), (acb).$   
 $G_{3}^{(3)} = (abcd) \text{ cyc.} \equiv 1, (abc), (acb).$   
 $G_{24}^{(4)} = (abcd) \text{ all } \equiv (abcd) \text{ pos.} + (ab), (cd), (acbd), (adbc), (bc), (ad), (acdb), (abdc), (ac), (bd), (adb), (adcb).$   
 $G_{12}^{(4)} = (abcd) \text{ pos.} \equiv 1, (ab)(cd), (ac)(bd), (ad)(bc), (abc), (acd), (bdc), (adb), (acb), (abc), (adc).$   
 $G_{8}^{(4)} = (abcd)_{8} \equiv 1, (ac)(bd), (ac), (bd), (ab)(cd), (ad)(bc), (abcd), (adcb).$   
 $G_{4}^{(4)}\text{II} = (abcd)_{8} \equiv 1, (ab)(cd), (ac)(bd), (adb), (ad)(bc).$   
 $G_{4}^{(4)}\text{III} = (abcd)_{4} \equiv 1, (ab)(cd), (ab), (cd).$   
 $G_{2}^{(4)} = (ac \cdot bd) \equiv 1, (ac)(bd).$   
DEGREE FIVE.  
 $G_{120}^{(5)} = (abcde) \text{ all } \equiv (abcde) \text{ pos.} + (abcd), (abdc), (acbb), (acdb), (acbb), (a$ 

(abec), (abab), (abea), (abba), (acab), (acab),
(acbe), (aceb), (acde), (aced), (adbc),
(adcb), (adbe), (adeb), (aced), (adbc),
(aebc), (aecb), (aebd), (aedb), (aedd),
(aedc), (bcde), (bdce), (bced), (bdec),
(becd), (bedc), (abc)(de), (acb)(de),
(abd)(ce), (adb)(ce), (abe)(cd), (aeb)(de),
(acd)(be), (adc)(be), (ace)(bd),
(aec)(bd), (ade)(bc), (aed)(bc), (bcd).
(ae), (bdc)(ae), (bce)(ad), (bec)(ad),
(bde)(ac), (bd)(ac), (cde)(ab), (ced).
(ab), (ac), (ad), (ae), (bc), (bd),
(be), (cd), (ce), (de).

$$\begin{split} G_{20}^{(5)} &= (abcde) \text{pos.} \equiv 1, (abcde), (abced), (abdec), (abddec), (acbde), (acdbe), (acbde), (acbde), (acbde), (adbec), (adbce), (adbce), (adbce), (adbce), (adbce), (acbd), (acbd), (acbd), (acd), (ade), (acd), (adbc), (acbd), (acbd), (acbd), (acb), (acb),$$

 $G_6^{5}I = \{(abc) \text{ all } (de)\} \text{ pos} \equiv 1, (abc), (acb), (ab)(de), (ac)(de), (bc)(de).$ 

(ab)(ce).

 $G_6^{5}$  II = (abc) cyc. (de)  $\equiv 1$ , (de), (abc), (abc)(de), (acb), (acb)(de).

 $G_{5^{(5)}} = (abcde) \text{ cyc.} \equiv 1, (abcde), (acebd), (adbec), (aedcb).$ 

**Ex. 1.** Show that the order of any alternating group is  $\frac{n}{2}^{l}$ , where *n* is the degree of the group.

**Ex.** 2. Tell by the orders of the groups which of the groups of the first five degrees are the symmetric, which are the alternating groups.

**Ex. 3.** By inspection, find which of the groups of the degrees two, three, and four are transitive, intransitive, primitive, imprimitive.

**Ex.** 4. Show that the imprimitive group in § 103 may have its elements divided into the three sets 1, 4; 2, 5; 3, 6, and that it is imprimitive with respect to these sets.

**Ex. 5.** Show that, of the groups of the fifth degree, three are intransitive, viz.  $G_{12}^{(5)}$ ,  $G_{6}^{(5)}$ II,  $G_{6}^{(5)}$ II.

\* Ex. 6. Show that the intransitive group  $G_4^{(4)}$  III is obtained by multiplying every substitution of the group 1, (ab) by every substitution of the group 1, (cd).

\* Ex. 7. Show that the intransitive group  $G_6^{(5)}$ II is obtained by multiplying the substitutions of the group 1, (abc), (acb) by the substitutions of the group 1, (de); that  $G_6^{(5)}$ I is the product of the group 1, (abc), (acb)and the group 1, (ab)(de); that  $G_{12}^{(5)}$  is the product of  $G_6^{(3)}$  and the group 1, (de).

**Ex.** 8. Show that a group of the third degree may be regarded as an intransitive group of a higher degree.

105. Sub-groups. The alternating group of degree 4 is (§ 104)

 $\begin{array}{c} \textbf{1, (1 2)(3 4), (1 3)(2 4), (1 4)(2 3), (1 2 3), (1 3 2), (1 3 4),} \\ \textbf{(1 4 2), (1 2 4), (1 4 3), (2 3 4), (2 4 3).} \end{array}$ 

We observe that, of the 12 substitutions, the following four make up a smaller group of their own :

1, (1 2)(3 4), (1 3)(2 4), (1 4)(2 3).

Thus we may have groups within groups. If from the substitutions of a group we can pick a set which form a group all by themselves, this second group is called a *sub-group* of the first. The terms *group* and *sub-group* are only relative. A sub-group considered by itself is called a group, and a group may, in turn, be a sub-group of another of still higher order. Ex. 1. By inspection, find sub-groups of

1, (xy)(zw), (xz)(yw), (xw)(yz).

**Ex. 2.** How many sub-groups has  $G_{24}^{(4)}$ ? See § 104.

**Ex. 3.** How many sub-groups has  $G_{12}^{(4)}$ ?

Ex. 4. What sub-groups has (abcde)10? (abc) all (de)? (abcde) all?

**106.** Theorem. The order of a sub-group is a factor of the order of the group to which it belongs.

Let the substitutions of the sub-group be  $s_1, s_2, s_3, \dots, s_n$ , and let *t* be any substitution of the group which does not occur in the sub-group. Then, by the definition of a group, we know that

$$s_1t, s_2t, s_3t, \cdots, s_nt,$$
 I

are all substitutions belonging to the group, but none of them belong to the sub-group; for suppose  $s_{l}t = s_{r}$ , then

$$s_1^{-1}s_r = s_1^{-1}s_1t = t.$$

Since  $s_1^{-1}$  is a substitution of the sub-group (see Ex. 5, § 96), it follows that its product with  $s_r$ , namely t, belongs to the sub-group — which is contrary to supposition.

Moreover, the new substitutions in I are all distinct; for suppose  $s_2t_1 = s_5t$ , then it would follow that  $s_2 = s_5$ .

If the substitutions in I do not exhaust the substitutions in the group not belonging to the sub-group, then suppose the substitution  $t_1$  is among those left over. Then

$$s_1t_1, s_2t_1, s_3t_1, \cdots, s_nt_n,$$
 II

are distinct substitutions of the group not found in the list  $s_1, s_2, \dots, s_n$  for reasons just mentioned; nor are they found in I; for suppose  $s_1t = s_2t_1$ , then  $t_1 = s_2^{-1}s_1t = s_2t$ , which is some substitution in I, a conclusion contrary to the assumption concerning  $t_1$ . Continuing in this way, the substitutions of the group are divided into sets of n substitutions each. As the number

121

MURIN

of substitutions is assumed to be finite, this process must come to an end, and we have the sets

The total number of substitutions in the group is therefore n times the number of sets, or (m+2)n. But (m+2)n is the order of the group, and n the order of the sub-group. Hence the order of the sub-group is a factor of the order of the group.

107. Index of a Sub-group. If n is the order of a group G and m the order of a sub-group  $G_1$ , the quotient  $\frac{n}{m}$  is called the *index of*  $G_1$  under G. Thus the index of an alternating group under the symmetric group of the same degree is  $n! \div \frac{n!}{2} = 2$ .

**Ex. 1.** Give the index of every group of the fifth degree under the symmetric group.

**Ex. 2.** Show that a group whose order is prime can have no sub-group (except the substitution 1).

108. Normal Sub-groups. — If  $G_1$  is a sub-group of G, and s any substitution of G which does not occur in  $G_D$  the groups  $G_1$  and  $s^{-1}G_1s$  are called *conjugate sub-groups* of G. By the transformation  $s^{-1}G_1s$ , we mean the result obtained by subjecting every substitution  $s_1$  of the sub-group  $G_1$  to the transformation  $s^{-1}s_1s$ .

If  $G_1$  and  $s^{-1}G_1s$  are identical to each other, whatever substitution s is of G,  $G_1$  is called a normal sub-group, or a self-conjugate sub-group, or an invariant sub-group of G.

109. Simple Groups. — A simple group is one which has no normal sub-groups, other than the group consisting of the identical substitution.

It can be shown that the alternating group of every degree above four is simple (§ 198). It is readily seen that all groups whose order is a prime number are simple. There are only six groups whose orders are not prime numbers and do not exceed 1092, which are simple, viz., the groups of the orders 60, 168, 360, 504, 660, 1092. Those of order 60 and 360 are alternating groups of the degrees five and six, respectively.

A group which is not simple is called *composite*.

**Ex. 1.** Find the groups conjugate to  $G_2^{(4)}$  under  $G_{12}^{(4)}$ .

If we transform  $s_1 = (ac)(bd)$  by s = (abc), we get  $s^{-1}s_1s = (ab)(cd)$ . In the same way transforming  $s_1 = 1$ , we get 1. Hence a group conjugate to  $G_2^{(4)}$  is 1, (ab)(cd). We obtain the same conjugate group by taking for s the substitutions (acd) and (adb).

The transformation of  $s^{-1}G_2^{(4)}s$ , where s = (bac), yields the conjugate sub-group (ad)(bc), 1. The same result is obtained if we take s = (acb), (bcd), (abd), or (adc).

Taking s = (ac)(bd) or (ad)(bc), the conjugate groups obtained are identical with  $G_2^{(4)}$ . The distinct conjugate sub-groups of  $G_2^{(4)}$  under  $G_1^{(4)}$  are, therefore,

We see that  $G_{2^{(4)}}$  is not a normal sub-group of  $G_{12^{(4)}}$ .

**Ex. 2.** Find the conjugate groups of  $G_2^{(4)}$  under  $G_4^{(4)}$  I.

**Ex. 3.** Find the conjugate groups of  $G_6^{(5)}$  II under  $G_{12}^{(5)}$ .

**Ex. 4.** Find the conjugate groups of  $G_6^{(5)}$  I under  $G_{12}^{(5)}$ .

**Ex. 5.** By actual trial show that  $G_3^{(3)}$  is a normal sub-group of  $G_6^{(3)}$ ; that  $G_2^{(4)}$  is a normal sub-group of  $G_4^{(4)}$  II; that  $G_4^{(4)}$  II is a normal sub-group of  $G_8^{(4)}$ ; that  $G_4^{(4)}$  I is a normal sub-group of  $G_8^{(4)}$ .

Ex. 6. Show that every group has identity as a normal sub-group.

**Ex. 7.** Prove that the alternating group  $G^{(n)}_{\underline{1}n!}$  is a normal sub-group of the symmetric group  $G^{(n)}_{n!}$ . See Ex. 2, § 92.

Ex. 8. Prove that a cyclic group of prime degree is simple.

**Ex. 9.** Prove that the alternating group embraces all circular substitutions of odd order, but none of even order.

Ex. 10. The substitutions common to two groups constitute a group by themselves, the order of which is a factor of the orders of the two given groups. 110. Normal Sub-groups of Prime Index. Of special interest in the theory of equations are the series of groups

$$P_{1}, P_{2}, \dots, P_{i}, P_{i+1}, \dots, 1$$

so related to each other that each group  $P_{i+1}$  is a normal subgroup of the preceding group  $P_i$ , the index of  $P_{i+1}$  under  $P_i$ being a prime number. Such an assemblage of groups is called a *principal series of composition*. If the restriction of a prime index is removed, then the assemblage is called simply a *series* of composition.

**Ex. 1.** Show that a principal series of composition is (a) for groups of the third degree,  $G_6^{(3)}$ ,  $G_3^{(3)}$ , 1, (b) for groups of the fourth degree,  $G_{24}^{(4)}$ ,  $G_{12}^{(4)}$ ,  $G_{4}^{(4)}$  II,  $G_{2}^{(4)}$ , 1.

**Ex. 2.** Show that, for the group of the fifth degree  $G_{20}^{(5)}$ , a principal series of composition is  $G_{20}^{(5)}$ ,  $G_{10}^{(5)}$ ,  $G_{50}^{(5)}$ , 1.

**Ex. 3.** Show that  $G_{4^{(4)}}$  II is a normal sub-group of  $G_{8^{(4)}}$ ,  $G_{12^{(4)}}$ , and  $G_{24^{(4)}}$ .

111. Functions which belong to a Group. When  $G_1$  is a subgroup of G, a rational function of n letters  $\alpha_1, \alpha_2, \dots, \alpha_n$  is said to belong to  $G_1$ , if the function is unaltered in value by the substitutions of  $G_1$ , but is altered by all other substitutions of G.\*

\* If the coefficients of f(x) = 0 are *independent variables*, then its roots are independent of each other. A function of the roots must therefore be looked upon as having an alteration in *value* whenever the function experiences an alteration in *form*. In other words, when the roots are independent of each other, two functions of these roots are equal to each other only when they are *identically* equal. In the present chapter the roots are so taken.

When the coefficients of f(x) = 0 represent particular numerical values, its roots are fixed values. Two functions of these roots may be numerically equal to each other even when they have different forms. Hence, in an equation whose coefficients have special values, a function of the roots may be formally altered by a substitution and yet experience no change in numerical value. Take, for instance, the equation with special coefficients,  $x^8 = 1$ . If  $\omega$  is one of its complex roots, we may write  $u_0 = \omega$ ,  $u_1 = \omega^2$ ,  $u_2 = \omega^3$ . The function  $u_0^2 u_1$  is altered in form by the substitution  $(u_0 u_2 u_1)$ , but not in value; for,  $u_0^2 u_1 = u_2^2 u_0 = \omega$ . That functions of  $u_0$ ,  $u_1$ ,  $u_2$ , may have different forms, but the same numerical value is seen also in the equalities

$$\alpha_0^2 \alpha_2 = \alpha_1 \alpha_2 = \alpha_1 = \alpha_0^2.$$

. We have seen that the alternating group, regarded as a subgroup of the symmetric group, has the alternating function which belongs to it (\$ 100). Similarly the cyclic group, regarded as a sub-group of the symmetric group, has the cyclic function which *belongs* to it (\$ 101). The cyclic function still belongs to the cyclic group when the latter is considered as a sub-group of a sub-group of the symmetric group.

The function  $x_1 + x_3 - x_2 - x_4$  belongs to the group 1, (13), (24) when this group is taken as a sub-group of 1, (13)(24), (12)(34), (14)(23), but the function no longer belongs to that group when considered as a sub-group of the symmetric group; for the substitution (13) occurs in the symmetric group, but not in the given sub-group, and yet (13) leaves the function unchanged. When we say that a function belongs to a group, but do not mention of what other group the given group is a sub-group, we shall understand that it is under the symmetric.

112. To find Functions which belong to a Group. Let  $G_1$  be a sub-group of G, G being of the degree n, and let  $\alpha_1, \alpha_2, \dots, \alpha_n$  be distinct quantities. Let also

$$\rho = f(\alpha_1, \dots, \alpha_n)$$

be a rational function which may have rational coefficients and which will assume a different value for every substitution of the group G. If the order of the sub-group  $G_1$  is m, we obtain, on operating upon  $\rho$  with the substitutions in  $G_1$ , m distinct values,  $\rho, \rho_1, \rho_2, \dots, \rho_{m-1}$ . I

If now we operate upon the functions I by any substitution in  $G_1$ , these quantities are merely permuted among themselves; for, any value  $\rho'$  thus obtained as the result of two substitutions,  $s_1$  and  $s_2$ , of the sub-group  $G_1$ , is the same as that obtained from  $\rho$  by the simple substitution,  $s_3 = s_1 \cdot s_2$ , of this sub-group.

These facts point to the unexpected conclusion that, in the theory under development, the equation f(x) = 0 may represent a more general case when the coefficients are particular numbers than when they are variables. See § 2.

If, however, we apply to the functions I a substitution of G which does not occur in  $G_1$ , we obtain a series of functions

$$\rho', \rho'_1, ..., \rho'_{m-1},$$

of which at least  $\rho'$  does not occur in I. For, if  $\rho'$  did occur in I, we would have two identical functions, distinct from  $\rho$ , resulting from the application to  $\rho$  of two different substitutions. This is impossible.

If now we form a new function  $\psi$  thus,

$$\psi \equiv (t-\rho) (t-\rho_1) \cdots (t-\rho_{m-1}),$$

where t is a variable, it is evident that  $\psi$  remains invariant when operated on by the substitutions of the sub-group  $G_1$ , but varies for any substitution in G which does not occur in  $G_1$ . Hence  $\psi$  is a function which belongs to  $G_1$ , taken as a sub-group of G.

We are at liberty to assign to t any rational value which will keep  $\psi$  distinct from any value obtained for it by application to  $\psi$  of a substitution in G that is not in  $G_1$ . One such value is t = 0.

113. This method of finding functions belonging to a group does not usually furnish simple results directly, as will be seen from the following example.

**Ex. 1.** Form a function of  $\alpha_1$ ,  $\alpha_2$ ,  $\alpha_3$ ,  $\alpha_4$ , which belongs to

 $G_2^{(4)} \equiv 1, (1\ 3)(2\ 4), \text{ taken as a sub-group of } G_4^{(4)} \text{II} \equiv 1, (1\ 3)(2\ 4), (1\ 2)(3\ 4), (1\ 4)(2\ 3).$ 

Assume  $\rho = c_1 \alpha_1 + c_2 \alpha_2 + c_3 \alpha_3 + c_4 \alpha_4$ , such that  $\rho$  assumes four distinct values for the substitutions of  $G_4^{(4)}$  II. The substitutions of  $G_2^{(4)}$  applied to  $\rho$  yield

$$\rho = c_1 u_1 + c_2 u_2 + c_3 u_3 + c_4 u_4,$$

$$\rho_1 = c_1 \alpha_3 + c_2 \alpha_4 + c_3 \alpha_1 + c_4 \alpha_2,$$

hence  $\psi = (t - \rho)(t - \rho_1) = t^2 - (\alpha_1 + \alpha_3)(tc_1 + tc_3) - (\alpha_2 + \alpha_4)(tc_2 + tc_4)$ 

+ 
$$(\alpha_1^2 + \alpha_3^2)c_1c_3 + (\alpha_2^2 + \alpha_4^2)c_2c_4$$
  
+  $\alpha_1\alpha_3(c_1^2 + c_3^2) + \alpha_2\alpha_4(c_2^2 + c_4^2)$   
+  $(\alpha_2\alpha_3 + \alpha_1\alpha_4)(c_1c_2 + c_3c_4) + (\alpha_1\alpha_2 + \alpha_3\alpha_4)(c_1c_4 + c_2c_8)$ 

 $\psi$  is a required function. By inspection we see that  $\psi$  is composed of parts which are themselves functions of the kind sought for. These parts are

$$- (\alpha_1 + \alpha_3)(tc_1 + tc_3) - (\alpha_2 + \alpha_4)(tc_2 + tc_4),$$
  

$$(\alpha_1^2 + \alpha_3^2)c_1c_3 + (\alpha_2^2 + \alpha_4^2)c_2c_4,$$
  

$$\alpha_1\alpha_3(c_1^2 + c_3^2) + \alpha_2\alpha_4(c_2^2 + c_4^2).$$

For t = 1,  $c_1 = c_3 = -1$  and  $c_2 = c_4 = +1$  we obtain the simpler form

$$\alpha_1 + \alpha_3 - \alpha_2 - \alpha_4$$

For 
$$t = 0$$
,  $c_1 = c_3 = 1$ ,  $c_2 = c_4 = i$ , we obtain the simpler forms

$$\alpha_1^2 + \alpha_3^2 - \alpha_2^2 - \alpha_4^2,$$
  
 $\alpha_1\alpha_3 - \alpha_2\alpha_4.$ 

**Ex. 2.** Assuming  $\rho = \alpha_1 - \alpha_2 + i\alpha_3$ , derive functions which belong to  $G_3^{(3)}$  as a sub-group of  $G_6^{(3)}$ .

Taking t = 0, we get  $(i - 2)(\alpha_1 \alpha_3^2 + \alpha_3 \alpha_2^2 + \alpha_2 \alpha_1^2) + (i + 2)(\alpha_2 \alpha_3^2 + \alpha_3 \alpha_1^2 + \alpha_1 \alpha_2^2)$ . Then show that  $\alpha_1 \alpha_3^2 + \alpha_3 \alpha_2^2 + \alpha_2 \alpha_1^2$  and  $\alpha_2 \alpha_3^2 + \alpha_3 \alpha_1^2 + \alpha_1 \alpha_2^2$  each belong to  $G_3^{(3)}$ .

\* Ex. 3. Find the group to which  $(\alpha_1 + \alpha_3)(\alpha_2 + \alpha_4)$  belongs.

We find, by trial, which of the substitutions of the symmetric group of the fourth degree leave the function unaltered. These substitutions are 1,  $(\alpha_1\alpha_2)(\alpha_3\alpha_4)$ ,  $(\alpha_1\alpha_3)(\alpha_2\alpha_4)$ ,  $(\alpha_1\alpha_4)(\alpha_2\alpha_3)$ ,  $(\alpha_1\alpha_3)$ ,  $(\alpha_2\alpha_4)$ ,  $(\alpha_1\alpha_2\alpha_3\alpha_4)$ ,  $(\alpha_1\alpha_4\alpha_3\alpha_2)$ . These substitutions constitute the required group. From § 104 it is seen to be  $G_8^{(4)}$ . From the behavior of this group toward the given function, show that the group is imprimitive.

**Ex. 4.** Find the group to which  $\alpha_1\alpha_2 + \alpha_3\alpha_4 - (\alpha_1\alpha_3 + \alpha_2\alpha_4)$  belongs.

**Ex. 5.** Find the group to which  $(\alpha - \alpha_1)(\alpha_2 - \alpha_3)$  belongs.

**Ex. 6.** Find the group to which  $(\alpha_1\alpha_2 - \alpha_3\alpha_4)^2(\alpha_1\alpha_3 + \alpha_2\alpha_4)^2$  belongs.

**Ex.** 7. Prove that the substitutions which leave unaltered a function of n distinct letters, form together a group of the nth degree.

\* Ex. 8. Show that  $\alpha_1^p \alpha_2^q + \alpha_2^p \alpha_3^q + \cdots + \alpha_{n-1}^p \alpha_n^q + \alpha_n^p \alpha_1^q$ , where p and q are distinct positive integers, is a cyclic function.

**Ex. 9.** By inspection show that  $\{(\alpha - \alpha_2) + i (\alpha_1 - \alpha_3)\}^2$  belongs to  $G_2^{(4)}$  as a sub-group of  $G_{24}^{(4)}$ . Compare with Ex. 1.

**Ex. 10.** Show that the cross-ratio of four points (§ 78)  $k = \frac{AC}{BC} \div \frac{AD}{BD}$ , when k is not equal to -1 or to  $\omega$ , is a function which belongs to  $G_4^{(4)}$  II ;

### THEORY OF EQUATIONS

that it has then six distinct conjugate values; that when k = -1 or  $k = \omega$ , the conjugate values are *formally* different; that the *numerical* values coincide in pairs when k = -1, and in triplets when  $k = \omega$ ,  $\omega$  being a complex cube root of -1. See § 111.

**Ex. 11.** Find the values of the roots of  $x^4 - x^3 - x + 1 = 0$ , and show that, for these values, the function  $\alpha^2\alpha_1 + \alpha_1^2\alpha_2 + \alpha_2^2\alpha_3 + \alpha_3^2\alpha$  does not belong to the cyclic group, although this function is *formally* altered by all substitutions in  $G_{24}^{(4)}$  which do not occur in  $G_{4}^{(4)}$ I.

\* Ex. 12. Show that, for the general quartic, the following functions belong to the cyclic group:

 $(\alpha + 2 \alpha_1)(\alpha_1 + 2 \alpha_2)(\alpha_2 + 2 \alpha_3)(\alpha_3 + 2 \alpha),$  $\alpha^3 \alpha_1(\alpha^2 + 2 \alpha_1) + \alpha_1^3 \alpha_2(\alpha_1^2 + 2 \alpha_2) + \alpha_2^3 \alpha_3(\alpha_2^2 + 2 \alpha_3) + \alpha_3^8 \alpha (\alpha_3^2 + 2 \alpha).$
## CHAPTER XII

#### **RESOLVENTS OF LAGRANGE**

114. Resolvents. Expressions, known as "resolvents of Lagrange," are of great importance in researches on the algebraic solution of equations. The term *resolvent* is used in two different senses: first, to represent certain auxiliary *equations* used in the resolution of given equations; second, to represent certain *functions* used in the resolution of equations. The Lagrangian resolvents are of the latter kind; they are *functions* of roots of unity and the roots of the given equation.

115. Definition. Let f(x) = 0 be an equation having the roots  $\alpha$ ,  $\alpha_1$ ,  $\cdots$ ,  $\alpha_{n-1}$ . Let  $\omega$  be any one of the *n*th roots of unity, and let the function  $[\omega, \alpha]$  be defined as follows:

$$[\omega, \alpha] \equiv \alpha + \omega \alpha_1 + \omega^2 \alpha_2 + \dots + \omega^{n-1} \alpha_{n-1}.$$
 I

The expression I is a Lagrangian resolvent.

116. Roots expressed in Terms of Resolvents. If we write the Lagrangian resolvents,

$$\begin{bmatrix} \omega, \alpha \end{bmatrix} \equiv \alpha + \omega \alpha_{1} + \omega^{2} \alpha_{2} + \dots + \omega^{n-1} \alpha_{n-1}, \\ \begin{bmatrix} \omega_{1}, \alpha \end{bmatrix} \equiv \alpha + \omega_{1} \alpha_{1} + \omega_{1}^{2} \alpha_{2} + \dots + \omega_{1}^{n-1} \alpha_{n-1}, \\ \vdots & \vdots & \vdots & \vdots & \vdots & \vdots \\ \omega_{n-1}, \alpha \end{bmatrix} \equiv \alpha + \omega_{n-1} \alpha_{1} + \omega_{n-1}^{2} \alpha_{2} + \dots + \omega_{n-1}^{n-1} \alpha_{n-1}, \end{bmatrix}$$
I

TT

and add them, we get  $\tilde{\Sigma}[\omega, \alpha] = n\alpha$ ,

where  $\Sigma$  signifies the sum of all the  $[\omega, \alpha]$ , obtained by writing in succession  $\omega$ ,  $\omega_1$ ,  $\omega_2$ ,  $\cdots$ ,  $\omega_{n-1}$  in place of  $\omega$ .

ĸ

### THEORY OF EQUATIONS

If we multiply the equations in I by  $\omega^{-k}$ ,  $\omega_1^{-k}$ , ...,  $\omega_{n-1}^{-k}$ , respectively, and then add, we have the more general result,

$$\overset{\omega}{\Sigma}\omega^{-k}[\omega,\,\alpha] = n\alpha_k. \qquad \qquad \text{III}$$

Hence, if we are given the values of the Lagrangian resolvents of an equation f(x) = 0 of the *n*th degree and the *n*th roots of unity, the equation f(x) = 0 is solved.

**117.** Theorem. If we operate upon the subscripts of  $\alpha$  in  $[\omega, \alpha]$  with the cyclic substitution  $(0 \ 1 \ 2 \ 3 \ \cdots \ (n-1)), \ [\omega, \alpha]$  becomes  $\omega^{-1} \ [\omega, \alpha]$ ; if we operate with  $(0 \ 1 \ 2 \ \cdots \ (n-1))^k, \ [\omega, \alpha]$  becomes  $\omega^{-k} \ [\omega, \alpha]$ .

If we operate upon

 $[\omega, \alpha] \equiv \alpha + \omega \alpha_1 + \dots + \omega^{n-1} \alpha_{n-1}$ 

with the substitution  $(0 \ 1 \ 2 \ \cdots \ (n-1))$  and observe that  $\omega^{n-1} = \omega^{-1}$ , etc., we get

$$\omega^{-1}[\omega, \alpha] \equiv \alpha_1 + \omega \alpha_2 + \omega^2 \alpha_3 + \dots + \omega^{n-1} \alpha,$$
  
$$\equiv \omega^{-1} (\alpha + \omega \alpha_1 + \omega^2 \alpha_2 + \dots + \omega^{n-1} \alpha_{n-1}).$$

Operating in this manner k times, we can easily establish the truth of the second part of the theorem.

#### **118.** Theorem. If with the cyclic substitution

$$(0\ 1\ 2\ \cdots\ (n-1))$$

we operate upon the subscripts of  $\alpha$  in  $[\omega, \alpha]$ , the subscript of the coefficient of each power of  $\omega$  in  $[\omega, \alpha]^{\nu}$  undergoes the cyclic substitution  $(0\ 1\ 2\ \cdots\ (n-1))^{\nu}$ ,  $\nu$  being any positive integer.

By the Polynomial Formula expand

$$[\omega, \alpha]^{\nu} \equiv (\alpha + \omega \alpha_1 + \dots + \omega^{n-1} \alpha_{n-1})^{\nu},$$

and by the relation  $\omega^n = 1$  reduce all exponents of  $\omega$  to exponents less than *n*. Then combine all terms having like powers of  $\omega$ . We get

$$[\omega, \alpha]^{\nu} = A_0 + \omega A_1 + \omega^2 A_2 + \dots + \omega^{n-1} A_{n-1}, \qquad \mathbf{I}$$

130

where  $A_{0}$ ,  $A_{1}$ ,  $\cdots$ ,  $A_{n-1}$  are expressions of the degree  $\nu$  with respect to  $\alpha$ ,  $\alpha_{1}$ ,  $\alpha_{2}$ ,  $\cdots$ ,  $\alpha_{n-1}$ , and have integral numerical coefficients.

If in formula I we replace  $\omega$  by  $\omega$ ,  $\omega_1$ ,  $\omega_2$ , ...,  $\omega_{n-1}$  in succession, we get the following *n* formulæ:

$$\begin{bmatrix} \omega, \alpha \end{bmatrix}^{\nu} \equiv A_{0} + \omega A_{1} + \omega^{2} A_{2} + \dots + \omega^{n-1} A_{n-1}, \\ \begin{bmatrix} \omega_{1}, \alpha \end{bmatrix}^{\nu} \equiv A_{0} + \omega_{1} A_{1} + \omega_{1}^{2} A_{2} + \dots + \omega_{1}^{n-1} A_{n-1}, \\ \vdots & \vdots & \vdots & \vdots & \vdots & \vdots & \vdots \\ \omega_{n-1}, \alpha \end{bmatrix}^{\nu} \equiv A_{0} + \omega_{n-1} A_{1} + \omega_{n-1}^{2} A_{2} + \dots + \omega_{n-1}^{n-1} A_{n-1}. \end{bmatrix}$$
II

It was shown in § 69, Ex. 5, that the sum of the *p*th power of the *n*th roots of unity is *n* or 0, according as *p* is divisible or not divisible by *n*. Remembering this and multiplying the *n* expressions in II by  $\omega^{-k}$ ,  $\omega_1^{-k}$ ,  $\cdots$ ,  $\omega_{n-1}^{-k}$ , respectively (*k* being any integer), we get, after adding the *n* resulting expressions,

[

$$nA_{k} = \overset{\omega}{\Sigma} \omega^{-k} \cdot [\omega, \, \alpha]^{\nu}, \qquad \qquad \text{III}$$

where  $\Sigma$  indicates the sum of all the expressions obtained by writing in succession  $\omega$ ,  $\omega_1$ ,  $\omega_2$ ,  $\cdots$ ,  $\omega_{n-1}$  in place of  $\omega$ . If now we operate upon the subscripts of  $\alpha$ , occurring in each of the  $\nu$  factors  $[\omega, \alpha]$  in the right member of III with the cyclic substitution (0 1 2  $\cdots$  n-1), we get, § 117,

$$\overset{\omega}{\Sigma} \omega^{-k-\nu} \cdot [\omega, \, \alpha]^{\nu}.$$
 IV

Now, by writing  $k + \nu$  for k in formula III, we obtain

 $\overset{\omega}{\Sigma}\omega^{-k-\nu}[\omega,\,\alpha]^{\nu} = nA_{k+\nu}.$ 

In other words, the substitution  $(0\ 1\ 2\ \cdots\ (n-1))$ , applied to the subscripts of  $\alpha$  in the right member of III causes  $A_k$ to be replaced by  $A_{k+\nu}$ . But  $A_k$  is transformed directly into  $A_{k+\nu}$  by the application to its subscript of the substitution  $(0\ 1\ 2\ \cdots\ (n-1))^{\nu}$ . Hence the theorem is established.

**Ex. 1.** Illustrate this theorem by the roots  $\alpha_0$ ,  $\alpha_1$ ,  $\alpha_2$  of the cubic, taking  $\nu = 2$ .

We have 
$$[\omega, \alpha_0] = \alpha_0 + \omega \alpha_1 + \omega^2 \alpha_2,$$
  
 $[\omega, \alpha_0]^2 = A_0 + A_1 \omega + A_2 \omega^2,$ 

where  $A_0 = \alpha_0^2 + 2 \alpha_1 \alpha_2$ ,  $A_1 = \alpha_2^2 + 2 \alpha_0 \alpha_1$ ,  $A_2 = \alpha_1^2 + 2 \alpha_0 \alpha_2$ .

Operating upon the subscripts of  $\alpha$  in  $[\omega, \alpha]$  by  $(0 \ 1 \ 2)$ , we get

$$lpha_1+\omega lpha_2+\omega^2 lpha_0,\ (lpha_1+\omega lpha_2+\omega^2 lpha_0)^2=A_2+A_0\omega+A_1\omega$$

and

We see that  $A_0$ ,  $A_1$ ,  $A_2$ , when operated on by  $(0\ 1\ 2)^2$ , become respectively  $A_2$ ,  $A_0$ ,  $A_1$ .

**Ex.** 2. Illustrate this theorem by taking  $\nu = 3$  in Ex. 1, and show that the function belongs to the cyclic group.

**Ex. 3.** Show that (0 1 2), applied to the subscripts of  $\alpha_0$ ,  $\alpha_1$ ,  $\alpha_2$ , in  $[\omega^2, \alpha]^2 = (\alpha_0 + \omega^2 \alpha_1 + \omega^4 \alpha_2)^2 = A_0 + A_1 \omega + A_2 \omega^2$ , produces the same effect as (0 1 2)<sup>4</sup> applied to the subscripts of  $A_0$ ,  $A_1$ ,  $A_2$ .

**Ex. 4.** Show that (0 1 2 3) applied to the subscripts of  $\alpha_0$ ,  $\alpha_1$ ,  $\alpha_2$ ,  $\alpha_3$ , in  $[\omega^3, \alpha]^2 \equiv (\alpha_0 + \omega^3 \alpha_1 + \omega^6 \alpha_2 + \omega^9 \alpha_3)^2 = A_0 + A_1 \omega + A_2 \omega^2 + A_3 \omega^3$ , where  $\omega = -i$ , produces the same effect as (0 1 2 3)<sup>6</sup> applied to the subscripts of  $A_0$ ,  $A_1$ ,  $A_2$ ,  $A_3$ .

## 119. Theorem. If with the cyclic substitution

 $(0\ 1\ 2\ \cdots\ (n-1))$ 

we operate upon the subscripts of a, the subscript of the coefficient of each power of  $\omega$  in the product of  $[\omega, \alpha]^{\nu} \cdot [\omega^{\lambda_1}, \alpha]^{\nu_1} \cdot [\omega^{\lambda_2}, \alpha]^{\nu_2}$  $\cdots$  suffers the substitution  $(0 \ 1 \ 2 \ \cdots \ (n-1))^{\nu+\lambda_1\nu_1+\lambda_2\nu_2+\cdots}$ , where  $\nu, \nu_1, \nu_2, \cdots$  are positive integers and  $\lambda_1, \lambda_2, \cdots$  positive or negative integers.

This theorem is a generalization of the preceding and is proved in the same way. The product yields the equality

$$\begin{bmatrix} \omega, \alpha \end{bmatrix}^{\nu} \cdot \begin{bmatrix} \omega^{\lambda_1}, \alpha \end{bmatrix}^{\nu_1} \cdot \begin{bmatrix} \omega^{\lambda_2}, \alpha \end{bmatrix}^{\nu_2} \cdots = B_0 + \omega B_1 + \omega^2 B_2 + \cdots + \omega^{n-1} B_{n-1},$$

where  $B_0$ ,  $B_1$ , ...,  $B_{n-1}$  are functions of the roots  $\alpha$ ,  $\alpha_1$ , ...,  $\alpha_{n-1}$ . Replacing  $\omega$  successively by  $\omega$ ,  $\omega_1$ ,  $\omega_2$ , ...,  $\omega_{n-1}$ , we have all together *n* expressions. Multiply them by  $\omega^{-k}$ ,  $\omega_1^{-k}$ ,  $\omega_2^{-k}$ , ... respectively, then add the resulting products, and we get

$$nB_{k} = \overset{\omega}{\Sigma} \omega^{-k} [\omega, \alpha]^{\nu} \cdot [\omega^{\lambda_{1}}, \alpha]^{\nu_{1}} \cdots$$
 I

132

To the subscripts of  $\alpha$  in the right member of I apply the substitution (0 1 2 ... (n-1)), and we get

$$\tilde{\Sigma}\omega^{-k-\nu-\nu_1\lambda_1-\cdots}[\omega, \alpha]^{\nu}\cdot[\omega^{\lambda_1}, \alpha]^{\nu_1}\cdots,$$

which expression is recognized by I to be equal to  $nB_{k+\nu+\nu_1\lambda_1+\dots}$ . But  $B_k$  is replaced by  $B_{k+\nu+\nu_1\lambda_1+\dots}$ , if we operate upon  $B_k$  with the substitution  $(0\ 1\ 2\ \cdots\ (n-1))^{\nu+\nu_1\lambda_1+\dots}$ . Hence the theorem is established.

\* Ex. 1. Show that the function  $[\omega, \alpha]^n$  belongs to the cyclic group of the degree n.

If we operate upon  $[\omega, \alpha]$  with any such substitution  $(0 \ 1 \ 2 \cdots (n-1))$ of the cyclic group, the effect is the same upon the coefficients  $B_k$  of  $[\omega, \alpha]^n$  as if the substitution  $(0 \ 1 \ 2 \cdots (n-1))^n$  were applied to the subscripts of  $B_k$  directly, § 118. But  $(0 \ 1 \ 2 \cdots (n-1))^n$  is the identical substitution; hence it brings about no change. Consequently  $[\omega, \alpha]^n$  is invariant for the cyclic group. This invariance holds for no substitution of the symmetric group of degree n, except the substitutions which occur also in the cyclic group. Hence  $[\omega, \alpha]^n$  belongs to the cyclic group.

\* Ex. 2. Show that the product  $[\omega, \alpha]^{n-\lambda} \cdot [\omega^{\lambda}, \alpha]$  belongs to the cyclic group of degree *n*.

By § 118, IV, the cyclic substitution  $(0 \ 1 \ 2 \cdots n - 1)$ , effected upon the subscripts of  $\alpha$  in  $[\omega, \alpha]^{n-\lambda}$  gives  $\omega^{-n+\lambda} [\omega, \alpha]^{n-\lambda}$ . When operated upon those in  $[\omega^{\lambda}, \alpha]$  it gives  $\omega^{-\lambda} [\omega^{\lambda}, \alpha]$ . Hence, when operated upon the product of the two, we get  $\omega^{-n+\lambda-\lambda} [\omega, \alpha]^{n-\lambda} \cdot [\omega^{\lambda}, \alpha]$ , where

 $\omega^{-n+\lambda-\lambda}=\omega^{-n}=1.$ 

**Ex. 3.** Show that  $(\alpha - i\alpha_1 - \alpha_2 + i\alpha_3)^4$  belongs to the cyclic group of degree four.

For convenience, let  $-i = \omega$ , and we have  $(\iota + \omega\iota_1 + \omega^2\iota_2 + \omega^3\iota_3)^4$ , which, by § 118, IV, becomes  $\omega^{-4}(\alpha + \omega\iota_1 + \omega^2\iota_2 + \omega^3\iota_3)^4$  when operated upon by (0 1 2 3).

**Ex. 4.** Notice if the following functions belong to the cyclic group of degree four:

$$(\alpha + i\alpha_1 - \alpha_2 - i\alpha_3)^4, (\alpha - i\alpha_1 - \alpha_2 + i\alpha_3)(\alpha + i\alpha_1 - \alpha_2 - i\alpha_3), (\alpha - \alpha_1 + \alpha_2 - \alpha_3)(\alpha - i\alpha_1 - \alpha_2 + i\alpha_3)^2, (\alpha - \alpha_1 + \alpha_2 - \alpha_3)^2.$$

# CHAPTER XIII\*

### THE GALOIS THEORY OF ALGEBRAIC NUMBERS. REDUCIBILITY

120. Definition of Domain. A set of numbers is called a *domain of rationality* or simply a *domain*, when the sums, differences, products, and quotients of any numbers in the set (excluding only the quotients obtained through division by 0) always yield as results numbers belonging to the set.

All rational numbers (integers and rational fractions, taken both positively and negatively) constitute such a *domain*, for this system of magnitudes is complete in itself in the sense that any of the four operations involving any of these numbers never yields as a result a number which does not belong to the set.

The integers by themselves do not constitute a domain, for the quotient of two integers may be fractional.

All the numbers of one domain  $\Omega$  may be contained in a second and larger domain  $\Omega'$ . In this event the smaller domain  $\Omega$  is called a *divisor* of the other  $\Omega'$ , and  $\Omega'$  is called a *domain over*  $\Omega$ .

For example, the complex numbers of the form a + ib, where  $i = \sqrt{-1}$  and a and b signify rational numbers, are a domain of which the domain of rational numbers is a divisor.

Another example of domains of numbers is the one embracing all real numbers, whether rational or irrational. Still another is the domain consisting of all numbers, a + ib, where a and b are rational or irrational.

\* In the exposition of the Galois theory in this and the succeeding chapters we have followed the treatment given by H. Weber in his *Lehrbuch der Algebra*, Vol. I, pp. 491-698. 121. The Domain  $\Omega_{(1)}$ . The domain of rational numbers is a divisor of all domains, for each domain contains at least one number *n* different from 0; hence it contains also  $n \div n$  or 1. But if unity belongs to the domain, then it embraces all numbers obtained by addition and subtraction of units, that is, all positive and negative integers; from the latter we can by division derive all rational fractions. Hence the rational numbers occur in every domain. Hereafter we shall indicate the domain of rational numbers by  $\Omega_{(1)}$ .

122. Adjunction. Let  $\Omega$  signify any domain. If we add to it any number  $\alpha$  which does not already belong to it, then the new system of numbers does not constitute a domain unless we add also all numbers arising from a finite number of additions, subtractions, multiplications, and divisions involving  $\alpha$  and all numbers in the domain  $\Omega$ . Let us designate the new domain thus obtained by  $\Omega_{(\alpha)}$ . It is evident that  $\Omega$  is a divisor of  $\Omega_{(\alpha)}$ .

This process of obtaining the domain  $\Omega_{(a)}$  from  $\Omega$  is called adjunction. We say that we adjoin  $\alpha$  to  $\Omega$  and obtain  $\Omega_{(a)}$ . By the adjunction of *i* to the domain of rational numbers  $\Omega_{(1)}$  we obtain the domain of complex numbers  $\Omega_{(1,i)}$ . This embraces all numbers of the kind  $\alpha + ib$ , where  $\alpha$  and b have rational values. In general, if we adjoin  $\alpha$  to  $\Omega_{(1)}$ , we get  $\Omega_{(1,a)}$ .

**Ex. 1.** Show that the rational (proper) fractions do not constitute a *domain*.

Ex. 2. Show that 0 satisfies the definition of a domain.

### 123. Reducibility Defined. Let the integral function

$$f(x) \equiv a_0 x^n + a_1 x^{n-1} + \dots + a_{n-1} x + a_n$$

have coefficients  $a_0, a_1, \dots, a_n$ , all of which belong to some domain  $\Omega$ . Then we shall say that f(x) is a function in  $\Omega$  and f(x) = 0 is an equation in  $\Omega$ . If the function f(x), in which n is some integer > 1, can be decomposed into factors of lower

degree with respect to x, such that the coefficients of the factors are numbers belonging to the domain  $\Omega$ , then the function f(x) is called *reducible* in  $\Omega$ ; otherwise it is called *irreducible* xin  $\Omega$ .

Thus, if  $\Omega$  designates the domain of rational numbers, then  $x^2 - y^2$  is reducible in  $\Omega$ , because it yields the factors (x + y)(x - y). On the other hand,  $x^2 - 3y^2$  is irreducible in  $\Omega$ , because some of the coefficients of its factors

$$(x+\sqrt{3}\,y)\,(x-\sqrt{3}\,y)$$

are not rational.

If, however, we form a new domain by the adjunction of  $a = \sqrt{3}$  to the domain of rational numbers, we obtain  $\Omega_{(1, a)}$ , embracing numbers of the kind  $a + \sqrt{3}b$ , where a and b are rational. With respect to this larger domain the functions  $x^2 - y^2$  and  $x^2 - 3y^2$  are on an equal footing, for both are reducible in  $\Omega_{(1, a)}$ , since the coefficients of the two factors of each function are numbers belonging to the same domain  $\Omega_{(1, a)}$ .

**Ex.** 1. Find out which of the following functions are reducible in the domain of rational numbers  $\Omega_{(1)}$ :

(a)  $x^2 + 2x + 1$ , (b)  $x^4 + x^2 + 1$ , (c)  $x^2 + x - 1$ , (d)  $x^2 + x + 1$ , (e)  $x^2 + 1$ .

**Ex.** 2. For each of the above functions which are irreducible in  $\Omega_{(1)}$ , find by adjunction the smallest new domain in which the function is reducible.

Ex. 3. Find a domain such that all the functions of Ex. 1 will be reducible in it,

124. Algebraic Numbers. All numbers which are roots of an algebraic equation

 $f(x) \equiv a_0 x^n + a_1 x^{n-1} + \dots + a_{n-1} x + a_n = 0$ 

with integral coefficients are called *algebraic numbers*. Numbers which cannot occur as roots of an algebraic equation are called *transcendental*. It was first proved by Hermite (1873) that e, the base of the natural system of logarithms, is a transcendental number. In 1882 Lindemann first demonstrated that  $\pi$ , the ratio of the circumference of a circle to its diameter, is also transcendental. If to the domain of rational numbers  $\Omega_{(1)}$  we adjoin  $\pi$ , we obtain a *transcendental domain*. If the number adjoined to  $\Omega_{(1)}$  is algebraic, the new domain is called an *algebraic domain*.

125. Irreducible Equations. An equation, f(x) = 0 is said to be *reducible or irreducible* in a domain  $\Omega$ , according as the function f(x) is reducible or irreducible in  $\Omega$ .

If we adjoin to the domain  $\Omega$  one of the roots  $\alpha$  of the equation f(x) = 0, then if  $\alpha$  does not belong to the domain  $\Omega$ , we obtain a new domain  $\Omega_{(\alpha)}$  which is an algebraic domain over  $\Omega$ .

**126.** Theorem. If f(x) = 0 and F(x) = 0 are both equations in the domain  $\Omega$ , and if f(x) = 0 is irreducible in  $\Omega$  and has one root which satisfies F(x) = 0, then all its roots satisfy F(x) = 0.

Since the two equations have at least one root in common, the two functions f(x) and F(x) have a common factor involving x. But we know that the highest common factor is found by ordinary division, *i.e.* by a process which nowhere introduces numbers not found in the given domain of rationality. The highest common factor is therefore a function in  $\Omega$ . But f(x), being irreducible, has no factor in  $\Omega$  involving x, except itself. Hence the highest common factor must be either f(x) or a quantity differing from f(x) by a constant number. In other words, we must have either  $F(x) = c \cdot f(x)$  or  $F(x) = g(x) \cdot f(x)$ , where g(x) is a function in  $\Omega$ .

Ex. 1. The cubic  $x^3 - 2x^2 - x + 1 = 0$  has three incommensurable roots and is therefore irreducible in the domain  $\Omega_{(1)}$ . It has one root in

common with  $x^4 - 3x^3 + x^2 + 2x - 1 = 0$ . Find the H. C. F. of the two functions and show that all the roots of the first equation satisfy the second.

**Ex. 2.** The function  $x^2 + 6x + 7$  is irreducible in  $\Omega_{(1)}$ , and it is not a divisor of  $x^3 + 3x^2 + 3x + 1$ . From these data show that the two functions cannot have a common factor.

**Ex. 3.** The equation  $ax^2 + bx + c = 0$  in  $\Omega_{(1)}$  has a root in common with  $x^3 + 5x^2 + 10x + 1 = 0$ . Show that a = b = c = 0.

**Ex.** 4. Prove that two functions in  $\Omega$ ,  $\phi(x)$  and f(x), cannot have a common factor which is a function of x in  $\Omega$ , if f(x) is irreducible and not a divisor of  $\phi(x)$ .

**Ex.** 5. If a root of the irreducible equation f(x) = 0 in  $\Omega$  satisfies the equation  $\phi(x) = 0$  in  $\Omega$ , and if f(x) is of higher degree than  $\phi(x)$ , then all the coefficients of  $\phi(x)$  must be zero.

127. Gauss's Lemma. If f(x) has integral coefficients and can be resolved into rational factors, it can be resolved into rational factors with integral coefficients.

Consider the two functions,

$$G(x) \equiv \frac{a_0 + a_1 x + a_2 x^2 + \cdots}{m}$$
,  $H(x) \equiv \frac{b_0 + b_1 x + b_2 x^2 + \cdots}{n}$ .

Let k be the H. C. F. of the integers  $a_0, a_1, a_2, \dots$ ; and let l be the H. C. F. of the integers  $b_0, b_1, b_2, \dots$ .

Also let k be relatively prime to m, and let l be relatively prime to n.

We may now write

$$G(x) \equiv k \cdot g(x), \qquad H(x) \equiv l \cdot h(x),$$

where g(x) and h(x) are functions whose denominators are, respectively, m and n. The numerator of g(x) is an integral function of x with integral coefficients which have no common factor, except 1. The same is true of the numerator of h(x). Hence the smallest denominator of the product  $g(x) \cdot h(x)$ is mn. Consider the case when the product  $G(x) \cdot H(x)$  has only integral coefficients. Then it is evident that  $k \cdot l$  must be divisible by  $m \cdot n$ . Since k is relatively prime to m, and l to n, it follows that

$$k = pn, \qquad l = qm,$$

where p and q are integers. We may now write

$$G(x) \equiv \frac{pn}{m} g_1(x), \qquad H(x) \equiv \frac{qm}{n} h_1(x),$$

where the functions  $g_1(x)$  and  $h_1(x)$  have only integral coefficients. Consequently, if f(x) is resolvable into two rational factors G(x) and H(x), which have fractional coefficients, so that we have

$$f(x) = G(x) \cdot H(x),$$
  
$$f(x) = pq \cdot g_1(x) \cdot h_1(x)$$

then we have also

where the coefficients are integral throughout. Hence, if f(x) is resolvable into rational factors, it is resolvable into such factors with *integral* coefficients.

128. Reducibility of f(x). Whether the function f(x), in which the coefficients are integers and the degree *n* does not exceed 4 or 5, is reducible or not in the domain  $\Omega_{(1)}$ , can readily be ascertained by the aid of Gauss's lemma and ordinary algebra.

We assume that, in f(x), the coefficient  $a_0$  of  $x^n$  is unity. If  $a_0$  is not unity, we can change the function so that it will be unity by taking  $x = \frac{y}{a_0}$ , and multiplying by  $a_0^{n-1}$ .

For every integral value  $\alpha$  of x, which causes f(x) to vanish, we have a factor  $x - \alpha$  of f(x), § 3. Here  $\alpha$  must be a factor of  $a_n$ . This consideration enables us always to determine the reducibility or irreducibility of functions f(x) of the second or third degree.

If f(x) is of the fourth degree, then, if there is no linear rational factor, there can be no cubic rational factor. To test for quadratic rational factors, divide  $x^4 + a_1x^3 + a_2x^2 + a_3x + a_4$ by  $x^2 + \alpha x + \beta$ , where  $\alpha$  and  $\beta$  are integers to be determined, if possible. That there may be no remainder, we must have

$$a_3 - a_1\beta + \alpha\beta = \alpha(a_2 - \beta - a_1\alpha + \alpha^2),$$
  
$$a_4 = \beta(a_2 - \beta - a_1\alpha + \alpha^2).$$
 I

### Hence

 $\alpha = \frac{a_3\beta - a_1\beta^2}{a_4 - \beta^2}.$  II

We have the rule: See whether any factor  $\beta$  of  $a_4$  makes a an integer in II. If  $\alpha$  and  $\beta$  are such integers, which also satisfy I, then  $x^2 + \alpha x + \beta$  is a rational factor sought.

Similarly, if f(x) is of the fifth degree. First search for linear rational factors x - c. If none are present, there is no quartic rational factor. Look for a quadratic rational factor  $x^2 + ax + \beta$ . If quadratic factors are likewise absent, there can be no cubic rational factor, and the function is irreducible.

Dividing  $x^5 + a_1x^4 + a_2x^3 + a_3x^2 + a_4x + a_5$  by  $x^2 + \alpha x + \beta$ , we get as the conditions for zero remainder,

$$a_4 - a_2\beta + \beta^2 + a_1\alpha\beta - \alpha^2\beta$$
  
=  $\alpha(a_3 - a_1\beta + 2\alpha\beta - a_2\alpha + a_1\alpha^2 - \alpha^3),$   
 $a_5 = \beta(a_5 - a_1\beta + 2\alpha\beta - a_2\alpha + a_1\alpha^2 - \alpha^3).$  III

Whence

 $\alpha = \frac{-c_1 \pm \sqrt{c_1^2 - 4c_1^2}}{2c_0}$ 

where

$$c_0 = \beta^2,$$
  

$$c_1 = a_5 - a_1\beta^2,$$
  

$$c_2 = a_2\beta^2 - a_4\beta - \beta^3.$$

If  $\beta$  is a factor of  $a_s$ , if  $\alpha$  is an integer, and III is satisfied, then  $x^2 + \alpha x + \beta$  is a factor sought.

**Ex. 1.** Is  $f(x) \equiv x^5 + 4x^4 + 4x^3 + 9x^2 + 8x + 2$  reducible in  $\Omega_{(1)}$ ? Since f(x) does not vanish for  $x = \pm 1$  or  $\pm 2$ , there are no linear nor quartic factors in  $\Omega_{(1)}$ . Take  $\beta = 2$ , then  $c_0 = 4$ ,  $c_1 = -14$ ,  $c_2 = -8$ ,  $\alpha = 4$ . Condition III is satisfied. Hence  $x^2 + 4x + 2$  is a factor. **Ex. 2.** Are the following reducible in  $\Omega_{(1)}$ ?

1++++6

(1)  $x^3 + 2x^2 + 3x - 6.$ (5)  $x^4 + 10x^3 - 100x^2 - x + 1.$ (2)  $x^3 + 3x^2 + 8x - 2.$ (3)  $x^4 + x^3 + x^2 + x - 4.$ (4)  $x^4 + 9x^3 + 25x^2 + 22x + 6.$ (5)  $x^4 + 10x^3 - 100x^2 - x + 1.$ (6)  $x^5 + x^3 + x^2 + x + 7.$ (7)  $x^5 + 2x^4 + 3x^3 + 4x^2 + 3x + 2.$ (8)  $x^5 + x + 1.$ 

**129.** Eisenstein's Theorem. If p is a prime number, and  $a_0, a_1, \dots, a_n$  integers, all (except  $a_0$ ) divisible by p, but  $a_n$  not divisible by  $p^2$ , then is  $f(x) \equiv a_0 x^n + a_1 x^{n-1} + \dots + a_n$  irreducible.

For, if f(x) could be resolved into factors, the coefficients of the factors could be integers. We could have

$$f(x) \equiv (c_0 x^k + c_1 x^{k-1} + \dots + c_k)(d_0 x^k + d_1 x^{k-1} + \dots + d_k),$$
  
where  $h + k = n.$ 

Since  $a_n$  is divisible by p, but not by  $p^2$ , and  $a_n = c_h \cdot d_k$ , it follows that one of the factors  $c_h$ ,  $d_k$ , is divisible by p, but not the other. Let  $c_h$  be the factor divisible by p. Then not all the coefficients c are divisible by p, else  $a_0$  would be divisible by p. Let  $c_v$  be a coefficient not divisible by p, while  $c_{v+1}, c_{v+2}, \cdots c_h$ , are each divisible by p. The coefficient of  $x^{h-v}$ , in the product of the two factors of f(x), is then

$$d_k c_v + d_{k-1} c_{v+1} + d_{k-2} c_{v+2} + \cdots$$

Since every term in this polynomial is divisible by p, except the first term, the polynomial is not divisible by p. But, by assumption, the only coefficient of f(x) which is not divisible by p is  $a_0$ . Hence  $x^{h-\nu} = x^n$ , which is impossible, since h must be less than n.

Ex. 1. Show by § 129 the irreducibility of

 $2x^3 + 9x^2 + 6x + 12,$  $4x^5 + 14x^4 + 21x + 35.$  130. Irreducibility of  $\frac{x^p-1}{x-1}$ . When p is a prime number, the equation  $\frac{x^p-1}{x-1} = 0$  is irreducible.

If in  $\frac{x^p - 1}{x - 1} = 0$ , we put x = z + 1, then expand the binomials

and simplify, we get

$$z^{p-1} + pz^{p-2} + \frac{p(p-1)}{1 \cdot 2} z^{p-3} + \dots + \frac{p(p-1)}{1 \cdot 2} z + p = 0.$$

Since this equation is irreducible by § 129, the given equation is irreducible.

131. Exclusion of Multiple Roots. Unless the contrary is specifically asserted we shall assume in what follows that the equation f(x) = 0 has no multiple roots. This can be done without loss of generality. For, if f(x) = 0 has multiple roots, we can divide f(x) by the H. C. F. of f(x) and f'(x), as in § 21, and obtain a quotient g(x). Then g(x) = 0 is an equation in  $\Omega$ , having all its roots distinct, and the theorems which will be given apply to g(x) = 0.

**Ex. 1.** Show that f(x) = 0 is reducible if it has multiple roots.

132. Definition of Degree of a Domain and of Normal Domain. If the irreducible equation f(x) = 0, having  $\alpha$  for one of its roots, is of the *n*th degree, the domain  $\Omega_{(\alpha)}$  is said to be of the *n*th degree.

Since f(x) = 0 is irreducible in  $\Omega$ , it follows that none of its roots belong to the domain  $\Omega$ . For, if the root  $\alpha$  were a number in the domain  $\Omega$ ,  $x - \alpha$  would be a factor in  $\Omega$ , and f(x)would be reducible. It is evident that each root of f(x) = 0, when adjoined to  $\Omega$ , gives rise to a domain over  $\Omega$ , § 120. Thus, if  $\alpha$ ,  $\alpha_1$ ,  $\alpha_2$ , ...,  $\alpha_{n-1}$  are the roots of f(x) = 0, we obtain the *n* domains,

$$\Omega_{(a)}, \Omega_{(a_1)}, \Omega_{(a_2)}, \cdots, \Omega_{(a_{n-1})}.$$
 1

142

The domains I are said to be *conjugate to the*  $\Omega_{(a)}$ . These domains may be all different from each other; some, or all of them, may be alike.

A domain which is identical with all its conjugate domains is called a *normal domain*. The laws of normal domains are far simpler than those of others. The great advances in algebra made by Galois rest mainly on the reduction of any given domain to a normal domain.

**133.** Theorem. Any number in a domain  $\Omega_{(\alpha)}$  can be expressed as a function of  $\alpha$  in  $\Omega$ .

By definition of a domain (§ 120) any two numbers in it, combined by addition, subtraction, multiplication, or division, yield a number occurring in the domain; also any number added to or subtracted from itself, multiplied or divided by itself, yields a number belonging to the domain.

The domain  $\Omega_{(\alpha)}$  was obtained by adjunction of  $\alpha$  to  $\Omega$ . Hence the numbers in  $\Omega_{(\alpha)}$ , whether occurring in  $\Omega$  or not, were obtained by carrying out the four operations of addition, subtraction, multiplication, and division upon  $\alpha$  and the numbers in  $\Omega$ . This means that every number in  $\Omega_{(\alpha)}$  is expressible as a function of  $\alpha$  in  $\Omega$ .

**Ex. 1.** Show that the roots of  $x^4 - 10x^2 + 1 = 0$  define a normal domain.

The roots are  $\alpha = \sqrt{2} + \sqrt{3}$ ,  $\alpha_1 = -\sqrt{2} + \sqrt{3}$ ,  $\alpha_2 = -\sqrt{2} - \sqrt{3}$ ,  $\alpha_3 = \sqrt{2} - \sqrt{3}$ . We have  $\alpha = -\alpha_2 = \frac{1}{\alpha_1} = -\frac{1}{\alpha_3}$ . Hence it follows that  $\Omega_{(1, \alpha_1)} = \Omega_{(1, \alpha_2)} = \Omega_{(1, \alpha_3)}$ .

**Ex. 2.** Show that the domain defined by the roots of the irreducible equation  $x^3 + x + 1 = 0$  is not normal.

By Descartes' Rule we see that the equation has only one real root. No complex root can be a rational function of a real root. Hence the three domains  $\Omega_{(1, \alpha)}$ ,  $\Omega_{(1, \alpha_1)}$ ,  $\Omega_{(1, \alpha_2)}$  cannot be identical and therefore not normal. But the two domains defined by the complex roots are the same; for, if  $\beta + i\gamma$  and  $\beta - i\gamma$  are the complex roots,  $\beta - i\gamma = \frac{\beta^2 + \gamma^2}{\beta + i\gamma}$ . Hence  $\beta - i\gamma$  is a number in the domain obtained by adjoining  $\beta + i\gamma$ .

<sup>V</sup> Ex. 3. Show that the roots of  $x^4 - 22x^2 + 1 = 0$  yield a normal domain.

 $\bigvee$  Ex. 4. Show that the roots of an irreducible quadratic determine a normal domain.

**Ex.** 5. Show that any three roots of  $x^4 + x^3 + x^2 + x + 1 = 0$  are powers of the fourth and that the domain  $\Omega_{(1, \alpha)}$  is normal. See Ex. 2, § 67.

**Ex. 6.** Express as a function of  $\sqrt{5}$  in  $\Omega_{(1,i)}$  the following numbers of the domain  $\Omega_{(1,i\sqrt{5})}$ : 1, 10 *i*,  $3 + 4\sqrt{-5}$ .

**Ex.** 7. Define the domain  $\Omega$  which includes the number

$$(\sqrt{2}+i\sqrt{3}-\sqrt{6})^{-3}$$
.

134. Conjugate Numbers, Primitive Numbers. Suppose a number  $N = \phi(\alpha)$ , where  $\phi$  indicates a function in  $\Omega$ . If  $\alpha, \alpha_1, \dots, \alpha_n$  are the roots of an irreducible equation f(x) = 0, then  $N = \phi(\alpha), \quad N_1 = \phi(\alpha_1), \dots, \quad N_{n-1} = \phi(\alpha_{n-1}),$  I represent *n* numbers, one from each of the conjugate domains,

$$\Omega_{(a)}, \qquad \Omega_{(a_1)}, \cdots, \qquad \Omega_{(a_{n-1})}.$$

The numbers I are said to be numbers conjugate to N.

Some or all of these numbers conjugate to N may be equal to each other.

A number N in the domain  $\Omega_{(\alpha)}$ , which is different from all its conjugate numbers, is called a *primitive* number of the domain. Otherwise it is called *imprimitive*.

135. Primitive Domains. A domain  $\Omega_{(a)}$  is called *primitive* when it contains no imprimitive numbers except the numbers in the domain  $\Omega$ ; it is called *imprimitive* when it contains other imprimitive numbers besides.

**Ex.** 1. The equation  $f(x) = x^2 + 1 = 0$  has the roots  $\pm i$ . Here  $\alpha = i$ and  $\alpha_1 = -i$ . Let us assume  $\phi(\alpha) \equiv \frac{\alpha^2 + \alpha + 2}{\alpha}$ , then  $\phi(\alpha) = -i + 1 = N$ , and  $N_1 = i + 1$ . Hence N, being unlike  $N_{11}$  is a primitive number in  $\Omega_{(1,i)}$ .

Next, let us assume  $\phi(\alpha) \equiv \alpha - \alpha = \alpha_1 - \alpha_1 = 0$ . Hence 0 is an imprimitive number in  $\Omega_{(1, 0)}$ .

144

More generally, if  $\phi(i) \equiv a + ib$ , where a and b are rational numbers, then  $\phi(-i) = a - ib$ ; if  $\phi(i) \equiv \frac{ai^n}{i^n} = a$ , then  $\phi(-i) \equiv a$ . Hence the imprimitive numbers are in this example confined to those that are rational, and the domain  $\Omega_{(1,i)}$  is primitive. Since both  $\Omega_{(1,i)}$  and  $\Omega_{(1,-i)}$  are domains containing numbers a + ib, where a and b are rational, and may be positive or negative, it follows that the two conjugate domains are identical. Hence  $\Omega_{(1,i)}$  is a normal domain.

**Ex. 2.** The roots of the irreducible equation  $x^2 - 2 = 0$  are  $\pm \sqrt{2}$ . Show that  $\frac{\sqrt{2} + 1}{\sqrt{2}}$  is a primitive number of  $\Omega_{(1,\sqrt{2})}$ , that 10 is imprimitive, that the domain  $\Omega_{(1,\sqrt{2})}$  is primitive and normal.

**Ex. 3.** If  $\alpha$  is a root of  $x^2 + 10x + 1 = 0$ , define the functions of  $\alpha$  such that N will be the imprimitive number 5.

**Ex. 4.** Show that the number  $N = \alpha^2 + \alpha^3$ , belonging to the normal domain  $\Omega_{(1, \alpha)}$ , in Ex. 2, § 67, is imprimitive and that the domain  $\Omega_{(1, \alpha)}$  is imprimitive.

**Ex. 5.** If  $N = \alpha^2$ , where  $\alpha$  is a root of  $x^4 + 1 = 0$ , show that N is imprimitive, that  $N_1 = \alpha^2 - \alpha$  is primitive, that the domain  $\Omega_{(1, \alpha)}$  is normal and imprimitive.

**Ex. 6.** If  $N = \alpha^{16}$  and  $\alpha$  is a root of  $x^8 + 1 = 0$ , prove that N is imprimitive, that  $\Omega_{(1,\alpha)}$  is normal and imprimitive.

**Ex.** 7. If  $\alpha$  is a root of  $x^7 - 1 = 0$ , prove that  $\Omega_{(1, \alpha)}$  is imprimitive.

**136.** Theorem. Every number N in the domain  $\Omega_{(a)}$  of the nth degree is the root of some equation of the nth degree in  $\Omega$ , the other roots of which are the remaining numbers conjugate to N, viz.  $N_1, N_2, \dots, N_{n-1}$ .

Take the product

$$(y - N)(y - N_1) \cdots (y - N_{n-1}) = y^n + p_1 y^{n-1} + \dots + p_n \equiv \Phi(y),$$
  
in which  $-p_1 = N + N_1 + \dots + N_{n-1},$   
 $p_2 = NN_1 + NN_2 + \dots + N_{n-2}N_{n-1},$   
 $+ p_n = NN_1 \cdots N_{n-1}.$ 

We see that all the coefficients  $p_1, p_2, \dots, p_n$  are rational symmetric functions of the numbers  $N, N_1, \dots, N_{n-1}$ . Since  $N = \phi(\alpha)$ ,  $N_1 = \phi(\alpha_1), \dots, N_{n-1} = \phi(\alpha_{n-1})$  (§ 134), where  $\phi$  is a function in

 $\Omega$ , it is evident that  $p_1, p_2, \dots, p_n$  are also symmetric functions in  $\Omega$  of  $\alpha_1, \alpha_2, \dots, \alpha_n$ ; for, an interchange of, say  $\alpha$  and  $\alpha_1$ , brings about simply an interchange of N and  $N_1$ . Since the interchange of N and  $N_1$  does not alter these functions, the interchange of  $\alpha$  and  $\alpha_1$  does not.

Now  $\alpha_1, \alpha_2, \dots, \alpha_n$  are the roots of the equation f(x)=0; hence the coefficients  $p_1, p_2, \dots, p_n$  of  $\Phi(y)=0$ , being symmetric functions in  $\Omega$  of  $\alpha_1, \dots, \alpha_n$  may be expressed as functions in  $\Omega$  of the coefficients of f(x)=0 (§ 70).

But by hypothesis the coefficients of f(x) = 0 are numbers belonging to the domain  $\Omega$ , hence the same thing is true of  $p_1, \dots, p_n$ . Thus  $\Phi(y) = 0$  is an equation of the *n*th degree in  $\Omega$ , having the roots  $N, N_1, \dots, N_{n-1}$ .

**Ex. 1.** As an illustration, let  $f(x) = x^4 + 1 = 0$ , then  $\Omega = \Omega_{(1)}$  and the roots are  $\pm \frac{1}{2}\sqrt{2}(1+i)$ ,  $\pm \frac{1}{2}\sqrt{2}(1-i)$ . If  $\alpha = \frac{1}{2}\sqrt{2}(1+i)$ , the domain  $\Omega_{(1,\alpha)}$  consists of numbers a + ib, where a and b may be rational, or irrational involving  $\sqrt{2}$ . Let  $N = \alpha^3 + \alpha^2 + \alpha + 1$ , then  $N = 1 + (1 + \sqrt{2})i$ , and the numbers conjugate to it are,

$$\begin{split} N &= 1 + (1 + \sqrt{2})i, & N_2 = 1 - (1 + \sqrt{2})i, \\ N_1 &= 1 + (1 - \sqrt{2})i, & N_3 = 1 - (1 - \sqrt{2})i, \\ \Phi(y) &= (y - N)(y - N_1)(y - N_2)(y - N_3) \\ &= y^4 - 4 \ y^3 + 12 \ y^2 - 16 \ y + 8 = 0. \end{split}$$

and

Thus, N and the numbers conjugate to it are roots of an algebraic equation of the fourth degree in  $\Omega_{(1)}$ , that is,  $\Phi(y) = 0$  is an equation in the same domain as f(x) = 0, and both are of the same degree.

**Ex.** 2. Show that 5, i,  $\sqrt{2}$  are each numbers lying in the domain  $\Omega_{(a)}$  of Ex. 1, and that each is a root of some reducible equation of the fourth degree.

**137.** Theorem. Every number of the domain  $\Omega_{(a)}$  can be expressed as a function in  $\Omega$  of any primitive number N of the domain  $\Omega_{(a)}$ .

Let N' be any number in  $\Omega_{(a)}$  and N', N'<sub>1</sub>, N'<sub>2</sub>, ..., N'<sub>n-1</sub> the numbers conjugate to it. Let

$$\Phi(x) \equiv (x - N)(x - N_1) \cdots (x - N_{n-1}),$$

146

where  $N, N_1, \dots, N_{n-1}$  are conjugates to the *primitive* number N. We now construct a new function,  $\psi(x)$ , as follows:

$$\psi(x) \equiv \frac{N' \Phi(x)}{x - N} + \frac{N'_1 \Phi(x)}{x - N_1} + \dots + \frac{N'_{n-1} \Phi(x)}{x - N_{n-1}}.$$

This is a function of x of the (n-1)th degree,

Since  $N = \phi(a),$   $N_1 = \phi(a_1), \dots,$ and  $N' = \phi_1(a),$   $N'_1 = \phi_1(a_1), \dots,$ 

it follows that an interchange of, say,  $\alpha$  and  $\alpha_1$  interchanges not only N and  $N_1$ , but also N' and N'<sub>1</sub>, and also the first two fractions in the expression for  $\psi(x)$ .

But  $\Phi(x)$  is not affected by such an interchange. Hence  $\psi(x)$  is not affected, no matter what two  $\alpha$ 's replace each other. From this it follows that  $\psi(x)$  is a symmetric function of  $\alpha, \alpha_1, \dots, \alpha_{n-1}$  in  $\Omega$  and the coefficients of  $\psi(x)$  are numbers in  $\Omega$ .

If now we put x = N, then  $\Phi(N) = 0$ . As N is primitive and consequently different from  $N_1, N_2, \cdots$ , it follows that each fraction in  $\psi(x)$ , except the first, is zero when x = N; for, it has a numerator that is zero and a denominator that is finite. The first fraction gives us  $\frac{0}{0}$ . By § 20 we have, for this indeterminate, the relation  $\frac{N'\Phi(N)}{N-N} = N'\Phi'(N)$ , where  $\Phi'$  means the differential coefficient of  $\Phi$  with respect to x. This relation yields  $\psi(N) = N'\Phi'(N)$  or  $N' = \psi(N)/\Phi'(N)$ , where  $\Phi'(N)$  is not zero, because  $\Phi(x)$  has no multiple roots. Since  $\psi(N)$  and  $\Phi'(N)$  are both functions of N in  $\Omega$ , it follows that any number N' can be expressed as a function in  $\Omega$  of any primitive number N.

**Ex.** 1. Prove that the domain  $\Omega_{(N)}$  is identical with the domain  $\Omega_{(a)}$ , N being primitive in  $\Omega_{(a)}$ .

**Ex. 2.** It was shown in Ex. 2, § 135, that  $N = \frac{\sqrt{2}+1}{\sqrt{2}}$  is a primitive number of  $\Omega_{(1,\sqrt{2})}$ , where  $\pm \sqrt{2}$  are the roots of the irreducible equation  $x^2 - 2 = 0$ . Express  $5 + 3\sqrt{2}$ , 5 and  $\sqrt{2}$ , as functions of N in  $\Omega_{(1)}$ .

**Ex. 3.** Express 5, *i*,  $\sqrt{2}$  in Ex. 2, § 136, each as a function in  $\Omega$  of  $\alpha$ .

**138.** Theorem. If N is primitive in  $\Omega_{(a)}$ , then the numbers N,  $N_1, \dots, N_{n-1}$  are roots of an irreducible equation  $\Phi(x) = 0$  of the nth degree; if N is imprimitive, then these numbers may be divided into  $n_1$  sets of  $n_2$  equal numbers in each set, and  $\Phi(x) = 0$  is the n<sub>2</sub>th power of an irreducible equation of the  $n_1$ th degree.

If 
$$\Phi(x) \equiv (x - N)(x - N_1) \cdots (x - N_{n-1}) = 0$$

is reducible, decompose it into its irreducible factors. Take one of these irreducible factors, say  $\theta(x)$ . Then  $\theta(x) = 0$  must have as a root at least one of the numbers  $N_i$   $N_1, \dots, N_{n-1}$ . Let  $N_1$  be such a root. Then  $\theta(N_1) = 0$ , and since  $N_1 = \phi(a_1)$ , § 134, we have  $\theta[\phi(a_1)] = 0$ ; that is,  $\theta[\phi(x)] = 0$  has  $a_1$  for one of its roots. Thus  $\theta[\phi(x)] = 0$  and f(x) = 0 are two algebraic equations having a common root, namely  $a_1$ . As f(x) = 0 was assumed to be irreducible, it follows by § 126 that each of the roots  $a, a_1, \dots, a_{n-1}$  of the equation f(x) = 0 must satisfy  $\theta[\phi(x)] = 0$ . Remembering that  $N_i = \phi(a_i)$ , we see that each of the numbers  $N, N_1, \dots, N_{n-1}$  must satisfy the equation  $\theta(x) = 0$ .

Now if  $N, N_1, \dots, N_{n-1}$  are all distinct, then  $\theta(x) = 0$  must be of the *n*th degree, and  $\Phi(x) = 0$  and  $\theta(x) = 0$  are identical; since, by hypothesis,  $\theta(x) = 0$  is irreducible,  $\Phi(x) = 0$  must be irreducible.

If, on the other hand, some of the roots N,  $N_1, \dots, N_{n-1}$  are alike; let N,  $N_1, \dots, N_{n_1-1}$  represent the distinct roots, then the irreducible equation  $\theta(x) = 0$  is of the degree  $n_1$ . Any other irreducible equation,  $\theta_1(x) = 0$ , obtained by factoring  $\Phi(x) = 0$ , must be satisfied by at least one of the set of roots N,  $N_1, \dots, N_{n_1-1}$ , for, every multiple root in  $\Phi(x) = 0$  has one representative in the list of distinct roots; hence  $\theta_1(x) = 0$  must be satisfied by each noot in the set and is identical with the equation  $\theta(x) = 0$ , the two having all their  $n_1$  roots in common.

It thus appears that if  $\Phi(x) = 0$  is reducible and is resolved into its irreducible factors, these factors are identical to each other. Thus,  $\Phi(x) = 0$  is a power of  $\theta(x) = 0$ . Since  $\Phi(x) = 0$  is of the *n*th degree and  $\theta(x) = 0$  of the  $n_1$ th degree, *n* must be a multiple of  $n_1$ , that is,  $n = n_1 n_2$ .

**Ex. 1.** As an illustration, take the irreducible equation  $f(x) \equiv x^4 + 1 = 0$ . It has the roots  $\alpha = \frac{1}{2}\sqrt{2}(1+i)$ ,  $\alpha_1 = -\frac{1}{2}\sqrt{2}(1+i)$ ,  $\alpha_2 = +\frac{1}{2}\sqrt{2}(1-i)$ ,  $\alpha_3 = -\frac{1}{2}\sqrt{2}(1-i)$ . Let  $N = \phi(\alpha) \equiv \alpha^2$ , then  $N = N_1 = i$  and  $N_2 = N_3 = -i$ . Hence,  $\Phi(x) = (x+i)^2(x-i)^2 = (x^2+1)^2 = 0$ . We have  $\theta(x) \equiv x^2 + 1 = 0$ , which is satisfied by  $N, N_1, N_2, N_3$ . The equation  $\theta[\phi(x)] = \theta(x^2) = (x^2)^2 + 1 = 0$  is satisfied by  $\alpha$ ,  $\alpha_1$ ,  $\alpha_2$ ,  $\alpha_3$ , the roots of f(x) = 0.

• **Ex. 2.** From the roots of the equation in Ex. 5, § 133, find  $N, N_1, N_2, N_3$ , when  $N \equiv \alpha^2 + \alpha^3$ . Determine whether the equation  $\Phi(x) = 0$  is in this case reducible; if it is, find  $n_1$  and  $n_2$  and show that  $\theta[\phi(\alpha)] = 0$  is satisfied by the roots of the given equation f(x) = 0.

**Ex. 3.** From the roots of the equation in Ex. 5, § 133, find  $N_1$ ,  $N_2$ ,  $N_3$ , when  $N = 4 \alpha$ . Is  $\Phi(x) = 0$  reducible ?

**Ex. 4.** In Ex. 5, § 135, form  $\Phi(y) = 0$  and examine its reducibility, when  $N = \alpha^2$ .

139. Normal Equations. A normal equation is an irreducible equation in which each root can be expressed as a function in  $\Omega$  of one of the roots.

**Ex. 1.** The roots  $\alpha_1, \alpha_2, \alpha_3$ , of  $x^4 + 1 = 0$ , Ex. 1, § 138, may be expressed in terms of  $\alpha$  thus:  $\alpha_1 = -\alpha$ ,  $\alpha_2 = -\alpha^3$ ,  $\alpha_3 = +\alpha^3$ . Hence  $x^4 + 1 = 0$ , being irreducible, is normal.

**Ex. 2.** Show that  $x^4 + x^3 + x^2 + x + 1 = 0$  is a normal equation.  $\sqrt{}$ **Ex. 3.** Show that  $x^4 - 2x^2 + 9 = 0$  is normal.  $\sqrt{}$ 

## CHAPTER XIV

#### NORMAL DOMAINS

**140.** Theorem. A primitive number of a normal domain of the nth degree is a root of a normal equation of the nth degree.

If a number  $\rho$  be adjoined to  $\Omega$ , making  $\Omega_{(\rho)}$  a domain of the *n*th degree, every number N in the domain  $\Omega_{(\rho)}$  is a root of an equation F(x) = 0 of the *n*th degree in  $\Omega$ , the other roots of which are, by § 136, the remaining numbers conjugate to N, viz.

$$N_1, N_2, \dots, N_{n-1}$$
.

Since N is assumed to be primitive, F(x) = 0 is irreducible (§ 138).

Any number  $N_i$ , being defined by  $\phi(\rho_i)$ , belongs to the domain  $\Omega_{(\rho_i)}$ . Since  $\Omega_{(\rho)}$  is normal, we have  $\Omega_{(\rho)} = \Omega_{(\rho_1)} = \cdots = \Omega_{(\rho_{n-1})}$ (§ 132). Hence all the numbers  $N, N_1, \dots, N_{n-1}$  belong to the domain  $\Omega_{(\rho)}$ , and can be expressed as functions in  $\Omega$  of the primitive number N (§ 137). From this it follows that F(x) = 0 is a normal equation.

141. Theorem. Conversely, if  $\rho$  is a root of a normal equation, then  $\Omega_{(\rho)}$  is a normal domain of the same degree as that of the equation.

Let  $\rho_0$  be the root, of which the other roots are functions in  $\Omega$ ; that is, let  $\rho_{\nu} = \phi_{\nu}(\rho_0)$ , where  $\nu$  may be 1, 2, ..., or (n-1). Since  $\rho_0$  is a root of the given irreducible equation of the *n*th degree, the domain  $\Omega_{(\rho_0)}$  and all the domains conjugate to it are of the *n*th degree (§ 132). Any number in the domain  $\Omega_{(\rho_{\nu})}$ , *i.e.* in the domain  $\Omega_{[\phi_{\nu}(\rho_{0})]}$ ; is a function in  $\Omega$  of  $[\phi_{\nu}(\rho_{0})]$ , and, therefore, also a function in  $\Omega$  of  $\rho_{0}$  itself; that is, any number in the domain  $\Omega_{[\phi_{\nu}(\rho_{0})]}$  occurs also in  $\Omega_{(\rho_{0})}$ . The converse is true also. Hence the conjugate domains are identical, and  $\Omega_{(\rho_{0})}$  is a normal domain.

COROLLARY. Since the domain  $\Omega_{[\phi_{\nu}(\rho_0)]}$  contains all the roots of the given normal equation, each of these roots can be expressed as a function in  $\Omega$  of the root  $\phi_{\nu}(\rho_0)$ , where  $\phi_{\nu}(\rho_0)$  may represent any one of the roots. Thus, in a normal equation every root can be expressed not only as a function in  $\Omega$  of some one root, but as a function in  $\Omega$  of any one of the roots.

**Ex. 1.** Show that the equation  $\frac{x^7 - 1}{x - 1} = 0$  is normal. **Ex. 2.** Show that  $x^4 + 10x^2 + 40x + 205 = 0$  is normal.

**142.** Adjunction of Several Magnitudes. The adjunction of several magnitudes may be replaced by the adjunction of a single magnitude.

Let  $\alpha$ ,  $\beta$ ,  $\gamma$ ,  $\cdots$  be numbers adjoined to the domain  $\Omega$ , giving the enlarged domain  $\Omega_{(\alpha, \beta, \gamma, \cdots)}$ . To prove that a number  $\rho$  can be found, such that the domains  $\Omega_{(\alpha, \beta, \gamma, \cdots)}$  and  $\Omega_{(\rho)}$  are identical.

Let  $\alpha$  be one of the roots  $\alpha$ ,  $\alpha_1$ ,  $\cdots$ ,  $\alpha_{m-1}$  of an algebraic equation in  $\Omega$ ,  $f_1(x) = 0$ . Similarly, let  $\beta$  be one of the roots  $\beta$ ,  $\beta_1$ ,  $\cdots$ ,  $\beta_{n-1}$  of  $f_2(x) = 0$ ,  $\gamma$  one of the roots  $\gamma$ ,  $\gamma_1$ ,  $\gamma_2$ ,  $\cdots$ ,  $\gamma_{0-1}$  of  $f_3(x) = 0$ , and so on. Without loss of generality we may assume that none of these equations have multiple roots. Now assume for  $\rho$  the following linear function of  $\alpha$ ,  $\beta$ ,  $\gamma$ ,  $\cdots$ , viz.  $\rho = a\alpha + b\beta + c\gamma + \cdots$ , I

where a, b, c are indeterminate coefficients to which in special cases any convenient numerical value in  $\Omega$  may be assigned. It is evident that  $\rho$  is a magnitude in  $\Omega_{(a, \beta, \gamma, ...)}$ , for it is a rational function of  $a, \beta, \gamma, ...$ . The expression for  $\rho$  involves one root from each of the equations  $f_1(x) = 0, f_2(x) = 0, ...$  Next, replace the roots  $\alpha$ ,  $\beta$ ,  $\gamma$ , ... by any other combination  $\alpha_1$ ,  $\beta_1$ ,  $\gamma_1$ , ... of the roots, one root being taken from each equation. We get  $\alpha = \alpha \alpha + b\beta + c\gamma$  have

$$\rho_1 = a\alpha_1 + b\beta_1 + c\gamma_1 + \cdots$$

Similarly we obtain  $\rho_2$ ,  $\rho_3$ , .... The total number of  $\rho$ 's is equal to the total number of possible combinations, which is  $m \cdot n \cdot o \cdots$ , where m, n, o are respectively the degrees of the equations. By assigning appropriate values to  $a, b, c, \cdots$ , all the  $\rho$ 's will be distinct from each other.

Now construct the function F(t), thus:

$$F(t) \equiv (t-\rho)(t-\rho_1)(t-\rho_2)\cdots.$$
 II

F(t) is not altered if  $\alpha$  is replaced by  $\alpha_i$ , or  $\beta$  by  $\beta_i$ . Hence the coefficients of <sup>\*</sup>II, obtained by performing the indicated multiplications, are symmetric functions of the roots of each one of the equations  $f_1(x) = 0$ ,  $f_2(x) = 0$ , ...; therefore, the coefficients are numbers in  $\Omega$ , and F(t) is a function in  $\Omega$ .

Now, any number N in  $\Omega_{(\alpha, \beta, \gamma, \cdots)}$  is a rational function of  $\alpha, \beta, \gamma, \cdots$ . Let N go over into  $N_1, N_2, \cdots$  for the substitutions which convert  $\rho$  into  $\rho_1, \rho_2, \cdots$ . With these construct the new function G(t), defined as follows:

$$G(t) \equiv F(t) \left\{ \frac{N}{t-\rho} + \frac{N_1}{t-\rho_1} + \frac{N_2}{t-\rho_2} + \cdots \right\}.$$
 III

G(t) is symmetrical with respect to the roots of  $f_1(x) = 0$ ,  $f_2(x) = 0$ , .... Hence its coefficients lie in  $\Omega$ . For  $t = \rho$ , F(t) vanishes, as appears from II. But the denominator  $t - \rho$  vanishes also.

Hence for  $t = \rho$ , we have by § 20

$$G(\rho) = \frac{NF(\rho)}{\rho - \rho} = NF'(\rho),$$

where F'(t) is the first differential coefficient of F(t).

Hence, 
$$N = \frac{G(\rho)}{F'(\rho)}$$

This means that N is a rational function of  $\rho$ ; that is, any number in  $\Omega_{(\alpha,\beta,\gamma,\cdots)}$  is a rational function of  $\rho$ , and lies, therefore, in the domain  $\Omega_{(\rho)}$ . Conversely, any number in  $\Omega_{(\rho)}$  lies in  $\Omega_{(\alpha,\beta,\gamma,\cdots)}$  since every number in  $\Omega_{(\rho)}$  is a rational function of  $\rho$ , and, therefore, of  $\alpha$ ,  $\beta$ ,  $\gamma$ ,  $\cdots$ . This shows that  $\Omega_{(\rho)}$  and  $\Omega_{(\alpha,\beta,\gamma,\cdots)}$  are coextensive domains, and the adjunction of  $\alpha$ ,  $\beta$ ,  $\gamma$ ,  $\cdots$  to  $\Omega$  may be replaced by the adjunction of  $\rho$ .

Ex. 1. Go over the above proof for the special case where

$$\alpha = \sqrt{2}, \ \beta = \sqrt[3]{5}, \ \gamma = \delta = \dots = 0, \ \alpha = b = 1, \ N = 3 \ \sqrt{2} \ \sqrt[3]{5}$$

Here  $f_1(x) = x^2 - 2 = 0$ ,  $f_2(x) = x^3 - 5 = 0$ . Then  $\rho = \sqrt{2} + \sqrt[3]{5}$ . There are six different  $\rho$ 's, and II is of the sixth degree in t. Of what degree is III?

$$\begin{split} G(t) &= N(t-\rho_1)(t-\rho_2)\cdots(t-\rho_5) + N_1(t-\rho)(t-\rho_2)\cdots(t-\rho_5) + \cdots \\ G(\rho) &= N(\rho-\rho_1)(\rho-\rho_2)\cdots(\rho-\rho_5) = 540\ \rho^2 + 360, \text{ where} \\ \rho &= \sqrt{2} + \sqrt[3]{5}, \qquad \rho_3 = -\sqrt{2} + \sqrt[3]{5}, \\ \rho_1 &= \sqrt{2} + \omega\sqrt[3]{5}, \qquad \rho_4 = -\sqrt{2} + \omega\sqrt[3]{5}, \\ \rho_2 &= \sqrt{2} + \omega^2\sqrt[3]{5}, \qquad \rho_5 = -\sqrt{2} + \omega^2\sqrt[3]{5}. \end{split}$$

By Ex. 14, § 71, the equation whose roots are  $\rho$ ,  $\rho_1$ , ...,  $\rho_5$ , is

$$F(t) = t^6 - 6t^4 - 10t^3 + 12t^2 - 60t + 17 = 0.$$

$$F'(\rho) = 6 \rho^5 - 24 \rho^3 - 30 \rho^2 + 24 \rho - 60.$$

We see that  $G(\rho) \div F'(\rho) = N$ .

**Ex.** 2. Is the adjunction of  $\sqrt{-2}$  to  $\Omega_{(1)}$  equivalent to the adjunction of  $i + \sqrt{2}$ ?

**Ex. 3.** Are the two domains  $\Omega_{(1,\sqrt{2},\sqrt{3})}$  and  $\Omega_{(1,\sqrt{6})}$  coextensive? It not, is one a divisor of the other?

143. The Galois Domain. If f(x) = 0 is an equation of the *n*th degree with distinct roots  $\alpha$ ,  $\alpha_1, \dots, \alpha_{n-1}$ , then the domain  $\Omega_{(\alpha, \alpha_1, \dots, \alpha_{n-1})}$ , obtained by the adjunction of all its roots to  $\Omega$ , is called the *Galois domain* of the equation f(x) = 0. Thus the roots of the cubic  $x^3 + 3x^2 - 2x - 6 = 0$  are  $-3, \pm \sqrt{2}$ ; hence its Galois domain is  $\Omega_{(1,\sqrt{2})}$ .

**Ex. 1.** Find the Galois domain of  $x^4 + 6x^2 + 5 = 0$ .

**Ex. 2.** Find the Galois domain of the equation in Ex. 5, § 133. Show that, in this case,  $\Omega_{(\alpha_1,\alpha_1,\cdots,\alpha_{n-1})} = \Omega_{(\alpha_2)} = \Omega_{(\alpha_2)} = \Omega_{(\alpha_2)} = \Omega_{(\alpha_2)}$ .

144. Theorem. The Galois domain of any algebraic equation is a normal domain.

The degree of the Galois domain  $\Omega_{(a, a_1, \dots, a_{n-1})}$  is not usually the same as that of the equation f(x) = 0; let it be m. Let  $\rho$  be a primitive number of the Galois domain, then

$$\Omega_{(a,\dots,a_{n-1})} = \Omega_{(\rho)}$$

It follows that  $\rho$  is a root of an irreducible equation of the degree m (§ 138), viz. the equation

$$g(y) = 0, \qquad \qquad \mathbf{I}$$

The root  $\rho$ , being a number in the Galois domain, can be expressed as a function of  $\alpha_0, \alpha_1, \dots, \alpha_{n-1}$ , in  $\Omega$ ; that is,

$$\rho = f_1(\alpha_0, \alpha_1, \cdots, \alpha_{n-1}), \qquad \qquad \text{II}$$

Consider all the permutations which can be performed with the *n* subscripts of the letters  $\alpha$ , taken all at a time. The number of these permutations is *n*! They correspond to the symmetric group of substitutions (§ 98).

If we operate upon the subscripts in II with each substitution of the symmetric group of the order n!, in turn, we obtain values for  $\rho$  which we indicate, respectively, by

$$\rho, \rho_1, \cdots, \rho_{n!-1}.$$

Next, if we operate with any substitution of the symmetric group upon the  $\rho$ 's in III, we get the same set of  $\rho$ 's over again, only in a different order; for, any number resulting from this second operation is obtained from II by two substitutions, the product of which, by definition of a group, is identical with one of the substitutions in the group. Hence, if we form the equation  $H(y) \equiv (y - \rho)(y - \rho_1) \cdots (y - \rho_{n-1}) = 0$ , IV

this equation is invariant under any of the substitutions of the symmetric group; hence, the coefficients of y, obtained by performing the indicated multiplications in IV, are invariant.

154

But these coefficients are functions in  $\Omega$  of the roots  $\rho$ ,  $\rho_1, \dots$ , and by relation II, also functions in  $\Omega$  of  $\alpha_0, \alpha_1, \dots, \alpha_{n-1}$ .

Because of the invariance of the coefficients of IV under the symmetric group, they are symmetric functions in  $\Omega$  of  $\alpha_0$ ,  $\alpha_1$ ,  $\cdots$ ,  $\alpha_{n-1}$ , *i.e.* symmetric functions in  $\Omega$  of the roots of f(x) = 0. Hence IV is an equation in  $\Omega$  (§ 123), and its roots are numbers in  $\Omega_{(\alpha, \dots, \alpha_{n-1})}$ .

But  $\rho$  is a root of both H(y) = 0 and g(y) = 0. Since g(y) = 0is irreducible, all its roots must be roots of H(y) = 0 (§ 126). But all the roots of H(y) = 0 are numbers in  $\Omega_{(a, \dots, a_{n-1})}$ ; hence all the roots of g(y) = 0 (viz. the conjugate numbers  $\rho, \rho_1, \dots, \rho_{m-1}$ ) are numbers in  $\Omega_{(a, \dots, a_{n-1})}$ . But

$$\Omega_{(\rho)} = \Omega_{(\alpha, \dots, \alpha_{n-1})},$$

hence we have  $\Omega_{(\rho)} = \Omega_{(\rho_1)} = \cdots = \Omega_{(\rho_{m-1})}$ .

That is,  $\Omega_{(\alpha, \dots, \alpha_{n-1})}$  is a normal domain.

145. Galois Resolvent. The equation g(y) = 0 of § 144 is called the *Galois resolvent* of the given equation f(x) = 0 in the domain  $\Omega$ , defined by the coefficients of the equation f(x) = 0. This resolvent possesses the following properties:

(1) g(y) = 0 is irreducible.

(2) Each root of f(x) = 0 can be expressed as a function in  $\Omega$  of one root  $\rho$  of the equation g(y) = 0. That is, each of the roots  $\alpha$ ,  $\alpha_1$ , ...,  $\alpha_{n-1}$  occurs in  $\Omega_{(\alpha, \dots, \alpha_{n-1})}$ , a domain equivalent to  $\Omega_{(\rho)}$ .

(3) One root  $\rho$  of g(y) = 0 can be expressed as a function in  $\Omega$  of the *n* roots of f(x) = 0. That is, by II, § 144, we have

$$\rho = f_1(\alpha_0, \alpha_1, \cdots, \alpha_{n-1}).$$

**Ex. 1.** The cubic  $x^3 + 3x^2 + x - 1 = 0$  has the roots

 $\alpha = -1, \ \alpha_1 = -1 + \sqrt{2}, \ \alpha_2 = -1 - \sqrt{2}.$ 

Hence the Galois domain is  $\Omega_{(1,\sqrt{2})}$ . Also,  $\rho = \sqrt{2}$  is a root of the irreducible equation  $g(y) = x^2 - 2 = 0$  and is a primitive number of the

Galois domain. The equation  $x^2 - 2 = 0$  is a Galois resolvent, because (1) it is irreducible; (2) the root  $\alpha = -\sqrt{2} / \sqrt{2}$  and the roots  $\alpha_1$ ,  $\alpha_2$  are each functions in  $\Omega_{(1)}$  of  $\sqrt{2}$ ; (3) we may express  $\rho$  as a function of  $\alpha$ ,  $\alpha_1$ ,  $\alpha_2$ , thus,  $\rho = \sqrt{2} = \alpha_2^2 - \alpha_1 + 4 \alpha$ .

**Ex. 2.** Show that in Ex. 1,  $\rho = a + b\sqrt{2}$ , which is a root of the equation  $x^2 - 2 ax + a^2 - 2 b^2 = 0$ , a and b being rational, is a primitive number in the domain  $\Omega_{(\sqrt{2})}$ , and that this quadratic is a Galois resolvent of the given cubic.

**Ex. 3.** Show that the degree of the Galois resolvent of an equation of the *n*th degree cannot exceed n !. See § 144.

**Ex.** 4. Construct the equation H(y) = 0 of § 144 for the general cubic  $x^3 + a_1x^2 + a_2x + a_3 = 0$ , whose roots are  $\alpha$ ,  $\alpha_1$ ,  $\alpha_2$ .

As in § 142 select appropriate values in  $\Omega$  for the coefficients  $c, c_1, c_2$ , so that distinct values for  $\rho$  are obtained for every permutation of the roots  $\alpha$ ,  $\alpha_1$ ,  $\alpha_2$  in the relation  $\rho \equiv c\alpha + c_1\alpha_1 + c_2\alpha_2$ .

Performing upon this the six substitutions of the symmetric group of the third degree, § 104, we obtain

> $\rho \equiv c\alpha + c_1\alpha_1 + c_2\alpha_2,$  $\rho_1 \equiv c\alpha_1 + c_1\alpha_2 + c_2\alpha_3,$  $\rho_2 \equiv c\alpha_2 + c_1\alpha + c_2\alpha_1,$  $\rho' \equiv c\alpha + c_1\alpha_2 + c_2\alpha_1,$  $\rho'1 \equiv c\alpha_1 + c_1\alpha + c_2\alpha_2,$  $\rho'_2 \equiv c\alpha_2 + c_1\alpha_1 + c_2\alpha.$

We first form the cubic whose roots are  $\rho$ ,  $\rho_1$ ,  $\rho_2$ . We get

$$\begin{split} \Sigma \rho &= \Sigma c \Sigma \alpha = -a_1 \Sigma c, \\ \Sigma \rho \rho_1 &= \Sigma c^2 \cdot \Sigma \alpha \alpha_1 + \Sigma \alpha^2 \cdot \Sigma c c_1 + \Sigma c c_1 \cdot \Sigma \alpha \alpha_1, \\ &= a_2 \Sigma c^2 + (a_1^2 - a_2) \Sigma c c_1. \end{split}$$

To obtain the product  $\rho\rho_1\rho_2$ , observe that the terms  $c_1c_2\alpha^3$ ,  $c_1c_2\alpha_1^3$ ,  $c_1c_2\alpha_2^3$  occur in the product; their sum is  $c_1c_2\Sigma\alpha^3$ . Since  $c, c_1, c_2$  and  $\alpha, \alpha_1, \alpha_2$  are similarly involved, the expression  $\alpha\alpha_1\alpha_2\Sigma c^3$ , also occurs in the product. The term  $c_1c_2\alpha\alpha_1\alpha_2$  occurs three times; hence we have  $3 c_1c_2\alpha\alpha_1\alpha_2$ .

Observe that  $\alpha^2 \alpha_1$  has in the product the coefficient  $p_c \equiv c^2 c_1 + c_1^2 c_2 + c_2^2 c_2$ and that  $\alpha_1^2 \alpha_2$  and  $\alpha_2^2 \alpha$  have each this same coefficient. Hence  $p_c p_a$  is part of the product, where  $p_a \equiv \alpha^2 \alpha_1 + \alpha_1^2 \alpha_2 + \alpha_2^2 \alpha$ . Similarly  $\alpha \alpha_1^2$ ,  $\alpha_1 \alpha_2^2$ ,  $\alpha_2 \alpha^2$  have each the coefficient  $p'_c \equiv cc_1^2 + c_1c_2^2 + c_2c^2$ . Therefore,  $p'_{c}p'_{a}$  occurs in the product, where  $p'_{a} \equiv \alpha \alpha_{1}^{2} + \alpha_{1}\alpha_{2}^{2} + \alpha_{2}\alpha^{2}$ . We have now found all together 27 terms which belong to the product  $\rho \rho_{1}\rho_{2}$ ; they constitute the entire product. That is,

$$\rho\rho_1\rho_2 = cc_1c_2\Sigma\alpha_3 + \alpha\alpha_1\alpha_2\Sigma c^3 + 3\ cc_1c_2\alpha\alpha_1\alpha_2 + p_cp_a + p'_cp'_a.$$

We get

$$p_{a} + p'_{a} = \Sigma \alpha \cdot \Sigma \alpha \alpha_{1} - 3 \alpha \alpha_{1} \alpha_{2} = 3 \alpha_{3} - \alpha_{1} \alpha_{2} \equiv q \alpha,$$
  

$$p_{a} - p'_{a} = \alpha \alpha_{1} (\alpha - \alpha_{1}) + \alpha_{2}^{2} (\alpha - \alpha_{1}) - \alpha_{2} (\alpha^{2} - \alpha_{1}^{2}),$$
  

$$= (\alpha - \alpha_{1}) (\alpha - \alpha_{2}) (\alpha_{1} - \alpha_{2}) \equiv \sqrt{D}_{u},$$

where  $D_a$  is the discriminant of the given cubic, hence

 $\begin{array}{l} 2 \ p_a = q_a + \sqrt{D_a}, \\ 2 \ p'_a = q_a - \sqrt{D_a}, \\ 2 \ p_c = q_c + \sqrt{D_c}, \\ 2 \ p'_c = q'_c - \sqrt{D_c}. \end{array}$ 

Hence

Similarly we have

 $\rho \rho_1 \rho_2 = c c_1 c_2 (3 a_1 a_2 - a_1^3 - 3 a_3) - a_3 \Sigma c^3 - 3 c c_1 c_2 a_3 + \frac{1}{2} (q_c q_a + \sqrt{D_c D_a}).$ 

We have now found the coefficients of the cubic whose roots are  $\rho$ ,  $\rho_1$ ,  $\rho_2$ , expressed in terms of the coefficients of the given cubic.

In finding the coefficients of the cubic whose roots are  $\rho'$ ,  $\rho'_1$ ,  $\rho'_2$  we notice that  $\Sigma \rho' = \Sigma \rho$ , and  $\Sigma \rho' \rho'_1 = \Sigma \rho \rho_1$ . The product  $\rho' \rho'_1 \rho'_2$  differs from  $\rho \rho_1 \rho_2$  only in the sign before the radical. Consequently, on multiplying the left members of the two cubics, the radical disappears and we obtain a sextic, whose coefficients are numbers in  $\Omega$ . This sextic is the required equation H(y) = 0, whose roots are  $\rho$ ,  $\rho_1$ ,  $\rho_2$ ,  $\rho'$ ,  $\rho'_1$ ,  $\rho'_2$ .

**Ex. 5.** Show that when in the sextic of Ex. 4 the value of  $D_a$  is a perfect square, the sextic becomes reducible into two cubic equations in  $\Omega$ . Hence g(y) = 0 is a cubic in this instance.

**Ex.** 6. Of what degree is the Galois resolvent of the general quartic ? The general quintic ?

**Ex.** 7. Find the roots of the equation  $x^5 + x^4 - x^3 - x^2 - 2x - 2 = 0$ . From the roots determine the Galois domain. Prove that  $x^4 - 2x^2 + 9 = 0$  is a Galois resolvent.

146. Theorem. The Galois resolvent is a normal equation, and any normal equation is its own Galois resolvent.

The resolvent is a normal equation because (1) it is irreducible and (2) all its roots occur in the Galois.domain  $\Omega_{(\rho)}$ ,

where  $\rho$  is a root of the resolvent (§ 144), and are, therefore, functions in  $\Omega$  of the one root  $\rho$  (§ 138).

To prove the second part, let f(x) = 0 be a normal equation, having the roots  $\alpha$ ,  $\alpha_1, \dots, \alpha_{n-1}$ . Then  $\Omega_{(\alpha)}$  is a normal domain (§ 141); f(x) = 0 is its own Galois resolvent, because being irreducible it satisfies property (1) in § 145, and all its roots being in the domain  $\Omega_{(a)}$ , and, therefore, functions of  $\alpha$  in  $\Omega$ , it satisfies also properties (2) and (3).

Ex. 1. Show that the equation in Ex. 5 (§ 133) is its own Galois resolvent.

Ex. 2. Show that the Galois resolvent in Ex. 2 (§ 145) satisfies the definition of a normal equation.

Ex. 3. Find the Galois domain for the equation in Ex. 3 (§ 133). Find the irreducible equation in  $\Omega_{(1)}$  having the primitive number  $\sqrt{6} + \sqrt{5}$ as a root. Show that this equation is its own Galois resolvent and that the Galois domain is normal.

147. Theorem. If f(x) = 0 is a normal equation of the nth degree with a root  $\rho$  as a primitive number in the normal domain  $\Omega_{(\rho)}$ , then the transposition  $(\rho \rho_h)$  causes each of the numbers conjugate to p to be replaced by some other of their own set, but no two numbers are replaced by the same one.

Let the numbers conjugate to  $\rho$  be  $\rho$ ,  $\rho_1, \dots, \rho_{n-1}$ . They are all roots of the equation f(x) = 0 (§ 138). Since  $\Omega_{(p)}$  is assumed to be normal, they are contained in it. Hence we have 1

$$\rho = \phi_0(\rho), \ \rho_1 = \phi_1(\rho), \ \cdots, \ \rho_{n-1} = \phi_{n-1}(\rho),$$
 I

where  $\phi_0, \phi_1, \cdots$  are functions in  $\Omega$ . If in  $\phi_k(\rho)$ , which is a root of f(x) = 0, we replace  $\rho$  by  $\rho_h$ , we get as a result  $\phi_k(\rho_h)$ , which, being conjugate to  $\phi_k(\rho)$ , is another root of f(x) = 0 (§ 136). Hence the numbers in the series

$$\phi_0(\rho_h), \phi_1(\rho_h), \cdots, \phi_{n-1}(\rho_h)$$
 II

are identical with numbers in I, except in the order in which they are written. Now, if we can show that the roots II are all distinct, our theorem is proved.

158

None of the roots II are alike, for suppose  $\phi_i(\rho_h) = \phi_k(\rho_h)$ , that is,  $\phi_i(\rho_h) - \phi_k(\rho_h) = 0$ , III

then III is an equation having  $\rho_h$  as a root. But the irreducible equation f(x) = 0 has also  $\rho_h$  as a root. Hence III must be satisfied by all the roots of f(x) = 0; for instance, by  $\rho$ . Consequently,  $\phi(\alpha) = \phi(\alpha) = 0$ 

$$\boldsymbol{\phi}_i(\boldsymbol{\rho}) - \boldsymbol{\phi}_k(\boldsymbol{\rho}) = 0.$$

This equation by I may be written  $\rho_i - \rho_k = 0$ , which cannot be true, since  $\rho$  is a primitive number.

**Ex. 1.** In Ex. 5, § 133, we have given an irreducible equation with the roots  $\rho$ ,  $\rho_1$ ,  $\rho_2$ ,  $\rho_3$ , conjugate to  $\rho$  in the normal domain  $\Omega_{(\rho)}$ . We have  $\rho_1 = \rho^2$ ,  $\rho_2 = \rho^3$ ,  $\rho_3 = \rho^4$ . Hence the roots may be represented by the series  $\rho$ ,  $\rho^2$ ,  $\rho^3$ ,  $\rho^4$ .

If in I we write  $\rho_3$  for  $\rho$ , we get

where  $\rho_{3}^{2} = \rho_{2}$ ,  $\rho_{3}^{3} = \rho_{1}$ ,  $\rho_{3}^{4} = \rho$ . Hence the transposition  $(\rho\rho_{3})$  only changed the order of the roots.

**Ex.** 2. What is the order of the roots, if in Ex. 1, we apply the transposition  $(\rho \rho_2)$ ?

**148.** Theorem. Every transposition  $(\rho_h \rho_k)$  in the normal domain  $\Omega_{(\rho)}$  is equal to some one of the transpositions  $(\rho \rho_1)$ ,  $(\rho \rho_2), \dots, (\rho \rho_{n-1})$ .

We have 
$$\rho_h = \phi_h(\rho),$$
 I

where  $\phi_{h}(\rho)$  is a root of the normal equation f(x) = 0. Upon  $\phi_{h}(\rho)$  perform the transposition  $(\rho\rho_{i})$ , and we get  $\phi_{h}(\rho_{i})$ . This is a number conjugate to  $\phi_{h}(\rho)$ , and is, therefore, one of the other roots of f(x) = 0, say  $\rho_{k}$  (§ 138), so that

Since the transposition  $(\rho_h \rho_k)$  changes  $\rho_h$  to  $\rho_k$ , and the transposition  $(\rho \rho_i)$  changes  $\phi_h(\rho)$  to  $\phi_h(\rho_i)$ , we have from equations I and II that  $(\rho_h \rho_k) = (\rho \rho_i)$ .

Ex. 1. In Ex. 5, § 133, the four roots satisfy the following relations:

Operate upon the left members of these equalities with the transposition  $(\rho\rho_2)$ , and upon the right members with  $(\rho_2\rho_3)$ , and show that  $(\rho\rho_2) = (\rho_2\rho_3)$ .

**Ex.** 2. In Ex. 1 find the transposition  $(\rho \rho_i)$  which is equal to  $(\rho_1 \rho_3)$ .

**Ex. 3.** In Ex. 1, § 136, find *i* so that  $(\alpha \alpha_i) = (\alpha_1 \alpha_2)$ .

149. Substitutions of the Domain  $\Omega_{(\rho)}$ . Since any transposition  $(\rho_h \rho_k) = (\rho \rho_i)$ , where *i* is some one of the numbers 0, 1, 2,  $\cdots (n-1)$ , it follows that there are not more than *n* distinct transpositions in the given normal domain  $\Omega_{(\rho)}$ , which number agrees with the degree of the domain and the degree of the equation f(x) = 0, whose roots define this domain. Since every number in  $\Omega_{(\rho)}$  can be expressed as a function of  $\rho$  in  $\Omega$ , since every number operated upon by  $(\rho \rho_i)$  passes into some other number in the domain conjugate to it, since, moreover, no two numbers pass into the same number (§ 147), it follows that each such substitution applied to all the numbers in the normal domain leaves the domain as a whole unchanged.

The substitutions  $(\rho \rho_i)$ , where *i* takes successively the values 0, 1, ... (n-1), are called the substitutions of the domain  $\Omega_{(\rho)}$ .

If  $N = \phi(\rho)$  is invariant under  $(\rho \rho_i)$  so that  $N = \phi(\rho) = \phi(\rho_i)$ , then we say that N admits of the substitution  $(\rho \rho_i)$ . Observe the difference between the expressions admits and belongs to (§ 111). In both the function must be unaltered under the substitutions of a certain group  $G_1$ , but in the latter expression we have the additional condition that the function must be altered by every substitution of G which does not occur in  $G_1$ ,  $G_1$  being regarded as a sub-group of G.

If  $N = \phi(\rho)$  is a primitive number, then it is distinct from each of its other conjugates  $\phi(\rho_1), \phi(\rho_2), \dots, \phi(\rho_{n-1})$ . Hence N admits of none of the substitutions  $(\rho\rho_i)$ , except, of course, the identical substitution 1. **150.** Theorem. The substitutions of the normal domain  $\Omega_{(p)}$  constitute a group of the order n.

Remembering the definition of a substitution group (§ 95), we need only show that in the *n* distinct transpositions the product of any two, say of  $(\rho\rho_i)$  and  $(\rho\rho_h)$ , is equal to some one of the transpositions in the set, say  $(\rho\rho_k)$ .

By § 148 we know that  $(\rho \rho_i) = (\rho_h \rho_k)$ . Multiply both sides by  $(\rho \rho_h)$ , and we get

$$(\rho\rho_{\hbar})(\rho\rho_{i}) = (\rho\rho_{\hbar})(\rho_{\hbar}\rho_{k}) = (\rho\rho_{k});$$

that is, the product of any two substitutions  $(\rho \rho_h)$  and  $(\rho \rho_i)$  is a substitution belonging to the set.

**151.** Theorem. If the equation f(x) = 0 yields the Galois domain  $\Omega_{(\rho)}$ , then there corresponds to the group of substitutions  $(\rho \rho_i)$  of that domain a group of substitutions  $s_i$  of the same order among the roots of the equation, such that the product of any two substitutions  $(\rho \rho_i)$ ,  $(\rho \rho_j)$  of the domain corresponds to the product of the two corresponding substitutions  $s_i$ ,  $s_j$  of the roots of f(x)=0.

Let f(x) = 0 have the roots  $a, a_1, \dots, a_{n-1}$ , all of them distinct. Since these roots are numbers in the Galois domain  $\Omega_{(a, \dots, a_{n-1})} \equiv \Omega_{(p)}$  of the degree m, it follows that

$$\rho = \Phi[\alpha, \dots, \alpha_s, \dots, \alpha_{n-1}], \qquad I$$

and that  $\alpha_s = \phi_s(\rho)$  where s has any value 0, 1,  $\cdots$  (n-1). Substituting for the *a*'s their values, we get from I,

$$\rho = \Phi[\phi(\rho), \dots, \phi_s(\rho), \dots, \phi_{n-1}(\rho)]. \qquad \text{II}$$

Now  $\rho$  is a primitive number in the Galois domain  $\Omega_{(\rho)}$  (§ 144), and is, therefore, a root of the Galois resolvent g(y) = 0, whose other roots are the remaining numbers conjugate to it, viz.  $\rho_1, \dots, \rho_{m-1}$ . Consider II an equation having a root  $\rho$ , then the irreducible equation g(y) = 0 and the equation II have  $\rho$  as a common root; hence the conjugates of  $\rho$  are roots common to both equations (§ 126). Replacing  $\rho$  by any of its conjugates  $\rho_{0}$  we have, therefore,

$$\rho_i = \Phi[\phi(\rho_i), \cdots, \phi_s(\rho_i), \cdots, \phi_{n-1}(\rho_i)]. \qquad \text{III}$$

Replacing in II  $\rho$  by  $\rho_j$ , where *i* and *j* are distinct, we get

$$\rho_{\boldsymbol{j}} = \Phi[\phi(\rho_{\boldsymbol{j}}), \, \cdots, \, \phi_{s}(\rho_{\boldsymbol{j}}), \, \cdots, \, \phi_{n-1}(\rho_{\boldsymbol{j}})]. \qquad \text{IV}$$

Since  $\alpha_s$  is a root of f(x) = 0 and  $\alpha_s = \phi_s(\rho)$ , we have the equation  $f[\phi_s(\rho)] = 0$ , which has  $\rho$  as one of its roots. But  $\rho$  is also a root of the irreducible equation g(y) = 0; hence (§ 126) we have  $f[\phi_s(\rho_i)] = 0$ ; that is,  $\phi_s(\rho_i)$  is some one of the roots  $\alpha_i$  of the equation f(x) = 0. For the same reason  $\phi_s(\rho_j)$  is some one of these roots.

Since  $\phi_s(\rho_i)$  and  $\phi_s(\rho_j)$  represent each some root of f(x) = 0, we see that in each bracket of III and IV we have some arrangement of the roots  $\alpha$ ,  $\alpha_1, \dots, \alpha_{n-1}$ .

The two arrangements are not identical; for if they were, we would have  $\phi_s(\rho_i) = \phi_s(\rho_j)$  for all values of s; the right members of III and IV being equal, the left members would be; that is,  $\rho_i = \rho_j$ . But this is impossible, since they are roots of the irreducible equation g(y) = 0, and can, therefore, not be equal. Hence it follows that to any two distinct substitutions  $(\rho \rho_i), (\rho \rho_j)$  there correspond two distinct substitutions among the a's.

From this we draw the further conclusion that since the  $\alpha$ 's belong to the domain  $\Omega_{(\rho)}$ , and the entire domain has only mdistinct substitutions, there are just m distinct substitutions among the  $\alpha$ 's. There exists, therefore, a one-to-one correspondence between the substitutions  $(\rho \rho_i)$  and the substitutions  $s_i$  of the roots  $\alpha$ .

Now the product  $(\rho\rho_i)(\rho\rho_j)$  is equal to some other substitution in the group, say  $(\rho\rho_k)$ . If to  $(\rho\rho_i)$ ,  $(\rho\rho_j)$ ,  $(\rho\rho_k)$  there correspond, respectively,  $s_i$ ,  $s_j$ ,  $s_k$  among the roots, and if

$$(\rho\rho_i)(\rho\rho_j) = (\rho\rho_k),$$

we have also  $s_i \cdot s_j = s_k$ .

**Ex. 1.** The quartic equation  $x^4 - 12 x^3 + 12 x^2 + 176 x - 96 = 0$  has the roots  $\alpha = 2 + 2\sqrt{7},$   $\alpha_1 = 2 - 2\sqrt{7},$ 

$$a_2 = 4 + 2\sqrt{3},$$
  $a_3 = 4 - 2\sqrt{3}.$ 

The Galois domain  $\Omega_{(\rho)}$  is obtained by adjoining  $\sqrt{7} + \sqrt{3}$  to  $\Omega_{(1)}$ . We have  $\rho = \sqrt{7} + \sqrt{3}$ .

$$\rho_1 = \sqrt{7} + \sqrt{3}, \qquad \rho_1 = \sqrt{7} - \sqrt{3}.$$

By inspection, we get

$$\begin{aligned} \alpha &= \phi(\rho) \equiv 2 + \frac{1}{4} (24 \ \rho - \rho^3), \\ \alpha_1 &= \phi_1(\rho) \equiv 2 - \frac{1}{4} (24 \ \rho - \rho^3), \\ \alpha_2 &= \phi_2(\rho) \equiv 4 - \frac{1}{4} (16 \ \rho - \rho^3), \\ \alpha_3 &= \phi_3(\rho) \equiv 4 + \frac{1}{4} (16 \ \rho - \rho^3). \end{aligned}$$

Substituting for  $\rho$ , in succession,  $\rho$ ,  $\rho_1$ ,  $\rho_2$ ,  $\rho_3$ , we obtain the following table:  $\phi(\rho) = \alpha$ ,  $\phi_1(\rho) = \alpha$ ,  $\phi_2(\rho) = \alpha$ ,  $\phi_3(\rho) = \alpha$ , I

$$\begin{aligned} \phi(\rho) &= \alpha, & \phi_1(\rho) = \alpha_1, & \phi_2(\rho) = \alpha_2, & \phi_3(\rho) = \alpha_3, & 1 \\ \phi(\rho_1) &= \alpha, & \phi_1(\rho_1) = \alpha_1, & \phi_2(\rho_1) = \alpha_3, & \phi_3(\rho_1) = \alpha_2. & \text{II} \\ \phi(\rho_2) &= \alpha_1, & \phi_1(\rho_2) = \alpha, & \phi_2(\rho_2) = \alpha_2, & \phi_3(\rho_2) = \alpha_3. & \text{III} \\ \phi(\rho_3) &= \alpha_1, & \phi_1(\rho_3) = \alpha, & \phi_2(\rho_3) = \alpha_3, & \phi_3(\rho_3) = \alpha_2. & \text{IV} \end{aligned}$$

Operating upon  $\phi(\rho)$ ,  $\phi_1(\rho)$ ,  $\phi_2(\rho)$ ,  $\phi_3(\rho)$  in line I with the transposition  $(\rho\rho_1)$  gives us line II. The arrangement  $\alpha$ ,  $\alpha_1$ ,  $\alpha_2$ ,  $\alpha_3$  in line I has changed to the arrangement  $\alpha$ ,  $\alpha_1$ ,  $\alpha_3$ ,  $\alpha_2$  in line II. Hence  $(\rho\rho_1)$  corresponds to  $(\alpha_2 \alpha_3)$ . Thus, to the substitutions of the domain, viz.,

1, 
$$(\rho\rho_1)$$
,  $(\rho\rho_2)$ ,  $(\rho\rho_3)$ , V

there correspond, respectively, the substitutions among the roots

1,  $(\alpha_2\alpha_3)$ ,  $(\alpha\alpha_1)$ ,  $(\alpha\alpha_1)(\alpha_2\alpha_3)$ . VI

The latter are readily seen to constitute a group. Groups related to each other, as are these two, are called *isomorphic*. Group VI is called the *Galois group* of the given quartic equation.

**Ex.** 2. Find in the list of groups enumerated in § 104 the group VI of **Ex.** 1.

**Ex. 3.** In Ex. 1,  $\phi_2(\rho) = \alpha_2$  and  $\phi_2(\rho_1) = \phi_3(\rho) = \phi_3(\rho_2) = \phi_2(\rho_3) = \alpha_3$ . Show that, in the set of substitutions V,  $(\rho\rho_1)(\rho\rho_2) = (\rho\rho_3)$ . Forming all possible products of two transpositions, show that V is actually a group.

**Ex.** 4. The cubic  $x^3 + 3x^2 + x - 1 = 0$  has the roots  $\alpha = -1$ ,  $\alpha_1 = -1 + \sqrt{2}$ ,  $\alpha_2 = -1 - \sqrt{2}$  and the Galois domain  $\Omega_{(1,\sqrt{2})}$ , where  $\rho = \sqrt{2}$  and  $\rho_1 = -\sqrt{2}$ . Find the Galois group in both forms.

152. Galois Group of f(x) = 0 in  $\Omega$ . The group of substitutions among the roots  $\alpha, \alpha_1, \dots, \alpha_{n-1}$  of the equation f(x) = 0corresponding to (isomorphic with) the group of the Galois domain  $\Omega_{(\rho)}$  of that equation is called the *Galois group* of the equation. The term *Galois group* is really applicable to the two isomorphic groups indifferently. For two (simply) isomorphic groups are identical, abstractly considered, since to every substitution of one there corresponds a single substitution of the other, and vice versa, and since to the product of any two substitutions in the one there corresponds the product of the two corresponding substitutions in the other. For convenience we shall restrict the term *Galois group* to the group of substitutions having the roots as elements.

**Ex. 1.** Show that 
$$G_2^{(4)}$$
 and  $G_2^{(2)}$  are isomorphic; also  $G_6^{(5)}$  I and  $G_6^{(3)}$ .

- **Ex. 2.** Show that  $G_6^{(3)}$  is simply isomorphic with
- $G \equiv 1, \ (\alpha_1 \alpha_2)(\alpha_3 \alpha_6)(\alpha_4 \alpha_5), \ (\alpha_1 \alpha_3)(\alpha_2 \alpha_5)(\alpha_4 \alpha_6),$  $(\alpha_1 \alpha_4)(\alpha_2 \alpha_6)(\alpha_3 \alpha_5), \ (\alpha_1 \alpha_5 \alpha_6)(\alpha_2 \alpha_3 \alpha_4), \ (\alpha_1 \alpha_6 \alpha_5)(\alpha_2 \alpha_4 \alpha_8).$

**153.** Theorem. Every function in  $\Omega$ ,  $f(\alpha, \alpha_1, \dots, \alpha_{n-1})$ , which equals a number N in  $\Omega$ , admits every substitution of the Galois group of f(x) = 0.

Since  $\Omega_{(a, a_1, \dots, a_{n-1})} = \Omega_{(\rho)}$ , each  $\alpha_i$ , where  $i = 0, 1, \dots, (n-1)$ , is a function in  $\Omega$  of  $\rho$ . Hence we have

$$f(\alpha, \alpha_1, \cdots, \alpha_{n-1}) = \theta(\rho) = N, \qquad \qquad \mathbf{I}$$

where f and  $\theta$  are functions in  $\Omega$ . We have  $\theta(\rho) - N = 0$ , and this equation in  $\Omega$  is satisfied by one root  $\rho$ , and therefore by all the roots which belong to the Galois resolvent g(y) = 0(§ 126). That is,  $\theta(\rho_i) = N$ . But by I the transposition  $(\rho\rho_i)$ , performed upon  $\theta(\rho)$ , produces the same result as the corresponding substitution of the Galois group, performed upon  $f(\alpha, \dots, \alpha_{n-1})$ . As  $\theta(\rho)$  remains unaltered, so  $f(\alpha, \dots, \alpha_{n-1})$ remains unaltered.
**154.** Theorem. Every function in  $\Omega$ ,  $f(\alpha, \alpha_1, \dots, \alpha_{n-1})$ , which admits all the substitutions of the Galois group, is a number in  $\Omega$ .

In the equation  $f(\alpha, \alpha_1, \dots, \alpha_{n-1}) = \theta(\rho)$ , given in § 153,  $f(\alpha, \alpha_1, \dots, \alpha_{n-1})$  admits by hypothesis of the substitutions of the Galois group; consequently,  $\theta(\rho)$  admits of the corresponding transpositions of the Galois domain  $\Omega_{(\rho)}$ . That is,  $\theta(\rho)$ , being invariant, is equal to all its conjugates  $\theta(\rho_i)$ .

But  $\theta(\rho)$  is a number in the domain  $\Omega_{(\rho)}$  and is a root of an equation of the *n*th degree in  $\Omega$ , whose other roots are the remaining numbers conjugate to it (§ 136). All these roots being equal, that equation is  $\{x - \theta(\rho)\}^n = 0$ . Hence  $x - \theta(\rho) = 0$  is an equation in  $\Omega$ . Therefore  $\theta(\rho)$  is a number in  $\Omega$ , as is also its equal,  $f(\alpha, \dots, \alpha_{n-1})$ .

**Ex. 1.** In Ex. 1, § 151, the Galois group is 1,  $(\alpha_2\alpha_3)$ ,  $(\alpha\alpha_1)$ ,  $(\alpha\alpha_1) \cdot (\alpha_2\alpha_3)$ . The roots of f(x) = 0 are  $\alpha$ ,  $\alpha_1$ ,  $\alpha_2$ ,  $\alpha_3$ . Then  $\alpha^2 + 4\alpha_1 + 10$  is a function in  $\Omega_{(1)}$  of two roots of f(x) = 0. The value of this function is 50, a number in  $\Omega_{(1)}$ ; that is, belonging to the domain  $\Omega_{(1)}$ . Performing the substitutions  $(\alpha\alpha_1)$ , we get  $\alpha_1^2 + 4\alpha + 10$ , which still equals 50. The other substitutions do not affect the function. This illustrates § 153.

**Ex.** 2. Using the group and roots of Ex. 1, illustrate § 153 by the equation  $(\alpha^2 + 4\alpha_1 - 24)^2(\alpha_2^2 + 8\alpha_3 - 60)^3 = 0$ . Here the left member of the equation is our *function*, and the number in  $\Omega$  is 0.

**Ex.** 3.  $f(x) \equiv x^4 - x^2 - 2 = 0$  has the Galois domain  $\Omega_{(\rho)}$ , where  $\rho = \sqrt{2} + i$ ,  $\rho_1 = \sqrt{2} - i$ ,  $\rho_2 = -\sqrt{2} + i$ ,  $\rho_3 = -\sqrt{2} - i$ . (1) Express each of the roots of f(x) = 0 as a function of  $\rho$ . (2) Find the group of the domain. (3) Find the Galois group of f(x) = 0.

**Ex.** 4. In Ex. 3 show that  $f(\alpha, \dots, \alpha_{n-1}) \equiv \alpha^3 + \alpha_1^3 + \alpha_2^3 + \alpha_3^3$  admits all the substitutions of the Galois group; then show by actual substitution that  $f(\alpha, \dots, \alpha_{n-1})$  is a number in  $\Omega_{(1)}$ . This illustrates § 154.

**155.** Theorem. A group G is a Galois group of the equation f(x) = 0 for the domain  $\Omega$  whenever

(A) Every function in  $\Omega$  of the roots  $a_i$ , which is a number in  $\Omega$ , admits the substitutions of G, and

(B) Every function in  $\Omega$  of the roots  $\alpha_0$ , which admits the substitutions of G, is a number in  $\Omega$ .

Firstly, we prove that every substitution of G belongs to the Galois group.

As in § 142, select appropriate values in  $\Omega$  for the coefficients  $c, c_1, \dots, c_{n-1}$  so that distinct values for  $\rho$  are obtained for every permutation of the roots  $\alpha, \alpha_1, \dots, \alpha_{n-1}$  in the relation

Now  $\rho$  is a root of the Galois resolvent g(y) = 0. In  $g(\rho) = 0$ substitute for  $\rho$  its value in I and we get a function in  $\Omega$  of  $\alpha$ ,  $\alpha_{\rm D} \cdots, \alpha_{n-1}$ , which equals the number zero. If this function satisfies hypothesis (A), it admits any substitution s of the given group G. But by I this substitution changes  $\rho$  into some distinct value  $\rho_{\alpha}$ . Hence  $g(\rho_{\alpha}) = 0$ , and  $\rho_{\alpha}$  is a conjugate of  $\rho$ . But the substitution  $(\rho\rho_{\alpha})$ , which corresponds to s, is a transposition of the Galois domain; hence s belongs to the Galois group, and G is either the Galois group or one of its sub-groups.

Secondly, we prove that the Galois group is G itself. Suppose G embraces j substitutions, namely,

then the application of each of these to the function  $\rho$  in I yields the values  $\rho_1, \dots, \rho_i, \rho_{i-1}$ . III

If we operate with any substitution  $s_k$  in II upon any value  $\rho_i$  in III, the result  $\rho'_i$  must be the same as if we had operated upon  $\rho$  directly with  $s_i s_k$ . But  $s_i s_k$  must, by the definition of a group, be one of the substitutions in II; hence  $\rho'_i$  must be one of the values in III. Thus it is evident that the operation with  $s_k$  upon every value of III causes simply a permutation of the values in III. Hence a function g'(y), defined by the relation  $\rho'_i(y) = (y_i - \rho_i)(y_i - \rho_i) \cdots (y_i - \rho_i)$ .

$$g'(y) \equiv (y - \rho) (y - \rho_1) \cdots (y - \rho_{j-1})$$

has coefficients of y that are each invariant under the substitutions of G. If we apply to each of these coefficients the hypothesis (B), each of them is a number in  $\Omega$ . Consequently g'(y) is a function of y in  $\Omega$ .

Now g'(y) = 0 and the Galois resolvent g(y) = 0 have the root  $\rho$  in common, hence (§ 126) the degree of g'(y) = 0 cannot be less than that of g(y) = 0; that is, j, which is the order of G, cannot be less than the order of the Galois group. Hence the two groups are the same.

**156.** Theorem. An equation is reducible or irreducible according as its Galois group is intransitive or transitive.

Let  $f(x) = F(x) \cdot h(x) = 0,$ 

where f(x) = 0 is reducible and f(x), F(x), h(x) are functions in  $\Omega$ . Let the roots of F(x) = 0 be

$$\alpha, \alpha_1, \cdots, \alpha_i, \cdots, \alpha_{\nu-1}$$
.

These are also roots of f(x) = 0, which has the following additional roots:  $\alpha_{v_1}, \dots, \alpha_{i_j}, \alpha_{n-1}$ . II

Now it is evident that no root  $\alpha_i$  of set I can be replaced in the equation F(x) = 0 by a root  $\alpha_j$  of set II, for  $\alpha_j$  is not a root of F(x) = 0. Yet we know that the coefficients of x of F(x) = 0 admit all the substitutions of the Galois group of f(x) = 0 (§ 153). Hence this group can have no substitution which replaces  $\alpha_i$  by  $\alpha_i$  and the group is intransitive (§ 102).

Conversely, if the group P is intransitive and permutes the roots in set I among themselves only, so that  $\alpha_i$  will not be replaced by  $\alpha_i$ , then the product

$$F(x) \equiv (x - \alpha) (x - \alpha_1) \cdots (x - \alpha_{\nu-1})$$

admits of all the substitutions of P, and is, therefore, a function of x in  $\Omega$ . Hence F(x) is a factor in  $\Omega$  of f(x), and f(x) = 0 is reducible.

**Ex. 1.** Illustrate this theorem by showing that the Galois groups of **Exs. 1** and  $4 \text{ in } \S$  151 are intransitive.

**157.** Theorem. An imprimitive domain has an imprimitive group.

Let f(x) = 0, having the roots  $a, a_1, \dots, a_{n-1}$ , be irreducible. Then its Galois group P is transitive (§ 156). Let the domain  $\Omega_{(a)}$  be imprimitive; that is, let it possess imprimitive numbers which are not all numbers in  $\Omega$  (§ 135). If  $N = \phi(a)$ is an imprimitive number, then its conjugates may be divided into  $n_1$  sets of  $n_2$  equal numbers in each set, so that  $n = n_1 \cdot n_2$ (§ 138). We have then the following  $n_1$  sets of roots of f(x) = 0with  $n_2$  roots in each :

$$\begin{array}{c} A = \alpha, \ \alpha_{1}, \ \cdots, \ \alpha_{n_{2}-1}, \\ B = \beta, \ \beta_{1}, \ \cdots, \ \beta_{n_{2}-1}, \\ \vdots & \vdots & \vdots \\ S = \sigma, \ \sigma_{1}, \ \cdots, \ \sigma_{n_{2}-1}, \end{array} \right\},$$

so that

$$N = \phi(\alpha) = \phi(\alpha_1) = \dots = \phi(\alpha_{n_2-1}),$$
  

$$N_1 = \phi(\beta) = \phi(\beta_1) = \dots = \phi(\beta_{n_3-1}),$$
  

$$\dots \dots \dots \dots \dots \dots \dots \dots$$
  

$$N_{n_1-1} = \phi(\sigma) = \phi(\sigma_1) = \dots = \phi(\sigma_{n_2-1})$$

are numbers conjugate to N.

From II we see that the Galois group P of f(x) = 0 must be so constituted that the roots of each set  $A, B, \dots, S$  are interchanged among themselves and that the sets  $A, B, \dots, S$  are interchanged bodily, but never can two roots of the same set be replaced by two roots belonging to different sets. Hence Pis an imprimitive group (§ 103).

**Ex. 1.** Show that the group composed of the powers of (0123) is an imprimitive group.

Ex. 2. Show that any cyclic group whose order is not prime is an imprimitive group.

**158.** Theorem. The symmetric group of the nth degree is the Galois group of the general equation f(x) = 0 of the nth degree in the domain  $\Omega$ , defined by the coefficients of f(x).

In the general equation f(x) = 0 no relation is assumed to exist between the roots; that is, the roots are taken to be independent variables.

In all cases a symmetric function in  $\Omega$  of the roots equals a number in  $\Omega$  (§ 70). If it be granted that, for the general equation, this is the only function in  $\Omega$  having this property, condition A of § 155 demands simply that

Every symmetric function of the roots shall admit the substitutions of the symmetric group,

and condition B demands that

Every such symmetric function shall equal some number in  $\Omega$ .

Both statements are true. Hence the symmetric group is the Galois group of the general equation.

159. Actual Determination of the Galois Group. In Exs. 1 and 4 of § 151 we determined the Galois groups of easy equations, for the domain defined by the coefficients of the equation, by the aid of the roots of the equations. When the roots are not known, P might be obtained by the construction of the Galois resolvent, from which P is obtainable. But the Galois resolvent is not easily constructed. Practically the Galois group can be ascertained more readily from the theorem about to be deduced. It is well to remember that, when f(x) = 0 is irreducible, the degree of the Galois group is equal to the degree of the equation. When f(x) = 0 is reducible and the factors are known, it is easiest to consider the equations resulting from the irreducible factors of f(x). We proceed to prove the following theorem, in which M is any function in  $\Omega$  of the roots  $\alpha, \dots, \alpha_{n-1}$ , which belongs to Q as a sub-group of the symmetric group:

If a function M is a number in  $\Omega$ , the Galois group for the domain  $\Omega$  is either Q or one of its sub-groups.

Since, by hypothesis, M is a function in  $\Omega$  of the roots  $\alpha, \alpha_1, \dots, \alpha_{n-1}$ , which is a number in  $\Omega$ , it follows by § 153 that

M admits of every substitution of the Galois group. By definition, M belongs to Q; that is, there are no substitutions of the roots, except the substitutions in Q, which leave M unaltered in value. Hence the Galois group is either Q or one of its sub-groups.

**Ex. 1.** For the domain  $\Omega_{(a, \dots, a_{n-1})}$  the Galois group of f(x) = 0 is 1.

Let Q = 1 and  $M = c\alpha + \cdots + c_{n-1}\alpha_{n-1}$  be a function in  $\Omega$  of the roots, such that it is altered in value for every interchange of the roots. Then M belongs to Q, and is a number in the given domain. Hence, by the above theorem, P = 1 for  $\Omega_{(\alpha, \dots, \alpha_{n-1})}$ .

**Ex. 2.** Find the Galois group of the cubic  $x^3 + 3x^2 - 6x + 1 = 0$ .

The discriminant (§ 35) is found to be  $27^2$ . By § 77 the alternating function of  $\alpha$ ,  $\alpha_1$ ,  $\alpha_2$  equals the square root of the discriminant. This function admits the alternating group. See Ex. 1, § 100. Take  $M = (\alpha - \alpha_1)(\alpha - \alpha_2)(\alpha_1 - \alpha_2) = 27$ ,  $Q = G_3^{(3)}$ , and  $\Omega = \Omega_{(1)}$ . We see that *M* is unaltered in value by the substitutions of  $G_3^{(3)}$ , but that its algebraic sign is altered by the remaining substitutions of  $G_6^{(3)}$ . Hence *M* belongs to  $G_3^{(3)}$ ; *M* is a number in  $\Omega_{(1)}$ . Therefore the required group is either  $G_3^{(3)}$  or the group 1. By § 54 we see that the equation has irrational roots; hence *P* cannot be 1, it must be  $G_3^{(3)}$  for the domain  $\Omega_{(1)}$ .

Ex. 3. Find the Galois group of Newton's cubic

$$x^3 - 2x - 5 = 0.$$
  $h = -4^{-1}$ 

1 = 27 (25) 20

The discriminant is not a perfect square; hence  $P = G_6^{(3)}$  for  $\Omega_{(1)}$ .

**Ex. 4.** Show that  $P = G_3^{(3)}$  for the cubic

 $x^{3} - 3(c^{2} + c + 1)x + (c^{2} + c + 1)(2c + 1) = 0$ 

and the domain  $\Omega_{(1, c)}$ .

**Ex.** 5. Show that  $G_4^{(4)}$ II is the Galois group of  $x^4 + 1 = 0$  for the domain  $\Omega_{(1)}$ .

The discriminant, § 51, is 256, a perfect square. Hence the alternating function which belongs to  $G_{12}^{(4)}$  is a number in  $\Omega_{(1)}$ . The required group is either  $G_{12}^{(4)}$  or one of its sub-groups. It cannot be the identical group, because the roots are not rational; it cannot be  $G_{2}^{(4)}$ , because this is intransitive, while  $x^4 + 1$  is irreducible (§ 156). Hence the group is either  $G_{12}^{(4)}$  or  $G_4^{(4)}$ II. We see that  $y \equiv (\alpha - \alpha_1)(\alpha_2 - \alpha_3)$  is unaltered by  $G_4^{(4)}$ II, but is altered in form by all substitutions not in  $G_4^{(4)}$ II. The resolvent cubic, having y as a root, is  $y^3 - 12y + 16 = 0$  (Ex. 17, § 71). Since the

170

roots of this resolvent are rational, y is a number in  $\Omega_{(1)}$ . Since these roots are distinct, y is altered not only in *form*, but also in *value* by substitutions not in  $G_4^{(4)}II$ . Hence y belongs to  $G_4^{(4)}II$ , and we may take y = M. Hence  $G_4^{(4)}II$  is the required group.

**Ex. 6.** Find P for the equation 
$$(x^2 + 2)(x^2 + x + 1) = 0$$
,  $\Omega_{(1)}$ .

The Galois group of  $x^2 + 2 = 0$  for  $\Omega_{(1)}$  is P = 1,  $(\alpha \alpha_1)$ . The equation  $x^2 + x + 1 = 0$  gives, for  $\Omega_{(1)}$ , P' = 1.  $(\alpha_2 \alpha_3)$ . If we multiply the substitutions of P by those of P', we obtain the intransitive group 1,  $(\alpha \alpha_1)$ ,  $(\alpha_2 \alpha_3)$ ,  $(\alpha \alpha_1)(\alpha_2 \alpha_3) \equiv G_4^{(4)}$ III as the required group for the domain  $\Omega_{(1)}$ . See Ex. 6, § 104.

**Ex.** 7. For the domain  $\Omega_{(1)}$ ,  $x^3 - 2x - 5 = 0$  has  $P = G_6^{(3)}$ . Show that for the domain  $\Omega_{(1,\sqrt{D})}$ ,  $P = G_3^{(3)}$ .

Ex. 8. For the given domains find the Galois groups of

(a)  $x^2 + 5x + 6 = 0$ ,  $\dot{\Omega}_{(1)}$ . (b)  $x^2 + 5x + 5 = 0$ ,  $\Omega_{(1)}$ . (c)  $x^4 + 10 = 0$ ,  $\Omega_{(1,\sqrt{10})}$ . (d)  $(x + 1)^3 = 0$ ,  $\Omega_{(1)}$ . (e)  $x^3 - 21x + 35 = 0$ ,  $\Omega_{(1)}$ . (f)  $x^3 - 3(3 + \sqrt{2})x + 7(1 + \sqrt{2}) = 0$ ,  $\Omega_{(1,\sqrt{2})}$ . (g)  $x^4 + x^3 + x^2 + x + 1 = 0$ ,  $\Omega_{(1)}$ . (h)  $(x^2 + 5)(x^3 - 21x + 35) = 0$ ,  $\Omega_{(1)}$ , also  $\Omega_{(1,\sqrt{5})}$ . See Ex. 7, § 104. (i)  $x^6 - 1 = (x + 1)(x - 1)(x^2 + x + 1)(x^2 - x + 1) = 0$ ,  $\Omega_{(1)}$ . (k)  $x^{12} - 1 = 0$ ,  $\Omega_{(1)}$ . (l)  $x^4 + (a + b)x^2 + ab = 0$ ,  $\Omega_{(1, a, b)}$ . (m)  $x^3 - 2 = 0$ ,  $\Omega_{(1)}$ . (n)  $y^4 + 4x^3 + 6x^2 + 4x + 2 = 0$  for  $\Omega_{(1)}$ .

**Ex. 9.** Find a general expression for the equation of the fourth degree whose Galois group is  $G_8^{(4)}$ . Assume

$$(\alpha - \alpha_2)^2 + (\alpha_1 - \alpha_3)^2 = 8 c,$$
  

$$[(\alpha - \alpha_2)^2 - (\alpha_1 - \alpha_3)^2]^2 = 64 b,$$
  

$$[(\alpha - \alpha_2)^2 - (\alpha_1 - \alpha_3)^2][\alpha - \alpha_1 + \alpha_2 - \alpha_3] = 8\sqrt{b} \cdot 4 d\sqrt{b},$$

where b, c, d are rational numbers and b is not a perfect square. These

assumptions are justified by the fact that the left member of each equation is a function which belongs to  $G_8^{(4)}$ , § 154. We get

$$(\alpha - \alpha_2)^2 = 4(c + \sqrt{b}), \quad (\alpha_1 - \alpha_3)^2 = 4(c - \sqrt{b}),$$
  
$$\alpha - \alpha_1 + \alpha_2 - \alpha_3 = 4 \ d\sqrt{b},$$
  
$$\alpha + \alpha_1 + \alpha_2 + \alpha_3 = 4 \ b_1.$$
  
Hence  $\alpha = b_1 + d\sqrt{b} + \sqrt{c + \sqrt{b}}, \quad \alpha_2 = b_1 + d\sqrt{b} - \sqrt{c + \sqrt{b}}$   
$$\alpha_1 = b_1 - d\sqrt{b} + \sqrt{c - \sqrt{b}}, \quad \alpha_3 = b_1 - d\sqrt{b} - \sqrt{c - \sqrt{b}}$$

Diminishing each root by  $b_1$  and forming the quartic, we obtain the result  $a_1^4 = 2(h_1^2 + a_1)a_2^2 - 4h_1du + (h_1^2 - a_1)a_1 - b_1 = 0$ 

$$y^4 - 2(bd^2 + c)y^2 - 4 bdy + (bd^2 - c)^2 - b = 0.$$

**Ex. 10.** The quartic whose Galois group is  $G_4^{(4)}$ III is the reducible equation,

$$x^{4} - 2(c^{2} + d)x^{2} - 4 cex + (c^{2} - d + e)(c^{2} - d - e) = 0,$$

where (d + e) and (d - e) are not perfect squares.

Derive this by assuming

$$\alpha_1 + \alpha_2 - \alpha_3 - \alpha_4 = 4 c,$$
  
$$(\alpha_1 - \alpha_2)^2 + (\alpha_3 - \alpha_4)^2 = 8 d,$$
  
$$(\alpha_1 - \alpha_2)^2 - (\alpha_3 - \alpha_4)^2 = 8 e.$$

**Ex. 11.** Find a general expression for equations of the fourth degree having the Galois group  $G_4^{(4)}I$ . Use the functions

$$(\alpha_{1} - i\alpha_{2} - \alpha_{3} + i\alpha_{4})^{4},$$

$$(\alpha_{1} + i\alpha_{2} - \alpha_{3} - i\alpha_{4})^{4},$$

$$(\alpha_{1} - \alpha_{2} + \alpha_{3} - \alpha_{4})^{2},$$

$$(\alpha_{1} - i\alpha_{2} - \alpha_{3} + i\alpha_{4})(\alpha_{1} + i\alpha_{2} - \alpha_{3} - i\alpha_{4}),$$

$$(\alpha_{1} - \alpha_{2} + \alpha_{3} - \alpha_{4})(\alpha_{1} - i\alpha_{2} - \alpha_{3} + i\alpha_{4})^{2},$$

and impose upon the letters which appear in the expressions for the coefficients of the quartic no other conditions than that they shall be rational and one of them shall not be a perfect fourth power. See Ex. 3, 176.

**Ex. 12.** Show that, if the roots of the cubic in Ex. 11, § 71, are all rational, the Galois group of the quartic having the roots  $\alpha$ ,  $\beta$ ,  $\gamma$ ,  $\delta$  is either  $G_4^{(4)}$ II or one of its subfgroups.

Consider

$$(\alpha\beta + \gamma\delta) - (\alpha\gamma + \beta\delta).$$

 $(\alpha_1+\alpha_2-\alpha_3-\alpha_4)(\alpha_1-\alpha_2+\alpha_3-\alpha_4)(\alpha_1-\alpha_2-\alpha_3+\alpha_4)$ 

is a symmetric function of  $\alpha_1$ ,  $\alpha_2$ ,  $\alpha_3$ ,  $\alpha_4$ . The square of the product of the first two factors belongs to  $G_4^{(4)}$ II. To find the general quartic having  $G_4^{(4)}$ II as its Galois group, we may therefore assume the factors to equal, respectively,  $\sqrt{b}$ ,  $\sqrt{c}$ ,  $d\sqrt{bc}$ , where b, c, d are rational, but where bc is not a perfect square.

The required equation, deprived of its second term, is

$$y^4 - 2(b + c + bcd^2)y^2 - 8 bcdy + (b - c - bcd^2)^2 - 4 bc^2d^2 = 0.$$

**Ex. 14.** Show that  $x^4 + 2 bx^2 + c = 0$  has the group  $G_8^{(4)}$  when b and c are subject only to the condition that  $b^2 - c$  is not the square of a number in  $\Omega_{(1, b, c)}$ .

**Ex. 15.** Show that  $x^4 + 2 bx^2 + c = 0$  has the group  $G_4^{(4)}$ II when c, but not  $b^2 - c$ , is the square of a number in  $\Omega_{(1, b)}$ .

**Ex. 16.** Show that  $x^4 - 8 Sx^2 + 8 S^2 - 8 S^4 = 2$ , where S is any number in  $\Omega_{(1)}$ , has the group  $G_4^{(4)}$ I. See Ex. 11.

### CHAPTER XV

#### REDUCTION OF THE GALOIS RESOLVENT BY ADJUNCTION

160. Definition of M. Let the Galois group P (of the order p) of the equation f(x) = 0, having the roots  $a, a_1, \dots, a_{n-1}$ , possess a sub-group Q of the order q, where p = qj, j being the index of Q under P. For the purposes of the theorems in succeeding chapters, we define M nearly as in § 159.

Let M be any function in  $\Omega$  of the roots  $a, \dots, a_{n-1}$  which belongs to Q as a sub-group of P (§ 111).

161. Theorem. By operating upon M with the substitutions of P we obtain j distinct values of M which are roots of an irreducible equation of the jth degree in  $\Omega$ .

If t is a substitution of the Galois group P which does not occur in the sub-group Q, and if  $s, s_1, \dots, s_{q-1}$  be the substitutions of Q, then by the definition of a group,

$$st, s_1t, \cdots, s_{q-1}t,$$
 I

are all substitutions of P. But the substitutions  $s_r t$  in I, when applied to M, all produce the same effect, for in any case we may operate with the product  $s_r t$  by first operating with  $s_r$  and then upon the result with t. By hypothesis, operating with  $s_r$  upon M produces no change whatever, hence  $s_r t$  produces always only the result due to t alone.

By hypothesis it follows that, as t does not occur in the subgroup Q, t operated upon M gives us a new value  $M_1$ .

From § 106 we see that there are as many sets of substitutions I in the group P as q is contained in p; namely, j sets. The substitutions of any one set applied to M all give the same value for M, but no two sets yield the same value. For suppose  $s_i t_i$  and  $s_i t_k$  yielded the same value for M; that is, suppose

$$M_i = M$$
 operated upon by  $s_r t_i$ 

and  $M_i = M$  operated upon by  $s_r t_{\mu}$ ,

then, operating with  $(s_i t_i)^{-1}$  upon  $M_i$  would give M = M operated upon by  $(s_i t_k)(s_i t_i)^{-1}$ .

That is,  $(s_rt_k)(s_rt_i)^{-1}$  is a substitution contained in the group Qand is equal to, say  $s_m$ . If  $s_m \equiv (s_rt_k)(s_rt_i)^{-1}$ , then, operating with  $s_rt_i$ , we get

$$s_r t_k = s_m s_r t_i = s_m' t_i,$$

where  $s_m'$  is a substitution in Q. Since the effects of  $s_r t_k$  and  $s_m' t_i$  upon M are the effects of  $t_k$  and  $t_i$  alone, it follows that  $t_k = t_i$ , which is contrary to supposition. Hence  $s_r t_i$  and  $s_r t_k$  must yield different values when applied to M.

The function  $\phi(y) \equiv (y - M)(y - M_1) \cdots (y - M_{j-1})$  is now seen to be invariant under any substitution of P.

The coefficients of y in  $\phi(y)$ , obtained by performing the indicated multiplications, are symmetric functions of  $M, M_1, \dots, M_{j-1}$  and, therefore, by the definition of M, functions in  $\Omega$  of the roots of f(x) = 0, functions which admit of the substitutions of the Galois group P. Hence these coefficients are numbers in  $\Omega$  (§ 154).

To prove the irreducibility of  $\phi(y)$ , assume that  $\theta(y)$  is any function of y in  $\Omega$ , which vanishes for y = M. Then  $\theta(M) = 0$ . Since  $\theta(M)$  must admit all the substitutions of the Galois group (§ 153), we must have  $\theta(M_i) = 0$ , where i has any value  $0, 1, 2, \dots, (j-1)$ . Hence  $\theta(y)$  cannot be of lower degree than the *j*th. As all the roots  $M, M_1, \dots, M_{j-1}$  of  $\phi(y) = 0$  satisfy  $\theta(y) = 0, \theta(y)$  is divisible by  $\phi(y)$ .

Now, if  $\phi(y)$  were reducible, one of its factors would vanish for y = M. Since  $\theta(y)$  may be any algebraic function in  $\Omega$ which vanishes for y = M, let  $\theta(y)$  represent this factor. Then it would follow that this factor would be divisible by the whole product  $\phi(y)$ , which is impossible. Hence  $\phi(y)$  is irreducible. 162. Theorem of Lagrange as generalized by Galois. Any number in the Galois domain which admits the substitutions of the group Q is contained in the domain  $\Omega_{(M)}$ .

In § 161 we saw that M, a function which belongs to Q, assumed the following *distinct* values, when operated on by the substitutions of P:

$$M, M_1, \cdots, M_{j-1}.$$

Let M' be any function in  $\Omega$  of the roots  $a, \dots, a_{n-1}$  which admits the substitutions of Q. Let any substitution of Pwhich changes M into  $M_v$  change M' into  $M'_v$ , then we get the following values, corresponding to those in I,

$$M', M'_{1}, \dots, M'_{j-1}$$
. II

These are not necessarily distinct.

Accordingly when upon the series of numbers I and II we operate with a substitution of P, there occurs a permutation in each series, but such that if  $M_i$  changes to  $M_r$ , then  $M'_i$  changes to  $M'_r$ .

Defining  $\phi(y)$  as in § 161, consider the function

$$\Phi(y) \equiv \phi(y) \left( \frac{M'}{y - M} + \frac{M'_1}{y - M_1} + \dots + \frac{M'_{j-1}}{y - M_{j-1}} \right),$$

which is an integral function of y of the (j-1)th degree. This function is invariant under all substitutions of P. Hence it is a function in  $\Omega$ . Take y = M. Remembering that  $\phi(y)$ has no equal roots, we have (reasoning as in § 142)

$$M' = \frac{\Phi(M)}{\phi'(M)},$$

where  $\phi'$  indicates the first differential coefficient of  $\phi$  with respect to y. Thus M' is a number in the domain  $\Omega_{(M)}$ .

**Ex.** 1. Find the value of a root  $\alpha$  of the equation  $x^2 + 2 = 0$  in terms of  $\alpha - \alpha_1$ , it being given that P = 1,  $(\alpha \alpha_1)$ .

If we take Q = 1, we see that  $M \equiv \alpha - \alpha_1$  is a function which belongs to Q and that  $M' \equiv \alpha$  is a function which admits Q. We find  $M_1 \equiv \alpha_1 - \alpha$ ,

 $\begin{aligned} \phi(y) &\equiv (y - M)(y - M_1) = y^2 - (\alpha - \alpha_1)^2, \quad \Phi(y) \equiv y(\alpha + \alpha_1) + \alpha^2 + \alpha_1^2 \\ -2 \alpha \alpha_1 &= -8, \quad \phi'(y) = 2 y. \quad \text{Hence } \alpha = \Phi(M) / \phi'(M) = -4 / M. \quad \text{The correctness of this result is easily shown.} \end{aligned}$ 

**Ex.** 2. For the equation  $x^2 + ax + b = 0$ , having the group P = 1,  $(\alpha \alpha_1)$ , find  $\alpha^3 - \alpha_1^2$  as a function of  $\alpha$  in  $\Omega_{(1)}$ .

Take Q = 1, M = a,  $M' = a^3 - a_1^2$ , then  $\Phi(y) = (3 \ ab + 2 \ b - a^2 - a^3)y + 3 \ ab + 2 \ b^2 - a^2b - a^3$ ,  $\phi'(y) = 2 \ y + a$ . Hence

 $M' = \left[ \left( 3 \ ab + 2 \ b - a^2 - a^3 \right) M + 3 \ ab + 2 \ b^2 - a^2 b - a^3 \right] \div \left( 2 \ M + a \right).$ 

**Ex. 3.** Find the value of  $[[\omega, \alpha]^3$  for the cubic  $x^3 + a_1x^2 + a_2x + a_3 = 0$ in terms of the alternating function  $(\alpha - \alpha_1)(\alpha - \alpha_2)(\alpha_1 - \alpha_2) = \sqrt{D}$ . Let  $M = \sqrt{D}$ , then  $_1 M = -\sqrt{D}$ . We have  $M' \equiv [[\omega, \alpha]^3, M'_1 \equiv [[\omega^2, \alpha]^3, \phi(\eta) \equiv \eta^2 - D]$ .

$$\Phi(y) = y(M' + M'_1) + \sqrt{D}(M' - M'_1).$$
 By § 71, Ex. 15,

$$M' + \dot{M'}_1 = -2 a_1^3 + 9 a_1 a_2 - 27 a_3$$
. We find  $M' - M'_1 = -3 i \sqrt{3 D}$ ,  
 $\Phi(M) = \sqrt{D}(-2 a_1^3 + 9 a_1 a_2 - 27 a_3 - 3 i \sqrt{3 D})$ 

$$\phi'(M) \equiv 2\sqrt{D}, M' = \frac{1}{2}(-2a_1^3 + 9a_1a_2 - 27a_3 - 3i\sqrt{3D}).$$

See also the solution in § 173.

**Ex. 4.** For the quartic  $x^4 + 4 b_1 x^3 + 6 b_2 x^2 + 4 b_3 x + b_4 = 0$ , find the value of  $M' \equiv (\alpha + \alpha_2)(\alpha_1 + \alpha_3)$  in terms of M, where

$$16 M_1 \equiv (\alpha - \alpha + \alpha_2 - \alpha_3)^2.$$

Both *M* and *M'* belong to the group  $G_8^{(4)}$ . Notice that *M* is a root of the cubic III, § 62. See also § 169. Hence that cubic is  $\phi(y) = 0$ . We find  $16^2 \Phi(y) \equiv 16^2 (M' + M'_1 + M'_{11})y^2 - 16(\{M_1 + M_{11}\}M' + \{M + M_{11}\}M'_1$ 

$$+ \{M + M_1\}M'_{11}\}y + M_1M_{11}M' + MM_{11}M'_1 + MM_1M'_{11}$$

$$= 16^2 \cdot 2 \Sigma \alpha_1 \alpha_2 \cdot y^2 - 16 \left( 4 \Sigma \alpha \alpha_1 \cdot \Sigma \alpha^2 - 8 \Sigma \alpha^2 \alpha_1 \alpha_2 \right) y$$

+  $(2 \Sigma \alpha^5 \alpha_1 - 6 \Sigma \alpha^4 \alpha_1 \alpha_2 + 4 \Sigma \alpha^3 \alpha_1^2 \alpha_2 - 4 \Sigma \alpha^3 \alpha_1^3 - 4 \Sigma \alpha^2 \alpha_1^2 \alpha_2 \alpha_3).$ 

In Ex. 16, § 71, the values of the symmetric functions occurring here are given.

**Ex. 5.** Complete the computation in Ex. 4 for the special quartic  $x^4 + 6x^2 + 4x + 1 = 0$ . We obtain  $\Phi(y) \equiv 12 y^2 - 16 y - 3$ ,

$$\phi(y) \equiv y^3 + 3 y^2 + 2 y - \frac{1}{4}, \ M' = \frac{\phi(M)}{\phi'(M)} = 4 - \frac{40 M + 11}{3 M^2 + 6 M + 2}.$$

**163.** Reduction of Galois Group. If we adjoin to  $\Omega$  a function M, the Galois group reduces to Q.

Firstly, each function in  $\Omega_{(M)}$  of the roots  $\alpha$ ,  $\alpha_{1}, \dots, \alpha_{n-1}$  of the original equation f(x) = 0, which equals a number in  $\Omega_{(M)}$ , admits the substitutions of Q; for, this number in  $\Omega_{(M)}$  is a function of M, and M admits all the substitutions of Q.

Secondly, each function in  $\Omega_{(M)}$  of the roots  $\alpha, \dots, \alpha_{n-1}$ , which admits the substitutions of Q is by § 162 a number in  $\Omega_{(M)}$ .

But these are the two characteristic properties of the Galois group in the domain  $\Omega_{(M)}$  (§ 155). Hence Q is the Galois group of f(x) = 0 in the new domain  $\Omega_{(M)}$ .

This reduction of the order of the Galois group from p to q (§ 160) was effected by the adjunction of M, the root of an auxiliary equation of degree j (§ 161).

\* Ex. 1. Given that  $x^4 + x^3 + 1 = 0$  has the Galois group  $G_{24}^{(4)}$  for  $\Omega^{(1)}$ . Adjoin in succession four irrationals M and show that the Galois group is reduced and the domain is enlarged as indicated below.

Show that y involves the irrational  $\sqrt[3]{12\sqrt{-3}-4\sqrt{229}}$ .

**Ex. 2.** Show that the roots of the quartic in Ex. 1 can be expressed rationally in terms of the roots of the quadratics in z and w.

\* Ex. 3. Apply the process of Ex. 1 to the quartic

 $x^4 + a_1 x^3 + a_2 x^2 + a_3 x + a_4 = 0$ 

and deduce the successive resolvent equations  $\phi(y) = 0$ ; viz.,

$$D = 256(I^3 - 27J^2) \quad (\S 51), \ y^3 - 12 \ I + \sqrt{D} = 0,$$
  
$$72 \ Jz^2 = 72 \ a_1^2 J - 192 \ a_2 J + 144 \ yJ + 8 \ Iy^2 + y \ \sqrt{D} - 64 \ I^2,$$
  
$$w^2 - zw + y = 0.$$

178

164. A Resolution of the Galois Resolvent. Let the Galois resolvent g(y) = 0 have a root  $\rho$ . If we effect upon  $\rho$  the substitutions  $s_i$  of the sub-group Q, one at a time, we get the values

$$\rho, \rho_1, \rho_2, \dots, \rho_{q-1},$$
 I

where  $\rho_i$  is gotten by operating upon  $\rho$  with the substitution s.

If upon the  $\rho$ 's in I we effect any substitution of the group Q, the  $\rho_i$  in I simply undergo a permutation; for, each result thus obtained, being derived from  $\rho$  by effecting two substitutions in succession, is equivalent to  $\rho$ , operated upon by that substitution of Q which is the product of those two substitutions. Hence,

$$g(y, M) \equiv (y - \rho)(y - \rho_1) \cdots (y - \rho_{q-1}),$$
 11

is invariant under Q, and the coefficients of y in expression II are numbers in  $\Omega_{(M)}$ , § 162. By the notation g(y, M) we mean here a function of y in which the coefficients of y are numbers in  $\Omega_{(M)}$ .

Now g(y, M) is a divisor of g(y) in the domain  $\Omega_{(M)}$ , for the former is of degree q, the latter of p, and p = jq, § 160.

If upon II we effect a substitution t which occurs in P, but not in Q, we get

$$g(y, M_t) \equiv (y - \rho^{(t)}) (y - \rho_1^{(t)}) \cdots (y - \rho_{q-1}^{(t)}).$$
 III

The values  $\rho^{(t)}$ ,  $\rho_1^{(t)}$ ,  $\cdots$ ,  $\rho_{q-1}^{(t)}$  are roots of g(y) = 0, hence III is also a divisor of g(y).

Two sets of roots  $\rho^{(t)}, \dots, \rho^{q-1(t)}$  obtained from two distinct substitutions t, are either indentical or they have no root in common. Consequently, two distinct functions  $g(y, M_t)$  have no common factor, and we have the resolution into distinct factors

$$g(y) = g(y, M) \cdot g(y, M_1) \cdots g(y, M_{j-1}). \qquad \text{IV}$$

It is to be noticed that in this resolution the factors  $g(y, M_i)$  do not usually belong to the same domain; they belong respectively to the domains  $\Omega_{(M)}, \Omega_{(M_1)}, \dots, \Omega_{(M_{j-1})}$ . Another resolution of g(y) is possible, in which all the factors belong to the same domain  $\Omega_{(M)}$ . **165.** Adjunction of Any Irrationality. If by the adjunction of any irrational X to  $\Omega$  we obtain a domain  $\Omega_{(x)}$  in which the Galois resolvent g(y) = 0 becomes a reducible equation, so that

$$g_1(y, X) \equiv (y - \rho)(y - \rho_1) \cdots (y - \rho_{q-1})$$

is an irreducible factor of g(y) in  $\Omega_{(x)}$  of the degree q, then in this new domain the Galois group is reduced to the sub-group

1,  $(\rho\rho_1)$ , ...,  $(\rho\rho_{g-1})$ .

Adjoin X. Since g(y) = 0 is a normal equation in  $\Omega$ , § 146, we have  $\rho_i = \phi_i(\rho)$ . In

$$y_1(y, X) \equiv (y - \rho)(y - \rho_1) \cdots (y - \rho_{q-1}) = 0$$
 I

write  $\phi_i(y)$  in place of y; we obtain a new equation in y, viz.,

$$g_1(\phi_i(y), X) \equiv (\phi_i(y) - \rho)(\phi_i(y) - \rho_1) \cdots (\phi_i(y) - \rho_{q-1}) = 0.$$
 II

As I is irreducible in  $\Omega$  and I and II have a root  $\rho$  in common, all the roots of I satisfy II. Let  $\rho_h$  be any root of I; then putting  $y = \rho_h$ , one of the factors in II must vanish; say, the factor  $\phi_i(\rho_h) - \rho_k$ .

We have now the relations

$$ho_i = \phi_i(
ho),$$
 $ho_k = \phi_i(
ho_h).$ 

Hence the equality of the substitutions

$$(\rho_i\rho_k)=(\rho\rho_h).$$

Multiplying by  $(\rho \rho_i)$ , we have

$$(\rho \rho_i)(\rho_i \rho_k) = (\rho \rho_i)(\rho \rho_h),$$
  
 $(\rho \rho_k) = (\rho \rho_i)(\rho \rho_h).$ 

or

That is, the product of any two substitutions in the set 1,  $(\rho\rho_1), \dots, (\rho\rho_{q-1})$  is equal to one of the substitutions in the set. Hence they form a group, § 95. Call this sub-group Q. Equation I is the Galois resolvent of f(x) = 0 for the domain  $\Omega_{(x)}$ ; for this equation is by hypothesis irreducible in  $\Omega_{(x)}$ , and the two other conditions are satisfied, because of the relation  $\Omega_{(\alpha, \dots, \alpha_{n-1})} = \Omega_{(p)} = \Omega_{(p_{\ell})}$  § 145.

Hence Q is the Galois group of f(x) = 0 in the domain  $\Omega_{(x)}$ .

**166.** *M* a Function of *X*. *M* can be expressed as a function in  $\Omega$  of any irrational X which reduces the Galois group to Q.

We have seen that  $g_1(y, X)$  is a function in  $\Omega_{(x)}$  of y, whose coefficients admit the substitutions of the sub-group Q. Since M belongs to Q and these coefficients admit Q, the coefficients are numbers in  $\Omega_{(M)}$ , § 162. Hence we may express the product

$$(y-\rho)(y-\rho_1)\cdots(y-\rho_{q-1})$$

as a function of y and X and designate it, as above, by  $g_1(y, X)$ , or we may express it as a function of y and M and designate it by g(y, M). We have then

$$g(y, M) = g_1(y, X).$$
 I

Now M is the root of an irreducible equation in  $\Omega$  of degree j, § 161; namely, the equation

of which the other roots are  $M_1, M_2, \dots, M_{j-1}$ . By § 164 we have

$$g(y) = g(y, M) \cdot g(y, M_1) \cdots g(y, M_{j-1}).$$
 111

The equation I is not satisfied when in the left member we substitute for M one of its other conjugates; for, supposing it were, it would follow that g(y, M) is equal to one of the other factors in the right member of III, a conclusion at variance with the fact that g(y), being irreducible in  $\Omega$ , can have no equal roots.

It is, therefore, possible to assign to y such a rational value that the equation g(y, z) = g(y, X) = 0

$$g(y, z) - g_1(y, X) = 0, \qquad \qquad \text{IV}$$

in which z is regarded as the unknown quantity, has only one root in common with equation II; namely, z = M.

The H. C. F. of II and IV is consequently a binomial, linear with respect to z. Since the coefficients of z in both II and IV are numbers in  $\Omega_{(x)}$ , and the process of finding the H. C. F. includes only operations of subtraction, multiplication, and division, and thereby never introduces new irrationals, it follows that the H. C. F., z - M, is a function in  $\Omega_{(x)}$ . In other words, M is a number in  $\Omega_{(x)}$ , and therefore a function in  $\Omega$  of X.

COROLLARY I. The domain  $\Omega_{(M)}$  of degree j is a divisor of the domain  $\Omega_{(X)}$ , since every number in  $\Omega_{(M)}$  is a function in  $\Omega$  of X.

COROLLARY II. The number X is a root of the irreducible equation h(y)=0 of the same degree as that of the domain  $\Omega_{(x)}$ , § 138. Hence the degree of h(y)=0 is a multiple of j, the degree of equation II.

COROLLARY III. If X is taken as a function in  $\Omega$  of M, then  $\Omega_{(\mathbf{x})}$  and  $\Omega_{(\mathbf{M})}$  are identical.

COROLLARY IV. The reduction of the Galois group, caused by any irrational X which is not a number in the Galois domain, can be effected equally well by some number M which is in the Galois domain. That is, every possible reduction of the Galois group may be effected by the adjunction of some number belonging to the Galois domain.

The numbers in the Galois domain of the equation f(x) = 0are called by Kronecker the "natural irrationalities" of f(x)=0. The corollary may now be stated thus: Every possible reduction of the Galois group may be effected by the adjunction of a natural irrationality.

**Ex. 1.** In Ex. 1, § 163, adjoin to  $\Omega_{(1)}$ ,  $X = \sqrt[n]{\sqrt{D}}$ . Here X admits the substitutions of the alternating group, and the Galois group is reduced

to  $G_{12}^{(4)}$ . Now X does not occur in the Galois domain  $\Omega_{(a, a_1, a_2, a_3)} \equiv \Omega_{(1,\sqrt{D}, y, z, w)}$  and is, therefore, not a natural irrationality. The reduction brought about by X can be effected by  $\sqrt{D}$ , which is a number in the Galois domain, hence is a natural irrationality. This illustrates Corollary IV.

The relation  $\sqrt{D} = X^n$  illustrates the theorem itself. We have

$$g(y) \equiv (y - \sqrt{D})(y + \sqrt{D}) = 0$$
, or  $y^2 = D$ .

Let  $y_1 = \sqrt[n]{\sqrt{D}}$ ,  $y_2 = \sqrt[n]{-\sqrt{D}}$ , and we get  $h(y) \equiv (y^n - \sqrt{D})(y^n + \sqrt{D}) = 0$ , or  $y^{2n} = D$ . This illustrates Corollaries II and I.

**Ex. 2.** If the group P of an equation is  $G_8^{(4)}$ , illustrate the above theorem and corollaries by taking  $X = \sqrt[3]{(\alpha \alpha_1 - \alpha_2 \alpha_3)^2(\alpha \alpha_2 + \alpha_1 \alpha_3)^2}$ . See **Ex. 6, § 113.** 

# CHAPTER XVI

### THE SOLUTION OF EQUATIONS VIEWED FROM THE STAND-POINT OF THE GALOIS THEORY

167. General Plan. Quadratic Equation. The problem, to solve an algebraic equation, is replaced in the Galois theory by another problem, to bring about a reduction of the Galois group and a lowering of the degree of the Galois resolvent by the successive adjunction of simple algebraic numbers. If a function M is adjoined to  $\Omega$ , the Galois group is reduced to Q. It becomes necessary to determine the numerical value of Mfor the given equation f(x) = 0. This we endeavor to do by the construction and solution of an auxiliary equation of the degree j, where j is the index of Q under P. The roots of this auxiliary equation, or resolvent, are the required values of the conjugates of M. This same process is repeated upon the reduced Galois group until this group finally becomes 1. Then the enlarged domain contains the roots of the given equation, and the values of the roots may be found in terms of the numbers  $M, M', \cdots$  which have been adjoined to the original domain.

Quadratic Equation. The Galois group of  $x^2 + a_1x + a_2 = 0$ is the symmetric group  $G_2^{(2)}$ , § 158. Its only sub-group is 1, § 104, whose index j = 2. Take  $M = \alpha - \alpha_1$  Its other conjugate value is  $M_1 = \alpha_1 - \alpha$ . M and  $M_1$  are roots of the equation  $y^2 = \alpha^2 - 2 \alpha \alpha_1 + \alpha_1^2 = a_1^2 - 4 a_2$ , § 161. We get  $y = \pm \sqrt{a_1^2 - 4 a_2}$ as the values of M and  $M_1$ . After adjoining M, the Galois group is 1; the enlarged domain is  $\Omega_{(1, a_1, a_2, \sqrt{a_1^2 - 4 a_2})}$ . We know that  $\alpha + \alpha_1 = -\alpha_1$  and  $\alpha - \alpha_1 = \sqrt{a_1^2 - 4 a_2}$ . Hence

$$2 \alpha = -a_1 + \sqrt{a_1^2 - 4 a_2}$$
 and  $2 \alpha_1 = -a_1 - \sqrt{a_1^2 - 4 a_2}$ .

Theoretically there is an infinite number of ways of solving the quadratic, because there is an infinite number of functions M to choose from. Thus we may take  $M = S(\alpha - \alpha_1)^{2n+1}$ , where n may be any value which gives M and  $M_1$  distinct values, and S is any symmetric function of  $\alpha$ ,  $\alpha_1$ .

168. Cubic Equation. From the point of view of the Galois theory the solution given in § 59 may be outlined as follows: The change from x to z is an operation which does not alter the domain. The same is true of the change from z to x, after z has been found; also of the substitution of u + v for z, and its inverse, and of the elimination of v. The solution of the cubic may be exhibited thus (where  $\sqrt{D_1} = \sqrt{-3}\sqrt{D}$ ):

$$\begin{split} \phi(y) &= 0, \ \S \ 161 & M & P & \Omega \\ & & G_6{}^{(3)} & \Omega_{(b_0, b_1, b_2, b_3)} \equiv \Omega' \\ u^6 + Gu^3 - H^3 &= 0 & u^3 = \frac{-G}{2} + \frac{b_0{}^3}{18} \sqrt{D_1} & G_3{}^{(3)} & \Omega'_{(\sqrt{D_1})} \\ u^3 &= \frac{-G}{2} + \sqrt{\frac{G^2}{4} + H^3} & u = \frac{1}{3} (\alpha + \omega \alpha_1 + \omega^2 \alpha_2) & G_1{}^{(3)} & \Omega'_{(\sqrt{D_1}, u)}. \end{split}$$

The numbers adjoined to  $\Omega'$  are determined by the roots of two resolvent equations  $\phi(y) = 0$ , the first a quadratic, the second a pure cubic equation.

$$\begin{array}{ccccccc} 4 \ b_0{}^8x^8 - b_0Ix + J = 0 & b_0{}^2x_1 \equiv b_0b_2 - b_1{}^2 + u & G_8{}^{(4)} & \Omega'{}_{(u)} \\ v = b_1{}^2 - b_0b_2 + b_0{}^2x_2 & \sqrt{v} & G_4{}^{(4)}\text{III} & \Omega'{}_{(u,\sqrt{v})} \\ & \begin{cases} G = 1, \ (ab) \\ G' = 1, \ (cd) \end{cases} & \Omega'{}_{(u,\sqrt{v})} \\ g' = 1, \ (cd) & \\ w = b_1{}^2 - b_0b_2 + b_0{}^2x_3 \end{cases} & \begin{cases} \sqrt{u} \\ \sqrt{w} & \begin{cases} 1 & \begin{cases} \Omega'{}_{(\sqrt{u},\sqrt{v})} \\ \Omega'{}_{(\sqrt{v},\sqrt{v})} \end{cases} \\ 1 & \\ \end{cases} \end{array}$$

Since  $G_4^{(4)}$ III is an intransitive group, the quartic can be factored in the domain  $\Omega'_{(u,\sqrt{v})}$ . The two quadratic equations thereby obtained have as Galois groups 1, (*ab*), and 1, (*cd*), respectively. From VI, § 62, we see that  $\Omega'_{(\sqrt{u},\sqrt{v})} = \Omega'_{(\sqrt{u},\sqrt{v})}$ . Hence it is not necessary to adjoin more than one of the two irrationals  $\sqrt{u}$ ,  $\sqrt{w}$ .

The quartic offers a better exhibit of the Galois theory than did the quadratic and cubic equations, because not only may we select a great variety of different functions M at each adjunction, but we may select different groups. In the above solution the series of groups taken is  $G_{24}^{(4)}$ ,  $G_8^{(4)}$ ,  $G_4^{(4)}$ III, G = (1, (ab)), G = 1, but another series may be chosen, viz.  $G_{24}^{(4)}$ ,  $G_{12}^{(4)}$ ,  $G_4^{(4)}$ II,  $G_2^{(4)}$ , 1. In Exs. 1 and 3, § 163, a solution of the quartic is outlined, in which this series of groups is used.

Again, we may effect a solution by first adjoining a function that belongs to the cyclic group  $G_4^{(4)}I$ ; say,

$$y = \alpha \alpha_1^{2} + \alpha_1 \alpha_2^{2} + \alpha_2 \alpha_3^{2} + \alpha_3 \alpha^2.$$

To be sure, the first resolvent equation  $\phi(y) = 0$  will be of the sixth degree, but it can be treated as an equation of the third degree and a quadratic.

The number of different solutions of cubic and quartic equations which have been given since the time of Tartaglia and Cardan is enormous. For information on different solutions consult L. Matthiessen, *Grundzüge der Antiken u. Modernen Algebra*.

It would seem that the above mode of procedure should lead to solutions of the general quintic equation. But an unexpected difficulty arises in our inability to solve all the resolvent equations. There arise resolvents of higher than the fourth degree. The Galois theory will furnish proof that the solution by radicals of the general quintic and of general equations of higher degrees is not possible. In the remaining chapters we shall demonstrate this impossibility and discuss the theory of special types of equations of higher degree which can be solved algebraically.

## CHAPTER XVII

#### CYCLIC EQUATIONS

170. Definition. A cyclic equation is one whose Galois group is the cyclic group, § 101. Kronecker called such equations "einfache Abel'sche Gleichungen."

A quadratic equation is cyclic; for the Galois group is the symmetric group  $G_2^{(2)}$ , which is at the same time the cyclic group of the second degree.

The general cubic is not a cyclic equation in the domain defined by its coefficients; for its Galois group is  $G_6^{(3)}$ , which is not a cyclic group. However, if we adjoin

$$\sqrt{D} \equiv (\alpha - \alpha_1)(\alpha - \alpha_2)(\alpha_1 - \alpha_2),$$

the Galois group becomes (§ 163)  $G_3^{(3)}$ , which is cyclic. Hence the general cubic is cyclic in the domain  $\Omega_{(a_1, a_2, a_3, \sqrt{p})}$ .

The general quartic is not a cyclic equation in the domain defined by its coefficients, but if we adjoin a function which belongs to the cyclic group  $G_4^{(4)}$  I, the equation is cyclic in the new domain. One such function that may be adjoined is

$$M = \alpha \alpha_1^{2} + \alpha_1 \alpha_2^{2} + \alpha_2 \alpha_3^{2} + \alpha_3 \alpha^{2}.$$

If n is a prime number,

$$x^{n-1} + x^{n-2} + \dots + x + 1 = 0$$
 I

is a cyclic equation in the domain  $\Omega_{(1)}$ . For, § 130, this equation is irreducible. The cyclic function

$$\omega_1^2\omega_2 + \omega_2^2\omega_3 + \cdots + \omega_{n-1}^2\omega_1$$

is seen by the relations  $\omega_2 = \omega_1^2$ ,  $\omega_3 = \omega_1^3$ , etc., to be equal to the sum of the roots, which is -1. Therefore the Galois

group is either the cyclic group of the degree n-1 or one of its sub-groups, § 162. Since I is a normal equation, it is its own Galois resolvent; the Galois domain is of the degree n-1and the Galois group of the order n-1. Hence the Galois group of I is the cyclic group of the (n-1)th order.

**Ex. 1.** If *n* is prime, show that  $x^n - 1 = 0$  is a cyclic equation in the domain  $\Omega_{(1)}$ . In what follows we shall exclude from our consideration cyclic equations whose roots are not all irrational.

**171.** Theorem. Each root of a cyclic equation can be expressed as a function in  $\Omega$  of any other root.

If  $\alpha$ ,  $\alpha_1, \dots, \alpha_{n-1}$  are the roots of the cyclic equation f(x) = 0, then the function in  $\Omega$  of x of the (n-1)th degree,

$$\Phi(x) \equiv f(x) \left( \frac{\alpha_1}{x - \alpha} + \frac{\alpha_2}{x - \alpha_1} + \dots + \frac{\alpha}{x - \alpha_{n-1}} \right),$$

admits the permutations of the cyclic group and is, therefore, a number in  $\Omega$ , § 154. If we put in succession  $x = a, a_1, \dots, a_{n-1}$ , and if we use the notation  $\frac{\Phi(x)}{f'(x)} = \phi(x)$ , we get, § 142,  $a_1 = \phi(a), a_2 = \phi(a_1), \dots, a_{n-1} = \phi(a_{n-2}), a = \phi(a_{n-1}).$ 

This holds even when f(x) = 0 is a reducible equation, provided that it has no multiple roots.

Ex. 1. When are cyclic equations normal?

**Ex.** 2. Show that one root of a quadratic equation can be expressed as a function in  $\Omega_{(a_1, a_2)}$  of the other root.

**Ex. 3.** Show that any root of a cubic can be expressed as a function in  $\Omega_{(a_1, a_2, a_3, \sqrt{D})}$  of one of the others.

**Ex.** 4. Show that  $\alpha_2 = \phi^2(\alpha)$ ,  $\alpha_3 = \phi^3(\alpha)$ , etc., where the superscript is not an exponent, but indicates that the functional operation  $\phi$  is to be repeated. Thus,  $\phi^2(\alpha) \equiv \phi(\phi(\alpha))$ .

**Ex. 5.** Prove that  $\alpha_1 = \phi^{n+1}(\alpha)$ ,  $\alpha_2 = \phi^{n+2}(\alpha)$ , etc.

Ex. 6. If  $\phi(\alpha) \equiv \frac{a\alpha + b}{c\alpha + d} = \alpha_1$ ,  $\phi^2(\alpha) \equiv \frac{a\alpha_1 + b}{c\alpha_1 + d} = \alpha_2$ , etc., then it may be shown that  $\phi^m(\alpha) = \alpha$ , when  $\alpha + d = 2 \cos \frac{k\pi}{m}$  and ad - bc = 1, where k and m are relatively prime. (See Cole's transl. of Netto's *Theory of Substitutions*, pp. 204–207.) Show that when a = 0, -b = c= d = 1, k = 1, m = 3, we have  $\alpha_1 = -\frac{1}{\alpha + 1}$ ,  $\alpha_2 = -1 - \frac{1}{\alpha}$ , where  $\alpha$ ,  $\alpha_1$ ,  $\alpha_2$  are roots of the cyclic equation  $x^3 + x^2 - 2x - 1 = 0$ .

**Ex.** 7. Show that if, in Ex. 6, a = 0, b = -c = d = k = 1, m = 3, then  $\alpha$ ,  $\alpha_1$ ,  $\alpha_2$  are roots of  $x^3 + ax^2 - (a+3)x + 1 = 0$ .

172. Solution of Cyclic Equations. The general solution of cyclic equations can be easily obtained by the aid of the Lagrangian resolvents, § 115.

By the theorem in § 118 the expression represented by  $[\omega, \alpha]^n$ , in which the  $\alpha, \alpha_1, \dots, \alpha_{n-1}$  are the roots of f(x) = 0, and  $\omega$  is a primitive *n*th root of unity, § 66, is such that the coefficient of each power of  $\omega$  is a cyclic function of the roots of f(x) = 0. See Ex. 1, § 119. Thus  $[\omega, \alpha]^n$  is a function in  $\Omega_{(\alpha_1, \alpha_2, \dots, \alpha_n, \omega)}$ , which belongs to the cyclic group. This function is a number in  $\Omega_{(\alpha_1, \alpha_2, \dots, \alpha_n, \omega)}$ , § 154. Let the coefficients of different powers of  $\omega$  in  $[\omega^{\lambda}, \alpha]^n$  be  $c_0, c_1, \dots, c_{n-1}$ . Write

$$[\omega^{\lambda}, \alpha]^{n} \equiv c_{0} + c_{1}\omega^{\lambda} + c_{2}\omega^{2\lambda} + \cdots + c_{n-1}\omega^{(n-1)\lambda} \equiv T_{\lambda}.$$

The cyclic function  $T_{\lambda}$  can be computed. Regarding it as known, we get  $[\omega^{\lambda}, \alpha] = \sqrt[\eta]{T_{\lambda}}.$ 

Assign to  $\lambda$  the successive values 1, 2, ..., (n-1), and we have

$$\begin{aligned} \alpha + \omega \alpha_1 &+ \cdots + \omega^{n-1} \alpha_{n-1} &= \sqrt[n]{T_1}, \\ \alpha + \omega^2 \alpha_1 &+ \cdots + \omega^{2(n-1)} \alpha_{n-1} &= \sqrt[n]{T_2}, \\ \ddots & \ddots & \ddots & \ddots \\ \alpha + \omega^{n-1} \alpha_1 + \cdots + \omega^{(n-1)^2} \alpha_{n-1} &= \sqrt[n]{T_{n-1}}, \\ \alpha + \alpha_1 &+ \cdots + \alpha_{n-1} &= -\alpha_1, \end{aligned}$$

where  $a_1$  is known. Adding, we get

$$n\alpha = -\alpha_1 + \sqrt[n]{T_1} + \sqrt[n]{T_2} + \dots + \sqrt[n]{T_{n-1}}.$$
 I

Thus the root  $\alpha$  is expressed in terms of radicals of the *n*th order, where the  $T_{\lambda}$  are made up of numbers in  $\Omega_{(a_1, a_2, \dots, a_{n-1})}$  and the *n*th roots of unity. Each of the radicals in *I* has *n* values which differ from each other by a factor that is a root of unity.

Our expression I involves a difficulty which demands our attention. Since each radical has n values, it follows that the (n-1) radicals represent  $n^{n-1}$  values. Hence there are in I, besides the n roots of the given equation,  $n^{n-1}-n$  foreign values, and no method is assigned for telling which of the values represent the roots of the given equation.

To remove this difficulty, H. Weber proceeds as follows: If we effect the substitution  $(0 \ 1 \ 2 \ \cdots \ n-1)$  upon  $[\omega, \alpha]^{n-\lambda} \cdot [\omega^{\lambda}, \alpha]$ , then by § 119 the indices of the coefficients of this product undergo the substitution  $(0 \ 1 \ 2 \ \cdots \ (n-1))^{n-\lambda+\lambda}$ . As this is the identical substitution, the coefficients are unaltered.

Let  $[\omega, \alpha]^{n-\lambda} \cdot [\omega^{\lambda}, \alpha] \equiv E_{\lambda} \equiv \epsilon_{0}^{(\lambda)} + \epsilon_{1}^{(\lambda)} \omega + \cdots + \epsilon_{n-1}^{(\lambda)} \omega^{n-1}$ , then  $E_{\lambda}$  is a cyclic function in  $\Omega_{(a_{1}, a_{2}, \cdots, a_{n-1}, \omega)}$  and may be considered as known. We have

$$\begin{bmatrix} \omega, \alpha \end{bmatrix}^{n-\lambda} \cdot \begin{bmatrix} \omega^{\lambda}, \alpha \end{bmatrix} = (\sqrt[n]{T_1})^{n-\lambda} \cdot \sqrt[n]{T_{\lambda}} = E_{\lambda}.$$
  
ce  $\sqrt[n]{T_{\lambda}} = \frac{E_{\lambda}}{(\sqrt[n]{T_1})^{n-\lambda}} = \frac{(\sqrt[n]{T_1})^{\lambda}E_{\lambda}}{T_1}.$  II

From II it appears that, for a fixed primitive value of  $\omega$ , each of the radicals which appear in our value for  $n\alpha$  in I may be expressed as a function in  $\Omega$  of one of them. If that one radical be given all its *n* values, the expression for  $n\alpha$  has *n* values which are the *n* roots of the given equation.

173. Computation of  $\mathcal{T}_{\lambda}$ . In most cases the computation of this quantity is extremely involved and special devices must be resorted to. An idea of such devices will be given in the discussion of cyclotomic equations, where the solution is divided up into the simplest component operations. We give here the computation of  $T_1 = (\alpha + \alpha_1 \omega + \alpha_2 \omega^2)^3$ .

Hen

 $A + A' = 3 a_3 - a_1 a_2$ 

 $A = A^{\dagger} = \gamma \overline{D}$ 

Let

$$A' \equiv a_1^2 a + a_2^2 a_1 + a^2 a_2$$
$$A' \equiv a_1^2 a + a_2^2 a_1 + a^2 a_2$$

then

V

$$T_{1} = \sqrt{D},$$

$$T_{1} = a^{3} + a_{1}^{3} + a_{2}^{3} + 6 aa_{1}a_{2} + 3 \omega A + 3 \omega^{2} A'$$

$$= \frac{1}{2}(9 a_{1}a_{2} - 2 a_{1}^{3} - 27 a_{3}) + \frac{3}{2}\sqrt{-3D} = \frac{1}{2}(S + 3\sqrt{-3D}),$$

$$T_{2} = \frac{1}{2}(9 a_{1}a_{2} - 2 a_{1}^{3} - 27 a_{3}) - \frac{3}{2}\sqrt{-3D} = \frac{1}{2}(S - 3\sqrt{-3D}),$$

$$T_{2} = \frac{1}{2}(9 a_{1}a_{2} - 2 a_{1}^{3} - 27 a_{3}) - \frac{3}{2}\sqrt{-3D} = \frac{1}{2}(S - 3\sqrt{-3D}),$$

$$T_{2} = \frac{1}{2}(S - 3\sqrt{-3D}),$$

$$T_{3} = \frac{1}{2}(S - 3\sqrt{-3D}),$$

$$T_{3} = \frac{1}{2}(S - 3\sqrt{-3D}),$$

where  $S \equiv 9 a_1 a_2 - 2 a_1^3 - 27 a_3$ . We have now

$$\sqrt[3]{T_1} = a + \omega a_1 + \omega^2 a_2 = \sqrt[3]{\frac{1}{2}}(S + 3\sqrt{-3D}).$$
  
$$\sqrt[3]{T_2} = a + \omega^2 a_1 + \omega a_2 = \sqrt[3]{\frac{1}{2}}(S - 3\sqrt{-3D}).$$

Having thus evaluated the Lagrangian resolvents for the cubic, we can readily obtain an expression for the roots of the general cubic by adding the values of  $\sqrt[3]{T_1}$  and  $\sqrt[5]{T_2}$  to  $\alpha + \alpha_1 + \alpha_2 = -\alpha_1$ . See solution of Ex. 3, § 162.

**Ex. 1.** For the quartic  $x^4 + a_1x^3 + a_2x^2 + a_3x + a_4 = 0$  compute

where 
$$\omega = i \text{ or } -i.$$
  
Letting  
 $T \equiv (\alpha + \omega \alpha_1 + \omega^2 \alpha_2 + \omega^3 \alpha_3)^4,$   
 $T_1 \equiv (\alpha + i \alpha_1 - \alpha_2 - i \alpha_3)^4,$   
 $T_2 \equiv (\alpha - i \alpha_1 - \alpha_2 + i \alpha_3)^4,$ 

we have 
$$T_1 + T_2 = 2(\alpha - \alpha_2)^4 - 12(\alpha - \alpha_2)^2(\alpha_1 - \alpha_3)^2 + 2(\alpha_1 - \alpha_3)^4$$
  
=  $4\{(\alpha - \alpha_2)^2 - (\alpha_1 - \alpha_3)^2\}^2 - 2\{(\alpha - \alpha_2)^2 + (\alpha_1 - \alpha_3)^2\}^2$   
=  $4\rho_2\rho_3 - 2(\alpha_1^2 - 2\alpha_2 - 2\phi_1)^2$ ,

where  $\phi_1 = \alpha \alpha_2 + \alpha_1 \alpha_3$  is a root of the cubic in Ex. 11, § 71, and where  $\rho_2 = (\alpha + \alpha_1 - \alpha_2 - \alpha_3)^2$ ,  $\rho_3 = (\alpha - \alpha_1 - \alpha_2 + \alpha_3)^2$ . Let  $\rho_1 = (\alpha - \alpha_1 + \alpha_2 - \alpha_3)^2$ , then  $\rho_1 = a_1^2 - 4 a_2 + 4 \phi_1$ ,  $\rho_1 \rho_2 \rho_3 = (a_1^3 - 4 a_1 a_2 + 8 a_3)^2$ ,

Ex. 18, § 71. Hence the value of  $\rho_2\rho_3$  is known. We have also

$$T_1 T_2 = (a_1^2 - 2 a_2 - 2 \phi_1)^4$$

Hence  $T_1$  and  $T_2$  are roots of the known quadratic

 $y^2 - (T_1 + T_2)y + T_1T_2 = 0.$ 

Ex. 2. Carry out the computation in Ex. 1 by taking

$$a_1 = a_2 = 0, \ a_3 = a_4 = 5$$

and show that T will have the values  $60 \pm 80 i$ , which lie in the domain  $\Omega_{(I, i)}$ .

**Ex.** 3. Find  $T_1$  and  $T_2$  when in the quartic  $a_1 = a_2 = a_4 = 0$ ,  $a_3 = 1$ . In this case, is the cyclic group the Galois group in  $\Omega_{(1,0)}$ ?

**Ex. 4.** Taking 
$$\alpha - \alpha_1 + \alpha_2 - \alpha_3 = \sqrt{\rho_1}$$
,  
 $\alpha + \alpha_1 - \alpha_2 - \alpha_3 = \sqrt{\rho_2}$ ,  
 $\alpha - \alpha_1 - \alpha_2 + \alpha_3 = \sqrt{\rho_3}$ ,

give a solution of the general quartic,  $\rho_1$ ,  $\rho_2$ ,  $\rho_3$ , being roots of

$$\begin{aligned} \rho^8 + (8 \, a_2 - 3 \, a_1^2) \rho^2 + (3 \, a_1^4 - 16 \, a_1^2 a_2 + 16 \, a_1 a_3 + 16 \, a_2^2 - 64 \, a_4) \rho \\ &- (a_1^3 - 4 \, a_1 a_2 + 8 \, a_3)^2 = 0. \end{aligned}$$
 See Ex. 1.

Ex. 5. Find a solution of the general quartic by taking

$$\begin{aligned} \alpha + i\alpha_1 - \alpha_2 - i\alpha_3 &= \sqrt[4]{T_1}, \\ \alpha - \alpha_1 + \alpha_2 - \alpha_3 &= A(\sqrt[4]{T_1})^2, \\ \alpha - i\alpha_1 - \alpha_2 + i\alpha_3 &= B(\sqrt[4]{T_1})^3, \\ (\alpha - \alpha_1 + \alpha_2 - \alpha_3)(\alpha + i\alpha_1 - \alpha_2 - i\alpha_3) \end{aligned}$$

where

$$A = (\alpha - \alpha_1 + \alpha_2 - \alpha_3)(\alpha + i\alpha_1 - \alpha_2 - i\alpha_3)^{-2}$$
  
=  $\frac{\rho_1[T_1 + (\alpha_1^2 - 2\alpha_2 - 2\phi_1)^2]}{2T_1(4\alpha_1\alpha_2 - \alpha_1^3 - 8\alpha_3)}$ .  
$$B = (\alpha - i\alpha_1 - \alpha_2 + i\alpha_3)(\alpha + i\alpha_1 - \alpha_2 - i\alpha_3)^{-8}$$
  
=  $\frac{\alpha_1^2 - 2\alpha_2 - 2\phi_1}{T_1}$ .

174. Cyclic Equations of Prime Degree. The solution of any cyclic equation can be made to depend upon the solution of cyclic equations whose degrees are prime.

The solution in § 172 applies to cyclic equations of any degree and is perfectly general. Nevertheless it is of importance, for subsequent developments, to prove the present theorem. We give the proof for the degree  $12 = 3 \cdot 4$ . The generalization to the case  $n = e \cdot f$  is obvious.

192

Let  $s = (\alpha \alpha_1 \cdots \alpha_{11})$ , where  $\alpha_1 = \phi(\alpha)$ ,  $\alpha_2 = \phi(\alpha_1)$ ,  $\alpha_3 = \phi(\alpha_2)$ , ..., then  $s^3$  can be resolved into three cycles,  $c, c_1, c_2$ , as follows:

$$c = (\alpha \alpha_3 \alpha_6 \alpha_9),$$
  

$$c_1 = (\alpha_1 \alpha_4 \alpha_7 \alpha_{10}),$$
  

$$c_2 = (\alpha_2 \alpha_5 \alpha_8 \alpha_{11}).$$

Let y be a function  $\psi$  in  $\Omega$  of the roots  $\alpha$ ,  $\alpha_3$ ,  $\alpha_6$ ,  $\alpha_9$ , which belongs to the cycle c. The substitutions of the Galois group  $P = \{1, s, s^2, \dots s^{n-1}\}$  of f(x) = 0, applied to y, give three distinct values,

$$y = \psi(\alpha \alpha_3 \alpha_6 \alpha_3),$$
  

$$y_1 = \psi(\alpha_1 \alpha_4 \alpha_7 \alpha_{10}),$$
  

$$y_2 = \psi(\alpha_2 \alpha_5 \alpha_8 \alpha_{11}),$$

which are roots of a cubic equation,

$$(t-y)(t-y_1)(t-y_2) = 0.$$
 I

The coefficients of t in I are symmetric functions in  $\Omega$  of y,  $y_1$ ,  $y_2$ , and are, therefore, unaltered by the substitutions of P. Hence these coefficients are numbers in  $\Omega$ , § 154.

We proceed to show that I is a cyclic equation whose group is  $P_1 = \{1, (yy_1y_2), (yy_2y_1)\}$ . Remembering that the substitutions of the group P interchange  $y, y_1, y_2$  cyclically, we see, *firstly*, that any function of  $y, y_1, y_2$  which admits of the substitution of  $P_1$  is a function of  $\alpha, \alpha_1, \dots, \alpha_{n-1}$  which admits of the substitutions of P (the Galois group of f(x) = 0), and such a function is a number in  $\Omega$ ,  $\S$  154; secondly, any function of  $y, y_1, y_2$ , which is a number in  $\Omega$  and hence admits of the Galois group P,  $\S$  153, thus showing that the function of  $y, y_1, y_2$  admits of the substitutions of  $P_1$ . Consequently  $P_1$  is the Galois group of equation I,  $\S$  155. We can now prove that f(x) can be broken up into three factors of the fourth degree each, thus,

$$f(x) = F(x, y) \cdot F(x, y_1) \cdot F(x, y_2),$$
 II

where F(x, y) = 0 is a quartic cyclic equation, in which the coefficients of x are numbers in the domain  $\Omega_{(y)}$ . For, let

$$F_1(x) = (x - a_3)(x - a_6)(x - a_6),$$
 III

then each coefficient of x in III admits the circular substitution c; hence it admits also the substitutions of what becomes the Galois group of f(x) = 0 after the adjunction of y. This group must consist only of powers of  $c, c_1, c_2$ . Therefore, these coefficients of x are functions of y, § 162, and we have  $F_1(x)$ = F(x, y). Moreover, F(x, y) = 0 is a cyclic equation in  $\Omega_{(y)}$ , since the cyclic functions of its roots lie in this domain.

If in  $n = e \cdot f$ , e or f are composite numbers, then we repeat the process upon the new cyclic equations until all the factor equations are of prime degree.

Thereby the solution of cyclic equations of any degree n is made to rest on the solution of cyclic equations whose degrees are prime numbers.

**Ex. 1.** As an illustration, take  $x^4 + x^3 + x^2 + x + 1 = 0$ , where  $\alpha = \omega$ ,  $\alpha_1 = \omega^2$ ,  $\alpha_2 = \omega^4$ ,  $\alpha_3 = \omega^8 = \omega^3$ . Hence  $s = (\alpha \alpha_1 \alpha_2 \alpha_3) = (\omega \omega^2 \omega^4 \omega^3)$ ,  $c = (\omega \omega^4)$ ,  $c_1 = (\omega^2 \omega^3)$ . Take  $y = \alpha \alpha_2^2 + \alpha_2 \alpha^2 = \omega^4 + \omega$ , then  $y_1 = \alpha_1 \alpha_3^2 + \alpha_3 \alpha_1^2$   $= \omega^3 + \omega^2$ ,  $y + y_1 = -1$ ,  $yy_1 = -1$ ,  $(t - y)(t - y_1) = t^2 + t - 1 = 0$ ,  $2t = -1 \pm \sqrt{5}$ ,  $f(x) = (t^2 + (\frac{1}{2} - \frac{1}{2}\sqrt{5})t + 1)(t^2 + (\frac{1}{2} + \frac{1}{2}\sqrt{5})t + 1) = F(x, y) \cdot F(x, y_1)$ . Each quadratic factor, equated to zero, is a cyclic equation.

**Ex.** 2. Given that  $f(x) \equiv x^6 + x^5 - 5x^4 - 4x^3 + 6x^2 + 3x - 1 = 0$  is a cyclic equation in which  $\alpha = 2\cos a$ ,  $\alpha_1 = 2\cos na$ ,  $\alpha_2 = 2\cos n^2 a$ , ...,  $\alpha_5 = 2\cos n^5 a$ , where n = 2 and  $a = \frac{2\pi}{13}$ . In illustration of the theorem, we have  $s = (\alpha \alpha_1 \alpha_2 \alpha_3 \alpha_4 \alpha_5)$ ,  $c = (\alpha \alpha_2 \alpha_4)$ ,  $c_1 = (\alpha_1 \alpha_3 \alpha_5)$ . Take  $y = \alpha \alpha_2^2$  $+ \alpha_2 \alpha_4^2 + \alpha_4 \alpha^2$ ,  $y_1 = \alpha_1 \alpha_3^2 + \alpha_3 \alpha_5^2 + \alpha_5 \alpha_1^2$ . With some effort we find  $y + y_1 = -5$ ,  $yy_1 = 3$ . Hence  $(t-y)(t-y_1) = t^2 + 5t + 3 = 0$ ,  $2t = -5 \pm \sqrt{13}$ . We get  $f(x) = (t^3 - dt^2 - t + d - 1)(t^3 + (d + 1)t^2 - t - d - 2) = 0$ , where  $2d = -1 \pm \sqrt{13}$ . The cubic factors yield cyclic equations of prime degree. The expression for y, selected in this example, is somewhat unwieldy. A better choice is made in the *periods* of § 180.

**Ex. 3.** If *m* is odd, and equal to 2n + 1, show that  $\frac{(z^m - 1)}{z - 1} = 0$ , when  $z + \frac{1}{z} = x$ , yields the cyclic equation

$$0 = x^{n} + x^{n-1} - (n-1)x^{n-2} - (n-2)x^{n-3} + \frac{(n-2)(n-3)}{1 \cdot 2}x^{n-4} + \frac{(n-3)(n-4)}{1 \cdot 2}x^{n-5} - \cdots,$$

which has the roots  $\alpha = 2 \cos ka$ , where  $a = \frac{2\pi}{2n+1}$ , and where k takes successively the values 1, 2, 3, ..., n. When 2n+1 is prime, the equation is irreducible.

**175.** Theorem. Every function in  $\Omega$  of the roots of an irreducible cyclic equation is itself the root of a cyclic equation.

Let  $\alpha$  be a root of the given irreducible cyclic equation and  $g(\alpha)$  the function. Then if the values

$$g(\alpha), g(\phi(\alpha)), g(\phi^2(\alpha)), \dots, g(\phi^{n-1}(\alpha))$$
 I

are not all distinct, let say  $g(a) = g(\phi^{*}(a))$ , and we have, § 138, the rectangle

in which the values in each column are equal, while the values in each row are distinct, and are roots of an irreducible equation in  $\Omega$ , viz.,

$$h(y) \equiv (y - g(\alpha))(y - g(\phi(\alpha))) \cdots (y - g(\phi^{k-1}(\alpha))) = 0.$$

The consideration, as in § 142, of the function

$$\Phi(y) \equiv h(y) \left[ \frac{g(\phi(\alpha))}{y - g(\alpha)} + \frac{g(\phi(\alpha_1))}{y - g(\alpha_1)} + \dots + \frac{g(\phi(\alpha_{k-2}))}{y - g(\alpha_{k-2})} \right]$$

leads to the conclusion that

$$g(\phi(\alpha)) = \phi_1[g(\alpha)],$$
  
$$g(\phi^2(\alpha)) = \phi_1[g(\phi(\alpha))], \cdots.$$

A similar conclusion is reached if all the values of I are distinct.

**Ex. 1.** If  $\omega$  is a complex fifth root of unity, show that  $1 + \omega$ ,  $1 + \omega^2$ ,  $1 + \omega^3$ ,  $1 + \omega^4$  are roots of a cyclic equation.

Ex. 2. By § 175 form the roots of a cyclic equation of the sixth degree.

**Ex. 3.** Show that in a domain made up of real numbers : (1) a cyclic equation has all its roots real, if one is real; (2) all the roots of a cyclic equation of odd degree are real; (3) all the roots of a cyclic equation of even degree are complex when one of them is complex.

176. General Cyclic Cubic Equation. To determine the general irreducible cyclic equation of the third degree, let  $a, a_1, a_2$  be the roots of the required cubic, where  $a_1 = \phi(a), a_2 = \phi(a_1)$ . From § 80, it follows that the most general algebraic function  $\phi$  in  $\Omega$  is  $\phi(a) \equiv aa^2 + ba + c$ .

By § 175,  $d\alpha + e$  is also a root of a cyclic equation. Writing  $d\alpha + e$  for  $\alpha$  in I and selecting for d and e values which cause the coefficient of  $\alpha$  to disappear and that of  $\alpha^2$  to be unity, we obtain a simpler, yet general function,  $\phi(\alpha) = \alpha^2 + c$ . We have

$$\alpha_1 = \alpha^2 + c,$$
  

$$\alpha_2 = \alpha_1^2 + c,$$
  

$$\alpha = \alpha_2^2 + c.$$

Eliminating  $\alpha_1$  and  $\alpha_2$ , we have

$$(\alpha^2 + c)^4 + 2 c (\alpha^2 + c)^2 - \alpha + c^2 + c = 0.$$

Since  $a_1$  cannot equal a, the expression  $a_1 - a = (a^2 + c) - a$  cannot be zero. Dividing by  $(a^2 + c) - a$ , we get

$$\begin{aligned} \alpha^{6} + \alpha^{5} + (3 c + 1)\alpha^{4} + (2 c + 1)\alpha^{3} + (3 c^{2} + 3 c + 1)\alpha^{2} \\ + (c^{2} + 2 c + 1)\alpha + (c^{3} + 2 c^{2} + c + 1) = 0. \end{aligned}$$
 II

196

If the required cubic is 
$$x^3 - a_1x^2 + a_2x - a_3 = 0$$
, then  
 $a_1 = a + a_1 + a_2 = a^4 + (2c + 1)a^2 + a + (c^2 + 2c)$ ,  
 $a_2 = a^6 + a^5 + 3ca^4 + (2c + 1)a^3 + (3c^2 + c)a^2 + (c^2 + 2c)a + (c^3 + c^2)$ .  
By II,  
 $a_3 = a^7 + 3ca^5 + (3c^2 + c)a^3 + (c^3 + c^2)a$ .  
By II,  
 $= ca_1 + (c + 1)$ .

Equation II is satisfied by the three roots a,  $a_1$ ,  $a_2$  and also by three other roots a',  $a'_1$ ,  $a'_2$ , whose sum we designate by  $a'_1$ . We have  $a_1 + a'_1 = -1$ 

$$a_1a'_1 = 3 c + 1 + a_1 + a'_1 - 2(c - 1),$$
  
= c + 2,

and  $a_1$ ,  $a'_1$  are roots of the quadratic

$$z^2 + z + c + 2 = 0.$$

Since the sextic II is satisfied by the roots  $\alpha$ ,  $\alpha_1$ ,  $\alpha_2$  of the irreducible cubic, II must be reducible into two cubics. Hence  $\alpha_1$  and  $\alpha'_1$  must be numbers in  $\Omega$ . Hence the discriminant -(4c+7) of the quadratic must be a perfect square; in other words,

or 
$$-(4 \ c+7) = (2 \ f+1)^2,$$
$$c = -(f^2 + f + 2)$$

The roots of the quadratic are f and -(f+1). Writing  $a_1=f$ , we get  $a_2 = -(f^2+2f+3)$ ,  $a_3 = (f^3+2f^2+3f+1)$ . Thus the coefficients of the required cubic are obtained, where f is any number in  $\Omega$ . To remove the second term of this cubic, take

$$f = \frac{3m}{2} \text{ and } y = x - \frac{m}{2}, \text{ and we get}$$
$$y^3 - 3(m^2 + m + 1)y + (m^2 + m + 1)(2m + 1) = 0. \qquad \text{III}$$

Every cyclic equation of the third degree can be reduced to III. See Ex. 4, § 159. Ex. 1. Show that the discriminant of III is a perfect square,

$$D = 9^2(m^2 + m + 1)^2.$$

**Ex.** 2. For the equation III determine the function  $\phi$  in the relation  $\alpha_1 = \phi(\alpha)$ .

**Ex.** 3. Any cyclic equation of the fourth degree can be reduced to the form  $y^4 - 2b(2s + r^2)y^2 - 4br(1 + bs^2)y + b^2(r^2 - 2s)^2 - b(1 + bs^2)^2 = 0$ , where b, r, s, are rational numbers and b is not a perfect fourth power. See Ex. 11, § 159. Prove that this equation can be solved without the extraction of cube roots.

#### CYCLOTOMIC EQUATIONS; GEOMETRIC CONSTRUCTIONS

177. Introduction. In § 63 and § 64 it was shown that the roots of  $x^n - 1 = 0$  may be represented thus,

$$\alpha_{k} = \cos \frac{2 k \pi}{n} + i \sin \frac{2 k \pi}{n},$$

where k takes successively the values  $0, 1, \dots, n-1$ , and that the solution of  $x^n - 1 = 0$  is geometrically equivalent to the division of the circumference of a circle into n equal parts. The solution of  $x^n - 1 = 0$ , given in § 63, is trigonometric. We proceed to show that it is always possible to give an algebraic solution. We shall point out how this solution can be effected and shall consider the cases in which the division of the circle into equal parts can be effected with the aid of the ruler and compasses.

178. Cyclotomic Equations. If we remove the root 1 from  $x^n - 1 = 0$  by dividing by x - 1, we obtain

$$x^{n-1} + x^{n-2} + \dots + x + 1 = 0.$$
 I

If n is a prime number, equation I is called a cyclotomic equation. In the domain  $\Omega_{(1)}$  the cyclotomic equation is *irreducible*, § 130, and cyclic, § 170.

If n is a composite number, we know from § 66 that the solution of  $x^n - 1 = 0$  can be reduced to the solution of binomial

198

equations of the form  $x^m - A = 0$ , in which the exponents *m* are the prime factors of *n*. By taking  $x\sqrt[m]{A} = z$ , the equation  $x^m - A = 0$  becomes  $z^m - 1 = 0$ . Hence the general solutions of binomial equations can be given as soon as we are able to solve binomial equations of the form  $z^m - 1 = 0$  whose degrees are prime numbers. It is the latter equations which by division by z - 1 give rise to the cyclotomic equations.

Since a cyclotomic equation is a cyclic equation, its solution is theoretically contained in § 172. But, as a rule, the computation of  $T_{\lambda}$  is extremely involved. We proceed to develop a scheme, due to Gauss, by which the solution of cyclotomic equations is divided into simpler component operations.

Ex. 1: Show that cyclotomic equations are reciprocal equations.

179. Primitive Congruence Roots. It is shown in the Theory of Numbers that, for every prime number n, there exist numbers g (called *primitive congruence roots of n*), such that, on dividing by n each member in the series,

$$g, g^2, g^3, \dots, g^{n-1},$$

the remainders obtained are (except in their sequence) the numbers in the series 1, 2, 3,  $\cdots$ , n-1.

For instance, if n = 5, we may take g = 2. If 2,  $2^2$ ,  $2^3$ ,  $2^4$  are each divided by 5, the remainders are respectively 2, 4, 3, 1. These remainders differ from the series 1, 2, 3, 4 only in the order in which they come. Illustrate the same by taking n = 7 and g = 3.

In view of these facts and of the relation  $\omega^n = 1$ , the roots  $\omega, \omega_1, \dots, \omega_{n-1}$  of the cyclotomic equation I may be written thus:  $\omega = \omega, \omega_1 = \omega^g, \omega_2 = \omega^{g^2}, \dots, \omega_{n-2} = \omega^{g^{n-2}}$ . This notation will offer certain advantages. The roots of I may therefore be written:

$$\omega, \omega^{g}, \omega^{g^{2}}, \cdots, \omega^{g^{n-2}}.$$
 II

**Ex.** 1. By trial find the smallest integer that may be taken as the value for g when n = 11, and show that  $\omega$ ,  $\omega^g$ ,  $\omega^{g^2}$ , ...,  $\omega^{g_{10}}$  represent the same roots as  $\omega$ ,  $\omega^2$ ,  $\omega^3$ , ...,  $\omega^{10}$ . Show that, for n = 13, g may be 2 or 6.

180. Solution of Cyclotomic Equations reduced to Equations of Prime Degree. As is evident from § 174 we can base the solution of equation I of § 178 upon cyclic equations whose degrees are prime factors of n-1. When n is prime, n-1 is composite. Let  $n-1=e \cdot f$ , where e is a prime factor. As before, let  $\omega$  be a root of the cyclotomic equation I. Then construct expressions  $\eta, \eta_1, \dots, \eta_{e-1}$ , called *periods*, as follows:

$$\eta \equiv \omega + \omega^{g^{e}} + \omega^{g^{2e}} + \dots + \omega^{g(f-1)e}, \\\eta_{1} \equiv \omega^{g} + \omega^{g^{e+1}} + \omega^{g^{2e+1}} + \dots + \omega^{g(f-1)e+1}, \\\vdots \\ \eta_{e-1} \equiv \omega^{g^{e-1}} + \omega^{g^{2e-1}} + \omega^{g^{3e-1}} + \dots + \omega^{g^{fe-1}}.$$
III

In each period there are f terms and the first term is the  $g^{e}$ th power of the last term, and each of the terms after the first is the  $g^{e}$ th power of the term preceding it. Each of the periods is, therefore, a function that belongs to the cyclic group

$$G = \{1, s^e, s^{2e}, \dots, s^{(f-1)e}\},\$$

where the substitution  $s = (\omega, \omega_1, \omega_2, \dots, \omega_{n-2})$ . The periods III are special forms which the functions  $y, y_1, y_2$  in § 174 may assume. From § 174 it follows that the periods III are the roots of an irreducible cyclic equation

$$(x-\eta)(x-\eta_1)\cdots(x-\eta_{e-1})=0.$$
 IV

This is an equation in  $\Omega$  and of the degree *e*. By the solution of this equation the periods become known quantities.

181. Product of Two Periods. In order to compute the coefficients of equation IV in § 180 we must multiply periods one by another. Take

$$\eta_{h} \equiv \omega^{g^{h}} + \omega^{g^{h+e}} + \cdots + \omega^{g^{h+(f-1)e}},$$
$$\eta_{k} \equiv \omega^{g^{k}} + \omega^{g^{k+e}} + \cdots + \omega^{g^{k+(f-1)e}}.$$
Observing that  $\eta_h$  remains unaltered when  $\omega^{g^h}$  is replaced by  $\omega^{g^{h+e}}$  or by any of the other roots in that period, we may write the product of the two periods as follows:

In this product the terms in the first column are,

 $\omega^{(g^{k}+g^{h})} + \omega^{(g^{k}+g^{h})g^{e}} + \omega^{(g^{k}+g^{h})g^{2e}} + \dots + \omega^{(g^{k}+g^{h})g^{(f-1)e}}$ 

If  $(g^k + g^h)$  is a multiple of *n*, then this column becomes equal to *f*. If  $(g^k + g^h)$  is not a multiple of *n*, then this column is one of the periods in III, § 180.

The same conclusion is reached for every column in the product. Hence the product is a linear function of the periods, the coefficients in this function being numbers in the given domain  $\Omega(1)$ .

182. When f is a Composite Number. When in the relation  $n-1=e \cdot f$ , both e and f are prime numbers, the solution of the cyclotomic equation is evidently made to depend on the solution of two equations whose degrees are prime, one equation being of the degree e, the other of the degree f.

When f is a composite number, one or more additional steps are necessary to reduce the problem to the solution of equations of prime degree. If  $f = e' \cdot f'$ , where e' is prime, we may form ee' periods, with f' terms in each, as follows:

$$\begin{split} \eta' &\equiv \omega &+ \omega^{g^{ee'}} &+ \omega^{g^{2ee'}} &+ \cdots &+ \omega^{g^{(f'-1)ee'}}, \\ \eta'_1 &\equiv \omega^g &+ \omega^{g^{ee'+1}} &+ \omega^{g^{2ee'+1}} &+ \cdots &+ \omega^{g^{(f'-1)ee'+1}}, \\ \eta'_e &\equiv \omega^{g^e} &+ \omega^{g^{ee'+e}} &+ \omega^{g^{2ee'+e}} &+ \cdots &+ \omega^{g^{(f'-1)ee'+e}}, \\ \eta'_{2e} &\equiv \omega^{g^{2e}} &+ \omega^{g^{ee'+2e}} &+ \omega^{g^{2ee'+2e}} &+ \cdots &+ \omega^{g^{(f'-1)ee'+2e}}, \\ \eta'_{2e'-1} &\equiv \omega^{g^{ee'-1}} &+ \omega^{g^{2ee'-1}} &+ \omega^{g^{3ee'-1}} &+ \cdots &+ \omega^{g^{f'ee'-1}}. \end{split}$$

It is to be noticed that, if we select every eth period in this set, the sum of the periods thus selected is equal to one of the known periods III, § 180. For instance,

$$\eta = \eta' + \eta'_{e} + \dots + \eta'_{(e'-1)e}.$$

These periods  $\eta'$ ,  $\eta'_e$ ,  $\eta'_{2e}$ ,  $\cdots$  are roots of an irreducible cyclic equation of the degree e', the coefficients of which are linear functions of the known periods III.

If f' is a composite number, repeat the above process by assuming  $f' = e'' \cdot f''$ . If  $n = e \cdot e' \cdot e'' \cdot f''$ , then the above process calls for the solution of one equation of each of the prime degrees e, e', e'', f''. As soon as one root of a cyclotomic equation is found, the others can be obtained by raising that one to the 2d, 3d, ..., nth powers.

183. Constructions by Ruler and Compasses. The operations of addition, subtraction, multiplication, and division can be performed geometrically upon two lines of given length. For instance, in elementary geometry we learn how to construct the quotient of a line a inches long and another line b inches long, by the aid of the proportion x: 1 = a:b. In elementary geometry we learn also how to construct, by means of ruler and compasses, the irrational  $\sqrt{ab}$ . The geometric construction of  $\sqrt{c + \sqrt{ab}}$  is simply a more involved application of the processes just referred to. But we are not able to construct with ruler and compasses, irrationals like  $\sqrt[3]{ab}$ . Thus it is evident that all rational operations and those irrational operations which involve only square roots can be constructed geometrically by the aid of the ruler and compasses.

Conversely, any geometrical construction which involves the intersection of straight lines with each other or with circles, or the intersection of circles with one another, is equivalent to rational algebraic operations or the extraction of square roots. This is the more evident, if we remember that analytically each line and circle used in the construction is represented by

202

an equation of the first degree and second degree. Hence there is a one-to-one correspondence between constructions by ruler and compasses and algebraic operations which are purely rational or involve square roots.

Consequently, if we wish to show the impossibility of constructing a quantity by ruler and compasses, we need only show that the algebraic expression for that quantity in terms of the known quantities cannot be given by a finite number of square roots.

Applying these ideas to the problem of dividing the circle into n equal parts by means of ruler and compasses, the problem is possible or impossible according as the roots of  $x^n - 1 = 0$ can be expressed by a finite number of square roots or not.

If n is a prime number of the form  $2^* + 1$ , the degree n-1 of the cyclotomic equation is a power of 2, and the operations called for in § 182 involve square roots only. Hence, when n is a prime of the form  $2^* + 1$ , the division of the circle into n equal parts by ruler and compasses is always possible. This important result is due to Gauss.

**Ex. 1.** Solve  $x^5 - 1 = 0$  by Gauss's method.

The cyclotomic equation is  $x^4 + x^3 + x^2 + x + 1 = 0$ . Here  $n-1=4=2 \cdot 2$ ; e=2, f=2. It is only necessary to solve two quadratics. By trial we get for n=5, g=2 the roots

 $\omega, \omega^g, \omega^{g^2}, \omega^{g^3};$ 

· these yield the two periods

$$\eta = \omega + \omega^{g^2} = \omega + \omega^4,$$
  
$$\eta_1 = \omega^g + \omega^{g^3} = \omega^2 + \omega^3.$$

Hence equation IV, § 180, becomes

 $x^{2} - (\eta + \eta_{1})x + \eta\eta_{1} = 0.$  $n + \eta_{1} = \omega + \omega^{2} + \omega^{3} + \omega^{4} = -1,$ 

But

$$\eta\eta_1 = (\omega + \omega^4)(\omega^2 + \omega^3) = \omega^3 + \omega^2 + \omega + \omega^4 = -1.$$

and

Hence the quadratic takes the form

$$x^2 + x - 1 = 0$$
, and  $x = \frac{-1 \pm \sqrt{5}}{2}$ 

Take 
$$\eta = \frac{-1 + \sqrt{5}}{2}$$
. The quadratic whose roots are  $\omega$  and  $\omega^4$  is  
 $x^2 - (\omega + \omega^4)x + \omega \cdot \omega^4 = 0,$   
 $x^2 - \eta x + 1 = 0.$ 

or

Whence 
$$x = \frac{\eta}{2} + \sqrt{\frac{\eta^2}{4} - 1} = \frac{-1 + \sqrt{5} + i\sqrt{10 + 2\sqrt{5}}}{4}$$
.

According to § 183 the inscription of a regular pentagon into a circle can be effected with the aid of ruler and compasses.

**Ex. 2.** Solve  $x^{13} - 1 = 0$ .

Here  $n-1=3\cdot 2\cdot 2$ . Hence the solution of one cubic and two quadratics is called for, and the inscription of a regular polygon of thirteen sides into a circle by ruler and compasses is impossible. Take g=6, then the roots of  $\frac{x^{13}-1}{x-1}=0$  are

$$\omega, \omega^g, \omega^{g^2}, \cdots, \omega^{g^{11}}$$

or

$$\omega, \ \omega^6, \ \omega^{10}, \ \omega^8, \ \omega^9, \ \omega^2, \ \omega^{12}, \ \omega^7, \ \omega^8, \ \omega^5, \ \omega^4, \ \omega^{11}.$$

If we take  $n-1 = e \cdot f = 12 = 3 \cdot 4$ , where e = 3, we get

$$\eta \equiv \omega + \omega^8 + \omega^{12} + \omega^5,$$
  

$$\eta_1 \equiv \omega^6 + \omega^9 + \omega^7 + \omega^4,$$
  

$$\eta_2 \equiv \omega^{10} + \omega^2 + \omega^3 + \omega^{11}.$$

To compute the cubic of which  $\eta$ ,  $\eta_1$ ,  $\eta_2$  are roots, we obtain

$$\begin{split} \eta + \eta_1 + \eta_2 &= -1, \\ \eta\eta_1 &= 2 \eta + \eta_1 + \eta_2, \\ \eta_1\eta_2 &= \eta + 2 \eta_1 + \eta_2, \\ \eta\eta_2 &= \eta + \eta_1 + 2 \eta_2, \\ \eta\eta &= 4 + 2 \eta_1 + \eta_2, \\ \eta\eta_1\eta_2 &= \eta\eta + 2 \eta\eta_1 + \eta\eta_2 = -1, \\ \eta\eta_1\eta_1\eta_2 + \eta\eta_2 &= 4(\eta + \eta_1 + \eta_2) = -4. \end{split}$$

The cubic is  $x^3 + x^2 - 4x + 1 = 0$ . Solving this, we obtain the values of  $\eta$ ,  $\eta_1$ ,  $\eta_2$ .

Take next  $f = 4 = e'f' = 2 \cdot 2$ . We have  $\eta' = \omega + \omega^{12}$ ,  $\eta'_3 = \omega^3 + \omega^5$ . Since  $\eta' + \eta'_3 = \eta$  and  $\eta'\eta'_3 = \eta_1$ , we find that  $\eta'$  and  $\eta'_3$  are roots of the quadratic

$$x^2 - \eta x + \eta_1 = 0,$$

204

and are therefore known. Next form the quadratic whose roots are  $\omega$  and  $\omega^{12}$ . Since  $\omega + \omega^{12} = \eta'$  and  $\omega \cdot \omega^{12} = 1$ , this quadratic is

 $x^2 - \eta' x + 1 = 0.$ 

Either root of this quadratic is a primitive root of the cyclotomic equation, from which all the other roots may be found.

**Ex. 3.** Solve  $x^{17} - 1 = 0$ .

One root is 1. To find one of the primitive roots, form the cyclotomic equation of the 16th degree and take g = 3. Then the roots are represented by the following powers of  $\omega$ :

1, g,  $g^2$ ,  $g^3$ ,  $g^4$ , ...,  $g^{15}$ ,

which are equivalent, respectively, to the powers

Take  $n - 1 = 16 = e \cdot f = 2 \cdot 8$ , where e = 2. Then

$$\begin{split} \eta &= \omega + \omega^9 + \omega^{13} + \omega^{15} + \omega^{16} + \omega^8 + \omega^4 + \omega^2, \\ \eta_1 &= \omega^3 + \omega^{10} + \omega^5 + \omega^{11} + \omega^{14} + \omega^7 + \omega^{12} + \omega^6. \end{split}$$

We find that  $\eta + \eta_1$  is equal to the sum of all the roots, or -1, while  $\eta\eta_1 = -4$ . Hence  $\eta$  and  $\eta_1$  are roots of

 $x^2 + x - 4 = 0.$ 

Next we take  $f = 8 = e'f' = 2 \cdot 4$ , where e' = 2; then

$$\begin{split} \eta' &= \omega + \omega^{13} + \omega^{16} + \omega^4, \\ \eta'_1 &= \omega^3 + \omega^5 + \omega^{14} + \omega^{12}, \\ \eta'_2 &= \omega^9 + \omega^{15} + \omega^8 + \omega^2, \\ \eta'_3 &= \omega^{10} + \omega^{11} + \omega^7 + \omega^6. \end{split}$$

The periods  $\eta'$  and  $\eta'_2$ , whose sum is  $\eta$ , are roots of

$$x^2 - \eta x - 1 = 0$$
,

while  $\eta'_1$  and  $\eta'_3$ , whose sum is  $\eta_1$ , are the roots of

$$x^{2} - \eta_{1}x - 1 = 0.$$
  
et  $\eta' = \frac{\eta}{2} + \sqrt{\frac{\eta^{2}}{4} + 1}, \quad \eta'_{2} = \frac{\eta}{2} - \sqrt{\frac{\eta^{2}}{4} + 1},$   
 $\eta'_{1} = \frac{\eta_{1}}{2} + \sqrt{\frac{\eta^{2}}{4} + 1}, \quad \eta'_{3} = \frac{\eta_{1}}{2} - \sqrt{\frac{\eta^{2}}{4} + 1}.$ 

We get

In the third step,  $f' = 4 = e''f'' = 2 \cdot 2$ ,

$$\begin{aligned} \eta' &= \omega + \omega^{16}, & \eta''_4 = \omega^{13} + \omega^4, \\ \eta''_1 &= \omega^3 + \omega^{14}, & \eta''_5 = \omega^5 + \omega^{12}, \\ \eta''_2 &= \omega^9 + \omega^8, & \eta''_6 = \omega^{15} + \omega^2, \\ \eta''_3 &= \omega^{10} + \omega^7, & \eta''_7 = \omega^{11} + \omega^6. \end{aligned}$$

Since  $\eta''$  and  $\eta''_4$  have  $\eta'$  for their sum and  $\eta'_1$  for their product, they are the roots of

$$x^2-\eta'x+\eta'_1=0$$

and we obtain  $\eta'' = \frac{\eta'}{2} + \sqrt{\frac{\eta'^2}{4} - \eta'_1}.$ 

Finally we find that  $\omega$  and  $\omega^{16}$  are roots of the quadratic

$$x^2 - \eta'' x + 1 = 0;$$
  
that is,  
$$\omega = \frac{\eta''}{2} + \sqrt{\frac{\eta''^2}{4} - 1},$$

a primitive root of the cyclotomic equation of degree 16.

After solving one of the quadratics given above, the question arises, which one of the two roots represents a given period? For instance, which of the roots of  $x^2 - \eta_1 x - 1 = 0$  represents  $\eta'_1$ ? To settle this, form the product

$$(\eta' - \eta'_2)(\eta'_1 - \eta'_3) = 2(\eta - \eta_1) = +\sqrt{17} = \sqrt{\frac{\eta^2}{4} + 1}(\eta'_1 - \eta'_3).$$

Hence  $\eta'_1 - \eta'_3$  is positive, and  $\eta'_1$  has the plus sign before its radical,  $\eta'_3$  the negative sign.

It is readily seen that, since the equation  $x^{17} - 1 = 0$  involves in its solution no other irrationals than square roots, a regular polygon of seventeen sides can be inscribed in a circle by means of the ruler and compasses. Gauss discovered a method of inscribing this polygon when he was a youth of nineteen years. It was this discovery which induced him to pursue mathematics as his life-work rather than languages. For an explanation of the construction of the regular seventeen-sided polygon consult Bachmann, Lehre von der Kreistheilung, Leipzig, 1872, p. 67, or Klein's Famous Problems of Elementary Geometry (ed. W. W. Beman and D. E. Smith), Boston, 1897, p. 41. We have followed Bachmann's exposition of the subject of the division of the circle. **Ex. 4.** Show the impossibility of constructing, with ruler and compasses, the side of a cube, the volume of which is twice the volume of a given cube.

(To construct a cube whose volume shall be double that of a given cube is the problem known as the "Duplication of the Cube." It was one of three problems upon which Greek mathematicians expended much effort. Myth ascribes to it the following origin: The Delians were suffering from a pestilence and were ordered by the oracle to double a certain cubical altar. Thoughtless workmen constructed a cube with edges twice as long. But brainless work like that did not pacify the gods. The error being discovered, Plato was consulted on this "Delian problem." Through him it received the attention of mathematicians.)

**Ex. 5.** Show the impossibility of trisecting by the aid of ruler and compasses any given angle.

To trisect a given angle is the second of the three famous problems first studied by Greek mathematicians. The third was the "Quadrature of the Circle."

Let x be a complex number OA' of unit length. Let

$$\underline{|AOB|} = \phi, \quad \underline{|AOA'|} = \underline{|A'OA''|} = \underline{|A''OB|} = \frac{\phi}{3}.$$
$$x = \cos\frac{\phi}{3} + i\sin\frac{\phi}{3},$$
$$x^2 = \cos\frac{2\phi}{3} + i\sin\frac{2\phi}{3},$$
$$x^3 = \cos\phi + i\sin\phi.$$

Then

and

According to our problem we are given I, where  $x^3 = OB$ , and we are to show the impossibility of constructing OA' by ruler and compasses.

We are going to prove that equation I, as a rule, is irreducible. It is sometimes reducible. For instance, when  $\phi = 90^{\circ}$ , equation I gives  $x^8 = i$ , which can be factored into  $(x+i)(x^2-ix-1)$ , which factors are functions in  $\Omega_{(1,0)}$ . In this case the construction can be effected.

When the right member of I is an arbitrary number, that is, when  $\phi$  is an arbitrary angle, then I is irreducible, else at least one of its roots could be represented as a function of  $\cos \phi$  and  $\sin \phi$ . By De Moivre's Theorem the roots of I are  $\phi$ 

$$x_1 = \cos \frac{\phi}{3} + i \sin \frac{\phi}{3},$$
  

$$x_2 = \cos \frac{\phi + 2\pi}{3} + i \sin \frac{\phi + 2\pi}{3},$$
  

$$x_3 = \cos \frac{\phi + 4\pi}{3} + i \sin \frac{\phi + 4\pi}{3}.$$

T

If in these expressions for  $x_1$ ,  $x_2$ ,  $x_3$  we substitute  $\phi + 2\pi$  for  $\phi$ , the roots undergo a cyclic permutation; that is,  $x_1$  becomes  $x_2$ ,  $x_2$  becomes  $x_3$ , and  $x_3$  becomes  $x_1$ . Because of these changes, no root can, in general, be a



rational function of  $\sin \phi$  and  $\cos \phi$ ; for,  $\sin \phi$ and  $\cos \phi$  remaining unaltered in value when  $\phi + 2\pi$  is substituted for  $\phi$ , the root could undergo no change. For an arbitrary angle the equation I is, therefore, irreducible. Its degree being 3, which is not an integral power of 2, its roots cannot be constructed with the aid of the ruler and compasses, and the trisection is impossible.

**Ex.** 6. Show that, if we take  $\cos \frac{\phi}{2}$  equal to a value  $\alpha$ , numerically  $\geq 1$ 

and rational or involving square roots only, we get  $x^3 = (\alpha + i\beta)^3$ , where  $\beta^2 = 1 - \alpha^2$ , and where  $x = \alpha + i\beta$  is a root which can be constructed geometrically. Show that any number of trisectable angles  $\phi$  may be obtained by this process. Taking  $\alpha = \frac{1}{2}\sqrt{2 - \sqrt{3}}$ , show that the angle of  $45^\circ$  may be trisected. By assuming  $\alpha$  to involve at least one radical whose order is not two nor a power of two, show how to obtain angles which cannot be trisected.

**Ex. 7.** Assuming  $2\cos\frac{\phi}{3} = x$ , show that the trisection of the angle  $\phi$  depends upon the equation  $x^3 - 3x = 2\cos\phi$ . Letting  $\cos\phi = m/n$  and nx = y, derive  $y^3 - 3n^2y = 2mn^2$ , which has integral roots whenever the first cubic has rational roots. If the integers m and n are prime to each other, and n is divisible by an odd prime p but not by  $p^2$ , show that  $\phi$  cannot be trisected. Prove that angles  $120^\circ$ ,  $60^\circ$ ,  $30^\circ$ ,  $\cos^{-1}\frac{1}{6}$  cannot be trisected.

**Ex. 8.** To show that an irreducible cubic, whose coefficients are rational numbers and whose three roots are real, cannot be solved by real radicals.

This is the so-called "irreducible case," § 60. We are required to prove that in the algebraic solution of the given cubic it is impossible to avoid the extraction of the cube root of a complex number. To this end observe, first (§ 171, Ex. 3) that the cubic becomes a normal equation when  $\sqrt{D}$ is adjoined to  $\Omega$ . Here  $\sqrt{D}$  is real. The equation  $x^n - a = 0$ , where a is not a perfect *n*th power, and p is prime, is irreducible. If it were possible for the normal cubic equation to become reducible on the adjunction of the real root  $X \equiv \sqrt[n]{a}$ , then by § 166, Cor. II, the degree of  $x^n - a = 0$ would be a multiple of j, the index of the new Galois group P = 1, under  $G_3^{(3)}$ . Here this index is 3. As *n* is prime, n=3. This makes  $\Omega_{(X)}=\Omega_{(\rho)}$ , where  $\rho$  is a root of the normal cubic. Hence the roots of  $x^n - a = 0$  are the conjugate values of X, § 136, and all of them lie in the normal domain  $\Omega_{(\rho)}$ . Now, if one root of a normal equation is real, all its roots are real. Therefore, all the roots of  $x^n - a = 0$ , being functions in  $\Omega$  of  $\rho$  would have to be real. But this cannot be, when n = 3. Thus, the assumption that our cubic can be solved by real radicals of prime order leads to an absurdity.

Nor would the solution be possible by real radicals of composite order, such as  $\sqrt[n]{a}$ , where n = pq, a composite number; for, in that case we can write  $\sqrt[p]{\sqrt[n]{a}}$  and we can adjoin in succession the radicals of prime order  $y \equiv \sqrt[q]{a}$  and  $\sqrt[p]{y}$ . But, as has just been shown, such adjunctions do not render the normal cubic reducible.

## CHAPTER XVIII

### ABELIAN EQUATIONS

**184.** Definition. An equation f(x) = 0 of the *n*th degree, having the roots  $\alpha$ ,  $\alpha_1$ ,  $\cdots$ ,  $\alpha_{n-1}$  is called *Abelian*, if each root can be expressed as a function in  $\Omega$  of some one of its roots, thus,

$$\alpha_1 = \phi_1(\alpha), \ \alpha_2 = \phi_2(\alpha), \ \cdots, \ \alpha_{n-1} = \phi_{n-1}(\alpha),$$

and if, for any two of these roots, we have the commutative relation

$$\phi_{\lambda}\phi_{\lambda}(\alpha)=\phi_{\lambda}\phi_{\lambda}(\alpha).$$

By  $\phi_k \phi_k(\alpha)$  we mean here  $\phi_k [\phi_k(\alpha)]$ .

The equation  $x^4 - 1 = 0$  is Abelian, because, its roots being  $\pm 1$ ,  $\pm i$ , we have  $-1 = i^2$ ,  $-i = i^3$ ,  $1 = i^4$ ,  $(i^2)^3 = (i^3)^2$ , etc.

Ex. 1. Show that cyclic equations are special cases of Abelian equations.

**Ex.** 2. Show that  $x^6 - 1 = 0$  is Abelian, but not cyclic; that  $x^8 - 1 = 0$  is both Abelian and cyclic.

**Ex. 3.** Prove that when Abelian equations are irreducible, they are normal.

**Ex. 4.** Show that  $x^n - 1 = 0$  is Abelian where n is any positive integer.

**Ex. 5.** The equation  $x^5 + 22x^4 - 440x^3 - 3520x + 11264x + 32768 = 0$  has as three of its roots -2, 4, -8. Show that it is an Abelian equation.

**Ex.** 6. Is  $x^6 - 5 = 0$  an Abelian equation in the domain  $\Omega_{(1)}$ ? In the domain  $\Omega_{(1,\omega)}$ , where  $\omega$  is a primitive sixth root of unity?

185. Abelian Groups. A group whose substitutions obey the commutative law in multiplication is called an *Abelian group*. For instance, 1, (ab) is such a group, because  $1 \cdot (ab) = (ab) \cdot 1$ .

Ex. 1. Every sub-group of an Abelian group is itself an Abelian group.

**Ex. 2.** If  $G_1$  is not Abelian, and  $G_1$  is a sub-group of G, then G is not Abelian.

**Ex. 3.** Show that  $G_3^{(3)}$ ,  $G_2^{(4)}$ ,  $G_4^{(4)}$  I,  $G_4^{(4)}$  II,  $G_4^{(4)}$  III,  $G_5^{(5)}$ ,  $G_6^{(5)}$  II, are Abelian groups.

186. Abelian Equations have Abelian Groups. If the roots of an Abelian equation are all distinct, its Galois group is an Abelian group.

Let f(x) = 0 be an Abelian equation, and let its roots be

$$\alpha, \ \alpha_1 = \phi_1(\alpha), \ \alpha_2 = \phi_2(\alpha), \ \cdots, \ \alpha_{n-1} = \phi_{n-1}(\alpha).$$
 I

If f(x) = 0 is reducible, let g(x) be an irreducible factor, and let q(x) = 0 have the roots

$$\alpha, \ \alpha' = \phi'(\alpha), \ \alpha'' = \phi''(\alpha), \ \cdots$$
 II

All the roots of II occur, of course, in the series I. Now q(x) = 0 satisfies all the conditions of a Galois resolvent of f(x) = 0,§ 145. Hence the group of f(x) = 0 consists of the substitutions

$$\rho \equiv (\alpha \alpha), \ \rho' \equiv (\alpha \alpha'), \ \cdots.$$

This group obeys the commutative law in multiplication, for we have / 1/ \>

$$\rho' = (\alpha \alpha') = (\alpha, \phi'(\alpha)),$$
  
$$\rho'' = (\alpha \alpha'') = (\alpha, \phi''(\alpha)),$$

and, § 148,  $\rho'\rho'' = \{\alpha, \phi'(\alpha)\}\{\phi'(\alpha), \phi'\phi''(\alpha)\} = \{\alpha, \phi'\phi''(\alpha)\},\$  $\rho''\rho' = \{\alpha, \phi''(\alpha)\}\{\phi''(\alpha), \phi''\phi'(\alpha)\} = \{\alpha, \phi''\phi'(\alpha)\}.$ 

Since the equation f(x) = 0 is Abelian, we have

$$\phi''\phi'(\alpha) = \phi'\phi''(\alpha)$$
$$\rho'\rho'' = \rho''\rho'.$$

hence.

Consequently, the group of substitutions of the domain  $\Omega_{(a)}$ is commutative, as is also the isomorphic group of the equation f(x) = 0, § 151. Therefore, the Galois group of f(x) = 0 is an Abelian group.

187. An Equation having an Abelian Group is Abelian. An irreducible equation g(x) = 0, having a commutative group is an Abelian equation.

Let  $\alpha$ ,  $\alpha_1, \dots, \alpha_{n-1}$  be the roots of g(x) = 0 and let G represent the group of this equation. As g(x) = 0 is irreducible, G is transitive, § 156.

Let s be any substitution in the group G which does not change the digit 0, and let  $s_i$  be any substitution in G which replaces 0 by i. Then  $s_i^{-1} \cdot s \cdot s_i$  is a substitution of G which does not change i; for

> $s_i^{-1}$  changes *i* to 0, *s* does not change 0,  $s_i$  changes 0 to *i*.

Since the group G is assumed to be commutative, we have

 $s_i^{-1} \cdot s \cdot s_i = s_i^{-1} \cdot s_i \cdot s = s.$ 

Hence s leaves unchanged not only the digit 0, but also the digit *i*. But the group G is transitive; therefore, the digit 0 must be capable of being replaced by each of the other digits 1, 2, 3,  $\cdots$ , (n-1). Yet, no matter which one of these digits is taken to be *i*, the substitution s leaves *i* unaltered. These relations can hold true only when s is the identical substitution in the group G. Hence every substitution in G, except 1, replaces 0 by some other digit.

Applying to every other digit the same reasoning which we applied to 0, it follows that every substitution in the group G, except the substitution 1, contains that digit among its elements; in other words, there is no substitution in G, except 1, which leaves any digit unaltered.

Next, adjoin to the domain  $\Omega$  the quantity  $M = \alpha$ , where  $\alpha$  is one of the roots of g(x) = 0. Since no substitution in the group G, except 1, leaves the index of  $\alpha_x$  unaltered and since the identical substitution satisfies the definition of a group, 1 is the sub-group to which M belongs. Thus, Q = 1; and, by the

adjunction of  $\alpha_{z}$ , the group of the Galois domain is reduced to 1, § 163.

The Galois domain of g(x) = 0 is  $\Omega_{(a_0, a_1, \dots, a_{n-1})}$ , § 143. Each of the roots  $\alpha_0, \alpha_1, \dots, \alpha_{n-1}$  is a number in the Galois domain and each of the roots admits of the substitutions of the sub-group Q = 1; hence each root is contained in the domain  $\Omega_{(a)}$ , § 162, and each root can be expressed as a function in  $\Omega$  of one of them. Therefore, g(x) = 0 is a normal equation and the domain  $\Omega_{(a)}$  is a normal domain, § 132. We have then

$$\alpha_k = \phi_k(\alpha),$$

and the Galois group of g(x) = 0 consists of the substitutions, § 149,  $\rho_k = (\alpha, \phi_k(\alpha)).$ 

We have, § 148,

$$\rho_h \rho_k = (\alpha, \phi_h \phi_k(\alpha)),$$
  

$$\rho_k \rho_h = (\alpha, \phi_k \phi_h(\alpha)).$$

As the group is assumed to be commutative, we must have,

$$\phi_{\hbar}\phi_{k}(\alpha)=\phi_{k}\phi_{\hbar}(\alpha),$$

*i.e.* g(x) = 0 is an Abelian equation.

**188.** Theorem. In a substitution belonging to a transitive Abelian group all the cycles consist of the same number of elements.

Let the substitution s be resolved into its cycles, and let r be the least number of elements in any cycle. The substitution  $s^r$ , applied to the elements in that cycle, leaves the elements unchanged. Since, § 187, in a transitive Abelian group no substitution, except the identical one, leaves an element unaltered,  $s^r$  must be the identical substitution. But this can only be the case when all other cycles (if there are others) consist of r elements.

**Ex. 1.** Name the Abelian group of degree five, in which the cycles in one and the same substitution do not have the same number of elements. **Explain.** See **Ex. 3**, § 185, also § 104.

**Ex.** 2. Show by \$ 187, 188 that there can be no transitive Abelian group of prime degree other than the cyclic group, and that there is no irreducible Abelian equation of prime degree other than the cyclic equation.

**Ex. 3.** Show that no transitive Abelian group of degree n can be of lower order than n.

**Ex.** 4. Show that a transitive Abelian group of degree n is of the order n. Weber, Vol. I, p. 578.

**189.** Solution of Abelian Equations. The solution of Abelian equations may be reduced to the solution of cyclic equations.

In a transitive Abelian group every substitution, except the identical one, involves all the elements and has the same number of elements in each cycle. Hence, if n is the total number of elements and r is the number in one cycle, we must have  $n = r \cdot t$ , where t is the number of cycles in the substitution.

Let G be the group of an irreducible Abelian equation f(x)=0, and let s be any substitution except 1. If c,  $c_1, \dots, c_{t-1}$  are the cycles in s, we may write

$$s = cc_1c_2\cdots c_{t-1}$$

Each of these cycles has for its elements r roots of the equation f(x) = 0. Hence we have

 $c \equiv (\alpha \alpha_1 \cdots \alpha_{r-1}),$   $c_1 \equiv (\beta \beta_1 \cdots \beta_{r-1}),$  $c_{r-1} \equiv (\sigma \sigma_1 \cdots \sigma_{r-1}),$ 

where the  $\alpha$ 's,  $\beta$ 's,  $\cdots$ ,  $\sigma$ 's are the roots of f(x) = 0.

Let  $s_1$  be any substitution in the group G. We have, § 187,

$$s_1^{-1} \cdot s \cdot s_1 = s.$$

The product  $s_1^{-1}ss_1$  is obtained by performing upon each cycle of s the substitution  $s_1$ , § 88. As this operation leaves s as a

214

whole unchanged, it follows that, after the operation, each cycle still has the same letters occurring in it and in the same cyclic order, though the cycles may have interchanged positions. Since s may be any substitution in the group G, except 1, we conclude that the group is *imprimitive*, whenever t > 1, § 103.

Let M be a cyclic function of the roots  $\alpha$ ,  $\alpha_1$ ,  $\cdots$ ,  $\alpha_{r-1}$ ,  $M_1$  a cyclic function of the roots  $\beta$ ,  $\beta_1$ ,  $\cdots$ ,  $\beta_{r-1}$ , and so on. We have then

There will be t such conjugate cyclic functions, M,  $M_1$ ,  $M_2$ , ...,  $M_{t-1}$ .

Let Q represent the aggregate of all the substitutions in the group G which do not replace a cycle by another, but simply interchange the elements in each cycle. This aggregate of substitutions is a group; the product of any two of them gives a substitution belonging to G, which does not interchange the cycles. Thus, Q is a sub-group of G.

As no substitution in Q can change  $\alpha_k$  into any element not belonging to the cycle c, Q is an *intransitive group*.

The function M is readily seen to admit the substitutions in Q and those only; hence, if we adjoin M to the domain  $\Omega$ , the group of f(x) = 0 reduces to Q, § 163.

As Q is intransitive, the equation f(x) = 0 is reducible in the domain  $\Omega_{(x)}$ , § 156.

Let f(x, M) be a function of x, defined thus:

$$f(x, M) \equiv (x - \alpha) (x - \alpha_1) \cdots (x - \alpha_{r-1}).$$

We proceed to show that this is one of the factors of f(x) in the domain  $\Omega_{(M)}$ . Since Q is intransitive and permutes the roots in each cycle among themselves only, the coefficients of f(x, M) admit all the substitutions of Q. Therefore f(x, M) is a function of x in  $\Omega_{(M)}$ , § 154. Since all the roots of f(x, M) = 0 are roots of f(x) = 0, f(x, M) is a factor of f(x) in  $\Omega_{(H)}$ .

Similarly, we can show that

$$\begin{split} f(x, \ M_1) &\equiv (x - \beta) \left( x - \beta_1 \right) \cdots \left( x - \beta_{r-1} \right), \\ f(x, \ M_2) &\equiv (x - \gamma) \left( x - \gamma_1 \right) \cdots \left( x - \gamma_{r-1} \right), \text{ etc.,} \end{split}$$

are factors of f(x). We have, therefore,

$$f(x) \equiv f(x, M) \cdot f(x, M_1) \cdots f(x, M_{t-1}).$$

Since the coefficients of f(x, M) = 0 are cyclic functions of its roots, the group of this equation is the cyclic group, or one of its sub-groups, § 159. But a cyclic group can have no transitive sub-group, hence the irreducible equation f(x, M) = 0 is a cyclic equation. Similarly for  $f(x, M_1) = 0$ , etc.

It remains to explain how the values of  $M, \dots, M_{t-1}$  may be obtained. By § 161 they are roots of an irreducible equation g(M) = 0 in  $\Omega$  of the degree t. We proceed to prove that g(M) = 0 is Abelian. Since f(x, M) = 0 is cyclic, we get for the conjugates of M,

By assumption, we have  $\beta = \Phi(\alpha)$ ,  $\gamma = \Phi_1(\alpha)$ . Hence

$$\begin{split} M_1 &= \psi [ \Phi(\alpha), \ \phi \Phi(\alpha), \ \cdots, \ \phi^{r-1} \Phi(\alpha) ] \\ &= \psi [ \Phi(\alpha), \ \Phi \phi(\alpha), \ \cdots, \ \Phi \phi^{r-1}(\alpha) ] \\ &= \psi_1 [ \alpha, \ \alpha_1, \ \cdots, \ \alpha_{r-1} ], \end{split}$$

where  $\psi_1$  admits the substitutions of the cyclic group. Hence, by § 162,  $M_1$  is a function in  $\Omega$  of M. Similarly for  $M_c$ . From I we see that replacing  $\alpha$  by  $\beta$  or  $\gamma$  changes M into  $M_1$  or  $M_2$ . Hence, if

$$M_1 = \lambda(M) = F\Phi(\alpha), \ M_2 = \lambda_1(M) = F\Phi_1(\alpha),$$

we may write

$$\lambda(M_2) = F\Phi(\gamma) = \lambda\lambda_1(M) = F\Phi\Phi_1(\alpha)$$
  
$$\lambda_1(M_1) = F\Phi_1(\beta) = \lambda_1\lambda(M) = F\Phi_1\Phi(\alpha).$$

Since, by assumption,  $\Phi\Phi_1(\alpha) = \Phi_1\Phi(\alpha)$ , we have also  $\lambda\lambda_1(M) = \lambda_1\lambda(M)$ . Similarly for other conjugates of M. We have now proved that g(M) = 0 is an Abelian equation.

Hence we have shown that the solution of the given Abelian equation f(x) = 0 can be reduced to the solution of cyclic equations and of another Abelian equation of lower degree. The latter Abelian equation can be treated in the same manner as was f(x) = 0; hence, eventually, the solution of f(x) = 0 is reduced to that of cyclic equations only.

**Ex. 1.** Abel gave the following example of an Abelian equation. Let  $a \equiv \frac{2\pi}{n}$ ; then  $\cos a$ ,  $\cos 2a$ , ...,  $\cos na$  can be shown to be the roots of the equation  $x^n - \frac{n}{4}x^{n-2} + \frac{1}{16}\frac{n(n-3)}{1\cdot 2}x^{n-4} + \dots = 0.$  If

For the derivation of this equation see Serret's Algebra (Ed. G. Wertheim), 1878, Vol. I, pp. 195-199. Expanding the right member of De Moivre's formula,  $\cos ma + i \sin ma = (\cos a + i \sin a)^m$ , by the binomial theorem, we can express  $\cos ma$  as a function in  $\Omega_{(1)}$  of  $\cos a$ . We may, therefore, write  $\cos ma = \theta(\cos a)$ , where  $\theta$  is the function. Similarly,  $\cos m_1 a = \theta_1(\cos a)$ . Writing  $m_1 a$  for a in the former equation, we get

$$\cos(mm_1a) = \theta(\cos m_1a) = \theta\theta_1(\cos a).$$

If in  $\theta_1(\cos a) = \cos m_1 a$  we replace a by ma, we have

$$\cos(m_1ma) = \theta_1(\cos ma) = \theta_1\theta(\cos a)$$

Hence every root of I can be expressed as a function in  $\Omega$  of one of them, and we have in addition

$$\theta\theta_1(\cos a) = \theta_1\theta(\cos a).$$

Therefore I is an Abelian equation.

**Ex.** 2. Show that I in Ex. 1 is a reducible equation in the domain  $\Omega$  defined by its coefficients.

Consider the value of the root cos na.

**Ex.** 3. The equation  $x^4 + 1 = 0$  has the group  $P = G_4^{(4)}$ II, § 159, Ex. 5. Its roots are  $\alpha = \frac{1}{2}\sqrt{2}(1+i)$ ,  $\alpha_1 = -\frac{1}{2}\sqrt{2}(1-i)$ ,  $\alpha_2 = -\alpha$ ,  $\alpha_3 = -\alpha_1$ . Illustrate the reduction of the solution of Abelian equations to that of cyclic equations.

Let  $s = (a\alpha_1)(a_2\alpha_3)$ ,  $c = (a\alpha_1)$ ,  $c_1 = (a_2\alpha_3)$ ,  $M = a\alpha_1^2 + \alpha_1 \alpha^2$ ,  $M_1 = \alpha_3 \alpha_2^2 + \alpha_2 \alpha_3^2$ , Q = 1,  $(a\alpha_1)(a_2\alpha_3)$ . Here M and  $M_1$  are the roots of  $t^2 + 2 = 0$ ; *i.e.*  $M = i\sqrt{2}$ ,  $M_1 = -i\sqrt{2}$ . Then  $f(x, i) \equiv x^2 + i = 0$ ,  $f(x, -i) \equiv x^2 - i = 0$  are both cyclic equations.

**Ex.** 4. The equation  $x^4 - 8x^3 + 20x^2 - 16x + 1 = 0$  has the Galois group  $G_4^{(4)}$ II; hence, is irreducible and Abelian. We have here  $\alpha_1 = -\alpha + 4$ ,  $\alpha_2 = -\alpha^3 + 6\alpha^2 - 8\alpha + 2$ ,  $\alpha_3 = \alpha^3 - 6\alpha^2 + 8\alpha + 2$ . Illustrate the reduction, as in Ex. 1. Netto, Algebra, Vol. II, p. 234.

# CHAPTER XIX

## THE ALGEBRAIC SOLUTION OF EQUATIONS

190. Adjunction of Roots of Binomial Equations. In this chapter it is proposed to develop the necessary and sufficient conditions for the solvability of algebraic equations of any degree. To this end we shall assume in this paragraph that f(x)=0 is an equation which admits of being solved by algebra; that is, we shall assume that all the roots of the given equation f(x) = 0 can be obtained from its coefficients by a finite number of additions, subtractions, multiplications, divisions, and extractions of roots of any index.

Let  $\sqrt[m]{c}$ , where c is an algebraic number, be any one of the radicals which enter into the expressions for the roots of  $a, a_0, \dots, a_{n-1}$  of the equation f(x) = 0. Thus, if  $c = \frac{G^2}{4} + H^3$  and m = 2, then  $\sqrt[m]{c}$  is one of the radicals appearing in the solution of the cubic, § 59. If  $c = -\frac{G}{2} + \sqrt{\frac{G^2}{2} + H^3}$ , m = 3, we have another radical entering the expression of the roots of a cubic. Now the *m*th power of any radical  $\sqrt[m]{c}$  is a number in the domain  $\Omega_{(c)}$ . In other words, every radical is a root of a binomial equation of the form  $x^m - a = 0$ . Thus it is evident that all the radicals which go to make up a root of f(x) = 0 are roots of binomial equations.

If f(x) = 0 is reducible in the domain  $\Omega$ , defined by its coefficients, we may apply to its irreducible factors the argument which follows. If f(x) = 0 is irreducible in that domain, it is

clear that by the successive adjunction of some or all the radicals which enter into the expressions for its roots, the equation will become reducible in the enlarged domain. That is, f(x)=0 becomes reducible upon the adjunction of certain roots of binomial equations.

As an illustration, observe that in § 167 the solution of the quadratic equation was made to depend upon the adjunction of y, the root of the binomial equation  $y^2 = a_1^2 - 4 a_2$ .

In the case of the cubic, § 168, we first adjoined  $\sqrt{D}$ , which is the root of a binomial equation obtained by removing the second term from the quadratic  $u^6 + Gu^3 - H^3 = 0$ . Next we adjoined u, which is a cube root of a binomial.

In the case of the quartic, § 169, we first adjoined u, which differs only by a rational constant from  $x_1$ . Here  $x_1$  is the root of a cubic equation, the solution of which may itself be explained by the adjunction of roots of binomial equations, as we have just seen. Next we adjoined  $\sqrt{v}$ ,  $\sqrt{u}$ ,  $\sqrt{w}$ , all roots of binomial equations.

191. Dependence upon Cyclic Equations. All binomial equations are known to be Abelian equations, § 184, Exs. 4, 6, and Abelian equations may be solved algebraically by the aid of a series of cyclic equations whose degrees are prime, § 189. Consequently, when f(x) = 0 is a solvable equation, its solution may be made to depend upon that of cyclic equations of prime degree.

192. Restatement of the Problem. Suppose now that f(x)=0 is any algebraic equation. The question, whether it is solvable by radicals, may be replaced by the question of equal scope, whether it is solvable by roots of cyclic equations of prime degree. We have thus arrived at the following query: Under what conditions is the group G of an equation of the nth degree, f(x) = 0, reduced by the adjunction of a root of a cyclic equation whose degree is prime?

**193.** Theorem. If the group G of an equation f(x) = 0 is reduced by the adjunction of a root of a cyclic equation of the prime degree m, then the group G has a normal sub-group whose index is the prime number m.

Let f(x) = 0 be reducible or irreducible, but free of multiple roots. Let h(x) = 0 be a cyclic equation of the *m*th degree, where *m* is a prime number. We *assume* that the adjunction of one of the roots of h(x) = 0 does reduce the group *G* to one of its sub-groups *Q*.

Let the roots of h(x) = 0 be  $X, X_1, \dots, X_{m-1}$ . Since h(x) = 0is cyclic, all its roots can be expressed as functions in  $\Omega$  of one of them. If G is the group of f(x) = 0 in  $\Omega$ , then Q is the group of the same equation in the domain  $\Omega_{(X)}$ , or in the coextensive domains  $\Omega_{(X,y)}, \dots, \Omega_{(X_m-1)}$ .

According to § 165, Cor. II, the degree m of h(x) = 0 is a multiple of j, the index of the group Q under G. Since m is a prime number, and j must be greater than 1, we have m = j.

Let M be a function in  $\Omega$  of the roots of f(x) = 0, and let M belong to the sub-group Q. Then M is a function in  $\Omega$  of X, § 165.

Again, by § 165, Cor. I, the domain of  $\Omega_{(M)}$  is a divisor of the domain  $\Omega_{(X)}$ . But the degree of  $\Omega_{(X)}$  is prime, being by definition, § 132, of the same degree as that of the equation h(x)=0, which has X as a root.

Since  $\Omega_{(X)}$  is a divisor of  $\Omega_{(X)}$ , and the degree of  $\Omega_{(X)}$  is prime, we must have  $\Omega_{(X)} = \Omega_{(X)}$ . Hence, not only is M a function in  $\Omega$  of X, but X is a function in  $\Omega$  of M, and either function admits of all the substitutions that the other does. Hence X, like M, belongs to the group Q.

Operate upon X with the substitutions of G, and we get the following distinct values: X,  $X'_1$ , ...,  $X'_{m-1}$ . By § 161 these values are roots of an irreducible equation. This must be identical with the irreducible equation h(x) = 0, since the two have the root X in common, § 126. Thus, the values X,  $X_1$ , ...,  $X_{m-1}$ , and  $X, X'_1, \dots, X'_{m-1}$ , are equal respectively.

Let s be a substitution in G which changes X to  $X_1$ . That same substitution transforms the sub-group Q into the conjugate sub-group  $s^{-1}Qs \equiv Q_1$ . Now the substitutions in the sub-group  $Q_1$  leave  $X_1$  unchanged. For, to operate with the substitutions. in  $Q_1$  is the same as to operate with  $s^{-1}Qs$ , where  $s^{-1}$  changes  $X_1$  to X, and X remains unaltered by the substitutions in Q, while s changes X back to  $X_1$ . But X and  $X_1$  are roots of a cyclic equation; hence  $X_1$  is a function in  $\Omega$  of X, and X is a function in  $\Omega$  of X, so that X and  $X_1$  belong to the same group Q. Therefore,  $Q = Q_1$ .

Since the same reasoning applies to X and any one of the other roots  $X_2, \dots, X_{m-1}$ , it follows that Q is identical with all of its conjugate groups; that is, Q is a normal sub-group of G, having the index m.

194. The Converse Theorem. If the group G of the equation f(x) = 0 has a normal sub-group Q, whose index is a prime number m, then, by adjunction of a root of a cyclic equation of the degree m, the group G is reduced to Q.

If the group G has a normal sub-group Q of the prime index m, and if we select a function M which belongs to the subgroup Q, the conjugate functions all belong to the same group Q. By § 162, each function  $M, M_1, \dots, M_{m-1}$ , is contained in the domain  $\Omega_{(M)}$ . Hence this domain is a normal domain, § 132, and M is the root of a normal equation, § 139. In the domain  $\Omega_{(M)}$  we have Q as the group of the equation f(x) = 0, § 163. But, if m is a prime number, the normal equation is also a cyclic equation; for, the degree m of the normal equation is also the order of the Galois group, §§ 149, 150. Take any substitution s (not the identical substitution) in the Galois group. The different powers of s constitute a sub-group, the order of which is a factor of the order of the Galois group. As m is prime, the order of s must be m and the sub-group is  $s, s^2, s^3, \dots, s^m$ . The Galois group and its sub-group, being of the same order, are identical. Hence the Galois group is the cyclic group,  $s, s^2, \dots, s^m$ , and the normal equation is a cyclic equation, § 170.

195. Metacyclic Equations. An equation is called *metacyclic* or *solvable*, when its solution can be reduced to the solution of a series of cyclic equations. Abelian equations are a special class of metacyclic equations. The latter embrace all equations that are solvable by radicals, and no others.

In § 191 it was shown that any equation which can be solved by radicals can be solved by the aid of cyclic equations of prime index. In § 193 it was shown that if the adjunction of a root of a cyclic equation of prime degree reduces the group G, there exists a normal sub-group whose index is a prime number; while in § 194 it was shown that, if G has a normal sub-group, the reduction can always be effected by the adjunction of such a root.

**196.** Criterion of Solvability. That a given algebraic equation be metacyclic it is necessary and sufficient that there exist a series of groups  $G, G_1, G_2, \dots, G_k = 1$ ,

the first of which is the Galois group of the equation in  $\Omega$ , the last of which is the identical group, each group being a normal subgroup of the preceding and of a prime index.

The group G of a metacyclic equation must have a normal sub-group of an index j that is a prime number. Call this sub-group  $G_1$ . If  $G_1$  consists of the identical substitution only (whose order is 1), then  $j = \frac{p}{1}$ . That is, the order of G itself is prime, and G has no sub-groups, except 1. This can happen only when G itself is a cyclic group, and the given metacyclic equation is itself only a cyclic equation.

If  $G_1$  is not 1, then, since the equation is, by hypothesis, solvable by radicals,  $G_1$  must again have a normal sub-group  $G_2$ ,

## THEORY OF EQUATIONS

whose index is a prime number  $j_2$ . Continuing in this way, we finally arrive at the identical group 1. This proves the theorem.

197. Criterion Applied. The Galois group of the general equation of the *n*th degree is the symmetrical group of the *n*th degree. The symmetric group has always the alternating group as a sub-group. This alternating sub-group is a normal sub-group of the index 2. It becomes the group of the given equation by the adjunction of the square root of the discriminant. The principal series of composition, § 110, is  $G_2^{(2)}$ , 1, for the quadratic;  $G_6^{(3)}$ ,  $G_3^{(3)}$ , 1, for the general cubic; and  $G_{24}^{(4)}$ ,  $G_{12}^{(4)}$ ,  $G_4^{(4)}$  II,  $G_2^{(4)}$ , 1, for the general quartic. In these cases the alternating group is seen to have a normal sub-group of prime index. We are going to show that when the degree of the general equation is greater than 4, and, consequently, the degree of the Galois group is greater than 4, the alternating group has no normal sub-group of prime index.

**198.** Theorem. An alternating group of higher degree than the fourth has no normal sub-group of prime index.

All substitutions of an alternating group are even, §§ 99, 100, and are expressible as the product of cycles of *three* elements, § 93. Let these substitutions be so expressed.

We first establish the possibility of selecting a substitution s in the alternating group, so that a given cycle of three elements, say  $(1\ 2\ 3)$ , will be transformed into any other cycle of three elements occurring in the alternating group. Suppose that 1, 2, 3, 4, r, t, u, v, are elements of the group and we wish to transform  $(1\ 2\ 3)$  into  $(r\ t\ u)$ . It is easily seen that the substitution  $s = \begin{pmatrix} 1\ 2\ 3\ 4\ r\ t\ u\ v \end{pmatrix}$  will do it; for,  $s^{-1}(1\ 2\ 3)s = (r\ t\ u)$ . That s is a substitution in the alternating group is clear, since, § 82,  $s = (1\ 2\ t)(1\ 2\ r)(3\ 4\ v)(3\ 4\ u)$ , an even substitution.

Next, let Q be a normal sub-group of the alternating group, let  $s_1$  be any substitution in Q (except the substitution 1), and s any substitution in the alternating group. It is easy to see that, by the property of normal sub-groups,  $s^{-1}s_1s$  is also a substitution in Q.

If  $s_1$  consists of a cycle of three elements, we can, by proper selection of s in the operation  $s^{-1}s_1s$ , transform  $s_1$  into any other cycle of three elements. Therefore, Q must contain all cyclic substitutions of three elements whenever it contains one of them, and must, consequently, be identical with the alternating group.

Since  $s_1^{-1}$  and  $s^{-1}s_1s$  are both substitutions in Q, their product must be; namely,  $\lambda = s_1^{-1} \cdot s^{-1}s_1s_2$ .

We shall now show that, whenever n > 4, s can always be chosen from the substitutions of the alternating group in such a way that the substitution  $\lambda$  represents a cycle of three elements, thereby showing that the normal sub-group Q is really identical with the alternating group; in other words, showing that there is no normal sub-group, distinct from the alternating group itself, except the group 1.

To show this, we assume that all the substitutions in the alternating group and in Q are resolved (as they always can be) into cycles so that no two cycles have an element in common, § 86. In the formation of  $\lambda$  there is no need whatever of considering those cycles in the substitutions  $s_1$  whose elements are unaffected by s, because in the product  $s_1^{-1}s^{-1}s_1$  they cancel each other. We shall consider separately the different forms which  $s_1$  may take, when n > 4.

(1) Let some one substitution  $s_1$  in the normal sub-group Q have a cycle  $(1 \ 2 \ 3 \ \cdots \ m)$  which consists of more than three elements. Then  $s_1 = (1 \ 2 \ 3 \ \cdots \ m)c_1c_2 \ \cdots$ , where  $c_1, c_2, \ \cdots$  are cycles which do not contain the elements  $1 \ 2 \ 3 \ \cdots \ m$ . Choose  $s = (1 \ 2 \ 3)$ , then  $s_1^{-1}s_1^{-1}s_1 = s_1^{-1}(1 \ 3 \ 2) \ s_1 = (2 \ 4 \ 3)$ , and  $\lambda = s_1^{-1}s_1^{-1}s_1^{-1}s_1 = (2 \ 4 \ 3)$ . (1 2 3) =  $(1 \ 2 \ 4)$ . Hence Q contains a substitution  $\lambda$  consisting

of a cycle of three elements, and therefore Q is identical with the alternating group. Thus, there is no normal sub-group containing the substitution  $(1\ 2\ 3\ \cdots\ m)\ c_1c_2\cdots$ .

(2) Let some one substitution  $s_1$  in Q consist of two or more cycles, two cycles of which contain each three elements. Let these two cycles be  $(1\ 2\ 3)\ (4\ 5\ 6)$ . Take  $s = (1\ 3\ 4)$ , then  $s_1^{-1}s^{-1}s_1 = (2\ 5\ 1)$  and  $\lambda = (2\ 5\ 1)\ (1\ 3\ 4) = (1\ 2\ 5\ 3\ 4)$ . This substitution  $\lambda$ , found in Q, has more than three elements in its cycle, and comes under case (1). Hence, there is no normal sub-group of the alternating group containing a substitution  $s_1 = (1\ 2\ 3)\ (4\ 5\ 6)$ .

(3) Let  $s_1$  consist of cycles, embracing one cycle of three elements and another of two elements, viz., the cycles  $(1\ 2\ 3)\ (4\ 5)$ . Choose  $s = (1\ 2\ 4)$ , then  $\lambda = (2\ 5\ 3)\ (1\ 2\ 4) = (1\ 2\ 5\ 3\ 4)$ , which comes under case (1). Hence, there is no normal sub-group containing  $s_1 = (1\ 2\ 3)\ (4\ 5)$ .

(4) Let  $s_1$  embrace, three transpositions,  $(1\ 2)\ (3\ 4)\ (5\ 6)$ . Choose  $s = (1\ 3\ 5)$ , then  $\lambda = (2\ 6\ 4)\ (1\ 3\ 5)$ , which comes under case (2). Thus the possibility of the existence of a normal sub-group, containing  $s_1 = (1\ 2)\ (3\ 4)\ (5\ 6)$ , is excluded.

(5) Let  $s_1$  consist, in part or wholly, of two transpositions and one invariant element. That is, let  $s_1$  contain among its cycles (12)(34)(5). Take s=(125) and we get  $\lambda=(125)(125)$ =(152). Hence, Q again coincides with the alternating group.

The above cases exhaust all the cases which are possible when n > 4.

When n=4, a new possibility arises; namely,  $s_1=(1\ 2)(3\ 4)$ . No matter what substitution in the alternating group  $G_{12}^{(4)}$  is chosen for s, we fail to get for  $\lambda$  a cycle of three elements. On the other hand, the sub-group

1, (1 2)(3 4), (1 3)(2 4), (1 4)(2 3)

satisfies the characteristic property of a normal sub-group of  $G_{12}^{(4)}$ .

The group 1 is a normal sub-group of any group, but it is not a normal sub-group of prime index for alternating groups of degrees higher than the fourth. The order of the alternating group of the *n*th degree is  $\frac{|n|}{2}$ . Now  $\frac{|n|}{2} \div 1$  is the index of the group 1 under the alternating group. When n > 4, this index never is a prime number. Hence the theorem is established.

199. Insolvability of General Equations of the Fifth and Higher Degrees. From §§ 196, 198, it appears that the general equations of higher degree than the fourth do not satisfy the conditions of solvability. However, a special equation of a higher degree than the fourth, whose group is *not* the symmetric or the alternating group, may possess the necessary series of normal sub-groups of prime index, and may be solvable by radicals. Thus, any equation of the fifth degree whose group is not the symmetric or alternating group can be solved by radicals.

Of the 295 substitution-groups whose degree does not exceed eight, only 28 are insolvable. See Am. Jour. of Math., Vol. 21, p. 326.

**Ex.** 1. Show that the quartic in Ex. 9, § 159, is metacyclic, but not Abelian ; find its principal series of composition.

200. A Criterion of Metacyclic Equations of Prime Degree. All algebraic equations of the first four degrees are metacyclic. The following process enables one to ascertain whether a given equation of the fifth or a higher prime degree is metacyclic or not.

If the given irreducible equation f(x) = 0 is metacyclic, then one of the series of groups  $G, G_1, \dots, G_k$  in § 196 must be the Galois group of the given equation. Proceeding as in § 159, let  $\alpha_0, \alpha_1, \dots, \alpha_{n-1}$  be its roots; also let y be a function of  $\alpha_0$ ,  $\alpha_1, \dots, \alpha_{n-1}$ , formally unaltered by the substitutions in G and those only, where G is the group of highest order in this series. Let the index of G with respect to the symmetric group of degree n be j. Operating upon y with the substitutions of the symmetric group we get j expressions for y, distinct in form, viz.,  $y_1, y_2, \dots, y_j$ . Construct the equation of degree j,

$$F(y) \equiv (y - y_1)(y - y_2) \cdots (y - y_j) = 0.$$
 I

The coefficients of I are symmetric functions of the roots,  $\alpha_0, \dots, \alpha_{n-1}$ ; hence they are rational in  $\Omega$  and can be computed.

If in the function y we substitute the values of the roots of a metacyclic equation of the *n*th degree, y assumes a numerical value which lies in  $\Omega$ . For, assuming that the equation is metacyclic, its Galois group must be either G or one of the subgroups  $G_1, \ldots, G_k$ , § 196; hence y admits the substitutions of the Galois group and is, therefore, a number in  $\Omega$ , § 154.

Conversely, if the function y becomes a number in  $\Omega$ , when the values of the roots of f(x) = 0, n being prime, are substituted in it, so that I has a rational root, which is not a multiple root, then is f(x) = 0 metacyclic. For, under these conditions y belongs to G, and the Galois group of f(x) = 0 must be either G or one of its sub-groups, § 159. If it is G, then the conclusion follows at once; if it is one of its sub-groups, it can be shown (the proof is here omitted) that, when n is prime, the sub-group is one of the metacyclic groups  $G_1, G_2, \dots, G_{k-1}$ , so that f(x) = 0 is a metacyclic equation.\*

Hence the rule: Select a function y, formally unaltered by the substitutions in G, and those only, so that F(y) = 0 has no multiple roots. If F(y) = 0 has a rational root, f(x) = 0 is metacyclic, otherwise it is insolvable.

Theoretically, it matters not what function of  $\alpha_0, \alpha_1, \dots, \alpha_{n-1}$ is selected for y, if only it belongs to the group G. Practically, much depends upon this selection, as the algebraic operations are very much more complicated with some functions than with others. The computation of the coefficients of F(y) = 0 is

\* For a complete discussion see H. Weber, Algebra, Vol. I, 1898, §§ 188, or E. Netto, Algebra, Vol. II, 1900, § 611-615. usually very laborious even in the case of the quintic. Inasmuch as Bring, in 1786, and Jerrard, in 1834, were able to transform the general quintic to the form  $x^5 + cx + d = 0$  (for this transformation, see Netto's Algebra, Vol. I, pp. 124, 125), it is of interest to compute F(y) = 0 for this special form.

**Ex. 1.** Find the condition that the equation  $x^5 + cx + d = 0$ , when irreducible, shall be metacyclic.

Referring to § 104, we see that for the quintic the metacyclic group of the highest order G is  $(abcde)_{20}$ . As a function belonging to this group select (following C. Runge, *Acta Math.* 7 (1885), p. 173)  $y^2$ , where

$$y \equiv \alpha_0 \alpha_1 + \alpha_1 \alpha_2 + \alpha_2 \alpha_3 + \alpha_3 \alpha_4 + \alpha_4 \alpha_0 - \alpha_0 \alpha_2 - \alpha_2 \alpha_4 - \alpha_4 \alpha_1 - \alpha_1 \alpha_3 - \alpha_3 \alpha_0.$$

Here j = 6 and F(y) = 0 is a resolvent equation of the sixth degree. We find it convenient to consider y itself, which is not a metacyclic function. Operated upon by the symmetric group, y yields twelve values, of which six differ from the other six simply in sign. Let one set of six values be  $y_1, y_2, \dots, y_6$ . Also let the equation of which they are roots be

$$y^6 + a_1 y^5 + a_2 y^4 + a_3 y^3 + a_4 y^2 + a_5 y + a_6 = 0.$$
 I

Its coefficients  $a_1, a_2, \dots, a_6$  are not necessarily rational numbers, but they are symmetric functions of  $y_1, \dots, y_6$ . Consider  $y_1, \dots, y_6$  as functions of  $\alpha_0, \dots, \alpha_{n-1}$ , and operate upon them with the alternating group; the values  $y_1, \dots, y_6$  are merely permuted among themselves. Substitutions which do not belong to the alternating group bring about a change in sign. The coefficients  $a_1, a_2, \dots, a_6$  are therefore either symmetric or alternating functions of  $\alpha_0, \dots, \alpha_{n-1}$ . Of these  $a_2, a_4, a_6$  are symmetric functions because, being homogeneous functions of even degree, they are not affected by changes of signs in  $y_1, y_2, \dots, y_6$ . On the other hand,  $a_1, a_3, a_5$  are alternating functions of  $\alpha_0, \alpha_1, \dots, \alpha_{n-1}$ , being homogeneous functions of odd degree.

If D is the discriminant of the quintic, then  $\sqrt{D}$  is a function of  $\alpha_0, \dots, \alpha_{n-1}$  belonging to the alternating group. Hence the coefficients  $a_1, a_3, a_5$  are of the form  $m_1\sqrt{D}, m_2\sqrt{D}, m_3\sqrt{D}$ , where  $m_1, m_2, m_3$  are symmetric integral functions. With respect to  $\alpha_0, \alpha_1, \dots, \alpha_{n-1}$ , it is seen that  $a_1$  is of the second degree. But  $a_1$  is also of the form  $m_1\sqrt{D}$ , where  $m_1$  is integral and  $\sqrt{D}$  is of the tenth degree. Hence we must have  $m_1 = 0$ . Similarly,  $a_3$  being of the sixth degree, yields  $m_3 = 0$ . On the other hand,  $a_5$  and  $\sqrt{D}$  are both of the tenth degree. Write  $a_5 = m\sqrt{D}$ . Equation I becomes

$$y^{6} + a_{2}y^{4} + a_{4}y^{2} + m\sqrt{D}y + a_{6} = 0.$$

In the equation  $x^5 + cx + d = 0$ , c and d are homogeneous functions of the roots of the degrees 4 and 5, respectively. Since  $a_2$ ,  $a_4$ ,  $a_6$  are of the degrees 4, 8, 12, we may write

$$a_2 = m_2 c, \ a_4 = m_4 c^2, \ a_6 = m_6 c^8,$$

where  $m_2$ ,  $m_4$ ,  $m_6$  are integers. To find the values of m,  $m_2$ ,  $m_4$ ,  $m_6$ , assign to c and d the special values c = -1, d = 0. Then  $D = -4^4$ ; the five roots are 0, i,  $i^2$ ,  $i^3$ ,  $i^4$ ; the six values  $y_1, \dots, y_6$  are -2i, -2i, -2i, -2i, -2i, -2i, 2 + 4i, -2 + 4i. Equation II becomes

$$0 = y^6 - m_2 y^4 + m_4 y^2 - m_6 + 16 imy = (y + 2 i)^4 (y^2 - 8 iy - 20)$$
  
=  $y^6 + 20 y^4 + 240 y^2 - 320 + 512 iy.$ 

Hence  $m_2 = -20$ ,  $m_4 = 240$ ,  $m_6 = -320$ , m = 32. Substituting in II, and squaring to remove the radical, we have

$$(y^6 - 20 \ cy^4 + 240 \ c^2y^2 + 320 \ c^3)^2 = 4^5 \ Dy^2,$$
 III   
 
$$(y^2 - 4 \ c)^4 (y^4 - 24 \ cy^2 + 400 \ c^2) = 4^5 \cdot 5^5 \cdot d^4y^2,$$

or

where  $D = 4^4c^5 + 5^5d^4$ . Write  $y^2 = 4z$ ; then  $y^2$  being metacyclic, so is z. We obtain

$$(z^3 - 5cz^2 + 15c^2z + 5c^3)^2 = Dz, IV$$

which may also be written

$$(z-c)^4(z^2-6\,cz+25\,c^2)=5^5d^4z.$$
 V

If  $x^5 + cx + d = 0$  is irreducible, it is metacyclic when IV or V has a rational root, and then only. If the quintic is reducible, it is always solvable. For a different treatment of the quintic see Glashan and Young in *Am. Jour. of Math.* 7 (1885), and especially McClintock, *ib.* 8 (1886) and 20 (1898).

**Ex.** 2. Show that no equation of the form  $x^5 + 5x + 5t = 0$  is meta-cyclic, where t is any integer not a multiple of 5.

By § 129, the equation is irreducible. If IV in Ex. 1 has in this instance a rational root, it must be integral, since the coefficients of the quintic are integral and the first term is  $x^5$ . It must also be a divisor of the absolute term 25 c<sup>6</sup> or 5<sup>8</sup>. But no factor of 5<sup>8</sup> is a root of the equation.

**Ex. 3.** Show that  $x^5 + 15x + 12 = 0$  is irreducible and metacyclic.

**Ex.** 4. Is  $x^5 + 5x^4 + 10x^3 + 10x^2 + 7x + 5 = 0$  metacyclic? Transform so as to remove the second term.

**Ex. 5.** In V, Ex. 1, let  $d = c\mu$ ,  $z = c\lambda$ , where  $\mu$  and  $\lambda$  are numbers in the domain  $\Omega_{(1)}$ , or in any other domain. Show that  $x^5 + cx + d = 0$  is always metacyclic when

$$c = \frac{5^5 \mu^4 \lambda}{(\lambda - 1)^4 (\lambda^2 - 6\lambda + 25)},$$
$$d = \frac{5^5 \mu^5 \lambda}{(\lambda - 1)^4 (\lambda^2 - 6\lambda + 25)}.$$

**Ex.** 6. Construct the metacyclic quintic in which  $\mu = \sqrt{2}$ ,  $\lambda = \sqrt{6}$ . See Ex. 5.

**Ex. 7.** Is  $x^5 + x + 1 = 0$  metacyclic?

**Ex. 8.** There is a theorem to the effect that all irreducible, metacyclic equations of the sixth degree in a domain  $\Omega$  may be found by adjoining to  $\Omega$  a square root and then forming in the enlarged domain all cubic equations. See Weber's *Algebra*, Vol. II, 1896, p. 296. Accordingly, adjoining  $\sqrt{2}$  to  $\Omega_{(1)}$ , we may write  $x^3 + x + 1 + \sqrt{2} = 0$  and obtain, by transposing  $\sqrt{2}$  and squaring, the metacyclic sextic  $x^6 + 2x^4 + 2x^3 + x^2 + x - 1 = 0$ . Derive similar equations, using the radical  $\sqrt{3}$ .

**Ex. 9.** Show that  $x^5 + 5 px^4 + 10 p^2x^3 + 10 p^3x^2 + 5 p^4x + p^5 - 1 = 0$  is metacyclic. Also determine its Galois group.

Increase its roots by p.

**Ex. 10.** Show that  $y^5 + py^3 + \frac{1}{5}p^2y + r = 0$  is metacyclic.

Take

$$y = z - \frac{p}{5 z}.$$

**Ex. 11.** Prove that equation V in Ex. 1 can have no rational root when  $c = \pm 1$ . Then prove that, if  $x^5 \pm x + d = 0$  is solvable, it is reducible.

**Ex. 12.** Show that  $x^5 - A = 0$ , where A is not a perfect fifth power, is metacyclic and has the group  $G_{20}^{(5)}$  in the domain  $\Omega_{(1, A)}$ .

**Ex. 13.** Prove that an irreducible equation f(x) = 0 of the prime degree n can become reducible by adjoining a radical  $\sqrt[m]{a}$ , where m is prime, only when m = n.

Let

$$y^m - a = 0 \qquad \qquad \mathbf{I}$$

be irreducible, let it have the roots  $\gamma$ ,  $\omega\gamma$ , ...,  $\omega^{m-1}\gamma$ , where  $\omega$  is a complex mth root of unity. Let f(x) = 0 become reducible when  $\gamma$  is adjoined to  $\Omega$ , so that  $f(x) = f_1(x, \gamma) \cdot f_2(x, \gamma)$ , II

the coefficient of the highest power of x in each polynomial being unity. We may consider I and II as equations in the same domain, having the root  $\gamma$  in common. Then II must be satisfied by all the roots of **I**. Multiplying together the members of the *m* equations thus obtained, we get f(x) = F(x) - F(x)

where

$$f(x) \stackrel{m}{=} r_1(x) \cdot r_2(x),$$
  

$$F_1(x) = f_1(x, \gamma) \cdot f_1(x, \omega \gamma) \cdots f_1(x, \omega^{m-1} \gamma),$$
  

$$F_2(x) = f_2(x, \gamma) \cdot f_2(x, \omega \gamma) \cdots f_2(x, \omega^{m-1} \gamma).$$

 $F_1(x)$  and  $F_2(x)$  are respectively of the degrees  $mn_1$  and  $mn_2$ ; their coefficients, being symmetric functions of the roots of I, lie in  $\Omega$ . Since f(x) is irreducible and m and n are both prime, we must have

$$F_1(x) = f(x)^p, \ F_2(x) = f(x)^q,$$
  
 $pn = mn_1, \ qn = mn_2, \ n_1 + n_2 = n, \ n = m_2$ 

**Ex. 14.** Show that in Ex. 13  $f(x) = f_1(x, \gamma) \cdot f_1(x, \omega\gamma) \cdots f_1(x, \omega^{n-1}\gamma)$ , where  $f_1(x, \gamma)$  is irreducible in the domain  $\Omega(\omega, \gamma)$ , and is linear with respect to x.

**Ex. 15.** Show that if  $f_1(x, \gamma) = 0$  yields in Ex. 14

then

$$\begin{aligned} \alpha_0 &= c_0 + c_1 \gamma + c_2 \gamma^2 + \dots + c_{n-1} \gamma^{n-1}, \\ \alpha_1 &= c_0 + c_1 \omega \gamma + c_2 \omega^2 \gamma^2 + \dots + c_{n-1} \omega^{n-1} \gamma^{n-1}. \end{aligned}$$

etc., where  $\alpha_0$ ,  $\alpha_1$ , etc., are roots of f(x) = 0, and  $c_0$ ,  $c_1$ ,  $\cdots$ ,  $c_{n-1}$  are numbers in  $\Omega$ . Show that the difference of two roots of f(x) = 0 cannot be a number in  $\Omega$ .

**Ex. 16.** Prove that an irreducible solvable quintic with real coefficients cannot have three real roots and two complex roots.

Show that the Galois group (1) must be of the fifth degree; (2) cannot be  $G_{12}^{(5)}$ ,  $G_{6}^{(5)}$ I,  $G_{6}^{(5)}$ II (Ex. 5, § 104); (3) cannot be  $G_{5}^{(5)}$ , § 171; (4) to test  $G_{20}^{(5)}$ , take  $y^2$  in Ex. 1, which admits it. If any two roots, say  $\alpha_0$  and  $\alpha_1$ , are assumed to be conjugate imaginaries, then

$$y = \alpha_0 A + \alpha_1 B + C,$$

where A, B, C are real values. Since  $A = \alpha_4 - \alpha_2 - \alpha_3$ ,  $B = \alpha_2 - \alpha_3 - \alpha_4$ , we cannot have A = B, because that would make  $\alpha_2 = \alpha_4$ . Thus, we see that y cannot be real. Consequently  $y^2$  cannot be real, unless y is a pure imaginary. Hence  $y = (\alpha_0 - \alpha_1)(\alpha_4 - \alpha_2)$ . That  $y^2$  may lie in  $\Omega$ , we must have  $y = i\sqrt{f} \cdot \sqrt{g}$  and  $\alpha_0 - \alpha_1 = i\sqrt{f}$ ,  $\alpha_4 - \alpha_2 = \sqrt{g}$ , where f and g are positive numbers in  $\Omega$ . But by Ex. 15, f and g cannot be perfect squares. By Exs. 13, 14, 15 we see that the roots of the given quintic are numbers in the domain  $\Omega_{(\omega, \gamma)}$ , where  $\omega$  is a complex fifth root of unity and  $\gamma$  is a root of the irreducible equation  $y^5 - a = 0$ . Hence  $\sqrt{f}$  and  $\sqrt{g}$  do not lie in  $\Omega_{(\omega, \gamma)}$  and the equations  $\alpha_0 - \alpha_1 = i\sqrt{f}$ ,  $\alpha_4 - \alpha_2 = \sqrt{g}$  are impossible. Consequently  $G_{20}^{(5)}$  is not the group, § 155, B.

232

(5) Since  $G_{10}^{(5)}$  does not alter  $y^2$ , it is not the group.

(6) Hence the group must be  $G_{120}^{(5)}$  or  $G_{60}^{(5)}$ , both insolvable.

For different proofs see Weber's Algebra, Vol. I, p. 669, and Weber's Encyklopädie der Elementaren Algebra und Analysis, p. 327.

**Ex. 17.** Show that  $x^5 - 4x - 2 = 0$  has two complex roots and is insolvable. For the approximate values of the real roots, see § 26.

**Ex. 18.** Show that  $x^5 - 16x^2 + 2x + 6 = 0$  is insolvable.

**Ex. 19.** Show that  $x^5 + 1 + i = 0$  is metacyclic.

Ex. 20. Determine which of the following are metacyclic :

(a)  $x^5 + 5x + 3i = 0.$ (b)  $x^5 - 2ix + 7 = 0.$ (c)  $\frac{x^6 - 1}{x - 1} = 0.$ (d)  $x^5 - 27x^4 + 3x + 6 = 0.$ 

201. Historical References. For the development of the earlier and more elementary parts of the theory of equations consult the histories of mathematics written by Ball, Fink, Marie, Zeuthen, and Cajori, and the "Notes" at the close of the first volume of Burnside and Panton's Theory of Equations. Or, better yet, consult the monumental work by Moritz Cantor, entitled Vorlesungen über Geschichte der Mathematik. For the later developments, read C. A. Bjerknes' Niels-Henrik Abel (Paris, 1885); Évariste Galois' *Œuvres*, edited by Picard (1897); H. Burkhardt's "Anfänge der Gruppentheorie und Paolo Ruffini," in the Zeitsch. für Mathematik und Physik (Vol. 37, Sup., pp. 119-159, 1892). Read articles in the Bulletin of the American Mathematical Society, by James Pierpont, on Lagrange's place in the theory of substitutions (Vol. 1, pp. 2, 196-204, 1895), on the early history of Galois' theory of equations (Vol. 4, pp. 332-337, 1898), on Galois' Collected Works (Vol. 5, pp. 296-300, 1899); by G. A. Miller, a report on recent progress in the theory of the groups of a finite order (Vol. 5, pp. 227-249, 1899); by Henry B. Fine, on "Kronecker and his Arithmetical Theory of the Algebraic Equation" (Vol. 1, pp. 173-184, 1892). Consult also James Pierpont, "Zur Geschichte der Gleichung des V. Grades (bis 1858)," in Monatshefte für Mathematik und Physik (Vol. 6, pp. 15-68, 1895); G. A. Miller on the history of several fundamental theorems in the theory of groups of a finite order, in the American Mathematical Monthly (Vol. 8, pp. 213-216, 1901); Felix Klein, Vorlesungen über das Ikosaeder (1884), also Lectures on Mathematics (the Evanston Colloquium, 1894); B. S. Easton, The Constructive Development of Group-theory (Philadelphia, 1902).



# ANSWERS

§ 6, Ex. 4: 47112. § 39, **Ex. 2**: (1) 41,  $1\frac{29}{2}$ . **Ex. 5:** - 252493. (2)  $4\frac{1}{3}$ ,  $1\frac{10}{21}$ . **Ex. 6:**  $\frac{1}{2}(1\pm\sqrt{-29})$ . (3) 37, 7. § 14, Ex. 3:  $-\frac{1}{4}, \pm \sqrt{5}$ . (4)  $3\frac{1}{2}$ ,  $3\frac{1}{2}$ . **Ex. 4:**  $-\frac{3}{2}$ ,  $-1\pm\sqrt{2}$ . § 41, Ex. 3: (1)  $\frac{21}{5}$  and -5. **Ex. 5**:  $-\frac{3}{2}$ , -5, -5. (2) 4 and  $-\frac{7}{4}$ . **Ex.** 6:  $\frac{2}{3}$ ,  $\frac{2}{3}$ , -3, -3. (3) 12 and  $-\frac{46}{36}$ . § 15, Ex. 2:  $a^2 - 2b$ . § 42, Ex. 3: (1) Between 8 and 9, **Ex. 6**: c - ab. -1 and -2, -4 and -5. **Ex.** 7:  $a^2 - 2b$ . (2) Between 3 and 4, **Ex. 8**: 3c - ab. 4 and 5, -4 and**Ex.** 9:  $b^2 - 2 ac + 2 d$ . -5, -5 and -6. **Ex. 12:**  $-\frac{2}{21}, \frac{1}{105}$ . (3) Between 1 and 2, § 21, Ex. 4: -1 triple,  $\frac{5}{2}$  double. 2 and 3, 5 and 6, § 29, Ex. 7:  $x^4 - 60 x^2 + 700 x -$ 6 and 7. 100 = 0.§ 44, Ex. 2: 156, 31.  $x^4 - 3x^3 + 768x +$ Ex. 8: § 49, Ex. 5: (1) two real 2.+, -1024 = 0.2. + § 31, Ex. 3:  $a_m = 0$ . (2) 3.21, 3.22, -17.4.**Ex. 6:**  $c, \pm 1, \frac{-b \pm \sqrt{b^2 - 4a^2}}{c}$ (3) three real. § 50, Ex. 1: H = 9, G = 25, I =§ 34, Ex. 1:  $H = \frac{1}{3}$ , G = -12. 289, J = -940, D = +. **Ex. 2**:  $H = -\frac{50}{3}$ , G = -135, § 56, Ex. 1: (1) 1.35759.  $I = -\frac{5.9}{2}$ . (2) - 1.53172..§ 35, Ex. 5:  $z^3 - 42 z^2 + 441 z +$ (3) .885119. 1388 = 0. 13B5 -1.46057..§ 37, Ex. 2: Two of the roots of I (4) 1.3518. are equal, or the three are (5) 1.51851. in arithmetical progression. -.50849.. -1.24359..Ex. 3: - 2376. Ex. 4: 0. § 67, Ex. 1:  $-1, -\frac{1}{2} \pm \frac{1}{2}\sqrt{-3}, \pm i$ 11 June 24 235

ł

#### ANSWERS

§ 141, Ex. 2 : Let  $x = 4x_1 + 1$ . § 71, Ex. 1:  $(3c-ab)(a^2-2b)$ § 142, Exs. 2, 3 : No.  $(b^2 - 2 ac)(a^2b - b^2 - 3 ac)$ § 148, Ex. 3:  $(\alpha \alpha_3)$ . **Ex. 5**: For f(x) = 0,  $a_1^2 a_2 - b_2^2 a_3 - b_3^2 a_3 - b_4^2 a_3 - b_5^2 a_5^2 a_5$ § 159, Ex. 8: (a) P = 1.  $2 a_2^2 - a_1 a_3 + 4 a_4$ (b)  $P = G_2^{(2)}$ . **Ex.** 6:  $-a_2a_3 + 3a_1a_4 - 5a_5$ . (c)  $P = G_4^{(4)}$  II. Yes. (*d*) P = 1. (e)  $P = G_3^{(3)}$ . **Ex.** 7:  $\frac{18}{b_0^2}$   $(b_1^2 - b_0 b_2)$ . (g)  $P = G_4^{(4)}$  I. Ex. 8: 24. -16] (*i*)  $P = G_4^{(4)}$  III. **Ex. 11**:  $x^3 - a_2x^2 + (a_1a_3 - a_2x^2) +$ (k) P =the product  $(4 a_4) x - a_3^2 - a_1^2 a_4 + 4 a_2 a_4$ of  $G_8^{(4)}, G_2^{(2)}, G_2^{(2)},$ = 0. $G_2^{(2)}$ , each group **Ex. 15:**  $-2a_1^3 + 9a_1a_2 +$ involving distinct 27 az. roots of its own as **Ex. 17**:  $x^{8} = 12 I + \sqrt{D} = 0.$ elements. (1)  $P = G_4^{(4)}$  III, or § 77, Ex. 3: The roots of  $49 a^2 -$ 163 a + 283 = 0.a sub-group.  $(m) G_6^{(3)}$ . Ex. 5: n. Ex. 6: 0. (*n*) Let x = y - 1. § 93, Ex. 1: (123)(412)(256). § 163, Ex. 2:  $4 \alpha_1 = 1 - z - w +$ § 113, Ex. 4:  $G_4^{(4)}$  II.  $w_1 + z_1$ . Ex. 5: G<sub>4</sub><sup>(4)</sup> II.  $4 \alpha_2 = 1 + z - w +$ Ex. 6: G<sub>4</sub><sup>(4)</sup> II.  $w_1 - z_1$ . § 123, Ex. 2: (c)  $\sqrt{5}$ .  $4 \alpha_3 = 1 - z + w -$ (d)  $\sqrt{-3}$ .  $w_1 - z_1$ . (e)  $\sqrt{-1}$ .  $4 \alpha = 1 + z + w -$ **Ex. 3**:  $\sqrt{5} + \sqrt{3} + \sqrt{-1}$ .  $w_1 + z_1$ . § 128, Ex. 2: (1), (3), (4), (7), § 188, Ex. 1: G<sub>6</sub><sup>(5)</sup> II. § 199, Ex. 1:  $G_8^{(4)}, G_4^{(4)} \text{II}, G_2^{(4)}, 1$ (8), are reducible. § 133, Ex. 7:  $\Omega = (i + \sqrt{2} + \sqrt{3}).$ § 135, Ex. 7: Try  $N = \alpha + \alpha^4 + \alpha^2$  $= \alpha^4 + (\alpha^4)^4$  $+ (\alpha^4)^2$ .

236
### INDEX

#### (The numbers refer to pages.)

Abel, 233. Cubic, algebraic solution, 68; cyclic, Abelian equations, 210. 196; equation of squared differ-Abelian groups, 210. ences of, 38; irreducible case, 69, Adjunction, 135, 151, 219. 208; nature of roots, 41; reduc-Algebraic numbers, 136. ing cubic, 72; removal of second Algebraic solutions, 60, 219; of term, 36. cubic and quartic, 68. Cyclic equations, 187, 196, 198. Angle, trisection of, 207, 208. 220. Cyclic function, 115, 127, 128, 133. Cyclic group, 115, 128, 132, 133. Bachmann, 206. Ball, 233. Cyclotomic equations, 142, 198. Beman, W. W., 206. Binomial equations, 74, 219. Delian problem, 207. Biquadratic, see Quartic. De Moivre's theorem, 24. Bjerknes, C. A., 233. Descartes, 50. Descartes' Rule of Signs, 7, 50. Budan, 50. Dialytic method of elimination, 95. Burkhardt, 233. Burnside and Panton, 79, 233. Discriminant, 110; of quadratic, 97; of cubic, 40; of quartic, 59; Cantor, M., 233. of f(x) = 0, 96, 97. Cardan's formula, 69. Division of the circle, 75, 203-206. Carvallo, M. E., 67. Domain, defined, 134; conjugate, Cole, F. N., 189. 143; degree of, 142; Galois, 153; Complex roots, 6, 42, 58, 67, 232. normal, 142, 150; primitive, 144; Composite sub-groups, 123. substitutions of, 160. Conjugate sub-groups, 122. Duplication of the cube, 207. Constructions by ruler and compasses, 202. Easton, B. S., 233. Continuity of f(x), 25. Eisenstein's theorem, 141. Cross-ratio, 100, 127. Eliminants, 92. Cube, duplication of, 207. Equal roots, 21, 53, 142.

#### INDEX

Equations, Abelian, 210; algebraic, Horner's method, 63. 2; algebraic solution of, 219; binomial, 74, 219; cubic, 36, 38, Imaginary roots, 6, 42, 58, 67, 41, 68, 69, 72, 196, 208; cyclic, 232. 187, 220; cyclotomic, 142; irre-Imprimitive group, 116, 127. ducible, 137; metacyclic, 223; Invariant sub-groups, 122. quadratic, 184; quartic, 185; Irreducible case in cubic, 69, 208. quintic, 186, 227, 229, 232, 233; reciprocal, 33. Klein, F., 206, 233. Euler's cubic, 71. Kronecker, 187, 233. Euler's method of elimination, 94. Euler's solution of quartic, 71. Lagrange, 233; resolvents of, 129; theorem of, 176. Lindemann, 137. Fine, H. B., 233. Fink, 233. Marie, 233. Fourier, 50. Function, def. 1; alternating, 115; Matthiessen, L., 186. McClintock, E., 67, 230. "belongs to," 115, 124, 125; cyclic, 115, 127, 128; derived, 18; Metacyclic equations, 223, 227. Sturm's, 50; resolvents of La-Miller, G. A., 233. grange, 129; symmetric, 13, 84, Moritz, 26. 114. Multiple roots, 21, 53, 142. Galois, 143, 176, 233. Netto, 189, 218, 228, 229. Galois' theory of numbers, 134; do-Newton, 50. main, 153; resolvent, 155, 156, Newton's formula for sums of powreduction of, 174, 178; groups, ers, 84. 164, determination of, 169. Newton's method of approximation, Gauss, 26, 206; Lemma, 138. 66. Graphic representation, 15, 23, 75. Normal domain, 142, 145, 150. Normal equations, 149, 151. Groups, 112; Abelian, 210; alter-Normal sub-groups, 122; of prime nating, 115; composite, 123; cyclic, 115, 128, 132, 133; degree index, 124. and order of, 113; Galois, 164; Numbers, algebraic, 136; conjugate, index of, 122; list of, 118, 119; 144; primitive, 144, 147; trannormal sub-groups, 122; 124; scendental, 137. primitive and imprimitive, 116; simple, 122; sub-groups, 120; sym-Panton, see Burnside and Panton. metric, 114; transitive and in-Picard, 233. transitive, 116. Pierpont, J., 233. Primitive congruence roots, 199. Hermite, 137. Primitive domains, 144, 147. Historical references, 233. Homographic transformation, 99. Quadratic equation, 184.

238

#### INDEX

Quartic, cyclic, 198; Euler's solution, 71; groups of, 172, 173; in the Galois theory, 185; nature of roots, 56; removal of second term, 37; symmetric functions of roots, 91; when solvable by square roots, 72.
Quintic, 186, 227, 229, 232, 233.
Sturm's theorem, 50, 51; applied to quartic, 56.
Sub-groups, 120; index of, 122; of prime index, 124.
Substitutions, 104; cyclic, 107; even and odd, 111; identical, 106; inverse, 106; laws of, 105; product of, 105.

Radicals, solution by, 60.

- Reciprocal equations, 33; depression of, 81.
- Reducibility, 134, 135, 139.
- Reducing cubic, 72.
- Regular polygons, inscription of, 20.
- Resolvents of Lagrange, 129.
- Resultants, 92.
- Rolle's theorem, 49.
- Roots, 2; complex, 6, 42, 58, 67, 232; fractional, 61; fundamental theorem, 26; incommensurable, 61; integral, 62; multiple or equal roots, 21, 53, 142; of unity, 76, 198; primitive, 78; primitive congruence roots, 199; reciprocal, 33.
  Ruffini, P., 233.
  Runge, C., 229.

Self-conjugate sub-groups, 122. Simple groups, 122. Smith, D. E., 206. Solvable equations, 223.

Sturm, 50.

quartic, 56. Sub-groups, 120; index of, 122; of prime index, 124. Substitutions, 104; cyclic, 107; even and odd, 111; identical, 106; inverse, 106; laws of, 105; product of, 105. Substitution groups, see Groups. Sylvester, 50. Sylvester's method of elimination, 95. Symmetric functions, 13, 84, 114; fundamental theorem, 87; elimination by, 93. Symmetric group, 114. Synthetic division, 3.

- Taylor's theorem, 19.
- Transcendental numbers, 137.
- Transpositions, 109.
- Trigonometric solution of irreducible case, 70; of binomial equations, 74, 82, 83.
- Trisecting an angle, 207, 208.
- Tschirnhausen's transformation, 99, 102.

Unity, roots of, 76, 198; primitive roots of, 78.

Waring, 50. Weber, H., 29, 134, 228, 231.

Zeuthen, 233.

Printed in the United States of America.





is der of the derivating is ala

dy dy any d'x = 0

let r le avoit of qui) lookata Figin On one hand generat

F(8, r))

F(r, 8)

Fcgin) deg. of n = odd 21

Fi FCBIJ=2. hence

FT.

A .... two prass - 1 home work let pcx) odd deep m un of over F Q = Figurd ex) Puned over Q Q = Fig) P(x) Sy Support p(x) = g(x)h(x)odd days

THE UNIVERSITY LIBRARY 'EY This book is DUE on 'le last date s' mped below OR 1 40 NGL 20 Last date s' Last below



Engineering & Mathematical Sciences Library

21

5121

# AUXILIARY

STACK

JUL 72

## UNIVERSITY of CALIFORNIA

LUS ANGELES

